End-stage kidney disease: towards shared decision-making and patient-reported outcomes

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs

End-stage kidney disease: towards shared decision-making and patient-reported outcomes

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs

End-stage kidney disease: towards shared decision-making and patient-reported outcomes

Provided by thesis specialist Ridderprint, ridderprint.nl		
Printing:	Ridderprint	
Layout and design:	Jesse Haaksman, www.persoonlijkproefschrift.nl	
Cover design:	Anna Sieben, Sieben Medical Art	
ISBN:	978-94-6458-895-8	

© 2023 Anita van Eck van der Sluijs, the Netherlands.

All rights reserved. No part of this thesis may be reproduced, stored or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission from the author. Copyright of articles accepted for publication or published is transferred to the respective journals.

End-stage kidney disease: towards shared decision-making and patient-reported outcomes

Eindstadium nierfalen: naar Samen beslissen en patiëntgerapporteerde uitkomsten (met een samenvatting in het Nederlands)

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Universiteit Utrecht op gezag van de rector magnificus, prof.dr. H.R.B.M. Kummeling, ingevolge het besluit van het college voor promoties in het openbaar te verdedigen op donderdag 23 maart 2023 des ochtends te 10.15 uur

door

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs

geboren op 18 september 1985 te Utrecht

Promotor:

Prof. dr. M.C. Verhaar

Copromotoren:

Dr. A.C. Abrahams Dr. B.C. van Jaarsveld

Beoordelingscommissie: Prof. dr. M.L. Bots (voorzitter)

Prof. dr. M.L. Bots (voorzitter) Prof. dr. C.A.J.M. Gaillard Prof. dr. J.J.M. van Delden Prof. dr. W.J.W. Bos Prof. dr. K. François

Dit proefschrift werd (mede) mogelijk gemaakt met financiële steun van de Nierstichting, ZonMw, Fresenius Medical Care, Baxter, Dirinco, Vifor Pharma, AstraZeneca, Stichting Kwaliteitsgelden Medisch Specialisten, Menzis, CZ en Stichting Achmea Gezondheidszorg. 'We should place the highest value not on living, but on living well'

Socrates

Voor Steven, Bram, Koen en mijn ouders

Table of contents

Introduction and outline	9
Patient education and shared decision-making	
Value of patient decision aids for shared decision-making in end-stage kidney disease	23
Good practices for dialysis education, treatment, and eHealth: A scoping review	43
Assisted peritoneal dialysis across Europe: Practice variation and factors associated with availability	73
Traditional clinical outcomes of dialysis	
Bleeding risk of hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients	105
Differences in hospitalization between peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis patients	121
Technique failure in peritoneal dialysis: Modifiable causes and patient- specific risk factors	137
Salvage of the peritoneal dialysis catheter in <i>Candida</i> peritonitis using amphotericin B catheter lock	161
Focus on Health-Related Quality of Life	
Health-Related Quality of Life in home dialysis patients compared to in-center hemodialysis patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis	173
Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO): Rationale and design	211
Summary and discussion	
Summary and General discussion	231
Summary in Dutch (Nederlandse samenvatting)	248
Questionnaires	258
DOMESTICO Study Group members	263
Acknowledgements (Dankwoord)	266
List of publications	272
Curriculum Vitae	274
	Introduction and outline Patient education and shared decision-making Value of patient decision aids for shared decision-making in end-stage kidney disease Good practices for dialysis education, treatment, and eHealth: A scoping review Assisted peritoneal dialysis across Europe: Practice variation and factors associated with availability Traditional clinical outcomes of dialysis Bleeding risk of hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients Differences in hospitalization between peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis patients Technique failure in peritoneal dialysis: Modifiable causes and patient- specific risk factors Salvage of the peritoneal dialysis catheter in <i>Candida</i> peritonitis using amphotericin B catheter lock Focus on Health-Related Quality of Life Health-Related Quality of Life in home dialysis patients compared to in-center hemodialysis patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO): Rationale and design Summary and General discussion Summary in Dutch (Nederlandse samenvatting) Questionnaires DOMESTICO Study Group members Acknowledgements (Dankwoord) List of publications Curriculum Vitae



Chapter 1

Introduction and outline

Introduction

The kidneys, two bean-shaped organs located behind the lower ribs on the dorsal side, play a crucial role in the regulation of body water volume and removal of waste products. When the kidney structure or function is impaired for more than three months with health consequences, this is defined as chronic kidney disease (CKD) [1, 2]. Examples of abnormalities in kidney structure or function are a glomerular filtration rate (GFR) < 60 ml/min/1.73 m², albuminuria, and abnormalities detected by histology or imaging [1, 2]. In the Netherlands, more than 12% of the population (2 million people) have CKD [3].

If CKD worsens, patients should receive education on the different treatment options for endstage kidney disease (ESKD; defined as an estimated GFR < 15 ml/min/1.73 m²), namely kidney transplantation, dialysis (i.e. hemodialysis (HD) and peritoneal dialysis (PD)), and conservative care [1, 4]. In the last decade, more attention has been paid to the fact that this education should be a shared decision-making process to address '*the ethical need to fully inform patients about the risks and benefits of treatments, as well as the need to ensure that patients' values and preferences play a prominent role'* [4].

The model for shared decision-making was first described in 1972 [5] and has since been further developed. Elwyn *et al.* transformed the components of the shared decision-making process into 3 sequential conversations: choice talk, option talk, and decision talk [6]. In the choice talk, the healthcare professional tells the patient that there are treatment options. In the option talk(s), all treatment options with advantages and disadvantages and any contraindications are discussed. It is also indicated that it is important that the chosen treatment option is feasible and fits into daily life. Finally, a decision talk is held in which a joint decision is made. The goal of these 3 sequential conversations is to transform a patient's (possible) initial preferences into informed preferences (Figure 1) [6].



Figure 1. Conversations during shared decision-making process (source: Elwyn G, et al., *Shared decision making: a model for clinical practice.* J Gen Intern Med, 2012)

Tools can support the shared decision-making process during the ESKD education. In 2017, three Dutch tools, also called patient decision aids, became available: the Option Grids, the Dutch Kidney Guide, and the 3 Good Questions. The Option Grids are tables that describe the answers to frequently asked patient questions regarding certain treatment options. Two Dutch Option Grids are available: (1) Permanent damage to your kidneys: kidney replacement therapy or conservative treatment, (2) Permanent damage to your kidneys: options for kidney replacement therapy [7]. The Dutch Kidney Guide is a website that contains film clips of over 40 patients who are treated with kidney transplantation, various forms of HD and PD, and conservative care. In these film clips, patients explain the impact of the treatments on 19 domains of their daily lives (e.g. work, vacation, pets) [8]. The 3 Good Questions are: (1) What are my options? (2) What are the possible benefits and risks of those options? (3) What does that mean in my situation? [9, 10] While the 2 Option Grids and Dutch Kidney Guide were specifically designed for ESKD patients, the 3 Good Questions about treatment decisions between any patient and healthcare professional.

The 3 Good Questions are also featured in a national campaign on shared decision-making, initiated by patient organizations (i.e. Patiëntenfederatie Nederland) and organizations from medical-specialists (i.e. Federatie Medisch Specialisten), general practitioners (i.e. Landelijke Huisartsen Vereniging and Nederlands Huisartsen Genootschap), nursing and paramedical care (i.e. Verpleegkundigen & Verzorgenden Nederland), which started in the Netherlands in September 2021 [11]. The goal of this campaign is to promote shared decision-making by getting patients and caregivers to ask questions, listen better, and prepare conversations. Prior to the campaign, a survey among Dutch patients and healthcare professionals showed that 46% of healthcare professionals say they make shared decisions with the patient, while only 37% of patients say they make decisions together with their healthcare professional [12]. The campaign provides tips and tools to make better and more frequent shared decisions, since shared decision-making leads to an increase in satisfaction, therapy adherence, involvement, and being informed on the one hand, and a decrease in doubt, regret, and costs on the other hand [11, 13-15].

Each year in the Netherlands, approximately 2,000 patients reach ESKD [16]. In 2021, 18,107 Dutch ESKD patients were treated with a form of kidney replacement therapy (KRT), either kidney transplantation or dialysis [17]. Unfortunately, it is unknown how many Dutch patients are currently treated with conservative care. About one-third of patients treated with KRT are treated with a form of dialysis either HD or PD [17].

In HD, a connection is made between a patient's vascular access (i.e. central venous catheter, arteriovenous fistula or graft) and the dialysis machine. The patient's blood flows into the dialysis machine where it passes through a dialyzer. The dialyzer contains 2 compartments, one for the patient's blood and one for the dialysate fluid, which are separated by a semi-permeable

membrane. Through processes such as diffusion and convection, waste products and excess body water from the blood pass through the membrane into the dialysate fluid and are removed. HD can be performed in a hospital/dialysis center (in-center HD) or at home (home HD), with in-center HD often done by a nurse while at home it can be done by a nurse, family caregiver or the patient him/herself. In addition, it can be performed during the day or at night. Different HD schedules are used, such as 3 sessions of 4 hours per week during the day, 6 sessions of 2 hours per week during the day or every other night for 8 hours. The schedule with 3 sessions of 4 hours per week is most commonly used and therefore called 'conventional HD'. HD has advantages, such as professional care and socialization with other patients when performed in-center [18, 19]. However, conventional HD is intermittent, thus unphysiological, and has disadvantages, such as fluid restrictions, dialysis hangover, access complications, higher mortality compared to PD, and the need to travel to and from the hospital/dialysis center [18-20].

In PD, the peritoneal membrane in the patient's abdomen acts as a dialysis membrane. Dialysate fluid is instilled into the abdomen through an abdominal catheter called the PD catheter. Waste products and excess body water from the blood compartment flow through the peritoneal membrane into the dialysate fluid through diffusion and ultrafiltration, the latter due to the presence of a transmembrane osmotic gradient. Diffusion and ultrafiltration occur day and night when PD patients have dialysate fluid in their abdomen. PD is performed at home most often by the patient, and sometimes by a partner, family caregiver or medical homecare nurse. When a patient receives help to perform PD, it is referred to as assisted PD [21]. PD has advantages, such as patient autonomy, less hospital visits, and preservation of residual kidney function [18, 19]. However, PD also has potential complications, such as peritonitis and risk of membrane failure [18, 19, 22].

In the last decades, many studies have been conducted on the mortality and morbidity of dialysis patients. The mortality rate of dialysis patients is high, more than 50% of patients die within 5 years after starting dialysis [20, 23]. The morbidity of dialysis patients is also high, specifically by cardiovascular diseases such as coronary artery disease and atrial fibrillation [24], and stroke [25], often leading to hospitalizations [26-29]. Notwithstanding the fact that research on the mortality and morbidity of dialysis patients is important, there is an increasing call for studies on patient reported outcomes, such as quality of life [29-32]. Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) can be determined with patient reported outcome measures (PROMs), questionnaires that, in addition to HRQoL, focus on patients' symptoms and functional status [33]. Initially, PROMs were developed for use in research, but in recent years they have also been used increasingly in clinical care [33-35].

Dialysis patients have a poor quality of life [36, 37]. Performing a home dialysis therapy, i.e. PD or home HD, has potential advantages such as self-care, fewer hospital visits, and the ability to engage in professional or social activities, which could contribute to a better quality of life [38-

44]. However, recent data regarding the effects of dialysis at home on HRQoL, clinical outcomes, and costs compared with in-center HD are lacking. Therefore, we initiated the Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO), to shed more light on this important topic. DOMESTICO started in 2017 and consists of a retrospective and a prospective cohort, and an implementation project called 'Good Practices and Shared Decision-Making' (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Overview of the Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO)

For the retrospective part of DOMESTICO, data are collected from adult patients (≥ 18 years) from 41 Dutch hospitals who started dialysis treatment (i.e. PD or HD) between January 1, 2012 and January 1, 2017. In this cohort, the causes and modifiable factors of technique failure in home and nocturnal dialysis will be investigated. In addition, clinical outcomes (including hospitalization, blood pressure and metabolic regulation, mortality) of home and nocturnal dialysis patients will be compared with those of in-center HD patients.

For the prospective part of DOMESTICO which started on December 22, 2017, patients starting dialysis in 59 dialysis centers across the Netherlands and Belgium are included. The primary objective is to determine the effects of home dialysis on HRQoL compared to in-center HD, measured with PROMs. Secondary objectives are; 1) to perform a cost-effectiveness analysis of home dialysis compared to in-center HD; 2) to determine the clinical outcomes of home dialysis, particularly hospitalization and mortality, compared to in-center HD and to identify modifiable factors [45].

The implementation project 'Good Practices and Shared Decision-Making' was conducted from January 2018 to May 2019 and aimed to improve the education process regarding different ESKD

treatment options (i.e. conservative care and KRT) through the application of Good Practices and Shared Decision-Making. The project was conducted in 12 Dutch hospitals and several products were developed, such as a workshop "Shared decision-making: from information to dialogue" in which shared decision-making and the three Dutch patient decision aids were discussed, a care pathway for kidney failure, and various protocols with Good Practices for ESKD education and KRT.

Thesis outline

The overall aim of this thesis is to gain further insights in (1) patient education and shared decisionmaking, (2) traditional clinical outcomes of dialysis such as bleeding, hospitalization, technique failure and PD peritonitis, and (3) an important patient reported outcome; HRQoL. This thesis contains articles with the first results from DOMESTICO retrospective and the implementation project.

Patients who progress to ESKD face a very intensive education process about the different treatment options, which many find very stressful, confronting, and burdensome. Therefore, it is important to provide proper education and make a final treatment decision based on SDM, so that the medical knowledge of the healthcare professional is combined with the values and preferences of the individual patient [4]. In addition, the traditional clinical outcomes of dialysis also remain relevant, as they can have a major impact on the burden experienced by patients. However, given the high burden and mortality of dialysis, it is also incredibly important to focus on what really matters to patients, namely HRQoL.

The first part of this thesis focuses on patient education and shared decision-making. In **chapter 2** we describe the use of the 3, previously mentioned, Dutch patient decision aids (i.e. 3 Good Questions, Option Grids, and Dutch Kidney Guide) by healthcare professionals and the degree of shared decision-making as experienced by advanced chronic kidney disease patients. In addition, we describe a workshop we developed with the Dutch Kidney Patients Association to train healthcare professionals how to implement the patient decision aids.

Shared decision-making is addressed in various (inter)national guidelines which provide recommendations regarding education and dialysis treatment [1, 2, 21, 46-48]. One would expect that this would result in similar proportions of patients being treated with home dialysis in various centers. However, there seems to be practice variation which could be explained by so-called 'good practices', practices that are developed locally and with which healthcare professionals have good experience, but that are not evidence-based and therefore not added to (inter)national guidelines [49, 50]. **Chapter 3** describes a scoping review we performed to identify and summarize

the available literature describing good practices for dialysis education, treatment, and electronic health (eHealth).

As mentioned, PD can be performed by a patient autonomously or in the context of assisted PD [21]. Assisted PD programs are available in most European countries, but the percentage of patients receiving assisted PD varies considerably [51-55]. **Chapter 4** describes the results of an online survey among healthcare professionals of European nephrology units. This survey was used to investigate the factors associated with the availability of an assisted PD program at a center level and whether the availability of this program is associated with the proportion of home dialysis patients.

The second part of this thesis focuses on the traditional clinical outcomes of dialysis. The specific dialysis modality with which a patient is treated (i.e. HD or PD) may affect their morbidity. In **chapter 5 and 6** the risks of bleeding and hospitalization in patients on HD are compared with patients on PD.

Chapters 7 and 8 focus on patients performing PD. **Chapter 7** describes our study regarding the modifiable causes and risk factors of technique failure (i.e. transfer to in-center HD for \geq 30 days or death) in PD, which is highly relevant to address in order to improve technique survival. Peritonitis is one of those modifiable causes [56]. **Chapter 8** describes the results of treating Candida peritonitis, which normally requires catheter removal resulting in high technique failure rates, with an amphotericin B catheter lock combined with oral flucytosine and intraperitoneal fluconazole in order to preserve the catheter and improve technique failure.

The third part of this thesis focuses on HRQoL. For dialysis patients, quality of life is an important outcome parameter [30, 57-61]. However, little is known about differences in quality of life between home dialysis (i.e. PD and home HD) and in-center HD patients across the world. We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis describing randomized controlled trials and observational studies that compared HRQoL in home dialysis patients versus in-center HD patients (**chapter 9**). This systematic review and meta-analysis prompted the design of the Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO). The rationale and design of this nationwide, prospective, observational cohort study investigating the effect of home dialysis therapies on HRQoL, clinical outcomes and costs, in comparison with in-center HD is described in **chapter 10**.

Finally, the last part of this thesis summarizes and discusses the results described in the previous chapters, emphasizing the relevance of this thesis (**chapter 11**).

References

- 1. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group, *KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease.* Kidney Int Suppl, 2013. 3: p. 1-150.
- 2. Inker LA, Astor BC, Fox CH, et al., *KDOQI US commentary on the 2012 KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of CKD*. Am J Kidney Dis, 2014. 63(5): p. 713-35.
- 3. Nierstichting, Over nieren, Feiten en cijfers. https://nierstichting.nl/over-nieren/hoe-werken-jenieren/feiten-en-cijfers (last accessed March 4, 2022).
- 4. Renal Physicians Association, Shared Decision-Making in the Appropriate Initiation of and Withdrawal from Dialysis (Clinical Practice Guideline). 2010.
- 5. Veatch R, Models for ethical medicine in a revolutionary age. What physician-patient roles foster the most ethical realtionship? Hastings Cent Rep., 1972. 2: p. 5-7.
- 6. Elwyn G, Frosch D, Thomson R, et al., *Shared decision making: a model for clinical practice.* J Gen Intern Med, 2012. 27(10): p. 1361-7.
- 7. Option Grids, Available at: https://consultkaart.nl/ (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- 8. Dutch Kidney Guide, Available at: https://nierwijzer.nl/. (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- 9. Shepherd HL, Barratt A, Trevena LJ, et al., *Three questions that patients can ask to improve the quality of information physicians give about treatment options: a cross-over trial.* Patient Educ Couns, 2011. 84(3): p. 379-85.
- 10. Patiëntenfederatie Nederland and Federatie Medisch Specialisten, 3 Goede Vragen. Available at: https://3goedevragen.nl/ (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- 11. Campagne Samen Beslissen, Available at https://begineengoedgesprek.nl/campagne/ (last accessed March 6, 2022).
- 12. Kramer P, Damhuis E, and Verhue D, Samen beslissen. Doelgroepenonderzoek onder zorgverleners en zorggebruikers. Available at https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/documenten/rapporten/2020/05/11/samen-beslissen. 2020.
- 13. Stacey D, Legare F, Lewis K, et al., *Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2017. 4: p. CD001431.
- 14. Knops AM, Legemate DA, Goossens A, et al., *Decision aids for patients facing a surgical treatment decision: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Ann Surg, 2013. 257(5): p. 860-6.
- 15. Veroff D, Marr A, and Wennberg DE, *Enhanced support for shared decision making reduced costs of care for patients with preference-sensitive conditions.* Health Aff (Millwood), 2013. 32(2): p. 285-93.
- 16. Nierstichting, Leven met een nierziekte, Feiten en cijfers. https://nierstichting.nl/leven-meteen-nierziekte/feiten-en-cijfers/ (last accessed March 4, 2022).
- 17. Nefrovisie, Nefrodata, Renine 31-12-2021. https://ivisualz.nl/ivisualz/chartFlash/charts (last accessed August 28, 2022).
- 18. Nakamura-Taira N, Muranaka Y, Miwa M, et al., *Views of Japanese patients on the advantages and disadvantages of hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis.* Int Urol Nephrol, 2013. 45(4): p. 1145-58.
- 19. Sinnakirouchenan R and Holley JL, *Peritoneal dialysis versus hemodialysis: risks, benefits, and access issues*. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis, 2011. 18(6): p. 428-32.
- 20. van de Luijtgaarden MW, Jager KJ, Segelmark M, et al., *Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA Registry over a 20-year period*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2016. 31(1): p. 120-8.
- 21. Covic A, Bammens B, Lobbedez T, et al., *Educating end-stage renal disease patients on dialysis modality selection: clinical advice from the European Renal Best Practice (ERBP) Advisory Board.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2010. 25(6): p. 1757-9.

- 22. Krediet RT, Abrahams AC, de Fijter CWH, et al., *The truth on current peritoneal dialysis: state of the art.* Neth J Med, 2017. 75(5): p. 179-89.
- 23. Naylor KL, Kim SJ, McArthur E, et al., *Mortality in Incident Maintenance Dialysis Patients Versus Incident Solid Organ Cancer Patients: A Population-Based Cohort.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2019. 73(6): p. 765-76.
- 24. Ng CH, Ong ZH, Sran HK, et al., *Comparison of cardiovascular mortality in hemodialysis versus peritoneal dialysis*. Int Urol Nephrol, 2021. 53(7): p. 1363-71.
- 25. Zhan X, Yang M, Chen Y, et al., *Comparison of risk of stroke in patients treated with peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Ren Fail, 2019. 41(1): p. 650-6.
- 26. Vanholder R and Van Biesen W, *Incidence of infectious morbidity and mortality in dialysis patients.* Blood Purif, 2002. 20(5): p. 477-80.
- 27. United States Renal Data System, *2018 USRDS Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States.* National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, Bethesda, MD, 2018.
- 28. Banshodani M, Kawanishi H, Moriishi M, et al., *Association between Dialysis Modality and Cardiovascular Diseases: A Comparison between Peritoneal Dialysis and Hemodialysis.* Blood Purif, 2020. 49(3): p. 302-9.
- 29. Himmelfarb J, Vanholder R, Mehrotra R, et al., *The current and future landscape of dialysis*. Nat Rev Nephrol, 2020. 16(10): p. 573-85.
- 30. Lee MB and Bargman JM, *Survival by Dialysis Modality-Who Cares?* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2016. 11(6): p. 1083-7.
- 31. Evangelidis N, Tong A, Manns B, et al., *Developing a Set of Core Outcomes for Trials in Hemodialysis: An International Delphi Survey.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2017. 70(4): p. 464-75.
- 32. Manera KE, Johnson DW, Craig JC, et al., *Establishing a Core Outcome Set for Peritoneal Dialysis: Report of the SONG-PD (Standardized Outcomes in Nephrology-Peritoneal Dialysis) Consensus Workshop.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2020. 75(3): p. 404-12.
- 33. Black N, Patient reported outcome measures could help transform healthcare. BMJ, 2013. 346: p. f167.
- 34. Black N, Burke L, Forrest CB, et al., *Patient-reported outcomes: pathways to better health, better services, and better societies.* Qual Life Res, 2016. 25(5): p. 1103-12.
- 35. Damman OC, Jani A, de Jong BA, et al., *The use of PROMs and shared decision-making in medical encounters with patients: An opportunity to deliver value-based health care to patients.* J Eval Clin Pract, 2020. 26(2): p. 524-40.
- 36. Mittal SK, Ahern L, Flaster E, et al., *Self-assessed physical and mental function of haemodialysis patients.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2001. 16(7): p. 1387-94.
- 37. van Sandwijk MS, Al Arashi D, van de Hare FM, et al., *Fatigue, anxiety, depression and quality of life in kidney transplant recipients, haemodialysis patients, patients with a haematological malignancy and healthy controls.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2019. 34(5): p. 833-8.
- 38. Garg AX, Suri RS, Eggers P, et al., *Patients receiving frequent hemodialysis have better healthrelated quality of life compared to patients receiving conventional hemodialysis.* Kidney Int, 2017. 91(3): p. 746-54.
- 39. Xi W, Singh PM, Harwood L, et al., *Patient experiences and preferences on short daily and nocturnal home hemodialysis*. Hemodial Int, 2013. 17(2): p. 201-7.
- 40. Cases A, Dempster M, Davies M, et al., *The experience of individuals with renal failure participating in home haemodialysis: an interpretative phenomenological analysis.* J Health Psychol, 2011. 16(6): p. 884-94.
- 41. Suri RS, Garg AX, Chertow GM, et al., *Frequent Hemodialysis Network (FHN) randomized trials: Study design.* Kidney International, 2007. 71(4): p. 349-59.
- 42. Miller BW, Himmele R, Sawin DA, et al., *Choosing Home Hemodialysis: A Critical Review of Patient Outcomes.* Blood Purif, 2018. 45(1-3): p. 224-9.

- 43. Ageborg M, Allenius BL, and Cederfjall C, *Quality of life, self-care ability, and sense of coherence in hemodialysis patients: a comparative study.* Hemodial Int, 2005. 9 Suppl 1: p. S8-14.
- 44. Piccoli GB, Bechis F, Iacuzzo C, et al., *Why Our Patients Like Daily Hemodialysis*. Hemodial Int, 2000. 4: p. 47-50.
- 45. van Eck van der Sluijs A, Bonenkamp AA, Dekker FW, et al., *Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO): rationale and design*. BMC Nephrol, 2019. 20(1): p. 361.
- 46. Tattersall J, Dekker F, Heimburger O, et al., *When to start dialysis: updated guidance following publication of the Initiating Dialysis Early and Late (IDEAL) study.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2011. 26(7): p. 2082-6.
- 47. Nederlandse Internisten Vereniging and Nederlandse Federatie voor Nefrologie, *Evidence*based richtlijn 'Zorg bij eindstadium nierfalen' 2020. Available at: https://www.nefro.nl/ richtlijnen. (last accessed April 3, 2020).
- 48. Nederlandse Internisten Vereniging and Nederlandse Federatie voor Nefrologie, Nierfunctievervangende behandeling, wel of niet? 2016. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase. nl/richtlijn/nierfunctievervangende_behandeling/nierfunctievervangende_behandeling_-_ startpagina.html (last accessed April 3, 2020).
- 49. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, *Available at: https://www.fao.org/ in-action/kore/good-practices/en/ (last accessed April 3, 2020).*
- 50. Perleth M, Jakubowski E, and Busse R, *What is 'best practice' in health care? State of the art and perspectives in improving the effectiveness and efficiency of the European health care systems.* Health Policy, 2001. 56: p. 235-50.
- 51. Laplante S, Krepel H, Simons B, et al., *Offering assisted peritoneal dialysis is a cost-effective alternative to the current care pathway in frail elderly Dutch patients.* Int J Healthc Manag, 2013. 6(1): p. 27-36.
- 52. Brown EA, Finkelstein FO, Iyasere OU, et al., *Peritoneal or hemodialysis for the frail elderly patient, the choice of 2 evils?* Kidney Int, 2017. 91(2): p. 294-303.
- 53. Oliver MJ and Salenger P, *Making Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis a Reality in the United States: A Canadian and American Viewpoint.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2020. 15(4): p. 566-8.
- 54. Guillouet S, Boyer A, Lanot A, et al., *Assessment for Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis by Peritoneal Dialysis Nurses: Results of a Cohort Study.* Am J Nephrol, 2019. 50(6): p. 489-98.
- 55. Hofmeister M, Klarenbach S, Soril L, et al., *A Systematic Review and Jurisdictional Scan of the Evidence Characterizing and Evaluating Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis Models*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2020. 15(4): p. 511-20.
- 56. Bonenkamp AA, van Eck van der Sluijs A, Dekker FW, et al., *Technique failure in peritoneal dialysis: Modifiable causes and patient-specific risk factors.* Perit Dial Int, 2022: p. 8968608221077461.
- 57. Verberne WR, Das-Gupta Z, Allegretti AS, et al., *Development of an International Standard Set of Value-Based Outcome Measures for Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease: A Report of the International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (ICHOM) CKD Working Group.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2019. 73(3): p. 372-84.
- 58. Finkelstein FO, *Performance measures in dialysis facilities: what is the goal?* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2015. 10(1): p. 156-8.
- 59. Nissenson AR, *Improving outcomes for ESRD patients: shifting the quality paradigm.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2014. 9(2): p. 430-4.
- 60. Morton RL, Snelling P, Webster AC, et al., *Factors influencing patient choice of dialysis versus conservative care to treat end-stage kidney disease.* CMAJ, 2012. 184(5): p. E277-83.
- 61. Manera KE, Tong A, Craig JC, et al., *An international Delphi survey helped develop consensusbased core outcome domains for trials in peritoneal dialysis.* Kidney Int, 2019. 96(3): p. 699-710.



Part I

Patient education and shared decision-making



Chapter 2

Value of patient decision aids for shared decision-making in end-stage kidney disease

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs, Sanne Vonk, Anna A. Bonenkamp, Karen Prantl, Aase T. Riemann, Brigit C. van Jaarsveld and Alferso C. Abrahams on behalf of the DOMESTICO study group

Submitted

Abstract

Background Ideally, shared decision-making forms the basis of education on end-stage kidney disease therapies. Patient decision aids, specifically developed for this, have implementation barriers. We evaluated the use of 3 decision aids (3 Good Questions, Option Grids, Dutch Kidney Guide) by healthcare professionals in relation to patient-experienced shared decision-making. Also, we developed a workshop for professionals on decision aid implementation.

Methods Questionnaires regarding education/use of decision aids were distributed to healthcare professionals. Patients with eGFR<30 ml/min/1.73m² completed SDM-Q-9/collaboRATE questionnaires. Shared decision-making differences between hospitals were analyzed with one-way ANOVA and logistic regression.

Results In 12 Dutch hospitals, 7 educational conversations were conducted per patient, but only 25–67% used one of the decision aids. Of 117 healthcare professionals, 56% applied shared decision-making by using 3 Good Questions (28%), Option Grids (31–33%) and Kidney Guide (51%). Of 182 patients, 61–85% were satisfied with their education. Of worst scoring hospitals, only 50% used Option Grids/Kidney Guide, compared to 100% of best scoring hospitals which also had a lower number of conversations (p=0.05), but provided information about all treatment options and more often provided information at home. After the workshop, patients' shared decision-making scores did not change.

Conclusions Patients and healthcare professionals are reasonably satisfied with shared decisionmaking although the use of decision aids is limited. Hospitals that use decision aids had higher shared decision-making scores and required fewer conversations. Future research should identify barriers in order to implement decision aids in daily practice to achieve a *shared decision*.

Introduction

The global incidence of end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) is rapidly increasing [1-4]. While ESKD poses a significant global burden, it also has a tremendous impact on the daily life of the individual patient. Patients not only have to deal with complications of ESKD, but also face an intensive education process regarding the different treatment options, i.e. conservative care and kidney replacement therapies (KRT). To choose a specific treatment, a healthcare professional's medical knowledge must be combined with an individual patient's values and preferences [5]. This process of shared decision-making aims not only to ensure that a decision is medically sound, but also that the patient is satisfied, both in terms of the process and the final decision.

The model for sharing in medical decision-making was first described in 1972 [6], but it was not until 1997 that an article was published which provided more clarity regarding the actual shared decision-making (SDM) model and its key characteristics: (1) two participants: physician and patient; (2) both participate in the process; (3) both share information; (4) both agree to the decision [7]. Since then, numerous articles regarding SDM for patients with kidney disease have been published [8-15] and the use of SDM is incorporated in national and international renal guidelines [5, 16-18].

Although many guidelines advocate the use of SDM in the care for patients with kidney disease, studies have shown that a large proportion of patients with ESKD do not experience the decision as a shared one [14, 19-21]. To improve this situation, patient decision aids (PDAs) have been developed. PDAs are tools, developed in various forms such as written materials or web-based formats, that provide support during the SDM process and serve to supplement the information provided by healthcare professionals [22, 23]. In 2017, three PDAs became available in the Netherlands, namely the 3 Good Questions, 2 Option Grids and the Dutch Kidney Guide. The 3 Good Questions are: (1) What are my options? (2) What are the possible benefits and risks of those options? (3) What does that mean in my situation? They were developed in Australia in 2011, translated into Dutch and tested in 2015 [24, 25]. These 3 Good Questions can improve shared decision-making between the patient and the healthcare professional, and improve quality and safety of the education process [24]. Option Grids form the second PDA which are based on those developed by The Option Grid Collaborative [26, 27]. Option Grids are tables that describe the answers to frequently asked patient questions regarding certain treatment options. Two Dutch Option Grids are available: (1) Permanent damage to your kidneys: kidney replacement therapy or conservative treatment, (2) Permanent damage to your kidneys: options for kidney replacement therapy [28]. Finally, the Dutch Kidney Guide is a website that contains film clips of more than 40 patients who are treated with 9 different treatment modalities, from conservative care to various forms of hemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis, and kidney transplantation. In these film clips, patients explain the impact of these treatments on 19 domains of their daily lives. For example, patients tell about the consequences of their treatment on eating/drinking, going on vacation, self-sufficiency regarding treatment, pets at home, sleep quality, work and school, etcetera [29].

Despite the fact that much attention has been paid to the development of PDAs, studies have also shown that there are barriers to the implementation of PDAs in daily practice [30]. For the Dutch PDAs, it is unknown whether they are sufficiently implemented in daily practice. Therefore, we evaluated the use of these PDAs by healthcare professionals and the degree of SDM as experienced by patients with advanced chronic kidney disease (CKD). Subsequently, we developed a workshop to train healthcare professionals how to implement these PDAs.

Methods

Study design

A survey was conducted in which questionnaires were distributed to healthcare professionals and patients with advanced CKD in 12 Dutch hospitals who participated in the Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO), a multi-center cohort study among patients treated with dialysis in the Netherlands [31]. In addition, a SDM workshop was provided to the healthcare professionals with the aim of promoting the implementation of the Dutch PDAs.

Healthcare professionals' questionnaire

During the period April 2018 to September 2018, a questionnaire was distributed to all healthcare professionals (i.e. nephrologists (in training), nurses, social workers, dieticians) involved in the education process about ESKD treatment options in 12 Dutch hospitals (Supplemental figure 1). In the Netherlands, education is usually given to patients with CKD when the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) falls below 20 ml/min/1.73m². Education is provided by a team of healthcare professionals consisting of nephrologists (in training), nurses, social workers and dietitians, and in some hospitals physician assistants or nurse practitioners are also involved [32]. The education process includes several conversations with these healthcare professionals about the treatment options available for ESKD.

The healthcare professionals' questionnaire consisted of 6 general questions about the provided education in their center regarding ESKD treatment options, 4 questions about whether respondents were familiar with the 3 Dutch PDAs (i.e. 3 Good Questions, Option Grids, and Dutch Kidney Guide) and used them, 2 questions about what should be added or removed in the education process, and 4 questions focusing on SDM (Supplemental table 1). Participation was voluntary and anonymous.

Patients' questionnaire

To assess the degree of SDM experienced by patients, a questionnaire was distributed to all patients who had completed the education process regarding ESKD treatment options in 12 Dutch hospitals. The questionnaire consisted of the nine-item Shared Decision-Making Questionnaire (SDM-Q-9) and the collaboRATE, to which we added 7 general questions about the provided education regarding ESKD treatment options and 2 questions about perceived barriers against home hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis (Supplemental table 2). The SDM-Q-9 contains 9 statements regarding SDM which are rated on a 6-point Likert scale (from 0 'completely disagree' to 5 'completely agree') [33, 34], while the collaboRATE contains 3 questions regarding SDM which are rated on a 10-point Likert scale (from 0 'no effort was made' to 9 'every effort was made') [35]. Participation was again voluntary and anonymous.

The patients' questionnaires were distributed during two different periods; from April to November 2018 and from December 2018 to April 2020 (Supplemental figure 1). This was done to assess whether there was a difference in the degree of SDM experienced by patients in the period before an SDM workshop was given in a hospital compared to the period after the workshop was conducted.

SDM workshop

In collaboration with the Dutch Kidney Patients Association, we developed a 2-hour SDM workshop. During the period October 2018 to March 2019, the workshop was given in 10 of the 12 participating Dutch hospitals (Supplemental figure 1). The goal of the workshop was to provide healthcare professionals with information regarding SDM and the 3 Dutch PDAs and to encourage them to start applying them in daily practice.

First, the results from the healthcare professionals' questionnaire and research on SDM was presented. Second, information was provided on Glyn Elwyn's SDM model in which the patient is guided to make a treatment choice according to 3 consecutive conversation types: choice talk, option talk, and decision talk [36]. Third, the background and content of the 3 Dutch PDAs (i.e. the 3 Good Questions, Option Grids, and Dutch Kidney Guide) were discussed and their application was also practiced. Finally, it was discussed how the PDAs could be integrated into the education process about ESKD treatment options that already existed in that specific hospital.

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to evaluate all questions of the healthcare professionals' questionnaire and the general questions of the patients' questionnaire. From the patient questionnaire, the Likert scales of the SDM-Q-9 and collaboRATE were both converted into a score from 0 to 100, with a higher score indicating better SDM [34]. A one-way ANOVA was performed to evaluate the difference in both scores between participating hospitals. Subsequently, logistic

regression was used to explore differences between the best scoring hospitals and the worst scoring hospitals. Finally, descriptive statistics were again used to explore the relation between the use of the PDAs and the degree of SDM.

All statistical analyses were performed with SPSS Statistics version 26 (SPPS, Chicago, Illinois, USA).

Results

Education process in participating hospitals

A total of 12 hospitals across the Netherlands participated, of which 2 were academic hospitals and the remaining non-academic teaching hospitals. Twenty-five percent of the hospitals initiated the education process regarding ESKD treatment options for patients with advanced CKD at an eGFR between 25 and 30 ml/min/1.73m², 33% between 20 and 25 ml/min/1.73m², and 42% between 15 and 20 ml/min/1.73m². Sixty-seven percent of the hospitals had a set format for the education process, which included a home visit in 75% of the hospitals. A median of 7 [interquartile range 6 – 9] conversations were conducted with the patient during the education process. Only 25% of the hospitals reported using the 3 Good Questions during the education process, this was 42% and 67% for the Option Grids and Dutch Kidney Guide, respectively.

Use of Patient Decision Aids by healthcare professionals

A total of 117 healthcare professionals (27% physicians, 8% physician assistants, 38% nurses, 14% social workers, 13% other) completed the questionnaire: 81% found the general impression of their own education process (very) good, 80% found the total number of consults good, and 56% found the amount of information they provided good, while 28% found it too much. SDM was applied according to 56% of professionals, however only 28% reported to use the 3 Good Questions, 31–33% the Option Grids, and 51% the Kidney Guide.

Patients perspectives on Shared Decision-Making during the first period

Between April and November 2018, 182 patients from the 12 hospitals completed the questionnaires: 71% found the education overall (very) good and 61% found the educational materials (very) good. Regarding the amount of information, 85% found the received amount of information and 82% the total number of conversations about right (Figure 1a).

Figure 2a and b show the SDM-Q-9 and collaboRATE scores of the participating hospitals. The mean SDM-Q-9 score was 75±22 and the mean collaboRATE score 86±14. The hospital that scored the worst on both questionnaires had a mean SDM-Q-9 score of 66 and a collaboRATE score of 77. The best scores on the questionnaires were encountered in two different hospitals: the highest mean SDM-Q-9 score was 87 and the highest collaboRATE score was 90.

Overall, no significant difference was found between hospitals in either score (SDM-Q-9 p=0.70; collaboRATE p=0.58). However, when the hospital that scored best on the SDM-Q-9 was compared with the other individual hospitals, a significant difference was found with the hospital that scored worst on the SDM-Q-9 (p=0.03).

Relation between use of Patient Decision Aids and degree of Shared Decision-Making

When hospitals with the worst SDM-Q-9 score (<70) were compared to those with the best score (<77), only 50% of the worst scoring hospitals used the Option Grids and Kidney Guide, compared to 100% of the best scoring hospitals. The majority of the worst scoring hospitals started education for patients with advanced CKD at an eGFR between 20-30 ml/min/1.73 m², while the best scoring hospitals all started between 15-20 ml/min/1.73 m². The mean number of individual conversations between healthcare professionals and the patient was higher in the worst scoring hospitals than in the best scoring hospitals (8±1 vs. 7±1, p=0.054). Although the number of conversations was lower, best scoring hospitals provided information about all treatment options, including nocturnal hemodialysis and conservative care, and more often provided information during a home visit.

Shared Decision-Making workshop

During the period October 2018 to March 2019, 10 hospitals participated in the SDM workshop. A total of 114 healthcare professionals joined the workshop: 29 nephrologists (in training), 5 physician assistants/nurse practitioners, 40 nurses, 14 social workers, 13 dietitians, and 13 other professionals (e.g. research nurses). At 9 of the 10 workshops also a patient with CKD was present, highlighting the patient perspective regarding the education process about ESKD treatment options. The presence of a patient who could explain the patient perspective was considered a great additional value to the workshop by the healthcare professionals. The workshop was appreciated with a 7.5±0.4 on a range from 0 (worst) to 10 (perfect).

Patients perspectives on Shared Decision-Making during the second period

Between December 2018 and April 2020, 117 patients in 8 hospitals completed the questionnaires: 82% found the education overall (very) good and 56% found the educational materials (very) good. Regarding the amount of information, 82% found the received amount of information and 91% the total number of conversations about right (Figure 1b).

The mean SDM-Q-9 score was 73±24 and the mean collaboRATE score 89±13. The worst scores on the questionnaires were encountered in two different hospitals: the lowest mean SDM-Q-9 score was 55±20 and the lowest collaboRATE score was 86±13. The hospital that scored the best on both questionnaires had a mean SDM-Q-9 score of 77±19 and a collaboRATE score of 94±8. Figure 3a shows all SDM-Q-9 scores of the hospitals and figure 3b shows all collaboRATE scores. Compared to the results of the first period (figures 2a and 2b), there is no difference in SDM-Q-9 and collaboRATE scores.







What did you think of the educational materials used?







Figure 2a. SDM-Q-9 score of participating hospitals during first period

The red line indicates the mean SDM-Q-9 score of 75.



Figure 2b. CollaboRATE score of participating hospitals during first period

The red line indicates the mean collaboRATE score of 86.



Figure 3a. SDM-Q-9 score of participating hospitals during second period

The red line indicates the mean SDM-Q-9 score of 73. During the second period only 8 of the 12 hospitals participated.



Figure 3b. CollaboRATE score of participating hospitals during second period

The red line indicates the mean collaboRATE score of 89. During the second period only 8 of the 12 hospitals participated. Overall, no significant difference was found between hospitals in either score (SDM-Q-9 p=0.86; collaboRATE p=0.81), not even if we compared the hospital with the best or the worst score to the other hospitals.

Discussion

Our survey shows that in the Netherlands the education process regarding ESKD treatment mostly starts at an eGFR between 15 and 20 ml/min/1.73m² with a median of 7 conversations between the patient and healthcare professionals. Patients with CKD and healthcare professionals are reasonably satisfied with the education process regarding ESKD treatment options and the degree of SDM in the Netherlands. However, healthcare professionals use the Dutch PDAs (i.e. the 3 Good Questions, Option Grids, and the Dutch Kidney Guide), tools specifically designed to support SDM, only to a limited extent. Compared to hospitals with the worst SDM-Q-9 score, the number of conversations in hospitals with the best SDM-Q-9 score is lower but all treatment options are discussed, often during a home visit. After a workshop introducing SDM and the PDAs, the extent to which patients with CKD experienced SDM during the education process remained the same.

To make a decision regarding a treatment option for ESKD is a very complicated process for patients with CKD: several factors play a role in making the decision, such as previous personal experience, burden of treatment, family, and culture and religion [37]. In addition, gut instinct and emotions also play an essential role in making a decision [37]. For healthcare professionals, it is difficult to explain and foresee the disease course in a given patient, which is critical for patients who must make a decision, as CKD is often asymptomatic and the disease course can be unpredictable [38]. This is why it is so important to apply SDM, which combines the professional's medical knowledge with the patient's personal preferences to make this important decision together.

Healthcare professionals often think they already practice SDM, as our survey also shows, but patients rarely feel that the decision about a treatment option for ESKD has really been made together [14, 19-21]. A major barrier to SDM that seems to play a role is implicit persuasion [39]. A recent study by van Dulmen *et al.* showed that nephrologists applied implicit persuasion during the ESKD treatment decision talk, for example by selectively presenting treatment options or naming pros and cons of treatment options unequally [39]. An older study also showed that nephrologists apply implicit persuasion, for example by informing younger patients less frequently about the option of conservative care [8]. This practice hinders a patient with CKD from making an informed choice together with their healthcare professional.

Important tools that can promote the process of SDM is adopted are PDAs. PDAs are "interventions that support patients by making their decisions explicit, providing information about options

Chapter 2

and associated benefits/harms, and helping clarify congruence between decisions and personal values" [22]. PDAs exist to support the SDM process and serve to supplement the information provided by healthcare professionals [22, 23]. In 2017, a review of Davis *et al.* described 10 new PDAs for decisions regarding KRT and 3 new PDAs for decisions regarding conservative care developed in Australia, Canada, the United States, and the United Kingdom [23]. One of the 13 PDAs bears some resemblance to the Dutch PDAs the Option Grids. This is a website, hosted by Healthwise in the United States, called 'Kidney Failure: What Type of Dialysis Should I Have?' [Kidney Failure: What Type of Dialysis Should I Have? (healthwise.net)]. It contains six sections: providing facts about kidney disease and the decision to be made; comparing options; asking patients about their feelings regarding dialysis options; asking patients for a decision; a 'quiz'; and providing a summary of the preceding. The similarities to the Option Grids are the design with information relevant to patients and the comparison of different dialysis treatments. The main differences with the Option Grids is that the website does not focus on kidney transplantation or conservative care and is only an online PDA, making it less suitable for patients with lower eHealth literacy.

Multiple studies have demonstrated the beneficial effects of PDAs, for example, in terms of patient knowledge of risks and benefits [22, 23]. However, the implementation of PDAs depends on aspects such as the notion of healthcare professionals that they can improve their SDM skills, the willingness to use the PDAs and effective systems in which they are used [22]. Scalia *et al.* reported in their systematic review that healthcare professionals indicate time constraints, lack of training in the use of PDAs, and disagreement about the content and format of PDAs, as the most important barriers to the integration of PDAs [30].

Despite the fact that barriers to the integration of PDAs are well known, there is a lack of studies on the actual use of PDAs within the education process regarding ESKD treatment options. Our study showed that one year after the publication of the 3 Dutch PDAs, only 28% of the healthcare professionals surveyed used the 3 Good Questions, 31–33% used the Option Grids, and only 51% used the Kidney Guide. Although we did not investigate the reason for the limited use of the PDAs, discussions with the hospitals we contacted revealed that the previously mentioned barriers will certainly play a role in this. Future research should therefore focus on finding solutions to overcome these barriers, as PDAs are valuable tools for the SDM process [22, 23].

To our knowledge, this is the first survey providing detailed insight in the use of 3 PDAs by healthcare professionals and the degree of SDM as experienced by patients with CKD. In addition, a large number of healthcare professionals from multiple centers participated in our SDM workshop. Our survey has some limitations. First, the SDM-Q-9 and collaboRATE, used by patients to examine the perceived level of SDM, were not developed specifically for patients with CKD. However, both the SDM-Q-9 and collaboRATE have been tested in patients with chronic diseases making them
very likely to be useful in patients with CKD as well [33-35]. Second, the way patients completed the questionnaire may have been influenced by recall and response bias and the patients who completed the questionnaire during the two periods were different, since patients of the first period had already chosen an ESKD treatment option and were not going through the education process again. However, this does reflect daily practice. Third, the SDM scores were already quite high in the first period which may have led to a ceiling effect. However, our survey provides an important insight into the current education process regarding ESKD treatment options and opportunities for improvement of the education process.

In conclusion, although patients with advanced CKD and healthcare professionals are reasonably satisfied with the extent of SDM during the education process regarding ESKD treatment options, the use of specifically developed PDAs is limited. Hospitals that did use PDAs had higher SDM scores and required fewer conversations during the education process. After a workshop introducing SDM and the PDAs, the extent to which patients with CKD experienced SDM during the education process remained the same. Future research should identify the barriers to the use of PDAs in order to implement them in daily practice to achieve an optimal *shared decision*.

References

- 1. Moeller S, Gioberge S, and Brown G, *ESRD patients in 2001: global overview of patients, treatment modalities and development trends.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2002. 17(12): p. 2071-6.
- 2. Lysaght MJ, Maintenance dialysis population dynamics: Current Trends and Long-Term Implications. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2002. 13: p. S37-S40.
- 3. Couser WG, Remuzzi G, Mendis S, et al., *The contribution of chronic kidney disease to the global burden of major noncommunicable diseases.* Kidney Int, 2011. 80(12): p. 1258-70.
- 4. Liyanage T, Ninomiya T, Jha V, et al., *Worldwide access to treatment for end-stage kidney disease: a systematic review.* The Lancet, 2015. 385(9981): p. 1975-82.
- 5. Renal Physicians Association, Shared Decision-Making in the Appropriate Initiation of and Withdrawal from Dialysis (Clinical Practice Guideline). 2010.
- 6. Veatch R, Models for ethical medicine in a revolutionary age. What physician-patient roles foster the most ethical realtionship? Hastings Cent Rep., 1972. 2: p. 5-7.
- 7. Charles C, Gafni A, and Whelan T, Shared decision-making in the medical encounter: What does it mean? (or it takes at least two to tango). Social Science & Medicine, 1997. 44(5): p. 681-92.
- Lelie A, Decision-making in nephrology: shared decision making? Patient Educ Couns, 2000. 39: p. 81-9.
- 9. Fortnum D, Smolonogov T, Walker R, et al., '*My kidneys, my choice, decision aid*': Supporting shared decision making. Journal of Renal Care, 2015. 41(2): p. 81-7.
- 10. Koncicki HM and Schell JO, *Communication Skills and Decision Making for Elderly Patients With Advanced Kidney Disease: A Guide for Nephrologists.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2016. 67(4): p. 688-95.
- 11. Ladin K, Pandya R, Perrone RD, et al., *Characterizing Approaches to Dialysis Decision Making with Older Adults: A Qualitative Study of Nephrologists.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2018. 13(8): p. 1188-96.
- 12. Chan CT, Blankestijn PJ, Dember LM, et al., *Dialysis initiation, modality choice, access, and prescription: conclusions from a Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Controversies Conference*. Kidney Int, 2019. 96(1): p. 37-47.
- 13. Lee CT, Cheng CY, Yu TM, et al., Shared Decision Making Increases Living Kidney Transplantation and Peritoneal Dialysis. Transplant Proc, 2019. 51(5): p. 1321-4.
- 14. Verberne WR, Konijn WS, Prantl K, et al., *Older patients' experiences with a shared decisionmaking process on choosing dialysis or conservative care for advanced chronic kidney disease: a survey study.* BMC Nephrol, 2019. 20(1): p. 264.
- 15. Ho Y-F, Chen Y-C, Huang C-C, et al., *The Effects of Shared Decision Making on Different Renal Replacement Therapy Decisions in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease*. The Journal of Nursing Research, 2020. 25(4): p. 1-10.
- 16. Inker LA, Astor BC, Fox CH, et al., *KDOQI US commentary on the 2012 KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of CKD.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2014. 63(5): p. 713-35.
- Farrington K, Covic A, Aucella F, et al., Clinical Practice Guideline on management of older patients with chronic kidney disease stage 3b or higher (eGFR <45 mL/min/1.73 m2). Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2016. 31(suppl 2): p. ii1-ii66.
- 18. Federatie Medische Specialisten, Nierfunctievervangende behandeling, 2016. Available at https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/nierfunctievervangende_behandeling/ nierfunctievervangende_behandeling_-_startpagina.html (last accessed October 24, 2021).
- 19. Dahlerus C, Quinn M, Messersmith E, et al., *Patient Perspectives on the Choice of Dialysis Modality: Results From the Empowering Patients on Choices for Renal Replacement Therapy (EPOCH-RRT) Study.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2016. 68(6): p. 901-10.
- 20. Berkhout-Byrne N, Gaasbeek A, Mallat MJK, et al., *Regret about the decision to start dialysis: a cross-sectional Dutch national survey.* Netherlands Journal of Medicine, 2017. 75(6): p. 225-34.

- 21. Song MK, Lin FC, Gilet CA, et al., *Patient perspectives on informed decision-making surrounding dialysis initiation*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2013. 28(11): p. 2815-23.
- 22. Stacey D, Legare F, Lewis K, et al., *Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2017. 4: p. CD001431.
- 23. Davis JL and Davison SN, *Hard choices, better outcomes: a review of shared decision-making and patient decision aids around dialysis initiation and conservative kidney management.* Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens, 2017. 26: p. 205-13.
- 24. Shepherd HL, Barratt A, Trevena LJ, et al., *Three questions that patients can ask to improve the quality of information physicians give about treatment options: a cross-over trial.* Patient Educ Couns, 2011. 84(3): p. 379-85.
- 25. Patiëntenfederatie Nederland and Federatie Medisch Specialisten, 3 Goede Vragen. Available at: https://3goedevragen.nl/ (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- 26. Elwyn G, Lloyd A, Joseph-Williams N, et al., *Option Grids: shared decision making made easier*. Patient Educ Couns, 2013. 90(2): p. 207-12.
- 27. The Option Grid Collaborative, *Available at: https://www.optiongrid.org/. Last accessed at 18 November 2021.* 2012.
- 28. Option Grids, Available at: https://consultkaart.nl/ (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- 29. Dutch Kidney Guide, Available at: https://nierwijzer.nl/. (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- Scalia P, Durand MA, Berkowitz JL, et al., *The impact and utility of encounter patient decision aids: Systematic review, meta-analysis and narrative synthesis.* Patient Educ Couns, 2019. 102(5): p. 817-41.
- 31. van Eck van der Sluijs A, Bonenkamp AA, Dekker FW, et al., *Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO): rationale and design*. BMC Nephrol, 2019. 20(1): p. 361.
- 32. Bonenkamp AA, Reijnders TDY, van Eck van der Sluijs A, et al., *Key elements in selection of pre-dialysis patients for home dialysis*. Perit Dial Int, 2021. 41(5): p. 494-501.
- 33. Kriston L, Scholl I, Holzel L, et al., *The 9-item Shared Decision Making Questionnaire (SDM-Q-9). Development and psychometric properties in a primary care sample.* Patient Educ Couns, 2010. 80(1): p. 94-9.
- 34. Rodenburg-Vandenbussche S, Pieterse AH, Kroonenberg PM, et al., Dutch Translation and Psychometric Testing of the 9-Item Shared Decision Making Questionnaire (SDM-Q-9) and Shared Decision Making Questionnaire-Physician Version (SDM-Q-Doc) in Primary and Secondary Care. PLoS One, 2015. 10(7): p. e0132158.
- 35. Elwyn G, Barr PJ, Grande SW, et al., *Developing CollaboRATE: a fast and frugal patient-reported measure of shared decision making in clinical encounters.* Patient Educ Couns, 2013. 93(1): p. 102-7.
- 36. Elwyn G, Frosch D, Thomson R, et al., *Shared decision making: a model for clinical practice.* J Gen Intern Med, 2012. 27(10): p. 1361-7.
- 37. Hussain JA, Flemming K, Murtagh FE, et al., *Patient and health care professional decision-making to commence and withdraw from renal dialysis: a systematic review of qualitative research.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2015. 10(7): p. 1201-15.
- 38. Schell JO, Patel UD, Steinhauser KE, et al., *Discussions of the kidney disease trajectory by elderly patients and nephrologists: a qualitative study.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2012. 59(4): p. 495-503.
- 39. van Dulmen S, Peereboom E, Schulze L, et al., *The use of implicit persuasion in decision-making about treatment for end-stage kidney disease.* Perit Dial Int, 2022. 42(4): p. 377-86.

Supplemental material

Supplemental table 1. Healthcare professional questionnaire

Questions	Answer options
What is your profession?	Physician – physician assistant/nurse practitioner – dialysis nurse – dietitian – social worker
What is your overall impression of ESKD education?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'bad' to 'very good'
What do you think about the organization of ESKD education?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'bad' to 'very good'
What do you think about the total number of conversations a patient has during ESKD education?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'far too little' to 'far too much'
What do you think about the quality of information given during the conversations?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'bad' to 'very good'
What do you think about the amount of information given during the conversations?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'far too little' to 'far too much'
What do you think of the educational materials used?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'bad' to 'very good'
 To what extent are you familiar with the decision aids listed below? Option Grid 'Permanent damage to your kidneys: renal replacement therapy or conservative treatment' Option Grid 'Permanent damage to your kidneys: options for renal replacement therapy' 	never heard of – heard of, never used – heard of, used – no opinion
Dutch Kidney Guide3 Good Questions	
What should be added to ESKD education?	Open question
What should be removed from ESKD education?	Open question
Do you think patients are <u>completely</u> informed based on current ESKD education?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely disagree' to 'completely agree'
Do you think patients are <u>objectively</u> informed based on current ESKD education?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely disagree' to 'completely agree'
Do you think patients <u>can make a good decision</u> based on current ESKD education?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely disagree' to 'completely agree'
Do you think patients make their decision together with their physician (shared decision-making)?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely disagree' to 'completely agree'

SDM-0-9	Answer ontions
My doctor made clear that a decision needs to be	6-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely
made	disagree' to 'completely agree'
My doctor wanted to know exactly how I want to be	6-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely
involved in making the decision	disagree' to 'completely agree'
My doctor told me that there are different options	6-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely
for treating my medical condition	disagree' to 'completely agree'
My doctor precisely explained the advantages and	6-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely
disadvantages of the treatment options	disagree' to 'completely agree'
My doctor helped me understand all the	6-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely
information	disagree' to 'completely agree'
My doctor asked me which treatment option I	6-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely
prefer	disagree' to 'completely agree'
My doctor and I thoroughly weighed the different	6-point Likert scale ranging from 'completely
treatment options	disagree' to 'completely agree'
My doctor and I selected a treatment option	6-point Likert scale ranging from "completely
together	disagree to completely agree
My doctor and i reached an agreement on now to	6-point Likert scale ranging from completely
	disagree to completely agree
How much offert was made to help you understand	10 point Likert scale ranging from 'No offert was
vour health issues?	made' to 'Every effort was made'
How much effort was made to listen to the things	10-point Likert scale ranging from 'No effort was
that matter most to you about your health issues?	made' to 'Every effort was made'
How much effort was made to include what	10-point Likert scale ranging from 'No effort was
matters most to you in choosing what to do next?	made' to 'Every effort was made'
General questions	
What treatment options have you had	Conservative care – Kidney transplantation –
conversations about?	Peritoneal dialysis – Home hemodialysis – In-
	center hemodialysis (multiple answers possible)
What is your overall impression of the	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'bad' to 'very
conversations?	good'
What do you think about the amount of	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'far too little' to
information given during the conversations?	'far too much'
Was the information given during the	Yes – No – Other (with explanation)
conversations clear?	
What do you think of the educational materials used?	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'bad' to 'very good'
What do you think of the total number of	5-point Likert scale ranging from 'far too little' to
conversations?	'far too much'
What treatment did you choose?	Conservative care – Kidnev transplantation –
	Peritoneal dialysis – Home hemodialysis – In-
	center hemodialysis (one answer)

Supplemental table 2. Patient questionnaire

Supplemental table 2. Patient questionnaire (continued)

Question regarding perceived barriers	
What did you find to be barriers/obstacles to home hemodialysis?	Lack of space – costs – fear – unfamiliarity – burden for myself – burden for my family – 'hospital at home' – I had no choice – I received no information - other (with explanation) (multiple answers possible)
What did you find to be barriers/obstacles to peritoneal dialysis?	Lack of space – costs – fear – unfamiliarity – burden for myself – burden for my family – 'hospital at home' – abdominal catheter – Infections – I had no choice – I received no information - other (with explanation) (multiple answers possible)

Supplemental figure 1. Timeline



Patient decision aids in end-stage kidney disease



Chapter 3

Good practices for dialysis education, treatment, and eHealth: A scoping review

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs, Sanne Vonk, Brigit C. van Jaarsveld, Anna A. Bonenkamp and Alferso C. Abrahams

PLoS One. 2021 Aug 11;16(8):e0255734

Abstract

Background Recommendations regarding dialysis education and treatment are provided in various (inter)national guidelines, which should ensure that these are applied uniformly in nephrology and dialysis centers. However, there is much practice variation which could be explained by good practices: practices developed by local health care professionals, which are not evidence-based. Because an overview of good practices is lacking, we performed a scoping review to identify and summarize the available good practices for dialysis education, treatment, and eHealth.

Methods EMBASE, Pubmed, the Cochrane Library, CINAHL databases and Web of Science were searched for relevant articles using all synonyms for the words 'kidney failure', 'dialysis', and 'good practice'. Relevant articles were structured according to the categories dialysis education, dialysis treatment or eHealth, and assessed for content and results.

Results Nineteen articles (12 for dialysis education, 3 for dialysis treatment, 4 for eHealth) are identified. The good practices for education endorse the importance of providing complete and objective predialysis education, assisting peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients in adequately performing PD, educating hemodialysis (HD) patients on self-management, and talking with dialysis patients about their prognosis. The good practices for dialysis treatment focus mainly on dialysis access devices and general quality improvement of dialysis care. Finally, eHealth is useful for HD and PD and affects both quality of care and health-related quality of life.

Conclusion Our scoping review identifies 19 articles describing good practices and their results for dialysis education, dialysis treatment, and eHealth. These good practices could be valuable in addition to guidelines for increasing shared decision-making in predialysis education, using patients' contribution in the implementation of their dialysis treatment, and advanced care planning.

Introduction

According to the latest estimates, more than 320 million patients are treated with dialysis worldwide [1]. In most developed countries, patients start dialysis after having received education on different treatment options (i.e. dialysis, transplantation, and conservative care) [2-4]. Recommendations regarding education and dialysis treatment are given in various (inter)national guidelines [5-10]. These, preferably evidence-based, recommendations assist health care professionals in the guidance and treatment of chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients in order to provide the best possible care.

Guidelines should ensure that complete and objective education is provided to CKD patients about all treatment options [5]. In addition, guidelines should assure that practical execution of a specific dialysis treatment (i.e. hemodialysis (HD) or peritoneal dialysis (PD)) is more or less the same in all centers. However, this does not always seem to be the case. In 2010, it was shown that variation in center-specific factors (e.g. number of patients, in-center HD treatment capacity, and availability of a late dialysis shift) in the United States influenced the utilization of home dialysis (i.e. home HD and PD) [11]. This also appears to be true for many other countries when looking at the variation in PD utilization [12]. In addition, practice variation *within* a country seems to associate with a broad range in the percentage of dialysis patients treated with home dialysis [13]. Probably part of this variation can be explained by so-called 'good practices' which are developed locally.

The term 'good practice', also referred to as 'best practice', denotes '...a practice that has been proven to work well and produce good results, and is therefore recommended as a model.' [14, 15]. Good practices are practices that are developed locally and with which health care professionals have good experience, but are not evidence-based and therefore not added to (inter)national guidelines [14, 15]. As a result, these practices are not distributed and applied nationally, such as the recommendations from (inter)national guidelines. Although not evidence-based, good practices can have additional advantages and are therefore worthwhile exploring. Moreover, local good practices for dialysis education and treatment could potentially explain the previously mentioned practice variation.

An overview regarding these good practices is lacking in current published literature. Thus, we performed a scoping review to identify and summarize the available literature describing good practices for dialysis education, treatment, and electronic health (eHealth).

Methods

Search strategy and selection criteria

EMBASE, Pubmed, the Cochrane Library, CINAHL databases and Web of Science were searched for relevant articles using all synonyms for the words 'kidney failure', 'dialysis', and 'good practice' (Table 1).

Table 1. Search strings

Database	Search
EMBASE	hemodialys*: ab,ti OR haemodialys*:ab,ti OR 'hemo-dialys*':ab,ti OR 'haemo-dialys*':ab,ti OR 'renal dialys*':ab,ti OR 'dialysis near/3 modalit*':ab,ti OR 'artificial kidney':ab,ti OR 'peritoneal dialys*':ab,ti OR 'peritoneum near/3 dialys*':ab,ti OR 'end stage renal*':ab,ti OR 'kidney disease':ab,ti OR 'kidney failure':ab,ti OR 'peritoneal dialysis'/exp OR 'hemodialysis'/ exp OR 'kidney disease'/exp AND
Pubmed	'good practice*':ab,ti OR 'best practice*':ab,ti (hemodialys*[Title/Abstract] OR haemodialys*[Title/Abstract] OR hemo-dialys*[Title/ Abstract] OR haemo-dialys*[Title/Abstract] OR "renal dialys*"[Title/Abstract] OR "dialys modalit*"[Title/Abstract] OR "artificial kidney*"[Title/Abstract] OR "peritoneal dialys*"[Title/Abstract] OR "peritoneum dialys*"[Title/Abstract] OR "End-Stage Kidney*"[Title/Abstract] OR "End Stage Kidney*"[Title/Abstract] OR "End-Stage Renal*"[Title/Abstract] OR "End Stage Renal*"[Title/Abstract] OR "Kidney failure"[Title/ Abstract] OR "Renal Failure"[Title/Abstract] OR "Kidney failure"[Title/ Abstract] OR "Renal Failure"[Title/Abstract] OR ESRD[Title/Abstract]) OR (renal dialysis[MeSH Terms] OR artificial kidneys[MeSH Terms] OR chronic kidney failure[MeSH Terms] OR dialysis, peritoneal[MeSH Terms] OR hemodialysis, home[MeSH Terms] OR kidney failure[MeSH Terms])
	(("Good practice*"[Title/Abstract] OR "Best practice*"[Title/Abstract]) OR best practices[MeSH Terms])
Cochrane	((hemodialys* OR haemodialys* OR hemo-dialys* OR haemo-dialys* OR 'renal dialys*' OR 'dialys modalit*' OR 'artificial kidney*' OR 'peritoneal dialys*' OR 'peritoneum dialys*' OR 'end-stage renal*' OR 'end stage renal*' OR 'chronic kidney failure' OR 'end-stage kidney*' OR 'end stage kidney*' OR ESRD OR 'renal failure'):ti,ab,kw) OR (MeSH descriptor: [Renal Dialysis] Explode all trees) OR (MeSH descriptor: [Kidneys, Artificial] Explode all trees) OR (MeSH descriptor: [Renal Insufficiency, Chronic] Explode all trees)
	(("good practice*" OR 'best practice*'):ti,ab,kw) OR (MeSH descriptor: [Practice Guidelines as Topic] Explode all trees)

Database	Search
CINAHL	(TI "hemodialys*") OR (TI "haemodialys*") OR (TI "hemo-dialys*") OR (TI "haemo-
	dialys*") OR (TI "renal dialys*") OR (TI "dialys modalit*") OR
	(TI "artificial kidney*") OR (TI "peritoneal dialys*") OR
	(TI "peritoneum dialys*") OR (TI "End-Stage Kidney*") OR
	(TI "End Stage Kidney*") OR (TI "End-Stage Renal*") OR
	(TI "End Stage Renal*") OR (TI "Kidney Failure") OR (TI "Renal Failure") OR
	(TI "ESRD") OR (AB "hemodialys*") OR (AB "haemodialys*") OR (AB "hemo-dialys*") OR (AB
	"haemo-dialys*") OR (AB "renal dialys*") OR
	(AB "dialys modalit*") OR (AB "artificial kidney*") OR
	(AB "peritoneal dialys*") OR (AB "peritoneum dialys*") OR (AB "End-Stage Kidney*") OR (AB
	"End Stage Kidney*") OR (AB "End-Stage Renal*") OR (AB "End Stage Renal*") OR (AB
	"Kidney Failure") OR (AB "Renal Failure") OR (AB "ESRD") OR (MH "Renal Replacement
	Therapy+") OR (MH "Dialysis+") OR (MH "Renal Insufficiency+") OR (MH "Kidney, Artificial")
	AND
	(AB "good practice*") OR (AB "best practice*") OR (TI "good practice*") OR
	(TI "best practice*") OR (MH "Professional Practice, Theory-Based+") OR
	(MH "Professional Practice, Research-Based+") OR (MH "Practice Guidelines")
Web of	TS=(hemodialys* OR haemodialys* OR hemo-dialys* OR haemo-dialys* OR "renal dialys*"
Science	OR "dialys modalit*"
	OR "artificial kidney*" OR "peritoneal dialys*" OR "peritoneum dialys*" OR "End-
	Stage Kidney*" OR "End Stage Kidney*" OR "End-Stage Renal*" OR "End St-
	age Renal*" OR "Kidney Failure" OR "Renal Failure"
	OR ESRD)
	AND
	TS=("good practice*" OR "best practice*")

Table 1. Search strings (continued)

After removal of duplicates, two authors (AES and SV) independently screened titles and abstracts. Articles were eligible for inclusion if they provided a thorough description of the content of a good practice regarding dialysis education, treatment or eHealth for adult patients. Articles of all study types were included, however articles that described a guideline, review or meta-analysis were subsequently excluded after being screened for additional references.

Articles were excluded if they referred to a practice already covered in (inter)national guidelines, or if they reported on implementation projects, diabetes mellitus care or exercise programs for dialysis patients. In addition, articles were excluded if no full text or only a published abstract was available or if they were written in a language other than English.

The remaining articles were read full text by two authors (AES and SV) and screened for additional references. Final inclusion was based on consensus between the two authors (AES and SV) based on the previously mentioned in- and exclusion-criteria. In case of disagreement, the opinion of a third author (ACA) was decisive.

Data extraction

Data extraction was executed and checked by two authors (AES and SV). The included studies were structured according to the category to which the good practice was related. The following categories were used: dialysis education, dialysis treatment, and eHealth. After classifying the articles in the aforementioned categories, the following data were extracted: study design, number of participants investigated, good practice description, results, and study conclusion.

Results

Study selection

The initial literature search was performed on May 2, 2019, and last updated on January 12, 2021. Figure 1 provides an overview of the search.



* Exclusion criteria for title screen: No good practice regarding dialysis modality education/treatment or eHealth, implementation project, diabetes mellitus care or exercise program for dialysis patients, guideline, meta-analysis, protocol, review, and language other than English.

Figure 1. Selection flow diagram

After removal of duplicates, the search provided 5,213 articles. Subsequently 5,109 articles were excluded based on the title and another 74 were excluded based on the abstract. The full-text of the remaining 30 articles was assessed for eligibility. In total, 17 articles were excluded for the following reasons: no good practice described [5, 16-20], content of the good practice not described [21-24], good practice not regarding dialysis education or dialysis treatment [25], articles describing a guideline [26, 27] or review [23, 28-30]. The remaining 13 articles were screened for additional references, resulting in 6 cross-references (Figure 1) [31-36]. No additional cross-references were found in the articles describing guidelines, reviews or meta-analyzes. So, in total 19 articles were included [31-49].

Study characteristics

Characteristics of the 19 included articles are presented in Tables 2-4. Twelve articles described good practices for dialysis education (Table 2), three for dialysis treatment (Table 3), and four for eHealth (Table 4). All articles were published during the past 20 years and 47% of them came from the United States of America (USA). Most studies (58%) had a qualitative design, while the others were cohort studies (21%), case-control studies (11%), and randomized controlled trials (11%).

Dialysis education

Four of the twelve articles that described good practices for dialysis education, focused on providing objective predialysis education for CKD patients (Table 2) [31, 32, 40, 45]. Fortnum *et al.* [40] presented the 'My Kidneys, My Choice' decision aid, a patient-centered tool to support the education of CKD patients and promote shared decision-making. Health care professionals found the decision aid to be helpful for understanding treatment options and patients' priorities, and for supporting decision making.

Lacson Jr. *et al.* [31] initiated a standardized predialysis treatment options education program that consisted of education provided during a single group class session, followed by contacts after 30, 90, and 180 days during which treatment options were repeatedly discussed. Compared to controls, patients who followed the standardized education program were significantly more likely to choose PD (odds ratio (OR) 5.13) or to start in-center HD with a fistula or graft (OR 2.06), and had a lower mortality (OR 0.61) during the first 90 days of dialysis treatment [31].

Manns *et al.* [32] developed a two-phase patient-centered educational intervention, showing manuals and a video for self-care dialysis (i.e. PD, home HD, and self-care HD) in phase 1 and conducting a small group session in phase 2. The intervention significantly increased the proportion of patients who intended to initiate self-care dialysis (intervention group 82.1% vs. standard care group 50%).

Chapter 3

Wu *et al.* [45] presented a multidisciplinary predialysis education program consisting of quarterly individual nurse-led lectures for CKD patients stage 3 and 4, while this was intensified to monthly lectures for CKD patients stage 5. Compared to controls, patients who followed the multidisciplinary education program had a significant lower risk of requiring dialysis (hazard ratio (HR) 0.117) and lower mortality (HR 0.103) after a mean follow-up of 11.7 months.

Five of the twelve articles that described good practices for dialysis education, focused on PD patients [33, 37-39, 41]. Luongo *et al.* [41] described a five-step approach (i.e. preparation, environment, special considerations, interview, and special concerns) for nurses to interview CKD patients who may choose PD as dialysis treatment. The goal of the interview was to reduce stress and anxiety in the patient and to promote shared decision-making. Although this approach has not been tested, the authors concluded that it guides PD nurses in providing correct information to future PD patients without overwhelming them.

The qualitative studies of Figueiredo *et al.* [38] and Firanek *et al.* [39] focused on PD training. Figueiredo *et al.* [38] provided a detailed description of a 5-day PD training course, with an introduction on day 1, supervised procedure practice sessions on days 2 to 4, and a review of the provided information and check of the patient's competence on day 5. The authors concluded that with this training course PD nurses ensure that the patient can perform PD safely and effectively. Firanek *et al.* [39] visited six centers to identify successful components of the PD training programs. Subsequently, they provided an overview of these successful components focused on setting and staff, training methods, educational documents, training structure, automated peritoneal dialysis (APD) training content, and delivery of APD training.

Successful home visit programs were described by Farina *et al.* [37] and Martino *et al.* [33]. The main similarities between the two programs were: assessment of the home where PD was performed, assessment of the PD procedure performed by the patient, and the patient's compliance to pharmacological and dialysis therapy. While Farina *et al.* did not examine the effect of the intervention, Martino *et al.* reported that PD patients who received a home visit had a significantly longer PD duration (52 weeks) and a lower technique failure rate (11.5%) compared with controls (PD duration 48.8 weeks, technique failure rate 23.3%) [33].

The last three articles focused on an educational program for HD patients [44] and conversations with dialysis patients [42, 43]. Wingard *et al.* [44] described a 3-month educational program for HD patients that focused on health self-management, rehabilitation, nutritional counselling, and interventions for achieving goals such as anemia management, adequate dialysis dose, logistical, and psychosocial support. Compared to controls, patients who completed the program had significantly fewer hospitalization days per patient year (7.2 vs. 10.5) and a lower mortality

(HR 0.59) after a maximum follow-up duration of 12 months. The authors concluded that the program not only reduced morbidity and mortality, but also increased job satisfaction for nurses.

Mandel *et al.* [42] described a 6-step guide for serious illness conversations with dialysis patients to discuss their prognosis. The guide consisted of the following steps: set up the conversation, assess the patient's illness understanding, share the patient's prognosis, explore key topics, close the conversation, and document the conversation. The article by Michel *et al.* [43] also described an approach for talking with dialysis patients about their prognosis based on four aspects: who to tell, when to tell, what to tell, and how to tell. The authors concluded that this approach can help discussing prognosis with dialysis patients, taking into account the patient's preferences.

Study, Study Country, desigr Year N Farina Qualit [37] N=n.a USA 2001	 GP description ative Home visit for PD patients Goals: Visit prior to training: assess home environment, social and family dynamics. Visit after training: assess application of PD procedures. 	Results n.a.	Study conclusion A home visit is a valuable fool
Farina Qualit [37] N=n.a USA 2001	 ative Home visit for PD patients Goals: Visit prior to training: assess home environment, social and family dynamics. Visit after training: assess application of PD procedures. 	n.a.	A home visit is a valuable tool
Farina Qualit [37] N=n.a USA 2001	 ative <u>Home visit for PD patients</u> Goals: Visit prior to training: assess home environment, social and family dynamics. Visit after training: assess application of PD procedures. 	п.а.	A home visit is a valuable tool
[37] N=n.a. USA 2001	 Goals: Visit prior to training: assess home environment, social and family dynamics. Visit after training: assess application of PD procedures. 		
USA 2001	 Visit prior to training: assess home environment, social and family dynamics. Visit after training: assess application of PD procedures. 		and gives PD staff opportunity
2001	dynamics. Visit after training: assess application of PD procedures. 		to monitor the environment
	 Visit after training: assess application of PD procedures. 		where dialysis is performed.
	Components		
	Before visit: establish home visit policy, explain reason for visit to		
	patient, secure directions to patient's home, verify visit, review violen	Ce	
	prevention, notify supervisor of planned visit.		
	 During visit: review reason for visit, asses home (clean work area, 		
	adequate lighting, running water/soap, draft free room, free of pets,		
	storage of supplies), survey equipment, compliance issues, family		
	dynamics/adaptation skills, assessment of procedures/technique,		
	medicines, provision of patient education, review of findings/		
	recommendations.		
	After visit: review results with health care team and brainstorm to results	lve	
	problems, follow up on any issues that need to be resolved, track resu	lts	
	of home visits over period of time, identify trends and opportunities f	Dr	
	improvement.		

Figuei- Qualitative PD training course syllabus ^b After redo N=n.a. • Day 1: Establish a report, describe goals and plan of the course, train [38] demonstrate steps of different procedures, assess patient learning will h	
 10 styles/barriers, explain how learning will occur, introduce concepts of PD. 2016 PD. Day 2: Review goals, provide repeated supervised practice sessions of PD exchange and exit-site care with feedback from previous day, review concepts of asepsis, peritonitis, residual renal function, fluid balance, documentation, move from simple to more complex learning. Day 3: Continue supervised procedure practice with feedback, review concepts through discussion and questions, introduce problem solving. Day 4: Continue supervised procedure practice with feedback, including acknowledgment of skills mastered, review concepts through discussion and questions, continue to problem solve through discussion and questions, procedures until proficiency demonstrated. 	After completion of the PD training syllabus, the PD nurse will have provided education to a patient and/or caregiver such that the patient/ caregiver has the required knowledge, skills and abilities to perform PD at home safely and effectively.

Country, design, Year N	GP description	Results	Study conclusion
Firanek Qualitativ. [39] N=n.a. USA 2013 2013	 Eeatures of successful nurse-led APD training Setting and staff: dedicated staff members, training patients in clinic (home-like atmosphere, all necessary materials), home visit soon after training, then annually. Training methods: five-step method; 1) overview (understand why learning procedure is necessary), 2) silent demonstration, 3) talking demonstration, 4) patient verbalizes each step procedure to demonstrate understanding/recall, 5) patient demonstrates procedure. Educational documents: "less is more" in initial stages of patient training, 2 categories of educational documents (cycler, monitoring/troubleshooting). Training structure: first CAPD training (2.5-7 days for 3-7.5 h/day), then APD training (1-4 days for 3-7.5 h/day). APD training structure: first CAPD training (2.5-7 days for 3-7.5 h/day), then APD training understand materials, more complex topics at slower pace with simplified language and practical examples. Delivery of APD training: verbal explanation of APD cycler, return demonstration by patient, instructions for washing hands/setting up supplies/starting cycler/preparing solution bags/loading set/connecting bags/priming and connecting patient/disconnecting patient/disconnecting bags/priming verbal/written quizzes. 	e L	Patient training programs should focus on basic and essential information patients need to master in order to dialyze successfully and safely at home. Clinics reinforced learning by several methods, including written quizzes to asses and document patient learning, and reviewing the quiz to reinforce learning and disseminate more information.

Study, Country, Year	Study design, N	GP description	Results	Study conclusion
Fortnum [40] Australia and New Zealand 2015	Qualitative N=25	 'My Kidneys. My Choice' decision aid for CKD patients focusing on SDM 1. 'My Kidneys' (Deliberation talk): create awareness of need to make a decision for patient. 2. 'My Lifestyle' (Deliberation/Choice talk): let patient acknowledge lifestyle impacts on options, educate about choices. 3. 'My Options' (Choice/Option talk): start discussions/recap about treatment options. 4. 'My Choice' (Decision talk): ask patient for readiness to make a decision, recentralize them in the SDM process, clarify they have understood options. 5. 'My Questions': open page for patient to note questions, bring it back to subsequent appointments. 	 25 health professionals: use aid: 11 times (±7.7) mean score (1 'no help' to 4 'very helpful') support understanding of options: 3.24±0.72 assist understanding of patients' priorities: 3.04±0.83 support decision making: 3.17±0.72 	The decision aid has the potential to improve decision making practice for CKD patients. Early acceptance is high.
Lacson Jr [31] USA 2011	Cohort N=5600	 Standardized predialysis treatment options education (TOP) for CKD patients Goal: provide objective treatment options education to CKD patients and their families about renal transplant, ICHD, HHD, PD, conservative therapy. Content: Single group class session. 30, 90, 180 days follow-up contact: 1) review treatment options, 2) inquire about each patient's kidney function and dialysis access planning, 3) provide feedback to referring physician. 	Adjusted OR for TOPs attendees vs. controls: • Select PD: 5.13 (95%CI 3.58-7.35) • Start ICHD with fistula/graft: 2.06 (95%CI 1.88-2.26) • Mortality: 0.61 • Mortality: 0.61	Attending TOP was associated with more frequent selection of PD, fewer tunneled HD catheters and lower mortality risk during the first 90 days of dialysis treatment.

Study, Country, Year	Study design, N	GP description	Results	Study conclusion
Luongo [41] USA 2004	Qualitative N=n.a.	 Interview CKD patients for PD (Five-Step Approach) 1. Preparation: nurse explores questions regarding interview goals and competencies needed for interview, patient's medical history/health care experience/culture/ background. 2. Environment: private room. 3. Special considerations: PD nurse must identify and manage variety of patient situations (geriatric patients, patients who do not speak or understand English, hearing or visually impaired, anxious or illiterate patients). 4. Interview: social history, home environment, language/education, physical limitations, general questions (e.g. previous experience, family member with CKD/RRT), financial issues, CKD/RRT education and information (e.g. review kidney function, PD), self-care issues. 5. Special concerns: pay attention to signs/situations that may predict future problems. 	гэ ц	The PD nurse has an important role in the patient's health care experience and must use previous experience, clinical knowledge, and careful judgement to offer the future patient the correct information and support.
Mandel [42] USA 2017	Qualitative N=n.a.	 Serious Illness Conversation Guide for dialysis patients 1. Set up conversation: introduce idea/benefits, ask permission. 2. Assess illness understanding/information preferences. 3. Share prognosis: tailor information to patient preference, allow silence, explore emotion. 4. Explore key topics: goals, fears/worries, sources of strength, critical abilities, tradeoffs, family engagement/involvement. 5. Close the conversation: summarize what you've heard, make recommendation. affirm commitment to patient. 6. Document conversation. 	Ъа	The Guide provides a tested, scalable structure for conducting serious illness conversations and assists in developing/adapting the care plan to ensure goal- consistent care.

Study,	Study	GP description	Results	Study conclusion
Country,	design,			
Year	Z			
Manns	RCT	Educational intervention for CKD patients to promote self-care dialysis	Intervention group vs. standard	A two-phase educational
[32]	N=62	Phase 1:	care group:	intervention can increase the
Canada		 4 written patient manuals; 1 manual "Choosing the type of dialysis 	 Intention to start self-care 	proportion of patients who
2005		best suited to you", 3 manuals on self-care dialysis (PD, HHD, self-care	dialysis: 82.1% vs. 50%,	intend to initiate self-care
		in-center HD).	p=0.015	dialysis.
		 15-minute video "Choosing the type of dialysis best suited to you". 		
		Phase 2: 90-minute small group interactive session involving 3–6 patients,		
		nephrologist, predialysis nurse.		
Martino	Case-control	Home visit program for PD patients	Home visit group vs. standard	The home visit program
[33]	N=188	 Home visits every 3 months between 2 visits PD center by skilled PD 	care group:	reduces technique failure and
Italy		nurses.	• Treatment duration: 52 weeks	extends PD treatment.
2014		 Additional home visit in case of medical suggestions. 	vs. 48.8 weeks, p=0.018	
		During home visit:	 Technique failure: 11.5% vs. 	
		 Nurse supervises environment of PD exchange, storage place of 	23.3%, p=0.004	
		material, possible mistakes during procedures, compliance to	No difference for peritonitis and	
		pharmacological and dialysis therapy.	hospitalization rate.	
		Nurse supports patients by suggesting possible solutions, reinforcing		
		patient knowledge, and/or anticipating a medical visit to the PD		
		center.		

Study, Country.	Study design.	GP description	Results	Study conclusion
Year	N			
Michel	Qualitative	Conversations about prognosis with ESKD patients	n.a.	The approach should help
[43]	N=n.a.	1. Who to Tell; assess decision-making capacity of the patient, ask patient		discuss prog-nosis in a
USA		if he/she wants to hear prognosis and wants to participate in decision-		way that is sensitive to
2005		making process.		patients' preferences in
		2. When to Tell: early in course of progressive disease.		accor-dance with guideline
		3. What to Tell: estimate of prognosis, life expectancy, likely QOL.		recommendations.
		4. How to Tell: Method of Buckman and Kayson ^c for breaking bad news.		
Wingard	Case-control	<u>RightStart program for HD patients</u>	RightStart vs. standard care	The RightStart program
[44]	N=1938	3-month educational program coordinated by case manager (meeting 1–2	patients:	decreases the number of
USA		times/week during $1^{\rm st}$ month, every 1–2 weeks for next months).	 Hospital days per patient year 	hospital days and mortality for
2009		 Intensive education focused on health self-management and 	at 12 months: 7.2 vs. 10.5,	HD patients.
		rehabilitation.	p<0.001	
		 Intensive nutritional counselling by dietitian, reinforced by case 	 Mortality per 100 patient 	
		manager.	years at 12 months: 17 vs. 30,	
		 Interventions for achieving goals for anemia management, adequate 	HR 0.59, p<0.001	
		dialysis dose, nutrition, reduction of catheter use, medication review,		
		logistical and psychosocial support.		
		Collaboration with facility staff/medical director to ensure prompt and		
		overall care.		

Study, Country, Year	Study design, N	GP description	Results	Study conclusion
Wu [45] Taiwan 2009	Cohort N=573	 Multidisciplinary predialysis education (MPE) for CKD patients Individual lectures CKD patients by nurse: Stage 3 CKD (lecture every 3 months): healthy renal function, uremia presentation, risk factors and complications of renal progression, introduction to various RRTs (HD, PD, renal transplant). Stage 4 CKD (lecture every 3 months): discussions on management CKD complications, indications of RRT, evaluation vascular/peritonea access. Stage 5 CKD (lecture every month): monitor timely RRT initiation, care of vas-cular/peritoneal access, dialysis-associated complications, registration for renal transplant waiting list. All patients: dietary counselling (every 6 months). 	 MPE vs. standard care group (mean follow-up 11.7±0.9 months): Requiring dialysis: 13.9% vs. 43.0% adjusted HR 0.117 (95%Cl 0.075-0.183) All-cause mortality: 1.7% vs. 10.1%, adjusted HR 0.103 (95%Cl 0.040-0.265) 	MPE may decrease the incidence of dialysis and reduce mortality in late-stage CKD patients.
APD=autorr disease; GP of people in SDM=share(a. Australia, b. Based or experient experient's at an app follow-up	ated peritone =good practic. vestigated; n.a d decision-ma i Knowles's pri i Knowles's pri zes; 3) adults a pproach of Buc preexistent kn ropriate pace	al dialysis; CAPD=continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; CI=confiden ; HD=hemodialysis; HHD=home hemodialysis; HR=hazard ratio; ICHD=in-c =not applicable; OR=odds ratio; PD=peritoneal dialysis; QOL=quality of life; ing; TOP=treatment options education; USA=United States of America. , China, Guatemala, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, United Kingdom, and the rciples for adult education: 1) adults are internally motivated and self-dir e goal-oriented; 4) adults are relevancy oriented; 5) adults are practical; 6) i kman and Kayson for breaking bad news: 1) give news in person, in priva owledge is; 3) find out what the patient wants to know; 4) give a warning fir or the patient; 5) respond to the patient's feelings and concerns; 6) determ [51].	ce interval; CKD=chronic kidney c enter HD; MPE=Multidisciplinary p RCT=randomized controlled trial; United States. ected; 2) adults bring life experieu dult learners like to be respected ie, with sufficient time, without ir t, then provide a small amount ol ine the next steps, identify source	isease, ESKD=end-stage kidney redialysis education; N=number RRT=renal replacement therapy; nces and knowledge to learning [50]. terruption; 2) find out what the information in simple language is of support, and make an early

Dialysis treatment

The three articles that described good practices for dialysis treatment were all qualitative studies (Table 3) [46-48]. Abdel-Aal *et al.* [46] provided a detailed description of the procedure for insertion of a PD catheter by interventional radiologists. Various aspects of pre-procedure preparation, such as bowel preparation and fasting, were discussed followed by a detailed explanation of the PD catheter insertion with explanatory photos. The procedure was described as a cost-effective and minimally invasive alternative to traditional surgical placement of a PD catheter.

Craswell *et al.* [47] described practices for insertion, maintenance, and removal of central venous catheters (CVCs) for HD. The practices for insertion consisted of patient education for insertion, anatomical site selection and decision-making, and training. The practices for maintenance consisted of education, dressing practices, and assessment and monitoring for infection. The practices for removal consisted of the decision for removal and complications of removal. The authors concluded that an interdisciplinary team is very important for patient education and catheter care.

Desai *et al.* [48] reported 155 good practices that could potentially improve outcomes of dialysis centers, such as dialysis dose and anemia management, and overall survival in dialysis patients. The 155 good practices were divided into the following domains: facility characteristics and amenities, facility-based health maintenance, staff working climate, general dialysis care practices, physician practices, nursing practices, technician practices, and miscellaneous practices. Through a survey among 342 respondents, a top 30 of good practices that had the most impact on overall outcomes in dialysis was compiled. The majority of the top 30 good practices focused on conducting a successful multidisciplinary team meeting, performing audits, training nurses, reviewing the performance of health care professionals, and enhancing communication and teamwork.

Study, Country, Year	Study design, N	GP description	Results	Study conclusion
Abdel-Aal [46] USA 2014 Craswell [47] Australia 2020	Qualitative Qualitative N=n.a.	 <u>PD catheter placement by interventional radiologists</u> Pre-procedure preparation: history/physical examination, stop anticoagulants 5 days before procedure, bowel preparation, fasting for 6h before procedure, pre-procedure antibiotics i.v., empty bladder, mark entry and exit site catheter. Catheter placement procedure: patient in supine position, ultrasonography to determine safest entry and exit site, shave hair of abdomen and prep with antiseptic scrub, mild/moderate safest entry and exit site, shave hair of abdomen and prep with antiseptic scrub, mild/moderate safest entry and exit site, shave hair of abdomen and prep with antiseptic scrub, mild/moderate safest entry and exit site, shave hair of abdomen and prep with antiseptic scrub, mild/moderate placement, placement, placement catheter over wire, create exit site and catheter tunnel, fluoroscopic visualization to exclude kink in catheter and confirm proper location, testing of inflow and drainage catheter with 11. normal saline, incision closure and dressing. Practices for CVCs insertion/maintenance / removal Insertion: Anatomical site selection and decision-making: preference for tunneled catheter, renal team responsible for decision-making regarding site/device. Extent of training and de-skilling: lower skill level professional/insertion in different settings/after hours related to higher infection rates. Patient cohort challenges: specific patient cohorts (e.g. ethnic background) affect infection rates. Maintenance: Assessment and monitoring for infection: unress responsible. Pressing practices and procedures to promote maintenance: nurses responsible. Beroval: Be	ie ei ie i	Placement of the PD catheter by IR is a cost- effective, minimally invasive alternative to traditional surgical placement. This study demonstrates the perceived importance of the interdisciplinary team in the insertion, and management of dialysis CVCs and education of patients.

61

-	-			- -
Study,	Study	GP description	Kesults	study conclusion
	, uesigii, M			
rear	z			
Desai	Qualitative	<u>Good Practices to improve outcomes of</u>	Outcomes related to:	This study provides a "conceptual
[48]	N=342 ^a	<u>dialysis centers (e.g. dialysis dose, anemia</u>	a. characteristics of multidisciplinary care conferences	map" of candidate practices
USA		management) and survival in dialysis patients	b. technician proficiency in protecting vascular access	and highlights areas of general
2008		155 candidate practices, categorized in 8 major	c. nurses training to provide education in fluid	agreement and disagreement.
		domains:	manage-ment, vascular access	These findings can help to provide
		1. Facility characteristics and amenities	d. random/blinded audits of staff performance	targets for future research in quality
		2. Facility-based health maintenance	e. communication and teamwork among staff	improvement.
		3. Staff working climate	Disagreement about:	
		4. General dialysis care practices	1. importance of facility-based health maintenance	
		5. Physician practices	practices	
		6. Nursing practices	2. optimal staffing ratios	
		7. Technician practices	3. frequency of dialysis-based physician visits	
		8. Miscellaneous practices	optimal frequency of multidisciplinary care	
CVC=cen	itral venous ca	theter; GP=good practice; IR=interventional radio	ologists; i.v.=intravenous; N=number of people investigate	ed; n.a.=not applicable; PD=peritoneal

dialysis; USA=United States of America a. 342 respondents (nephrologists and nurses) for questionnaires regarding candidate good practices.

Study, Country, Year	Study design, N	GP description	esults	Study conclusion
Kaldoudi [34] Greece 2007	Qualitative N=n.a.	 <u>Telehomecare for PD patients</u> <u>The PERKA</u>^a service supports data collection and transmission from a patient's home via phone or data networks to the PD clinic for monitoring and archiving: PD data: PD method, PD prescription, actual PD daily treatment schema conducted (number of fluid exchanges, duration, solute type/volume, UF volume). General biometric data and biosignals: body weight, blood pressure, heart rate, oxygen saturation, temperature (if required, ECG and glucose levels). Free text or sound report and/or response to a structured questionnaire. The system contains a patient unit, a data collection unit, a web-based portal application. 	ė	The PERKA system enables telehome- care services for all PD patients.
Li [35] China 2014	N=135	 Post-discharge nurse-led telephone support for PD patients^b Pre-discharge planning protocol (by nurse case manager): Assessing patient's physical, social, cognitive, emotional needs. Conducting an individualized education program to strengthen and consolidate past learning experiences, clarify misconceptions and optimize health outcomes. Standardized 6-week post-discharge nurse-led telephone support: Weekly telephone call for 6 consecutive weeks: first call within 72h after discharge to assess the patient's status and to give advice. Content of each telephone call is guided by the pre-discharge planning protocol and specific problems identified in pre-discharge assessment. 	ffect of intervention: QOL: better for symptom/ problem (p=0.01), work status (p=0.02), staff encouragement (p=0.01), patient satisfaction (p=0.02) energy/fatigue (p=0.02) Less clinic visits (p=0.039) Blood chemistry and complication control: no effect.	Post-discharge nurse- led telephone support is helpful for some aspects of quality of life and reducing clinic , visits of PD patients.

Table 4. Characteristics of studies on eHealth

Study, Country,	Study design,	GP description	Results	Study conclusion
rear Sicotte [49] Canada 2011	R Cohort N=19	 <u>Telehemodialysis</u> Remote team of nephrologists and nurses provides specialized clinical supervision by tele-communicating with local care teams and patients. Electronical health record that allowed the remote team to view laboratory results, vital signs and medication taken by the patient, and observe variables recorded by the dialysis machine in real-time as the treatments were administered. Two organizational models: virtual patient rounds or telecase reviews with multidisciblinary teams. 	 Medication changes per month (follow-up 2 years): Chibougamau community Pre teleHD: 1.8±1.5 PostteleHD: 1.8±1.5 Chisasibi community Pre teleHD: 8.1±5.4 PostteleHD: 3.1±1.1 Intracommunity p=0.01, intercommunity p=0.002. No difference in number of HD sessions/month and transfers to hospital. 	TeleHD can maintain the quality of care and can provide distant supervision while maintaining the level of care utilization. Different organizational models did not lead to differences in health condition or care utilization.
Viglino [36] Italy 2020	Cohort N=107	 <u>Videodialysis (VD) for assisted PD patients</u> Components: Remote Station (patient's home): video camera, monitor, microphone, technological box. Control Station (center): webcam, computer, phone. System connecting the 2 stations: real-time, high-quality audio-video transmission. Method of use: nursing staff can follow patients/caregivers during the phases: multi-user connection, acquisition and recording of dialysis sparameters, performance of CAPD/APD procedure, filling dialysis sheets. VD sessions are also used for exit site care, assessing dialysis/clinical issues, checking adherence to pharmacological/ dietary therapy. 	Peritonitisepisodes: • VD patients: 1/84.2 months • Caregiver patients: 1/62.6 months. • Self-care patients: 1/45.2 months. Time to first peritonitis not different between groups. VD: 17.6% reduction in transfer from PD to HD due to reduced compliance/lack of caregiver availability.	VD-assisted PD is a reliable, safe system which requires no technological know-how and is easy to use when self-care is not possible due to physical, cognitive or psychological barriers.
APD=autu investiga a. The PE VIDAVC	omated pe ted; n.a.=r :RKA cons) Informat	ritoneal dialysis; CAPD=continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; f iot applicable; PD=peritoneal dialysis; QOL=quality of life; RCT=rand ortium consists of the School of Medicine in Democritus Universit ion Systems Inc.).	ECG=electrocardiogram; GP=good practice; HD=hemc domized controlled trial; UF=ultrafiltration; VD=video y of Thrace and two software companies (ALPHA Inf	odialysis; N=number of people odialysis ormation Technology SA and

Table 4. Characteristics of studies on eHealth (continued)

b. Unplanned admission to the Nephrology department and the PD catheter had to be in situ for at least 3 months.

eHealth

Four articles described good practices for eHealth, one of which focused on HD [49] and three on PD (Table 4) [34-36]. The qualitative article on PD by Kaldoudi *et al.* [34] described the components of an eHealth system by which data could be collected such as PD method, prescription, body weight and hearth rate. Viglino *et al.* [36] described an eHealth system which led to a reduction in peritonitis episodes and a 17.6% reduction in the number of transfers from PD to HD because reduced compliance or lack of availability of a caregiver was no longer an issue. The authors concluded that this system can be a valuable tool for increasing the number of PD patients.

While Kaldoudi *et al.* [34] and Viglino *et al.* [36] focused more on the technical aspects of eHealth systems for PD patients, Li *et al.* [35] conducted a randomized controlled trial to investigate the effect of post-discharge telephone support for PD patients. Patients were included if they performed PD for a minimum of 3 months and were admitted to a nephrology department. The control group received routine care, while patients in the intervention group were visited by a nurse who assessed their needs and provided individualized education. After discharge from the hospital, the nurse called the patients from the intervention group every week during a period of 6 weeks to assess their status and to give advice. This approach led to a significant improvement of several health-related quality of life domains (e.g. symptoms, energy, work status) and a reduction in the number of hospital visits.

Finally, Sicotte *et al.* [49] reported two eHealth models for in-center HD patients: virtual patients rounds and telecase reviews with a multidisciplinary team. During the virtual patient rounds, a remote nephrologist and nurse had contact with a patient and his/her nurse at the dialysis center. During the telecase review, a remote nephrologist and nurse had contact with the general practitioners and nurses at the dialysis center via videoconference, without the patient being present. Both models led to a significant reduction in the number of medication changes per month during a follow-up of 2 years. The authors concluded that eHealth can provide distant supervision which improves the level of care utilization.

Discussion

This scoping review identifies 19 articles with good practices that could be used in addition to guidelines. The twelve articles with good practices for dialysis education endorse the importance of providing complete and objective predialysis education to CKD patients, assisting PD patients in performing PD adequately, educating HD patients on self-management, and talking with dialysis patients in general about their prognosis. The three articles with good practices for dialysis

treatment provide practices regarding dialysis access devices and numerous candidate good practices for dialysis centers. Finally, eHealth is useful for HD and PD and affects both quality of care and health-related quality of life.

Good practices are locally implemented practices with which health care professionals have good experience, but which are not necessarily evidence-based [14, 15]. Therefore, they are generally not added to (inter)national guidelines. For dialysis treatment, there are many guidelines with proven treatment methods, while guidelines for dialysis education are scarce [10, 52]. This probably explains why we have found many good practices for dialysis education and only a few for dialysis treatment.

Six of the 12 articles regarding dialysis education report a positive effect of the described good practice(s) [31-33, 40, 44, 45]. Complete and objective education to CKD patients by a multidisciplinary team decreases the dialysis incidence and mortality [45]. Moreover, it increases the use of home dialysis [31, 32]. The European Renal Best Practice (ERBP) Advisory Board also underscores complete and objective education to enable CKD patients to choose a dialysis modality that is most suitable for them [5]. Another useful good practice is a decision aid for CKD patients, which supports the shared decision-making process according to health care professionals [40]. A Cochrane review, describing 105 decision aids for patients facing various treatment or screening decisions, also states that decision aids increase participants' knowledge, decrease decisional conflicts, and facilitate active participation in decision making [53]. However, the review includes no decision aids specifically for nephrological care. A randomized study among 133 CKD patients concludes that an online decision aid can improve knowledge and decrease decisional conflict and uncertainty about choice of dialysis treatment [54]. So, decision aids are important for use during dialysis education.

A home visit also seems to be a very relevant tool for PD education, since Martino *et al.* [33] report that their home visit reduces technique failure and extends PD treatment. The positive effect of a home visit is also found in a French study of 359 patients on assisted PD, which found that it increases the probability of patients remaining peritonitis free from 33.9% to 50.8% at 3 years (p=0.028) [55]. Home visits conducted in two other studies, with the aim of providing dialysis education for CKD patients, result in a higher probability for patients to receive home dialysis [56, 57]. So, home visits seem to be important not only for PD patients, but also for CKD patients who have yet to make a treatment choice.

The articles regarding dialysis treatment provide guidance on PD catheter placement by interventional radiologists and the insertion, maintenance, and removal of CVCs [46, 47]. The International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis (ISPD) guideline on peritoneal dialysis access only briefly mentions image-guided percutaneous PD catheter placement [58], so the procedure

described by Abdel-Aal *et al.* can be a relevant addition [46]. The (inter)national guidelines for CVCs also describe insertion, maintenance, and removal practices [59-61], however only the most recent guideline [62] underscores the importance of patient education as Craswell *et al.* did [47]. Finally, the 155 candidate good practices reported by Desai *et al.* could lead to general quality improvement of dialysis care [48].

The articles regarding eHealth show that this good practice improves quality of care for HD patients [49], quality of life for PD patients [35], and reduces the number of peritonitis episodes [36]. In 2017, Rosner *et al.* [63] conducted a review on the use of eHealth in the care for dialysis patients. They found 19 articles describing mostly small, single-center studies published between 1999 and 2017, 13 articles for PD and 6 articles for HD. Most of the articles used video conferencing, remote monitoring, or monthly visits with physical examination (e.g. electronic stethoscopes) using eHealth as technology. All articles report positive results of their eHealth system on various outcomes such as patient independence, quality of life, and hospitalization. Rosner *et al.* conclude that there still is a lack of evidence regarding the use of eHealth, however they mention possible benefits for example increased uptake and acceptance of home dialysis, treatment monitoring in the home environment, improved patient satisfaction, and potential for cost savings [63]. In the current time with the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, eHealth may play an important role through, for example, video conferences and remote patient monitoring [64-66].

Our review has several limitations. First, there is a probability that we have not identified all articles describing good practices. This is partly because many articles do not label their practice as 'good practice', making them less likely to appear in the search. However, by also using 'best practice' and 'practice guidelines' as a search topic, we believe that we have attenuated this problem. Second, most of the studies are qualitative in nature and describe no results, making it impossible to determine an effect of the described good practices. Finally, most of the studies that described results investigate a small number of patients and report on different outcomes, making mutual comparison impossible.

In conclusion, our scoping review identifies 19 articles describing good practices and their results for dialysis education, dialysis treatment, and eHealth. These good practices could be valuable in addition to guidelines for increasing shared decision-making in predialysis education, using patients' contribution in the implementation of their dialysis treatment, and advanced care planning. Good practices can inspire and support health care professionals to change their practices and this could possibly help to improve outcomes and quality of life for CKD and dialysis patients. Additional research on good practices could be useful to identify more good practices and determine the impact of these practices on CKD and dialysis patients.

References

- 1. Bikbov B, Purcell CA, Levey AS, et al., *Global, regional, and national burden of chronic kidney disease, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017.* The Lancet, 2020. 395(10225): p. 709-33.
- Fadem SZ, Walker DR, Abbott G, et al., Satisfaction with renal replacement therapy and education: the American Association of Kidney Patients survey. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2011. 6(3): p. 605-12.
- 3. Morton RL, Howard K, Webster AC, et al., *Patient INformation about Options for Treatment* (*PINOT*): a prospective national study of information given to incident CKD Stage 5 patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2011. 26(4): p. 1266-74.
- 4. Van Biesen W, van der Veer SN, Murphey M, et al., *Patients' perceptions of information and education for renal replacement therapy: an independent survey by the European Kidney Patients' Federation on information and support on renal replacement therapy.* PLoS One, 2014. 9(7): p. e103914.
- 5. Covic A, Bammens B, Lobbedez T, et al., *Educating end-stage renal disease patients on dialysis modality selection: clinical advice from the European Renal Best Practice (ERBP) Advisory Board.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2010. 25(6): p. 1757-9.
- 6. Tattersall J, Dekker F, Heimburger O, et al., *When to start dialysis: updated guidance following publication of the Initiating Dialysis Early and Late (IDEAL) study.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2011. 26(7): p. 2082-6.
- 7. Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO), *KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease*. Kidney Int, 2013. 3(1).
- 8. Inker LA, Astor BC, Fox CH, et al., *KDOQI US commentary on the 2012 KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of CKD*. Am J Kidney Dis, 2014. 63(5): p. 713-35.
- 9. Nederlandse Internisten Vereniging and Nederlandse Federatie voor Nefrologie, *Evidence*based richtlijn 'Zorg bij eindstadium nierfalen' 2020. Available at: https://www.nefro.nl/ richtlijnen. (last accessed April 3, 2020).
- 10. Nederlandse Internisten Vereniging and Nederlandse Federatie voor Nefrologie, Nierfunctievervangende behandeling, wel of niet? 2016. Available at: https://richtlijnendatabase. nl/richtlijn/nierfunctievervangende_behandeling/nierfunctievervangende_behandeling_-_ startpagina.html (last accessed April 3, 2020).
- 11. Walker DR, Inglese GW, Sloand JA, et al., *Dialysis facility and patient characteristics associated with utilization of home dialysis*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2010. 5(9): p. 1649-54.
- 12. Briggs V, Davies S, and Wilkie M, International Variations in Peritoneal Dialysis Utilization and Implications for Practice. Am J Kidney Dis, 2019. 74(1): p. 101-10.
- 13. Nefrovisie, Nefrodata, Renine 31-12-2021. https://ivisualz.nl/ivisualz/chartFlash/charts (last accessed September 10, 2020).
- 14. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, *Available at: https://www.fao.org/in-action/kore/good-practices/en/ (last accessed April 3, 2020).*
- 15. Perleth M, Jakubowski E, and Busse R, *What is 'best practice' in health care? State of the art and perspectives in improving the effectiveness and efficiency of the European health care systems.* Health Policy, 2001. 56: p. 235-50.
- 16. Andrew J, *The Pre-dialysis Experience Are individual needs being met?* EDTNA | ERCA Journal, 2001. XXVII: p. 72-4.
- 17. Davidson I, Gallieni M, Saxena R, et al., *A patient centered decision making dialysis access algorithm.* The Journal of Vascular Access, 2007. 8: p. 59-68.

- 18. Curtis CE, Rothstein M, and Hong BA, *Stage-specific educational interventions for patients with end-stage renal disease: psychological and psychiatric considerations.* Prog Transplant, 2009. 19(1): p. 18-24.
- 19. van der Veer SN, Haller MC, Pittens CA, et al., *Setting Priorities for Optimizing Vascular Access Decision Making--An International Survey of Patients and Clinicians*. PLoS One, 2015. 10(7): p. e0128228.
- 20. Stupak DM, Trubilla JA, and Groller SR, *Hemodialysis Catheter Care: Identifying Best Cleansing Agents.* Nephrology Nursing Journal, 2016. 43(2): p. 153-5.
- 21. Varitsakul R and Sindhu S, *"Let's keep close": Increasing peritoneal dialysis service effectiveness through bridging the gap between patient and provider.* Renal Society of Australasia Journal, 2015. 11(2): p. 73-7.
- Jaikishen A, Lick A, Owen JG, et al., *Louisiana State University Nephrology: Initiation of a Multicenter Urgent-Start Peritoneal Dialysis Program.* Advances in Peritoneal Dialysis, 2016. 32: p. 11-4.
- 23. St Clair Russell J and Boulware LE, *End-stage renal disease treatment options education: What matters most to patients and families.* Semin Dial, 2018. 31(2): p. 122-8.
- 24. Chow JSF, Cho Y, Equinox KL, et al., *An Intervention Design: Supporting Skills Development for Peritoneal Dialysis Trainers*. Perit Dial Int, 2019. 39(2): p. 134-41.
- 25. Muscat DM, Lambert K, Shepherd H, et al., *Supporting patients to be involved in decisions about their health and care: Development of a best practice health literacy App for Australian adults living with Chronic Kidney Disease.* Health Promot J Austr. 2021 Feb;32 Suppl 1:115-127.
- 26. Dinwiddie LC and Bhola C, *Hemodialysis Catheter Care: Current Recommendations for Nursing Practice In North America.* Nephrology Nursing Journal, 2010. 37(5): p. 507-21.
- 27. Odudu A and Wilkie M, *Controversies in the management of infective complications of peritoneal dialysis.* Nephron Clin Pract, 2011. 118(3): p. c301-8.
- 28. Murray MA, Bissonnette J, Kryworuchko J, et al., *Whose choice is it? Shared decision making in nephrology care*. Semin Dial, 2013. 26(2): p. 169-74.
- 29. Stephenson MD and Bradshaw W, *Pre-dialysis education for patients with chronic kidney diseae*. Renal Society of Australasia Journal, 2017. 13(2): p. 53-7.
- 30. Stephenson MD and Bradshaw W, *Shared decision making in chronic kidney disease*. Renal Society of Australasia Journal, 2018. 14(1): p. 26-32.
- 31. Lacson E, Jr., Wang W, DeVries C, et al., *Effects of a nationwide predialysis educational program on modality choice, vascular access, and patient outcomes.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2011. 58(2): p. 235-42.
- 32. Manns BJ, Taub K, Vanderstraeten C, et al., *The impact of education on chronic kidney disease patients' plans to initiate dialysis with self-care dialysis: a randomized trial.* Kidney Int, 2005. 68(4): p. 1777-83.
- 33. Martino F, Adibelli Z, Mason G, et al., *Home visit program improves technique survival in peritoneal dialysis.* Blood Purif, 2014. 37(4): p. 286-90.
- 34. Kaldoudi E, Passadakis P, Panagoutsos S, et al., *Homecare Telematics for Peritoneal Dialysis*. The Journal on Information Technology in Healthcare, 2007. 5(6): p. 372-8.
- 35. Li J, Wang H, Xie H, et al., *Effects of post-discharge nurse-led telephone supportive care for patients with chronic kidney disease undergoing peritoneal dialysis in China: a randomized controlled trial.* Perit Dial Int, 2014. 34(3): p. 278-88.
- 36. Viglino G, Neri L, Barbieri S, et al., *Videodialysis: a pilot experience of telecare for assisted peritoneal dialysis.* J Nephrol, 2020. 33(1): p. 177-82.
- 37. Farina J, *Peritoneal Dialysis: A Case for Home Visits.* Nephrology Nursing Journal, 2001. 28(4): p. 423-8.
- 38. Figueiredo AE, Bernardini J, Bowes E, et al., *A Syllabus for Teaching Peritoneal Dialysis to Patients and Caregivers*. Perit Dial Int, 2016. 36(6): p. 592-605.

- 39. Firanek CA, Sloand JA, and Todd LB, *Training Patients for Automated Peritoneal Dialysis: A Survey of Practices in Six Successful Centers In the United States.* Nephrology Nursing Journal, 2013. 40(6): p. 481-91.
- 40. Fortnum D, Smolonogov T, Walker R, et al., '*My kidneys, my choice, decision aid*': Supporting shared decision making. Journal of Renal Care, 2015. 41(2): p. 81-7.
- 41. Luongo M and Kennedy S, *Interviewing Prospective Patients for Peritoneal Dialysis: A Five-Step Approach*. Nephrology Nursing Journal, 2004. 31(5): p. 513-20.
- 42. Mandel EI, Bernacki RE, and Block SD, *Serious Illness Conversations in ESRD*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2017. 12(5): p. 854-63.
- 43. Michel DM and Moss AH, *Communicating prognosis in the dialysis consent process: a patient-centered, guideline-supported approach.* Adv Chronic Kidney Dis, 2005. 12(2): p. 196-201.
- 44. Wingard R, *Reducing Early Mortality in Patients on Dialysis: Lessons from the RightStart Program.* Nephrology Nursing Journal, 2009. 36(2): p. 215-20.
- 45. Wu IW, Wang SY, Hsu KH, et al., *Multidisciplinary predialysis education decreases the incidence of dialysis and reduces mortality--a controlled cohort study based on the NKF/DOQI guidelines.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2009. 24(11): p. 3426-33.
- 46. Abdel-Aal AK, Dybbro P, Hathaway P, et al., *Best practices consensus protocol for peritoneal dialysis catheter placement by interventional radiologists.* Perit Dial Int, 2014. 34(5): p. 481-93.
- 47. Craswell A, Massey D, Wallis M, et al., *Current practice in dialysis central venous catheter management: Multi-disciplinary renal team perspectives*. Nephrology (Carlton), 2020. 25(5): p. 406-12.
- Desai AA, Bolus R, Nissenson A, et al., *Identifying best practices in dialysis care: results of cognitive interviews and a national survey of dialysis providers.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2008. 3(4): p. 1066-76.
- 49. Sicotte C, Moqadem K, Vasilevsky M, et al., *Use of telemedicine for haemodialysis in very remote areas: the Canadian First Nations*. J Telemed Telecare, 2011. 17(3): p. 146-9.
- 50. Knowles MS, Holton III EF, and Swanson RA, *The adult learner: the definitive classic in adult education and human resource development.* New York, NY: Routledge., 2014.
- 51. Buckman R and Kayson Y, *How to Break Bad News: A Guide for Health Care Professionals.* Baltimore, MD, The Johns Hopkins University Press., 1992: p. 65-97.
- 52. Warwick G, Mooney A, Russon L, et al., on behalf of the UK Renal Association, *Clinical Practice Guideline 'Planning, Initiating and Withdrawal of Renal Replacement Therapy'*. 2014. 6th edition.
- 53. Stacey D, Legare F, Lewis K, et al., *Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2017. 4: p. CD001431.
- 54. Subramanian L, Zhao J, Zee J, et al., *Use of a Decision Aid for Patients Considering Peritoneal Dialysis and In-Center Hemodialysis: A Randomized Controlled Trial.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2019. 74(3): p. 351-60.
- 55. Verger C, Duman M, Durand PY, et al., *Influence of autonomy and type of home assistance on the prevention of peritonitis in assisted automated peritoneal dialysis patients. An analysis of data from the French Language Peritoneal Dialysis Registry.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2007. 22(4): p. 1218-23.
- 56. Castledine CI, Gilg JA, Rogers C, et al., *Renal centre characteristics and physician practice patterns associated with home dialysis use*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2013. 28(8): p. 2169-80.
- 57. de Maar JS, de Groot MA, Luik PT, et al., *GUIDE, a structured pre-dialysis programme that increases the use of home dialysis.* Clin Kidney J, 2016. 9(6): p. 826-32.
- 58. Crabtree JH, Shrestha BM, Chow KM, et al., *Creating and Maintaining Optimal Peritoneal Dialysis Access in the Adult Patient: 2019 Update.* Perit Dial Int, Sep-Oct 2019;39(5):414-436.
- 59. Kumwenda M, Mitra S, and Reid C, *UK Renal Association Clinical Practice Guideline 'Vascular access for haemodialysis'* 2015. *Available at: www.renal.org/guidelines. (last accessed October 18, 2020).*
- 60. Meijvis SCA, Krol- van Straaten MJ, Ekkelenkamp MB, et al., *NFN richtlijn 'Preventie, diagnostiek en behandeling toegang-gerelateerde infecties bij hemodialyse'* 2016. *Available at: www.nefro. nl/richtlijnen. (last accessed October 18, 2020).*
- 61. Schmidli J, Widmer MK, Basile C, et al., *Editor's Choice Vascular Access: 2018 Clinical Practice Guidelines of the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS).* Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg, 2018. 55(6): p. 757-818.
- 62. Lok CE, Huber TS, Lee T, et al., *KDOQI Clinical Practice Guideline for Vascular Access: 2019 Update.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2020. 75(4 Suppl 2): p. S1-S164.
- 63. Rosner MH, Lew SQ, Conway P, et al., *Perspectives from the Kidney Health Initiative on Advancing Technologies to Facilitate Remote Monitoring of Patient Self-Care in RRT.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2017. 12(11): p. 1900-9.
- 64. Annis T, Pleasants S, Hultman G, et al., *Rapid implementation of a COVID-19 remote patient monitoring program.* J Am Med Inform Assoc, 2020. 27(8): p. 1326-30.
- 65. Liu S, Yang L, Zhang C, et al., *Online mental health services in China during the COVID-19 outbreak*. The Lancet Psychiatry, 2020. 7(4): p. e17-e8.
- 66. Mann DM, Chen J, Chunara R, et al., *COVID-19 transforms health care through telemedicine: Evidence from the field.* J Am Med Inform Assoc, 2020. 27(7): p. 1132-5.



Chapter 4

Assisted peritoneal dialysis across Europe: Practice variation and factors associated with availability

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs, Brigit C. van Jaarsveld, Jennifer Allen, Karmela Altabas, Clémence Béchade, Anna A. Bonenkamp, Felix Burkhalter, Anne-Lorraine Clause, Richard W. Corbett, Friedo W. Dekker, Gabriele Eden, Karlien François, Helga Gudmundsdottir, Ulrika Hahn Lundström, Louis de Laforcade, Mark Lambie, Heike Martin, Jernej Pajek, Vincenzo Panuccio, Silvia Ros - Ruiz, Dominik Steubl, Almudena Vega, Ewa Wojtaszek, Simon J. Davies, Wim Van Biesen, and Alferso C. Abrahams

Peritoneal Dialysis International. 2021 Nov;41(6):533-541

Abstract

Background In Europe, the number of elderly end-stage kidney disease patients is increasing. Few of those patients receive peritoneal dialysis (PD), as many cannot perform PD autonomously. Assisted PD programmes are available in most European countries, but the percentage of patients receiving assisted PD varies considerably. Hence, we assessed which factors are associated with the availability of an assisted PD programme at a center level and whether the availability of this programme is associated with proportion of home dialysis patients.

Methods An online survey was sent to healthcare professionals of European nephrology units. After selecting one respondent per center, the associations were explored by χ^2 tests and (ordinal) logistic regression.

Results In total, 609 respondents completed the survey. Subsequently, 288 respondents from individual centers were identified; 58% worked in a center with an assisted PD programme. Factors associated with availability of an assisted PD programme were Western European and Scandinavian countries (OR: 5.73; 95%CI: 3.07 – 10.68), non-academic centers (OR: 2.01; 95% CI: 1.09 – 3.72) and centers with a dedicated team for education (OR: 2.87; 95% CI: 1.35 – 6.11). Most Eastern & Central European respondents reported that the proportion of *incident* and *prevalent* home dialysis patients was <10% (72% and 63%), while 27% of Scandinavian respondents reported a proportion of >30% for both *incident* and *prevalent* home dialysis patients. Availability of an assisted PD programme was associated with a higher incidence (cumulative OR: 1.91; 95%CI: 1.21 – 3.01) and prevalence (cumulative OR: 2.81; 95%CI: 1.76 – 4.47) of patients on home dialysis.

Conclusions Assisted PD was more commonly offered among non-academic centers with a dedicated team for education across Europe, especially among Western European and Scandinavian countries where higher incidence and prevalence of home dialysis patients was reported.

Introduction

Since 2001, the number of end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) patients worldwide treated with dialysis has increased from 1 to 2 million and is expected to double again by 2030 [1-3]. The majority of these patients are treated with in-center haemodialysis (ICHD) [4, 5], although treatment with peritoneal dialysis (PD) has many advantages: it can be performed at home, there is no need for a vascular access and patients' residual kidney function is better preserved [6, 7]. These advantages are especially relevant for the increasing number of elderly patients, who form the bulk of ESKD patients [8, 9]. However, the percentage of elderly ESKD patients receiving PD is low and varies between 4% and 21% depending on the country [4, 5, 8, 10, 11].

If given a choice, many more elderly would like to receive PD, but comorbidity and frailty often limit the possibility to perform self-care PD [9, 12, 13]. Important conditions that limit self-care PD include decreased strength to lift PD bags, decreased dexterity, decreased vision, anxiety and cognitive impairment [12, 14]. Due to these conditions, up to 80% of elderly patients need some degree of assistance while performing PD [15-18].

The definition of assisted PD varies in literature [19]. In the most liberal way, it is defined as '*a PD modality performed at the patient's home with the help of a healthcare technician, a community nurse, a family member, or a partner*' [20]. Patients on assisted PD have similar rates of all-cause hospitalisation compared to ICHD patients, and similar or even better rates of peritonitis and technique survival compared to self-care PD patients [15, 21-23]. Assisted PD patients have higher mortality rates compared to self-care PD patients, which can be attributed to a higher comorbidity and frailty [15, 22]. However, health-related quality of life is comparable [24-27] and assisted PD is less expensive than ICHD in most countries depending on reimbursement strategy [28, 29]. Furthermore, introduction of assisted PD has been shown to have a positive effect on maintaining the size of a PD programme [30], which can be important to ensure experience and quality of care.

Assisted PD programmes are available in many countries, but the percentage of patients actually receiving assisted PD varies considerably [6, 11, 19, 31, 32]. This variation may be due to differences in clinical background and experience of healthcare professionals, center characteristics, organisational and financial factors, as shown in studies regarding PD in general [6, 33-37]. However, this has not been specifically investigated for assisted PD so far.

Therefore, we first assessed the factors that are associated with the availability of an assisted PD programme at a center level, to get insight into the causes of practice variation. Secondly, we investigated the association between the availability of an assisted PD programme and the proportion of incident and prevalent patients on home dialysis (i.e. PD and home haemodialysis (HHD)) at a center level, to get insight into the influence of availability of assisted PD on the uptake of home dialysis.

Methods

Study design

An online survey was sent to nephrologists (in training), dialysis nurses and administrative heads of nephrology units in Europe. The survey was developed by members of the EuroPD Future Leadership Initiative after two conference meetings in May-June 2019. The members discussed how the care for ESKD patients could be improved by helping nephrology departments with their home dialysis programmes. The following topics were discussed: PD training, urgent start PD, age-related differences in use of PD, remote patient monitoring, organisation of nephrology units, center size effect, and regional collaboration between centers. Subsequently, four topics (impact of urgent start PD, impact of assisted care programmes, impact of access placement policy and impact of center size) were selected through a three-step Delphi round [38]. During a final meeting in October 2019, questions were formulated for each topic after conducting a narrative literature review. The final survey consisted of 56 questions (Appendix 1).

The open survey was developed in SurveyMonkey and mailed to all EuroPD members for distribution across Europe via their colleagues and their national and regional nephrology societies. Participation was voluntary and anonymous. Respondents could submit the survey between 11 December 2019 and 15 January 2020. The survey was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Ghent University Hospital (EC 2019/1972).

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were used for the professional background, center type and country of employment of all respondents. The countries were classified into European regions: Eastern & Central Europe, Western Europe, Scandinavia and the Mediterranean [39]. Ukraine and the Russian Federation were added to the Eastern & Central European region.

Generally, the policy regarding the availability of an assisted PD programme is determined at a center level. To perform analyses at a center level, one respondent per center was selected by comparing respondents based on the following characteristics: country, region, center type and size, and the proportion of incident and prevalent ESKD patients on a home based therapy. If there were several respondents per center, the respondent with the largest experience was chosen for the analyses.

For the analysis of the availability of an assisted PD programme at a center level, the answers to the question 'Does your unit provide a structured programme for assisted PD?' were converted from a 5-point Likert scale into a dichotomous variable (scores 1 to 3: no, scores 4 and 5: yes). In addition, answers regarding the following variables were grouped into categories: center type (non-academic vs academic), likelihood that chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients would receive

education on kidney function/kidney failure/PD/HHD/ICHD (6-point Likert scale converted into a dichotomous variable), reimbursement of PD as compared to ICHD (8 categories converted into 4) and the proportion of incident and prevalent home dialysis patients (< 10%, 10-20%, 20-30%, > 30%).

The univariable association between employment regions, center characteristics and organisational factors (independent variables) on the one hand and the availability of an assisted PD programme at a center level (dependent variable) on the other hand was explored by logistic regression. For categorical variables, the first category was used as a reference. In addition, a multivariable analysis was done to explore which variables were truly independent.

Subsequently, descriptive statistics were used to present an overview of financial factors: the profitability of PD (i.e. difference between reimbursement and disposable costs) and the impact of the distribution between kidney replacement (KRT) modalities (i.e. PD, HHD, ICHD, kidney transplantation) on the income of nephrologists for centers with and without an assisted PD programme. The univariable association between profitability of PD and the impact of the distribution between KRT modalities on nephrologists' income (independent variables) on the one hand and the availability of an assisted PD programme at a center level (dependent variable) on the other hand was also explored by logistic regression.

Finally, the univariable association between the availability of an assisted PD programme (independent variable) and the proportion of incident and prevalent home dialysis patients (defined as both PD and HHD) at a center level (dependent variable) was analysed with a χ^2 test. In addition, ordinal logistic regression (logistic regression with proportion of incident and prevalent home dialysis patients as outcome) was performed to adjust for center type, center size (i.e. total number of dialysis patients), the presence of a dedicated team for education and European region (multivariable association). The five categories of the variable 'presence of a dedicated team for education' were transformed into a dichotomous variable. Answers 'no' and 'do not know' were indicated as 'no', while 'yes, less than 1 fulltime equivalent', 'yes, 1 fulltime equivalent' and 'yes, 2 or more full time equivalents' were indicated as 'yes'. Ordinal logistic regression gives a cumulative odds ratio (OR) that indicates the probability of being in a higher category compared to the previous category.

All statistical analyses were performed with SPSS Statistics version 25 (SPPS, Chicago, Illinois, USA).

Results

Characteristics of respondents

In total, 609 respondents completed the online survey. Fifty-three percent of the respondents were nephrologists with more than 10 years of experience (Supplemental Table 1). Forty-nine percent of the respondents worked in a non-academic center and half of the respondents worked in Western Europe (Supplemental Tables 1 and 2).

After completing the aforementioned selection procedure, 295 respondents from individual centers were identified (Supplemental table 1 and 2). Data on the availability of an assisted PD programme were missing in 7 respondents, thus the following analyses were conducted with 288 respondents.

Center characteristics and organisational factors associated with the availability of an assisted PD programme

Of the 288 respondents, 167 (58%) worked in a center with an assisted PD programme. The association between employment regions, center characteristics and organisational factors on the one hand and the availability of an assisted PD programme on the other hand is presented in Table 1. Compared to the Eastern & Central European region, respondents from Western Europe and Scandinavia indicated significantly more often that an assisted PD programme was available (Table 1). Compared to the Eastern & Central European and Mediterranean regions combined, respondents from Western European and Scandinavian regions combined also indicated significantly more often that an assisted PD programme was available (rable 1).

Regarding center characteristics, non-academic centers and centers with 100–200 dialysis patients significantly more often had an assisted PD programme (Table 1). Compared to centers with <100 patients (i.e. centers with <50 and 50–100 patients combined), centers with >100 dialysis patients (i.e. centers with 100–200 and >200 patients combined) also significantly more often had an assisted PD programme (crude OR: 2.13; 95% CI: 1.32 – 3.43).

Regarding organisational factors, centers that provided education to CKD patients on kidney function, kidney failure, PD and HHD significantly more often had an assisted PD programme (Table 1). Education to CKD patients on PD had the strongest association with an OR of 19.77 (95% CI: 2.53 – 154.72). Also, centers with a dedicated team for education significantly more often had an assisted PD programme, with an increasing OR if more fulltime-equivalent was available.

Table 1. Association between employment regions, center characteristics and organisational factors with

 the availability of an assisted PD programme^a

	Assisted PD programme				
	Yes (n=167)	No (n=121)	Crude OR (95% Cl)		
Employment regions					
Eastern & Central Europe	14 (8)	27 (22)	Reference		
Mediterranean	34 (20)	59 (49)	1.11 (0.51 - 2.40)		
Western Europe	101 (61)	31 (26)	6.28 (2.94 - 13.45)		
Scandinavia	18 (11)	4 (3)	8.68 (2.46 - 30.63)		
Center characteristics					
Non-academic center	107 (64)	60 (50)	1.81 (1.13 - 2.92)		
Center size ^b					
< 50 patients	13 (8)	19 (16)	Reference		
50 –100 patients	46 (27)	46 (38)	1.46 (0.65 - 3.30)		
100 – 200 patients	73 (44)	29 (24)	3.68 (1.61 - 8.41)		
> 200 patients	35 (21)	27 (22)	1.90 (0.80 - 4.50)		
Organisational factors					
Likely for CKD patient to receive					
education on					
Kidney function ^c	134 (80)	83 (69)	3.23 (1.25 - 8.33)		
Kidney failure ^c	138 (83)	86 (71)	5.88 (1.60 - 21.69)		
PDc	140 (84)	85 (70)	19.77 (2.53 – 154.72)		
HHD ^d	112 (67)	47 (39)	4.40 (2.45 - 7.91)		
ICHD℃	138 (83)	92 (76)	2.50 (0.58 - 10.72)		
Dedicated team for education					
No	24 (14)	39 (32)	Reference		
Yes, <1 FTE	46 (27)	40 (33)	1.87 (0.96 - 3.62)		
Yes, 1 FTE	41 (25)	18 (15)	3.70 (1.75 - 7.85)		
Yes, ≥2 FTE	55 (33)	21 (17)	4.26 (2.08 - 8.70)		
Unknown	1(1)	3 (3)	-		

PD=peritoneal dialysis; OR=odds ratio; CI=confidence interval; CKD=chronic kidney disease; HHD=home haemodialysis; ICHD=in-center haemodialysis; FTE=fulltime-equivalent

a. Data are presented as number (n) with percentage (%). Percentages are displayed as percentage of the number of respondents in the vertical column.

b. Indicated by the total number of dialysis patients taken care of by the respondent's nephrology team.

c. Missing: 26 in group with and 24 in group without structured programme.

d. Missing: 29 in group with and 26 in group without structured programme.

In the multivariable analysis, only center size was no longer an independent predictor for the presence of an assisted PD programme (OR: 1.44; 95% CI: 0.78 - 2.67), while Western European and Scandinavian regions (OR: 5.73; 95% CI: 3.07 - 10.68), non-academic centers (OR: 2.01; 95% CI: 1.09 - 3.72), education on PD (OR: 9.04; 95% CI: 1.07 - 76.18) and a dedicated team for education (OR 2.87; 95% CI 1.35 - 6.11) remained independent predictors.

Chapter 4

Financial factors associated with the availability of an assisted PD programme

The association between profitability of PD and the impact of the distribution between KRT modalities on nephrologists' income on the one hand and the availability of an assisted PD programme on the other hand is presented in Table 2. Thirty percent of all respondents indicated that they did not know what the profitability of PD was in their center. In addition, there was no association between profitability of PD and the availability of an assisted PD programme.

Regarding the distribution between KRT modalities, 82% of all respondents indicated that it did not affect the income of nephrologists. Respondents from centers with an assisted PD programme reported this slightly more often than respondents from centers without such a programme, 85% versus 79%, respectively. In centers where ICHD is more profitable, an assisted PD programme was less often available compared to centers where the distribution between KRT modalities has no impact on income (OR: 0.41; 95%CI: 0.20 – 0.84).

	Assisted PD	programme	Crude OR	
	Yes	No	(95% CI)	
	(n=167)	(n=121)		
Profitability of PD				
Equal to ICHD	56 (34)	37 (31)	Reference	
Better than ICHD	7 (4)	4 (3)	1.16 (0.32 – 4.23)	
Worse than ICHD	51 (30)	46 (38)	0.73 (0.41 - 1.30)	
Unknown	53 (32)	34 (28)	1.03 (0.57 – 1.87)	
Impact of KRT distribution on income nephrologists				
No impact	141 (85)	95 (79)	Reference	
PD more profitable	12 (7)	3 (2)	2.70 (0.74 - 9.81)	
ICHD more profitable	14 (8)	23 (19)	0.41 (0.20 - 0.84)	

Table 2. Association between financial factors and the availability of an assisted PD programme^a

PD=peritoneal dialysis; ICHD=in-center haemodialysis; KRT=kidney replacement therapy

a. Data are presented as number (n) with percentage (%). Percentages are displayed as percentage of the number of respondents in the vertical column.

Proportion of ESKD patients on a home dialysis modality

The proportion of *incident* ESKD patients on a home dialysis modality is depicted in Figure 1. Of all respondents, 39% indicated that the incidence in their center was <10%, while only 11% indicated that the incidence was >30%. When focusing on the incidence according to region, a much higher percentage (72%) of respondents from Eastern & Central Europe indicated that the incidence in their center was <10%, while only 9% indicated that the incidence was >30%. For Scandinavia, an incidence >30% was indicated by 27% of respondents.



Figure 1. Proportion of incident ESKD patients on home dialysis according to region

Figure 2. Proportion of prevalent ESKD patients on home dialysis according to region



The proportion of *prevalent* ESKD patients on a home dialysis modality is depicted in Figure 2. Of all respondents, 31% indicated that the prevalence was <10% and 12% indicated that the prevalence was <30%. When focusing on the regions, a much higher percentage (63%) of respondents from Eastern & Central Europe indicated that the prevalence was <10%, while only 14% indicated that the prevalence was >30%. Again, Scandinavia had the highest percentage (27%) of respondents indicating that the prevalence was >30%.

Association between the availability of an assisted PD programme and proportion of home dialysis

The proportions of incident and prevalent patients on a home dialysis modality, according to the availability of an assisted PD programme, are depicted in Figure 3. A χ^2 test of independence showed a significant association between the availability of an assisted PD programme and an increasing proportion of incident as well as prevalent ESKD patients on a home dialysis modality (p \leq 0.001). This association persisted in an ordinal logistic regression analysis, taking into account center type, size, presence of a dedicated team for education and European region. With this analysis, the cumulative OR for the association between the availability of an assisted PD programme and proportion of *incident* ESKD patients on a home dialysis modality was 2.22 (95% CI: 1.38 – 3.57). The cumulative OR for the association between the availability of an assisted PD programme and proportion of *prevalent* ESKD patients was 3.29 (95% CI: 2.03 – 5.33).



Figure 3. Availability of an assisted PD programme and proportion of patients on a home dialysis modality

On the left, the proportion of *incident* patients on home dialysis is shown for centers with an assisted PD programme (dark grey bars) and centers without an assisted PD programme (light grey bars). Just over 40% of centers with an assisted PD programme have 10 – 20% of their *incident* patients on a home dialysis modality, while 52% of centers without an assisted PD programme have <10% of their *incident* patients on home dialysis.

On the right, the proportion of *prevalent* patients on home dialysis is shown for centers with an assisted PD programme (dark grey bars) and centers without an assisted PD programme (light grey bars): 43% of centers with an assisted PD programme have 10 – 20% of their *prevalent* patients on a home dialysis modality, while almost 46% of centers without an assisted PD programme have <10% of their *prevalent* patients on home dialysis.

Discussion

Our study among healthcare professionals from European nephrological units shows that assisted PD programmes are significantly more often available in Western Europe and Scandinavia. In addition, we show that assisted PD programmes are more often available in non-academic centers

and centers with a dedicated team for education. Also, there seems to be a relationship with reimbursement strategy and impact on the nephrologist's income since a larger proportion of respondents without an assisted PD programme indicated that ICHD is more profitable. Finally, having an assisted PD programme is associated with a higher incidence and prevalence of patients on a home dialysis modality.

This is the first study to investigate variations in center characteristics, organisational and financial factors, and their effect on the availability of an assisted PD programme across Europe. Only one previous study has investigated the effect of variations in some of the abovementioned factors, but this was a study on home dialysis in general (i.e. PD and haemodialysis combined) conducted in a single country. This study consisted of a survey among 286 German nephrologists and concluded that centers with assisted home dialysis had more experienced physicians and more prevalent dialysis patients [40].

Although we cannot prove causal relationships, our study can provide guidance on what is needed to treat more patients with assisted PD. While a factor such as center type cannot be influenced, the positive effect of organisational factors, as a reflection of dedication, seems to be relevant. Indeed, lack of staff, expertise, motivation and patient education are reported barriers that play a role in the uptake of PD [36, 40-43]. A Chinese-German study stated that 'a timely pre-dialysis education, implementation of a structured model for care, education and training of helping staff, and constantly monitoring of quality parameters is necessary'" to promote assisted PD [44]. So, to treat more patients with assisted PD in Europe, it seems appropriate to invest in a dedicated team of healthcare professionals who provide adequate education and support patients on assisted PD.

Our study also suggests that reimbursement might play a role in the uptake of assisted PD programmes. Numerous European studies have indicated that low reimbursement for PD is an important barrier for PD utilisation [36, 40, 41], although assisted PD has shown to be a cost-effective treatment for frail elderly patients [31]. The fact that appropriate reimbursement, besides experience with PD, influences the number of patients on assisted PD is illustrated by a study comparing the assisted PD experiences of Canada and the United States [11]. In Canada, physicians have sufficient experience with PD, reimbursement is equal for PD and ICHD and assisted PD programs are available, while in the United States, experience with PD is limited, reimbursement for PD is less than for ICHD and assisted PD programmes are not available. As a result, the percentage of incident patients older than 65 years who receive PD is 21% in Canada, while this is only 7% in the United States [11]. Also, two French studies showed that the implementation of assisted PD at a single center increased the use of PD in incident patients from 21% to more than 40% [45] and that availability of assisted PD was associated with an 1.78 times increased rate of PD initiation, with elderly patients benefitting most [30].

Our study has some limitations. First, there may have been self-selection bias, as healthcare professionals with an assisted PD programme could have been more likely to respond to the survey. However, still centers without an assisted PD programme were relatively well represented in our study. Second, there may have been a recall bias, for example regarding PD profitability. Thirty percent of the respondents in our study did not know what the profitability of PD was in their center, while 32% indicated that the profitability of PD was equal to ICHD, which probably obscures underappreciated differences; indeed, health economics are complex and likely to be poorly understood. Third, the dichotomisation and categorisation of the response options may also have led to bias. Finally, no analysis could be performed regarding the individuals who facilitated assisted PD, caregivers or family members for example, which could have influenced reimbursement. In addition, reimbursement may also be influenced by geographic location; however, we were unable to perform that analysis due to a limited number of respondents per country. However, this is the first study providing valuable information on practice variation and factors associated with the availability of an assisted PD programme across Europe.

In conclusion, assisted PD programmes are significantly more often available in Western Europe and Scandinavia, in non-academic centers and centers with a dedicated team for education. Importantly, assisted PD programmes are associated with a higher incidence and prevalence of patients on home dialysis. Further research should focus more on (the differences in) reimbursement policies for assisted PD per country.

References

- 1. Moeller S, Gioberge S, and Brown G, *ESRD patients in 2001: global overview of patients, treatment modalities and development trends.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2002. 17(12): p. 2071-2076.
- 2. Lysaght MJ, Maintenance dialysis population dynamics: Current Trends and Long-Term Implications. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2002. 13: p. S37-S40.
- 3. Liyanage T, Ninomiya T, Jha V, et al., *Worldwide access to treatment for end-stage kidney disease: a systematic review.* The Lancet, 2015. 385(9981): p. 1975-1982.
- 4. Kramer A, Pippias M, Noordzij M, et al., *The European Renal Association European Dialysis and Transplant Association (ERA-EDTA) Registry Annual Report 2016: a summary.* Clin Kidney J, 2019. 12(5): p. 702-720.
- 5. U.S. Renal Data System, US Renal Data System 2019 Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of Kidney Disease in the United States. https://www.usrds.org/2019/view/USRDS_2019_ES_final. pdf Last accessed March 25, 2020.
- 6. Brown EA, Finkelstein FO, Iyasere OU, et al., *Peritoneal or hemodialysis for the frail elderly patient, the choice of 2 evils?* Kidney Int, 2017. 91(2): p. 294-303.
- 7. Giuliani A, Karopadi AN, Prieto-Velasco M, et al., *Worldwide Experiences with Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis.* Perit Dial Int, 2017. 37(5): p. 503-508.
- Blake PG, Peritoneal dialysis a "kinder, gentler" treatment for the elderly? Perit Dial Int, 2008. 28: p. 435-436.
- 9. Brown EA and Johansson L, *Dialysis options for end-stage renal disease in older people.* Nephron Clin Pract, 2011. 119 Suppl 1: p. c10-3.
- 10. Nefrovisie, Nefrodata, http://www.nefrovisie.nl/nefrodata/Last accessed September 10, 2020.
- 11. Oliver MJ and Salenger P, *Making Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis a Reality in the United States: A Canadian and American Viewpoint.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2019. 15(4): p. 566-568.
- 12. Oliver MJ, Quinn RR, Richardson EP, et al., *Home care assistance and the utilization of peritoneal dialysis.* Kidney Int, 2007. 71(7): p. 673-8.
- 13. Johansen KL, Chertow GM, Jin C, et al., *Significance of frailty among dialysis patients*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2007. 18(11): p. 2960-7.
- 14. Farragher JF, Oliver MJ, Jain AK, et al., *PD Assistance and Relationship to Co-Existing Geriatric Syndromes in Incident Peritoneal Dialysis Therapy Patients*. Perit Dial Int, 2019. 39(4): p. 375-381.
- 15. Lobbedez T, Verger C, Ryckelynck JP, et al., *Is assisted peritoneal dialysis associated with technique survival when competing events are considered?* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2012. 7(4): p. 612-8.
- Povlsen JV, Sorensen AB, and Ivarsen P, Unplanned Start on Peritoneal Dialysis Right after PD Catheter Implantation for Older People with End-Stage Renal Disease. Perit Dial Int, 2015. 35(6): p. 622-4.
- 17. Guilloteau S, Lobbedez T, Guillouet S, et al., *Impact of Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis Modality on Outcomes: A Cohort Study of the French Language Peritoneal Dialysis Registry.* Am J Nephrol, 2018. 48(6): p. 425-433.
- 18. Wu H, Ye H, Huang R, et al., *Incidence and risk factors of peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis in elderly patients: A retrospective clinical study.* Perit Dial Int, 2020. 40(1): p. 26-33.
- 19. Hofmeister M, Klarenbach S, Soril L, et al., *A Systematic Review and Jurisdictional Scan of the Evidence Characterizing and Evaluating Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis Models*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2020. 15(4): p. 511-520.

- 20. Covic A, Bammens B, Lobbedez T, et al., *Educating end-stage renal disease patients on dialysis modality selection: clinical advice from the European Renal Best Practice (ERBP) Advisory Board.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2010. 25(6): p. 1757-9.
- 21. Oliver MJ, Al-Jaishi AA, Dixon SN, et al., *Hospitalization Rates for Patients on Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis Compared with In-Center Hemodialysis.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2016. 11(9): p. 1606-14.
- 22. Aydede SK, Komenda P, Djurdjes O, et al., *Chronic Kidney Disease and Support Provided by Home Care Services: A Systematic Review.* BMC Nephrol, 2014. 15(118): p. 1-18.
- 23. Ng JK, Chan GC, Chow KM, et al., *Helper-assisted continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis:* Does the choice of helper matter? Perit Dial Int, 2020. 40(1): p. 34-40.
- 24. Griva K, Goh CS, Kang WCA, et al., *Quality of life and emotional distress in patients and burden in caregivers: a comparison between assisted peritoneal dialysis and self-care peritoneal dialysis.* Qual Life Res, 2016. 25(2): p. 373-384.
- 25. Lee MB and Bargman JM, *Survival by Dialysis Modality-Who Cares?* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2016. 11(6): p. 1083-7.
- 26. Iyasere OU, Brown EA, Johansson L, et al., *Quality of Life and Physical Function in Older Patients on Dialysis: A Comparison of Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis with Hemodialysis.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2016. 11(3): p. 423-30.
- 27. Iyasere O, Brown E, Gordon F, et al., *Longitudinal Trends in Quality of Life and Physical Function in Frail Older Dialysis Patients: A Comparison of Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis and In-Center Hemodialysis*. Perit Dial Int, 2019. 39(2): p. 112-118.
- 28. Bevilacqua MU, Turnbull L, Saunders S, et al., *Evaluation of a 12-Month Pilot of Long-Term and Temporary Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis.* Perit Dial Int, 2017. 37(3): p. 307-313.
- 29. van der Tol A, Stel VS, Jager KJ, et al., *A call for harmonization of European kidney care: dialysis reimbursement and distribution of kidney replacement therapies.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2020.
- 30. Boyer A, Solis-Trapala I, Tabinor M, et al., *Impact of the implementation of an assisted peritoneal dialysis service on peritoneal dialysis initiation*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2020.
- 31. Laplante S, Krepel H, Simons B, et al., *Offering assisted peritoneal dialysis is a cost-effective alternative to the current care pathway in frail elderly Dutch patients.* Int J Healthc Manag, 2013. 6(1): p. 27-36.
- 32. Guillouet S, Boyer A, Lanot A, et al., *Assessment for Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis by Peritoneal Dialysis Nurses: Results of a Cohort Study.* Am J Nephrol, 2019. 50(6): p. 489-498.
- 33. Chan CT, Wallace E, Golper TA, et al., *Exploring Barriers and Potential Solutions in Home Dialysis: An NKF-KDOQI Conference Outcomes Report.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2019. 73(3): p. 363-371.
- 34. Lauder LA, Ludlow MJ, Hawley CM, et al., *Australian nephrology nurses views on home dialysis: A national survey.* Ren Soc Aust J, 2011. 7(1): p. 6-12.
- 35. Ludlow MJ, George CR, Hawley CM, et al., *How Australian nephrologists view home dialysis: results of a national survey.* Nephrology (Carlton), 2011. 16(4): p. 446-52.
- 36. Bouvier N, Durand PY, Testa A, et al., *Regional discrepancies in peritoneal dialysis utilization in France: the role of the nephrologist's opinion about peritoneal dialysis.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2009. 24(4): p. 1293-7.
- 37. Ethier I, Cho Y, Hawley C, et al., *Effect of patient- and center-level characteristics on uptake of home dialysis in Australia and New Zealand: a multicenter registry analysis.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2020: p. 1-12.
- 38. Murry JW and Hammons JO, *Delphi: a versatile methodology for conducting qualitative research.* Review of Higher Education., 1995. 18(4): p. 423-436.
- 39. International Society of Nephrology, *https://www.theisn.org/about-isn/regions Last accessed May 27, 2021.*
- 40. Pommer W, Wagner S, Muller D, et al., *Attitudes of nephrologists towards assisted home dialysis in Germany*. Clin Kidney J, 2018. 11(3): p. 400-405.

- 41. Combes G, Allen K, Sein K, et al., *Taking hospital treatments home: a mixed methods case study looking at the barriers and success factors for home dialysis treatment and the influence of a target on uptake rates.* Implement Sci, 2015. 10: p. 148.
- 42. Castledine CI, Gilg JA, Rogers C, et al., *Renal centre characteristics and physician practice patterns associated with home dialysis use.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2013. 28(8): p. 2169-80.
- 43. Desmet JM, Fernandes V, des Grottes JM, et al., *Perceptive barriers to peritoneal dialysis implementation: an opinion poll among the French-speaking Belgian nephrologists.* Clin Kidney J, 2013. 6(3): p. 358-62.
- 44. Pommer W, Su X, Zhang M, et al., *Implementing Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis in Renal Care: a Chinese-German Perspective.* Kidney Blood Press Res, 2018. 43(5): p. 1646-1654.
- 45. Lobbedez T, Moldovan R, Lecame M, et al., *Assisted peritoneal dialysis. Experience in a French renal departement.* Perit Dial Int, 2006. 26: p. 671-676.

Supplemental material

Supplemental table 1. Professional background, employment regions, and center type

	All	Selected
	respondents	respondents
	(n=609) ^a	(n=295)
Professional background		
Nephrologist in training	55 (9)	11 (4)
Nephrologist with <5 yrs. Experience	96 (16)	34 (12)
Nephrologist with 5 – 10 yrs. Experience	102 (16.5)	40 (14)
Nephrologist with 10 – 20 yrs. Experience	167 (27)	92 (31)
Nephrologist with >20 yrs. Experience	159 (26)	107 (36)
Dialysis nurse with 5 – 10 yrs. Experience	2 (0.5)	0
Dialysis nurse with 10 – 20 yrs. Experience	22 (4)	7 (2)
Administrative head of unit	6 (1)	4 (1)
Employment regions		
Eastern & Central Europe	67 (11)	43 (15)
Mediterranean	166 (27)	96 (32)
Western Europe	318 (52)	134 (45)
Scandinavia	57 (9)	22 (8)
Center type		
Non-academic center	299 (49)	171 (58)

Data are presented as number (n) with percentage (%)

a. For employment regions: 1 missing.

Eastern & Central	All	Selected	Western	All	Selected
Europe	respondents ^a	respondents	Europe	respondents ^a	respondents
Albania	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)	Austria	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)
Bosnia-Herzegovina	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)	Belgium	32 (5.3)	10 (3.4)
Bulgaria	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)	France	86 (14.1)	46 (15.6)
Croatia	33 (5.4)	15 (5.1)	Germany	8 (1.3)	5 (1.7)
Cyprus	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)	Ireland	5 (0.8)	5 (1.7)
Czech Republic	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)	The Netherlands	147 (24.1)	43 (14.6)
Hungary	2 (0.3)	2 (0.7)	Switzerland	22 (3.6)	15 (5.1)
Lithuania	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)	United Kingdom	17 (2.8)	9 (3.1)
Montenegro	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)			
Romania	3 (0.5)	3 (1)			
Russian Federation	3 (0.5)	3 (1)			
Serbia	3 (0.5)	3 (1)			
Slovakia	2 (0.3)	2 (0.7)			
Slovenia	9 (1.5)	4 (1.4)			
Turkey	4 (0.7)	3 (1)			
Ukraine	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)			
Mediterranean			Scandinavia		
Andorra	1 (0.2)	1 (0.3)	Denmark	2 (0.3)	2 (0.7)
Greece	9 (1.5)	9 (3.1)	Norway	34 (5.6)	9 (3.1)
Israel	3 (0.5)	3 (1)	Sweden	21 (3.4)	11 (3.7)
Italy	38 (6.2)	24 (8.1)			
Portugal	11 (1.8)	10 (3.4)			
Spain	104 (17.1)	49 (16.6)			

Supplemental table 2. Country of employment of respondents according to region

Data are presented as number (n) with percentage (%)

a. The country of employment is missing for 1 respondent.

Appendix

1. What is your professional background?

- Nephrologist in training
- Nephrologist with <5 years of experience
- Nephrologist with 5 to 10 years of experience
- Nephrologist with 10 to 20 years of experience
- Nephrologist with >20 years of experience
- Nurse with <5 years of experience
- Nurse with 5 to 10 years of experience
- Nurse with 10 to 20 years of experience
- Administrative head of unit

2. What is the size of your dialysis center? (please consider all patients taken care of by your nephrology team on either PD or HD, be it at home or in center)

- <50 patients
- 50-100 patients
- 100-200 patients
- >200 patients

3. What type of center are you working in?

- Academic tertiary center
- Non-academic tertiary center
- Non-academic regional hospital based center, not private
- Non-academic regional hospital based center, private
- Private center out of hospital

4. In what country do you work?

5. In which region do you work?

6. What is (estimated) the proportion of <u>incident</u> ESKD patients on home based therapy in your unit? (so patients starting their renal replacement therapy at home within the first 3 months after start)

- <10%
- 10-15%
- 15-20%
- 20-25%
- 25-30%
- 30-40%
- >40%

7. What is (estimated) the proportion of **prevalent** ESKD patients on home based therapy in your unit?

- <10%
- 10-15%
- 15-20%
- 20-25%
- 25-30%
- 30-40%
- >40%

8. What is the average waiting time for a cadaveric transplantation in your unit?

- Less than 1 year
- 1-2 years
- 2-3 years
- more than 3 years

9. What is (estimated) the proportion of <u>incident</u> ESKD patients having a <u>pre-emptive</u> (<u>living or cadaveric</u>) transplantation in your unit?

- <10%
- 10-15%
- 15-20%
- 20-25%
- 25-30%
- 30-40%
- >40%
- Do not know

10. In general terms, in your country/region, how is the reimbursement of PD as compared to center HD?

- The reimbursement for PD and center HD is equal
- The reimbursement for center HD is higher, so it is more profitable than PD
- The reimbursement for center HD is higher, but costs are also higher, so it is equally profitable as PD
- The reimbursement for PD is higher than for center HD, but due to costs for disposables (dialysate bags, lines, cycler, connectology...) it is less profitable
- The reimbursement for PD is equal as for center HD, but due to disposable costs it is less profitable
- The reimbursement for PD is higher than for center HD and it is more profitable than center HD
- The reimbursement for PD is lower than for center HD, but, and due to disposable costs, it is less profitable
- I do not know

11. In your unit:

- The partition between the different renal replacement therapies (center HD, PD, Home HD, Transplantation) does not really impact the income of the nephrologists
- The partition between the different renal replacement therapies (center HD, PD, Home HD, Transplantation) has a substantial impact on the income of the nephrologists, and center HD is more profitable
- The partition between the different renal replacement therapies (center HD, PD, Home HD, Transplantation) has a substantial impact on the income of the nephrologists, and PD is more profitable

12. In your region, transport of patients to and from the dialysis unit for hemodialysis (more than one can apply):

- Is fully reimbursed
- Is well organized centrally (by the center or some organization)
- Organization of transport is seen as a major problem by many patients
- Is partially reimbursed; patients pay only a small contribution
- Is partially reimbursed; but patients pay a substantial contribution
- Has to be organized and paid by the patient himself
- Is problematic in view of the distances and traffic conditions
- I do not know

13. Does your unit provide:

	1-	2	3	4	5-very
	not at all				organised
A structured pre-dialysis training program	0	0	0	0	0
for patients					
A structured PD program	0	0	0	0	0
A structured home HD program	0	0	0	0	0
A structured transplant program for cadaveric donation	0	0	0	0	0
A structured transplant program for living	0	0	0	0	0
donation					
A structured program for assisted PD	0	0	0	0	0

14. Do you have in your center a dedicated team for an advanced CKD/pre-dialysis/low clearance education program?

- No
- Yes, less than 1 full time equivalent
- Yes, 1 full time equivalent
- Yes, 2 or more full time equivalents
- Do not know

15. If no, or unknown, how is this low clearance program organized?

16. How does the lack of availability of a structured low clearance clinic influence the prevalence of ESKD patients in your home based therapy program according to your opinion?

- Not at all
- Slightly
- Modestly
- Substantially
- I have never thought about this
- Not applicable

17. Is it possible in your unit to get a PD catheter placed in a new patient within 48 hours?

- Yes
- Yes, most of the time
- Sometimes
- Mostly not
- No
- We have to refer the patient to another unit to place a PD catheter

18. What are to your opinion underlying reasons why this is not possible?

19. How long would it take to get a planned PD catheter placement on average?

- less than a week
- one to two weeks
- two to three weeks
- a month or more

20. In your unit, is there a nephrologist that can place PD catheters at the bedside under local anesthesia?

- Yes
- No

21. What are to your opinion, the <u>advantages</u> of being able to use such a bedside technique?

22. What are, to your opinion, <u>barriers</u> to allow being able to use such a bedside technique?

23. Who does place the PD catheters in your center? (more than one can fit)

- Senior surgeon
- Junior surgeon
- Dedicated surgeon
- Interventional radiologist
- Nephrologist
- Other

24. How do you appreciate the commitment of these operators to the issue of placement of PD catheters?

0-very low	1	2	3	4	5-very high
0	0	0	0	0	0

25. Is it possible in your unit to replace a non-functioning catheter within 48-72 hours in a patient already on PD?

- Yes
- Yes, most of the time
- Sometimes
- Mostly not
- No

26. Can you describe the impact on the management of the patient of such a mechanical related issue?

27. Do you or a colleague place the permanent HD catheters yourself?

- Yes
- No

28. Who does place the permanent HD catheters? (more than one can fit)

- Senior surgeon
- Junior surgeon
- Dedicated surgeon
- Interventional surgeon
- Other

29. Is it possible in your unit to place a permanent HD catheter within 48 hours?

- Yes
- Yes, most of the time
- Sometimes
- Mostly not
- No

30. Do you have a structured follow up of outcome results of PD catheter function in your unit?

- Yes
- No
- I do not know

31. Who is getting the results of this structured follow up?

32. What is the likelihood that in your center, a patient suffering from chronic kidney disease with long term nephrology follow-up at your unit, will receive education on:

	0 (no	1	2	3	4	5 (all
	patient)					patients)
What is the function of the kidney?	0	0	0	0	0	0
What is kidney failure?	0	0	0	0	0	0
Conservative medical care for end	0	0	0	0	0	0
stage kidney disease						
Peritoneal dialysis	0	0	0	0	0	0
Home hemodialysis	0	0	0	0	0	0
In Center hemodialysis	0	0	0	0	0	0
Kidney transplantation	0	0	0	0	0	0

33. What is the likelihood that in your center, a patient suffering from chronic kidney disease who present as a crash lander (unplanned start, emergency start dialysis), will at some stage during the first 3 months receive education on:

	0 (no	1	2	3	4	5 (all
	patient)					patients)
What is the function of the kidney?	0	0	0	0	0	0
What is kidney failure?	0	0	0	0	0	0
Conservative medical care for end	0	0	0	0	0	0
stage kidney disease						
Peritoneal dialysis	0	0	0	0	0	0
Home hemodialysis	0	0	0	0	0	0
In Center hemodialysis	0	0	0	0	0	0
Kidney transplantation	0	0	0	0	0	0

34. A 48 year-old woman not previously known to your unit presents at your emergency department. Diagnosis of established end stage renal disease is made. Rank the following in order of **probability**. (4= most probable, 1= least probable)

≡

The patient will start on HD by a central venous line

≡

The patient will start on HD by a central venous line and AV access will be planned

≡

The patient will start on HD by a central venous line and different RRT modalities, including PD, will be discussed for follow up treatment

≡

The patient will receive a PD catheter and PD will be started within 48 hours

35. Score the following (0= completely not, 5= I would seriously be concerned):

	0 (completely not)	1	2	3	4	5 (I would seriously be concerned)
Would you be concerned to have an elderly patient on PD at home?	0	0	0	0	0	0
Would you be concerned to have a frail patient on PD at home?	0	0	0	0	0	0

36. Do you have facilities/procedures to provide assistance to enable frail patients to perform dialysis at their place of residence?

- Yes
- No

37. For which modalities? (more than one can apply)

- APD
- CAPD
- Home HD

Chapter 4

38. What degree of assistance do you offer? (more than one can apply)

- Practical/logistical support (eg carry boxes, prepare machine etc)
- Patient connection to the device/bag
- Patient disconnection from the device/bag
- Measurement of patients parameters
- Medication administration: EPO, iron IV, ...
- Other (please specify)

39. Who performs the assistance? (more than one can apply)

- Family/non-professional relatives
- Qualified renal nurse from your unit
- Nurse assistant from your unit
- Qualified district nurse
- Qualified private nurse
- Nurse assistant or technician or Healthcare assistant from community service
- Personnel from a dialysis company
- Other (please specify)

40. Is there a specific reimbursement for this assistance for PD patients?

- No
- Yes, to the patient
- Yes, directly to the renal unit
- Yes, directly to the person who provides the assistance
- I do not know

41. Is this reimbursement sufficient to? (more than one can apply)

- cover the additional costs of assisted PD
- be profitable to the renal unit
- be profitable to the person providing the assisted care
- act as an incentive for assisted PD
- I do not know

42. A 80 year old person with poor mobility, ESKD, has decided to start RRT; she has mild cognitive impairment, but is still living alone.

What modality(ies) of renal substitution would you offer her?

(conservative management included)

43. Why would you offer these modality(ies) of renal substitution?

44. Would you consider assisted PD in this patient?

- Yes, certainly
- Yes, maybe
- Probably not
- Most likely not
- Certainly not

45. What advantages do you see for assisted PD in this patient?

46. What disadvantages do you see for assisted PD in this patient?

47. A 80 year old person with poor mobility on APD for one year, is being assisted for her APD treatment by her daughter. However, the daughter is no longer able to provide this assistance. What alternative therapy would you offer her?

48. Would you consider assisted PD in this patient?

- Yes, certainly
- Yes, maybe
- Probably not
- Most likely not
- Certainly not

49. Why would you or would you not consider assisted PD in this patient?

=

50. A 55 year old patient 2 months on PD and on waiting list for transplantation, presents for the 3th time with a slow outflow problems, resistant to laxatives. The abdominal X-Ray demonstrates a translocation of the PD catheter in the upper abdomen.

List in order of likelihood what is most likely (5: most likely; 1 least likely) which approach you would prefer in this patient:

Ask surgeon for surgical intervention to solve the technical catheter issue Transfer to other specialized PD center to solve the technical catheter issue Transfer to in center HD on permanent central venous catheter Place a central venous catheter and plan AV fistula Plan AV fistula and continue PD as a bridge to HD

51. Do you have established collaboration agreements with other units for management of the following? (more than one can apply)

- Catheter related issues
- Presumed EPS
- Infectious complications
- Assisted PD
- Training and education
- Challenging clinical case discussions
- For none of these
- I do not really know this

52. Do you have an established quality assessment program for the following? (more than one can apply)

- Catheter related issues
- Presumed EPS
- Infectious complications
- Assisted PD
- Training and education
- Survival
- Technique success
- For none of these
- I do not really know this

53. Has your unit ever done special initiatives to increase the prevalence of homebased therapies?

- Yes
- No

54. Can you describe what type of initiative?

55. Was the result as expected?

56. if you wish to participate in the lottery to receive free registration tickets for the joined ISPD/EUroPD meeting - May 2-5, 2020 in Glasgow, please enter your email address below:



Part II

Traditional clinical outcomes of dialysis



Chapter 5

Bleeding risk of hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs, Alferso C. Abrahams, Maarten B. Rookmaaker, Marianne C. Verhaar, Willem Jan W. Bos, Peter J. Blankestijn, Friedo W. Dekker, Merel van Diepen, Gurbey Ocak

Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation. 2021 Jan 1;36(1):170-175

Abstract

Background Dialysis patients have an increased bleeding risk as compared with the general population. However, there is limited information whether bleeding risks are different for patients treated with hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis. From a clinical point of view, this information could influence therapy choice. Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate the association between dialysis modality and bleeding risk.

Methods Incident dialysis patients from the Netherlands Cooperative Study on the Adequacy of Dialysis (NECOSAD) were prospectively followed for major bleeding events over three years. Hazard ratios with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated for hemodialysis compared with peritoneal dialysis using a time-dependent cox regression analysis, with updates on dialysis modality.

Results In total, 1745 patients started dialysis, of whom 1211 (69.4%) received hemodialysis and 534 (30.6%) peritoneal dialysis. The bleeding rate was 60.8/1000 person-years for hemodialysis patients and 34.6/1000 person-years for peritoneal dialysis patients. The time-dependent Cox regression analysis showed that after adjustment for age, sex, primary kidney disease, prior bleeding, cardiovascular disease, antiplatelet drug use, vitamin K antagonist use, erythropoietin use, arterial hypertension, residual GFR, hemoglobin and albumin levels, bleeding risk for hemodialysis patients compared with peritoneal dialysis was 1.5-fold (95% CI 1.0 – 2.2) increased.

Conclusions In this large prospective cohort of incident dialysis patients, hemodialysis patients had an increased bleeding risk compared with peritoneal dialysis patients. Especially, hemodialysis patients with a history of prior bleeding had an increased bleeding risk.
Introduction

For over 30 years, end-stage kidney disease patients have been known to have an increased bleeding risk. Bleeding event rates for end-stage kidney disease patients treated with hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis range between 42 and 89/1000 person-years [1-5] compared with 0.5 - 0.9/1000 person-years in the general population [6-8]. The increased bleeding risk could be explained by anemia (especially in the era before introduction of erythropoietin), platelet dysfunction and impaired interaction between platelets and the vessel wall [9-11]. Furthermore, the high prevalence of antiplatelet and anticoagulant drug use could also play an important role [9, 11, 12].

There are limited data about differences in bleeding risk of hemodialysis patients compared with peritoneal dialysis patients. Most studies that investigated bleeding risk in dialysis patients have focused on hemodialysis patients with atrial fibrillation. These studies showed a high bleeding risk in hemodialysis patients using vitamin K antagonists [13, 14]. Therefore, there is doubt whether the benefit of vitamin K antagonists in preventing stroke outweighs the high bleeding risk in dialysis patients. Only four studies compared the bleeding risk of patients on different dialysis patients for subdural hematomas and gastrointestinal bleeding [15-18]. Three of these studies were retrospective cohort studies conducted in Taiwan [15, 17, 18]. They showed that, compared with peritoneal dialysis patients, hemodialysis patients have a 1.6-fold increased risk for subdural hematomas [15] and a 1.1- to 3.2-fold increased risk for gastrointestinal bleeding [17, 18]. However, prospective data regarding the difference in total bleeding risk between hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients are lacking.

From a clinical perspective, it is important to know whether hemodialysis compared with peritoneal dialysis increases bleeding risk. There may be a preferred dialysis modality for specific subgroups of patients regarding bleeding risk. Therefore, we investigated the association between dialysis modality and bleeding risk.

Methods

Study population

The Netherlands Cooperative Study on the Adequacy of Dialysis (NECOSAD), conducted in 38 dialysis centers, prospectively included end-stage kidney disease patients who started dialysis treatment from 1997. Patients were ≥18 years and had no previous renal replacement therapy. Follow-up of patients was conducted until bleeding event within three years of follow-up, death or censored in case of kidney transplantation, loss to follow-up or until December 2013. All patients provided written informed consent and local medical ethics committees approved the study.

Demographic and clinical data

Data on age, sex, dialysis modality and primary kidney disease were collected at start of dialysis treatment. Primary kidney disease was classified according to the European Renal Association -European Dialysis and Transplant Association (ERA-EDTA) codes [19]. We grouped patients into four classes of primary kidney disease: diabetes mellitus, glomerulonephritis, renal vascular disease and other kidney diseases. Data on prior bleeding, cardiovascular disease, erythropoietin use and use of antithrombotic drugs (i.e. antiplatelet drugs or vitamin K antagonists) were also collected at start of dialysis treatment. Prior bleeding was defined as a bleeding event leading to hospitalization and cardiovascular disease as ischemic heart disease (hospitalization for acute coronary syndrome or bypass surgery/percutaneous angioplasty), congestive heart failure or peripheral vascular disease. Blood pressure, hemoglobin, albumin, urea and creatinine were routinely measured in the dialysis centers at three months after the start of dialysis treatment. Blood pressure was measured before and after dialysis treatment over a 2-week period. The systolic and diastolic blood pressure values were both the average of up to six measurements. Arterial hypertension was defined as a systolic blood pressure of ≥140 mmHg or a diastolic blood pressure of ≥90 mmHg. Residual glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was calculated as the mean of creatinine and urea clearance, using creatinine and urea measurements in blood and 24 hours urine collections, corrected for body surface area (ml/min/1.73m²).

Bleeding

Bleeding was defined as an event leading to hospitalization or death within three years of followup. The following causes of death were classified as a result of bleeding: hemorrhagic pericarditis, gastrointestinal hemorrhage, hemorrhage from a peptic ulcer, hemorrhage from vascular access or dialysis circuit, hemorrhage from ruptured vascular aneurysm, hemorrhage from surgery and other hemorrhage (including cerebral and subdural hemorrhage) (ERA-EDTA codes 13, 23, 25 – 28, 71) [19].

Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics were presented as percentages or medians with interquartile range (IQR). Kaplan-Meier bleeding curves were generated for both dialysis modalities over three years of follow-up. Hazard ratios (HRs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated for hemodialysis in comparison with peritoneal dialysis using Cox proportional hazard analyses. Adjustment of HRs was first performed for baseline variables age, sex, primary kidney disease, prior bleeding, cardiovascular disease, antiplatelet drug use, vitamin K antagonist use and erythropoietin use. In addition, a second adjustment of HRs was performed in which arterial hypertension, residual GFR, hemoglobin and albumin levels were added to the other variables. Furthermore, a time-dependent Cox regression analysis, with updates on dialysis modality, was performed to account for potential influence of changes in dialysis modality over time.

Multiple imputation was performed to account for missing data, using the fully conditional specification [20-23]. The imputation model contained all baseline characteristics including dialysis modality, bleeding outcome and mortality [21].

Interaction analyses were performed to identify patients with an increased bleeding risk. For these analyses, adjusted HRs of bleeding were calculated for hemodialysis patients with and without antithrombotic drug use, cardiovascular disease and prior bleeding in comparison with peritoneal dialysis patients without antithrombotic drug use, cardiovascular disease and prior bleeding (reference group). The same reference group of peritoneal dialysis patients was also used for calculation of the number needed to treat (NNT).

Statistical analyses were conducted with IBM SPSS Statistics version 25.

Results

Baseline characteristics

A total of 1745 patients were included, of whom 1211 patients (69.4%) started with hemodialysis and 534 patients (30.6%) with peritoneal dialysis. Baseline characteristics are described in Table 1. Hemodialysis patients, compared with peritoneal dialysis, were older (66 versus 54 years), more often female (40% versus 35%), used more often antiplatelet drugs (26% versus 15%) and vitamin K antagonists (16% versus 5%), and had a slightly lower residual GFR (3 versus 4 ml/min/1.73m²). A small percentage of both hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients had a history of prior bleeding (7 and 4%, respectively).

Table 1. Baseline characteristics

	Hemod	lialysis*	Peritor	neal dialysis**
	(N = 12	211)	(N = 53	34)
Age, median (IQR), [years]	66	(54-73)	54	(44-65)
Female sex, N (%)	488	(40%)	187	(35%)
Primary Kidney Disease, N (%)				
Diabetes mellitus	188	(16%)	93	(17%)
Glomerulonephritis	142	(12%)	96	(18%)
Renal vascular disease	260	(21%)	69	(13%)
Other	621	(51%)	276	(52%)
Prior bleeding, N (%)	83	(7%)	19	(4%)
Cardiovascular disease, N (%)	490	(40%)	134	(25%)
Antiplatelet drug use, N (%)	316	(26%)	80	(15%)
Vitamin K antagonist use, N (%)	195	(16%)	26	(5%)
Erythropoietin use, N (%)	896	(74%)	348	(65%)
Arterial hypertension, N (%)	750	(63%)	234	(45%)
Residual GFR, median (IQR), [ml/min/1.73m ²]	3	(1-5)	4	(2-6)
Hemoglobin, median (IQR), [mmol/L]	6.7	(6.1-7.4)	7.3	(6.7-8.0)
Albumin, median (IQR), [g/ L]	37	(33-40)	36	(33-40)

N= number; IQR= interquartile range; GFR= glomerular filtration rate

* Missings in hemodialysis patients: Prior bleeding 12 (1.0%), arterial hypertension 23 (1.9%), residual GFR 269 (22.2%), hemoglobin 20 (1.7%) and albumin 50 (4.1%).

** Missings in peritoneal dialysis patients: Prior bleeding 4 (0.7%), arterial hypertension 11 (2.1%), residual GFR 48 (9.0%), hemoglobin 10 (1.9%) and albumin 18 (3.4%).

Bleeding events

Within three years of follow-up, 183 patients had a first bleeding event on dialysis after a median follow-up of 2.2 years (IQR 1.0 - 3.0). The bleeding rate was 52.3/1000 person-years. Of the 183 patients with bleeding events, 144 patients were treated with hemodialysis and 39 patients with peritoneal dialysis at baseline. After three years, the cumulative bleeding incidence was 15.5% for hemodialysis patients and 9.7% for peritoneal dialysis patients (Figure 1).





Hemodialysis patients had a bleeding rate of 60.8/1000 person-years and peritoneal dialysis patients had a bleeding rate of 34.6/1000 person-years. The crude HR of bleeding was 1.7 (95% CI 1.2 – 2.5) in hemodialysis patients compared with peritoneal dialysis patients. Hemodialysis patients had a 1.5-fold (95% CI 1.0 – 2.1) increased bleeding risk after adjustment for age, sex, primary kidney disease, prior bleeding, cardiovascular disease, antiplatelet drug use, vitamin K antagonist use and erythropoietin use. Additional adjustment for arterial hypertension, residual GFR, hemoglobin and albumin levels resulted in a 1.4-fold (95% CI 1.0 – 2.1) increased bleeding risk (Table 2). The time-dependent Cox regression analysis showed a HR of 1.5 (95% CI 1.0 – 2.2) after adjustment for age, sex, primary kidney disease, prior bleeding, cardiovascular disease, antiplatelet drug use, vitamin K antagonist use, erythropoietin use, arterial hypertension, residual GFR, hemoglobin and albumin levels (Table 2).

	N	Incidence rate per 1000	Cru HR	ude (95% Cl)	Adj HR	usted* (95% Cl)	Adjusted** HR (95% Cl)	Tin Adj	ne-dependent usted**
		person-years						HR	(95% CI)
Peritoneal dialysis	534	34.6	1	(reference)	1	(reference)	1 (reference)	1	(reference)
Hemodialysis	1211	60.8	1.7	(1.2-2.5)	1.5	(1.0-2.1)	1.4 (1.0-2.1)	1.5	(1.0-2.2)
					-				

Table 2. Hazard ratios of bleeding for hemodialysis versus peritoneal dialysis

N= number; HR= Hazard ratio; CI=confidence interval

* Adjusted for age, sex, primary kidney disease, prior bleeding, cardiovascular disease, antiplatelet drug use, vitamin K antagonist use, and erythropoietin use.

** Adjusted for age, sex, primary kidney disease, prior bleeding, cardiovascular disease, antiplatelet drug use, vitamin K antagonist use, erythropoietin use, arterial hypertension, residual GFR, hemoglobin and albumin levels.

During the study, 13 patients died as a result of bleeding of whom 12 were treated with hemodialysis and one with peritoneal dialysis. Of the 12 fatal bleeding events in hemodialysis patients, four were due to hemorrhage from a ruptured vascular aneurysm, three due to gastrointestinal hemorrhage, two due to hemorrhage from surgery, one due to hemorrhage from vascular access or dialysis circuit and two due to other hemorrhage. The fatal bleeding event in the peritoneal dialysis patient was due to gastrointestinal hemorrhage. The fatal bleeding rate for hemodialysis patients was 5.1/1000 person-years and for peritoneal dialysis patients 0.9/1000 person-years.

Interaction analyses

First, stratification for antithrombotic drug use (i.e. antiplatelet drugs or vitamin K antagonists) was performed for which peritoneal dialysis patients without antithrombotic drugs served as the reference group. The three groups for this analysis were: hemodialysis patients without antithrombotic drugs, peritoneal dialysis patients with antithrombotic drugs and hemodialysis patients with antithrombotic drugs. For hemodialysis patients without antithrombotic drugs, the time-dependent adjusted HR for bleeding was 1.7 (95% CI 1.1 - 2.7) compared with peritoneal dialysis patients with antithrombotic drugs.

drugs, the time-dependent adjusted HR was also 1.7 (95% Cl 0.8 - 3.4). For hemodialysis patients with antithrombotic drugs, the time-dependent adjusted HR was 1.9 (95% Cl 1.1 - 3.1) compared with the reference group. The NNT was 27 for hemodialysis patients with antithrombotic drugs (Table 3).

In addition, we analysed the two antithrombotic drugs separately. Vitamin K antagonists use led to a 1.8-fold (95% CI 1.1 – 3.1) increased (time-dependent adjusted) bleeding risk for hemodialysis patients compared with peritoneal dialysis patients without vitamin K antagonists use. Antiplatelet drug use resulted in a time-dependent adjusted HR of 1.7 (95% CI 1.0 – 2.9) for bleeding in hemodialysis patients as compared with peritoneal dialysis patients without antiplatelet drug use.

Secondly, stratification for cardiovascular disease was performed for which peritoneal dialysis patients without cardiovascular disease served as the reference group. The three groups for this analysis were: hemodialysis patients without cardiovascular disease, peritoneal dialysis patients with cardiovascular disease and hemodialysis patients with cardiovascular disease. For hemodialysis patients without cardiovascular disease, the time-dependent adjusted HR for bleeding was 1.8 (95% CI 1.1 – 2.9) compared with peritoneal dialysis patients without cardiovascular disease. For peritoneal dialysis patients with cardiovascular disease, the time-dependent adjusted disease. For peritoneal dialysis patients with cardiovascular disease, the time-dependent adjusted HR was 1.5 (95% CI 0.8 – 2.9). For hemodialysis patients with cardiovascular disease, the time-dependent adjusted HR was 1.4 (95% CI 0.8 – 2.5) compared with the reference group. The NNT was 29 for hemodialysis patients with cardiovascular disease (Table 3).

Thirdly, stratification for prior bleeding was performed for which peritoneal dialysis patients without prior bleeding served as the reference group. The three groups for this analysis were: hemodialysis patients without prior bleeding, peritoneal dialysis patients with prior bleeding and hemodialysis patients with prior bleeding. For hemodialysis patients without prior bleeding, the time-dependent adjusted HR for bleeding. For peritoneal dialysis patients with prior bleeding, the time-dependent adjusted HR was 0.7 (95% CI 0.1 – 5.3). For hemodialysis patients with prior bleeding, the time-dependent adjusted HR was 3.0 (95% CI 1.7 – 5.3) compared with the reference group. The NNT was 10 for hemodialysis patients with prior bleeding (Table 3).

Dialysis modality Antithrombotic drug Peritoneal dialysis No Hemodialysis No Peritoneal dialysis Yes Hemodialysis Yes Dialysis modality Cardiovascular disea	Jg use 430 712 104 499			HR (95% CI)	HR (95	eu % CI)	Adjust	ependent
Dialysis modality Antithrombotic drug Peritoneal dialysis No Hemodialysis No Peritoneal dialysis Yes Hemodialysis Yes Dialysis modality Cardiovascular disea	ug use 430 712 104 499	person-years						HR (95	% CI)
Peritoneal dialysis No Hemodialysis No Peritoneal dialysis Yes Hemodialysis Yes Dialvsis modality Cardiovascular disea	430 712 104 499								
Hemodialysis No Peritoneal dialysis Yes Hemodialysis Yes Dialveis modality Cardiovascular disea	712 104 499	30.0	reference	Ч	(reference)	1	(reference)	-	(reference)
Peritoneal dialysis Yes Hemodialysis Yes Dialveis modality Cardiovascular disea	104 499	56.6	38	1.9	(1.2-2.9)	1.6^{*}	(1.0-2.6)	1.7*	(1.1-2.7)
Hemodialysis Yes Dialvsis modality Cardiovascular disea	499	56.4	38	1.8	(0.9-3.7)	1.7*	(0.8-3.5)	1.7^{*}	(0.8-3.4)
Dialvsis modality Cardiovascular disea		67.3	27	2.2	(1.4 - 3.4)	1.8^{*}	(1.1 - 3.0)	1.9*	(1.1 - 3.1)
	ease								
Peritoneal dialysis No	400	30.9	reference	П	(reference)	1	(reference)	Ч	(reference)
Hemodialysis No	721	58.2	37	1.9	(1.2-2.9)	1.6**	(1.0-2.6)	1.8**	(1.1-2.9)
Peritoneal dialysis Yes	134	47.4	61	1.5	(0.8-3.0)	1.3**	(0.6-2.6)	1.5**	(0.8-2.9)
Hemodialysis Yes	490	65.0	29	2.1	(1.3-3.2)	1.4**	(0.8-2.3)	1.4**	(0.8-2.5)
Dialysis modality Prior bleeding									
Peritoneal dialysis No	511	34.4	reference	Ч	(reference)	Ч	(reference)	1	(reference)
Hemodialysis No	1116	56.5	45	1.6	(1.1-2.4)	1.4***	(0.9-2.1)	1.4**	(1.0-2.1)
Peritoneal dialysis Yes	19	50.0	64	1.4	(0.3-6.0)	1.3***	(0.3 - 5.5)	0.7***	(0.1 - 5.3)
Hemodialysis Yes	83	133.1	10	3.8	(2.2-6.6)	2.8***	(1.6-5.1)	3.0***	(1.7-5.3)

*Adjusted for age, sex, primary kidney disease, prior bleeding, antiplatelet drug use, vitamin K antagonist use, erythropoietin use, arterial hypertension, residual GFR, emoglobin and albumin levels. hemoglobin and albumin levels.

***Adjusted for age, sex, primary kidney disease, cardiovascular disease, antiplatelet drug use, vitamin K antagonist use, erythropoietin use, arterial hypertension, residual GFR, hemoglobin and albumin levels.

Discussion

In this large prospective cohort of incident dialysis patients, both hemodialysis (60.8/1000 person-years) and peritoneal dialysis patients (34.6/1000 person-years) had increased bleeding risks compared with the general population (0.5 - 0.9/1000 person-years).[6-8] It is important to realize that the prevalence of antithrombotic drug use is higher in dialysis patients than in the general population [9, 11, 12]. The main finding of our study was that hemodialysis patients had a 1.5-fold increased bleeding risk compared with peritoneal dialysis patients after adjustment for confounders. In addition, hemodialysis patients had highly increased bleeding risks when they used antithrombotic drugs or had a history of bleeding, which resulted in low numbers needed to treat (27 and 10, respectively). The importance of previous bleeding in increasing the risk of new bleeding events is consistent with previous studies, which showed that this was the most important risk factor [3, 24].

This is the first prospective study comparing the bleeding risk of hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients taking into account all bleeding events. So far the bleeding risk has only been investigated in an American and Taiwanese cohort, which also showed an increased bleeding risk for hemodialysis patients compared with peritoneal dialysis patients [15-18]. However, unlike our study, the studies in these cohorts all focused on a single bleeding source, namely gastrointestinal or subdural. In the American cohort described by Wasse et al., 698 upper gastrointestinal bleeding cases among dialysis patients were investigated. The adjusted relative risk (RR) for a first upper gastrointestinal bleeding was non-significantly lower for peritoneal dialysis patients compared with hemodialysis patients (RR 0.88, 95% CI 0.72 – 1.07) [16]. In the Taiwanese cohort, three retrospective studies were conducted [15, 17, 18]. First, the study of Wang et al. described subdural hematomas among 10136 hemodialysis and 10136 peritoneal dialysis patients [15]. The adjusted HR of a subdural hematoma was significantly higher for hemodialysis patients compared with peritoneal dialysis patients (HR 1.62, 95% CI 1.17 - 2.33). Secondly, the study of Lee et al. described gastrointestinal bleeding events combined with diverticula among 8955 hemodialysis and 1791 peritoneal dialysis patients [17]. With 1417 events (1274 in hemodialysis, 143 in peritoneal dialysis patients), the risk was significantly lower in peritoneal dialysis patients compared with hemodialysis patients (HR 0.78, 95% CI 0.64 - 0.96). Finally, the study of Huang et al. described peptic ulcer bleeding events among 2328 hemodialysis and 2239 peritoneal dialysis patients [18]. The adjusted risk for peptic ulcer bleeding, compared with a control group of patients without kidney disease, was lower for peritoneal dialysis patients (HR 3.71, 95% CI 2.00 - 6.87) than for hemodialysis patients (HR 11.96, 95% CI 7.04 - 20.31) [18].

A possible explanation for the increased bleeding risk of hemodialysis patients could be the use of low molecular weight heparin during hemodialysis sessions, which is necessary to prevent clotting in the extracorporeal system [25, 26]. Especially, the combination of high heparin dosages during hemodialysis sessions and vitamin K antagonist use could have led to an increased bleeding risk. There is a recent debate whether the benefit (i.e. stroke reduction) of vitamin K antagonists in hemodialysis patients outweighs the bleeding risk [27]. In peritoneal dialysis patients, the stroke and bleeding risks associated with vitamin K antagonists could be different. A previous study showed that warfarin reduced the incidence of stroke without increasing the risk of intracranial hemorrhage in peritoneal dialysis patients [28]. Also, the increased bleeding risk in hemodialysis patients could result from intermittent puncture with needles of the vascular access. Unfortunately, data regarding the bleeding risk specifically related to the vascular access were lacking in our study. Another explanation for the increased bleeding risk of hemodialysis patients. Although we have adjusted for many confounders, residual confounding could not be excluded.

To our knowledge, this is the first large prospective cohort study comparing overall bleeding risk of hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients. While prior studies primarily focused on gastrointestinal bleeding sources, our study also incorporated non-gastrointestinal bleeding sources in all dialysis patients. Furthermore, the accuracy of the recorded data is high, since nurses and nephrologists who treated these dialysis patients have recorded the bleeding events. Our study has several limitations. First, data were collected between 1997 and 2013, a period when strategies regarding the use of antithrombotic drugs differed from current practice. However, we believe that the results are still relevant for dialysis patients nowadays. Secondly, bleeding was defined as death due to bleeding or bleeding requiring hospitalization, but was not validated or defined by the bleeding criteria of the International Society on Thrombosis and Hemostasis [29]. However, we think that our definition of bleeding incorporates important clinical endpoints. Thirdly, data about the presence of atrial fibrillation or the use of heparin was missing. Another limitation of our study is the possibility of detection bias. Bleeding could be more often detected in hemodialysis patients than in peritoneal dialysis patients, since most hemodialysis patients visit a dialysis center three times a week and therefore have more contact with healthcare professionals. However, we think that the detection bias is limited, since we used bleeding requiring hospitalization as outcome. In case of such a major bleeding, we believe that peritoneal dialysis patients will also seek contact with healthcare professionals. Finally, it could theoretically be possible that confounding by indication occurred, since patients were not randomized between hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis. Although the bleeding risk is usually not taken into account when choosing a dialysis modality, we have corrected for multiple confounders in our analysis. Since randomized controlled trials comparing bleeding rates of hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients will probably never be conducted, clinicians should make decisions together with their patients based on observational studies.

In conclusion, hemodialysis patients have a 1.5-fold increased bleeding risk compared with peritoneal dialysis patients. An important subgroup is patients with previous bleeding problems. These patients may have an even higher bleeding risk with hemodialysis. End-stage kidney disease patients should receive information about all treatments and subsequently make shared decisions with their nephrologist [30]. Ideally, the bleeding risk for a patient with a specific (bleeding) history could be incorporated in this decision since bleeding can potentially lead to hospitalization or death.

References

- 1. Olesen JB, Lip GY, Kamper AL, et al., *Stroke and bleeding in atrial fibrillation with chronic kidney disease*. N Engl J Med, 2012. 367(7): p. 625-35.
- 2. Yang JY, Lee TC, Montez-Rath ME, et al., *Trends in acute nonvariceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding in dialysis patients*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2012. 23(3): p. 495-506.
- 3. Sood MM, Larkina M, Thumma JR, et al., *Major bleeding events and risk stratification of antithrombotic agents in hemodialysis: results from the DOPPS.* Kidney Int, 2013. 84(3): p. 600-8.
- 4. Molnar AO, Bota SE, Garg AX, et al., *The Risk of Major Hemorrhage with CKD.* J Am Soc Nephrol, 2016. 27(9): p. 2825-32.
- 5. Wong CX, Odutayo A, Emdin CA, et al., *Meta-Analysis of Anticoagulation Use, Stroke, Thromboembolism, Bleeding, and Mortality in Patients With Atrial Fibrillation on Dialysis.* Am J Cardiol, 2016. 117(12): p. 1934-41.
- 6. Vanleerdam M, Vreeburg E, Rauws E, et al., *Acute Upper GI Bleeding: Did Anything Change?* The American Journal of Gastroenterology, 2003. 98(7): p. 1494-9.
- 7. Hernández-Díaz S and García Rodríguez LA, *Incidence of serious upper gastrointestinal bleeding/perforation in the general population: Review of epidemiologic studies.* Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 2002. 55: p. 157-63.
- 8. Hreinsson JP, Kalaitzakis E, Gudmundsson S, et al., *Upper gastrointestinal bleeding: incidence, etiology and outcomes in a population-based setting.* Scand J Gastroenterol, 2013. 48(4): p. 439-47.
- 9. Pavord S and Myers B, *Bleeding and thrombotic complications of kidney disease*. Blood Rev, 2011. 25(6): p. 271-8.
- 10. Remuzzi G, Bleeding in renal failure. Lancet, 1988: p. 1205-8.
- 11. Lutz J, Menke J, Sollinger D, et al., *Haemostasis in chronic kidney disease*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2014. 29(1): p. 29-40.
- 12. Reinecke H, Brand E, Mesters R, et al., *Dilemmas in the management of atrial fibrillation in chronic kidney disease*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2009. 20(4): p. 705-11.
- 13. Winkelmayer WC, Liu J, Setoguchi S, et al., *Effectiveness and safety of warfarin initiation in older hemodialysis patients with incident atrial fibrillation*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2011. 6(11): p. 2662-8.
- 14. Shah M, Tsadok MA, Jackevicius CA, et al., *Warfarin use and risk for stroke and bleeding in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing dialysis*. Circulation, 2014. 129: p. 1196-203.
- 15. Wang IK, Cheng YK, Lin CL, et al., *Comparison of Subdural Hematoma Risk between Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis Patients with ESRD*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2015. 10(6): p. 994-1001.
- 16. Wasse H, Gillen DL, Ball AM, et al., *Risk factors for upper gastrointestinal bleeding among endstage renal disease patients*. Kidney Int, 2003. 64(4): p. 1455-61.
- 17. Lee YC, Hung SY, Wang HH, et al., *Different Risk of Common Gastrointestinal Disease Between* Groups Undergoing Hemodialysis or Peritoneal Dialysis or With Non-End Stage Renal Disease: A Nationwide Population-Based Cohort Study. Medicine (Baltimore), 2015. 94(36): p. e1482.
- Huang KW, Leu HB, Luo JC, et al., Different peptic ulcer bleeding risk in chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease patients receiving different dialysis. Dig Dis Sci, 2014. 59(4): p. 807-13.
- 19. van Dijk PC, Jager KJ, de Charro F, et al., *Renal replacement therapy in Europe: the results of a collaborative effort by the ERA-EDTA registry and six national or regional registries.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2001. 16: p. 1120-9.
- 20. Moons KG, Donders RA, Stijnen T, et al., *Using the outcome for imputation of missing predictor values was preferred.* J Clin Epidemiol, 2006. 59(10): p. 1092-101.

- 21. Marshall A, Altman DG, Holder RL, et al., *Combining estimates of interest in prognostic modelling studies after multiple imputation: current practice and guidelines.* BMC Med Res Methodol, 2009. 9: p. 57.
- 22. Kenward MG and Carpenter J, *Multiple imputation: current perspectives.* Statistical Methods in Medical Research, 2007. 16: p. 199-218.
- 23. de Goeij MC, van Diepen M, Jager KJ, et al., *Multiple imputation: dealing with missing data.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2013. 28(10): p. 2415-20.
- 24. Genovesi S, Rossi E, Gallieni M, et al., *Warfarin use, mortality, bleeding and stroke in haemodialysis patients with atrial fibrillation.* Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 2014. 30(3): p. 491-8.
- 25. Bartels PC, Schoorl M, Schoorl M, et al., *Activation of coagulation during treatment with haemodialysis.* Scand J Clin Lab Invest, 2000. 60(4): p. 283-90.
- 26. Janssen MJFM and van der Meulen J, *The bleeding risk in chronic haemodialysis: preventive strategies in high-risk patients.* Netherlands Journal of Medicine, 1996. 48: p. 198-207.
- 27. Van Der Meersch H, De Bacquer D, and De Vriese AS, *Vitamin K antagonists for stroke prevention in hemodialysis patients with atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis.* Am Heart J, 2017. 184: p. 37-46.
- 28. Chan PH, Huang D, Yip PS, et al., *Ischaemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation with chronic kidney disease undergoing peritoneal dialysis.* Europace, 2016. 18(5): p. 665-71.
- 29. Schulman S, Kearon C, on behalf of the Subcommittee on Control of Anticoagulation of the Scientific and Standardization Committee of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis, *Definition of major bleeding in clinical investigations of antihemostatic medicinal products in non-surgical patients.* J Thromb Haemost, 2005. 3: p. 692-4.
- 30. Moss AH, *Revised dialysis clinical practice guideline promotes more informed decision-making.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2010. 5(12): p. 2380-3.

Bleeding risk of dialysis patients



Chapter 6

Differences in hospitalization between peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis patients

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs, Anna A. Bonenkamp, Vera A. van Wallene, Tiny Hoekstra, Birgit I. Lissenberg-Witte, Friedo W. Dekker, Frans J. van Ittersum, Marianne C. Verhaar, Brigit C. van Jaarsveld and Alferso C. Abrahams on behalf of the DOMESTICO study group

European Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2022 Jun;52(6):e13758

Abstract

Background Dialysis is associated with frequent hospitalizations. Studies comparing hospitalizations between peritoneal dialysis (PD) and hemodialysis (HD) report conflicting results and mostly analyse data of patients that remain on their initial dialysis modality. This cohort study compares hospitalizations between PD and HD patients taking into account transitions between modalities.

Methods The Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes collected hospitalization data of patients who started dialysis between 2012 and 2017. Primary outcome was hospitalization rate, analysed with a multi-state model that attributed each hospitalization to the current dialysis modality.

Results In total, 695 patients (252 PD, 443 HD) treated in 31 Dutch hospitals were included. The crude hospitalization rate for PD was 2.3 (±5.0) and for HD 1.4 (±3.2) hospitalizations per patientyear. The adjusted hazard ratio for hospitalization rate was 1.1 (95%CI 1.02-1.3) for PD compared with HD. The risk for first hospitalization was 1.3 times (95%CI 1.1-1.6) higher for PD compared with HD during the first year after dialysis initiation. The number of hospitalizations and number of hospital days per patient-year were significantly higher for PD. The most common causes of PD and HD hospitalizations were peritonitis (23%) and vascular access-related problems (33%).

Conclusion PD was associated with higher hospitalization rate, higher risk for first hospitalization, and higher number of hospitalizations compared with HD. Since the PD hospitalizations were mainly caused by peritonitis, more attention to infection prevention is necessary for reducing the number of hospitalizations in the future.

Introduction

Dialysis treatment for end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) is associated with high morbidity, frequently resulting in hospitalization [1-4]. The hospitalization rate of dialysis patients varies between 1.2 - 1.7 per patient-year, compared to 0.8 per patient-year for patients with a kidney transplant [2, 5]. Dialysis patients also have a higher risk of readmission, with a hazard ratio of 1.8 for readmission within one year compared to a control group of patients without kidney disease [2, 6]. Infections and cardiovascular diseases are the leading causes for hospitalization in dialysis patients [2, 7, 8].

Hospitalization is an indirect measure of morbidity in dialysis patients, as well as a risk factor for mortality [6, 9]. Also, hospitalization negatively affects the quality of life and increases the costs of dialysis [7, 10, 11]. Hospitalization costs are one of the most expensive elements of dialysis treatment [10-12]. Therefore, prevention of hospitalization of dialysis patients is of utmost importance.

Differences in hospitalization between peritoneal dialysis (PD) and hemodialysis (HD) patients have been the subject of previous studies. However, there are several problems with these studies. First, they report conflicting results with studies describing an equal number and duration of hospital admissions for PD patients compared to HD patients [13-16], while other studies conclude that PD patients are more likely to be hospitalised [3, 5, 17-21]. Second, most studies do not take into account the time on dialysis, which also seems to affect hospitalization rates. The hospitalization rate for HD patients is highest during their first year of dialysis with a decrease thereafter, while PD patients experience an increase in hospitalization rate as their dialysis duration progresses. according to the 2018 report from the United States Renal Data System (USRDS) [2]. Finally, and most importantly, most studies only analyse data from patients who remain on their initial dialysis modality or do not take transitions between dialysis modalities into account [3, 13-15, 18, 19, 21]. However, a transition from one dialysis modality to another, for example from PD to HD, occurs frequently in daily practice. Analysing only the data of patients who continue their original dialysis modality introduces selection bias in the results reported. Therefore, the aim of this study was to compare hospitalizations between incident PD and HD patients taking into account transitions between dialysis modalities and time on dialysis.

Methods

Study population

The Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO) is a multi-center cohort study among dialysis patients in the Netherlands. For this analysis, retrospectively collected hospitalization data from a cohort of patients from 31 hospitals were used. Eligible patients were adults (\geq 18 years) who started dialysis treatment (i.e. PD or HD) between 1 January 2012 and 1 January 2017 with a minimum dialysis treatment duration of 3 months. Patients were allowed to have had previous kidney replacement therapy in the form of (dialysis followed by) kidney transplantation. Follow-up of patients was conducted until after kidney transplantation, a patient's wish to stop dialysis, death, or the end of the study period on 1 January 2017. The study was approved by local medical ethics committees of the participating dialysis centers. Reporting of the study conforms to broad EQUATOR guidelines [22].

Baseline characteristics

Baseline characteristics were collected at dialysis initiation. For the baseline data, patients were grouped according to their dialysis modality (i.e. PD or HD) at 3 months after dialysis initiation. Primary kidney disease was classified according to the European Renal Association – European Dialysis and Transplant Association (ERA-EDTA) codes and categorised into: glomerulonephritis/ pyelonephritis, cystic kidney disease, renovascular kidney disease, diabetes mellitus, and other/ unknown [23]. Comorbidities were classified according to both the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) and the Davies score [24, 25]. Kidney replacement therapy vintage and dialysis vintage were presented as the months that patients received kidney replacement therapy (i.e. kidney transplantation and dialysis combined) or dialysis alone in the past. Residual glomerular filtration rate was calculated as the creatinine clearance (ml/min), using creatinine measurements in blood and 24 h urine collections. Patients were indicated as acute starters if they had never been under outpatient monitoring by a nephrologist prior to initiation of dialysis.

Hospitalization

Hospitalization was defined as a hospital admission with a minimum duration of 24 h. The start and end dates of each hospitalization were recorded along with the reason using ICD-10 codes [26]. The primary outcome was hospitalization rate, which was defined as the number of hospitalizations per patient-year. Patient-years were defined as the number of years a patient performed a dialysis modality within the study period.

Secondary outcomes were risk for first hospitalization, total number of hospitalizations per patient, number of hospital days per patient-year and causes of hospitalization. Causes of hospitalization were grouped into the following categories: access-related (including vascular access infection, fistula operation and PD catheter leakage, exchange or removal), peritonitis,

fluid overload, cardiac disease (including myocardial ischaemia or infarction, cardiac arrest or arrhythmia, cardiac failure and haemorrhagic pericarditis), vascular disease (including pulmonary embolus, stroke, cerebrovascular haemorrhage, ruptured vascular aneurysm, mesenteric infarction and peripheral vascular disease), non-dialysis related infection, gastrointestinal disease (excluding PD peritonitis), malignancy, transplantation and other/unknown.

Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics were presented as mean with standard deviation (SD), median with interquartile range (IQR) or as number with percentages. Groups were compared with a chi-square test, an independent samples t-test or Mann–Whitney *U* test, where appropriate.

Since patients can transition between dialysis modalities over time (i.e. PD patients transition to HD or HD patients transition to PD), all analyses were performed with models that allow for such transitions. Hospitalization rate was analysed with a multi-state model with recurrent events, which attributed every hospitalization to the dialysis modality the patient performed at the time of admission. Patients who died were censored. The results of this model are presented with hazard ratios (HR).

The risk for first hospitalization was analysed with a Cox regression model with dialysis modality as time varying covariate. The proportional hazards assumption was tested, and if it was violated, data were presented for two different time periods. Number of hospitalizations and number of hospital days per patient-year were analysed with negative binomial regression. The last two outcomes were analysed in a multilevel model, in which dialysis modality was the first level and the patient the second level. This analysis thus corrected for the dependency of both dialysis modalities within the same patient.

All analyses were adjusted for potential confounders. In the first model, adjustments were made for age and sex, in a second model, data were also adjusted for CCI, dialysis vintage and acute start of dialysis. Statistical analyses were conducted with IBM SPSS Statistics version 25 and R version 3.6.1.

Results

Baseline characteristics

The study cohort consisted of 695 dialysis patients, of whom 252 (36%) were receiving PD and 443 (64%) HD at 3 months after dialysis initiation. Baseline characteristics are presented in Table 1. Mean age was 63.0 (\pm 15.3) years for both groups, and the majority of patients were male. The comorbidity scores were similar between PD and HD patients. PD patients had a dialysis vintage of 16 months [IQR 9 – 41], whereas HD patients had a significantly longer dialysis vintage of 39 months [IQR 19 – 64]. PD patients less often had a previous kidney transplant compared to HD

Chapter 6

patients, 10% and 25%, respectively (p<.001). Only 4% of the PD patients had an acute start of dialysis, whereas 20% of HD patients did (p<.001). Just over half of the patients performed PD themselves; the rest were assisted by a nurse or other caregiver at home.

Variable	Full sample	PD	HD
	n=695	n=252	n=443
Age (yr), mean ± SD	63.0±15.3	63.1 ± 14.9	62.9±15.6
Sex (male), n (%)	418 (60)	160 (64)	258 (58)
Ethnic background, n (%)			
Caucasian	395 (57)	149 (59)	246 (56)
Other	123 (18)	30 (12)	93 (21)
Unknown	177 (25)	73 (29)	104 (23)
Primary kidney disease, n (%)			
Glomerulonephritis/pyelonephritis	141 (20)	39 (16)	102 (23)
Cystic kidney disease	38 (6)	19 (8)	19 (4)
Renovascular kidney disease	193 (28)	71 (28)	122 (28)
Diabetes mellitus	119 (17)	49 (19)	70 (16)
Other/unknown	204 (29)	74 (29)	130 (29)
BMI (kg/m ²), mean ± SD	26.8±5.5	26.6 ± 4.7	26.9 ± 6.0
Smoking, n (%)			
Yes	117 (17)	42 (17)	75 (17)
Quit	172 (25)	67 (27)	105 (24)
Unknown	103 (15)	36 (14)	67 (15)
CCI score, n (%)ª			
2	208 (30)	84 (33)	124 (28)
3 - 4	281 (41)	97 (39)	184 (42)
≥ 5	204 (29)	71 (28)	133 (30)
Davies score, n (%)			
0	182 (26)	77 (31)	105 (24)
1 – 2	370 (53)	125 (50)	245 (56)
≥3	141 (20)	50 (20)	91 (21)
KRT vintage (months), median [IQR] ^ь	150 [64-212]	138 [44-181]	154 [69-230]
Dialysis vintage (months), median [IQR] ^c	35 [15-58]	16 [9-41]	39 [19-64]
Previous transplant, n (%)	138 (20)	26 (10)	112 (25)
Residual GFR (ml/min), median [IQR]	7.8 [4.6-11.6]	9.5 [6.7-12.9]	6.6 [3.3-10.4]
Residual diuresis (ml/day), mean ± SD	1459 ± 841	1708 ± 743	1317 ± 862
Acute start of dialysis, n (%)	98 (14)	11 (4)	87 (20)

Table 1. Baseline characteristics according to dialysis modality at 3 months

PD= peritoneal dialysis; HD= hemodialysis; SD=standard deviation; CCI= Charlson comorbidity index; KRT= kidney replacement therapy; IQR=interquartile range; GFR= glomerular filtration rate.

a. By definition, dialysis patients have a minimum CCI score of 2.

b. KRT vintage was only calculated for the 159 patients (23%) who received previous kidney replacement therapy: 33 PD patients (13%) and 126 HD patients (28%)

c. Previous dialysis treatment was only calculated for the 148 patients (21%) who received dialysis before inclusion: 30 PD patients (12%) and 118 HD patients (27%)

Dialysis treatment and follow-up

The median dialysis duration for the entire study cohort was 22.0 months [IQR 11.1 – 36.4]. PD patients had a shorter dialysis duration [19.1 months, IQR 10.4 – 30.5] than HD patients [23.6 months, IQR 11.7 – 38.6] (p=.001). Patients transitioned more often from PD to HD (33%) than from HD to PD (11%) (p<.001).

	Table 2.	Comparison	of hospitalization	n rate (hospitalizat	ions per patient-year) and risk for first hospitalization
--	----------	------------	--------------------	----------------------	-----------------------	--------------------------------------

Dialysis modality	Crude		Adjuste	d*	Adjuste	ed**
	HR (95%	CI)	HR (95%	o CI)	HR (959	% CI)
Hospitalizations per pa	atient-yea	r				
PD vs HD	1.1	(1.03-1.3)	1.1	(1.02-1.3)	1.1	(1.02-1.3)
Risk for first hospitaliz	ation duri	ng first year aft	er dialysis	s initiation		
PD vs HD	1.3	(1.1-1.6)	1.3	(1.1-1.6)	1.3	(1.1-1.6)
Risk for first hospitaliz	ation≥1y	ear after dialys	is initiatio	on		
PD vs HD	1.8	(1.4-2.5)	1.8	(1.4-2.5)	1.9	(1.4-2.5)

HR= hazard ratio; PD= peritoneal dialysis; HD= hemodialysis.

The hospitalization rate was calculated with a multi-state model with recurrent events, which attributed every hospitalization to the dialysis modality the patient performed at the time of admission.

The risk for first hospitalization was analysed with a Cox regression model with dialysis modality as timevarying covariate.

* Adjusted for age and sex.

** Adjusted for age, sex, Charlson Comorbidity Index, dialysis vintage, and acute start of dialysis.

Hospitalization rate

A total of 521 hospitalizations took place during PD, while 959 hospitalizations took place during HD. The crude hospitalization rate for PD was 2.3 (\pm 5.0) hospitalizations per patient-year and for HD 1.4 (\pm 3.2) hospitalizations per patient-year. Using a multi-state model, the adjusted HR for hospitalization rate was 1.1 (95% confidence interval (CI) 1.02 – 1.3) for PD compared to HD patients (Table 2).



Figure 1. Risk for first hospitalization for PD and HD patients

PD= peritoneal dialysis; HD= hemodialysis. Estimated cumulative incidence curves for first hospitalization for PD and HD patients derived from a multistate Cox regression model. Model is adjusted for age, sex, Charlson Comorbidity Index, dialysis vintage, and acute start of dialysis.

Risk for first hospitalization, number of hospitalizations and number of hospital days per patient-year

Figure 1 shows the estimated cumulative incidence curves for the first hospitalization for PD and HD patients according to the Cox regression model. The model was adjusted for age, sex, CCI, dialysis vintage and acute start of dialysis.

Because the proportional hazards assumption was violated, HRs for risk for first hospitalization were calculated separately for the first year after dialysis initiation and for the period thereafter, conditional on having survived the first year. The adjusted HR for risk for first hospitalization during the first year was 1.3 (95% Cl 1.1 – 1.6) for PD versus HD. For the period thereafter, the adjusted HR was 1.9 (95% Cl 1.4 – 2.5) (Table 2).

The number of PD hospitalizations, corrected for the total PD duration, was significantly higher than the number of HD hospitalizations, corrected for the total HD duration (crude incidence rate ratio of PD relative to HD 1.3; 95% CI 1.1 – 1.6). Additional adjustments for age, sex, CCI, dialysis vintage and acute start of dialysis resulted in a further increase in incidence rate ratio to 1.7 (95% CI 1.2 – 2.3) (Table 3).

The crude median number of hospital days per patient-year was 4.2 for PD patients [IQR 0 – 15.3] and 0.8 for HD patients [IQR 0 – 10.8]. The adjusted incidence rate ratio for number of hospital days per patient-year was 1.5 (95% CI 1.2 - 2.1) for PD compared to HD (Table 3).

Dialysis modality	Crude		Adjust	ted*	Adjust	ed**	
	IRR (9	5% CI)	IRR (9	5% CI)	IRR (95	5% CI)	
Number of hospitaliz	zations						
PD/HD	1.3	(1.1-1.6)	1.7	(1.3-2.3)	1.7	(1.2-2.3)	
Number of hospital o	lays per p	atient-year					
PD/HD	1.6	(1.2-2.1)	1.6	(1.2-2.1)	1.5	(1.2-2.1)	

Table 3. Comparison of number of hospitalizations and number of hospital days per patient-year

IRR= incidence rate ratio of PD relative to HD; PD= peritoneal dialysis; HD= hemodialysis.

* Adjusted for age and sex.

** Adjusted for age, sex, Charlson Comorbidity Index, dialysis vintage and acute start of dialysis.

Causes

Causes of hospitalizations are presented in Table 4. The main cause for hospitalizations during PD treatment was peritonitis (23%), while the second most common cause were non-dialysis related infections (15%). The main cause for hospitalization during HD treatment was a vascular access-related reason (33%), such as a fistula operation or a dialysis access infection. The second most common cause for hospitalization during HD treatment were non-dialysis related infections (18%). For both PD and HD, hospitalizations for fluid overload were rare (2% – 3%).

Table 4. Causes of hospitalizat	ions

Causes	PD	HD	
	n=521	n=959	
Access-related ^a	69 (13)	317 (33)	
Peritonitis	117 (23)	N/A	
Fluid overload	14 (3)	22 (2)	
Cardiac disease [♭]	57 (11)	87 (9)	
Vascular disease ^c	28 (5)	50 (5)	
Infection ^d	79 (15)	170 (18)	
Gastrointestinal disease	46 (9)	94 (10)	
Malignancy	9 (2)	25 (3)	
Transplantation	13 (2)	25 (2)	
Other / unknown	89 (17)	169 (18)	

Data are presented as n (%). PD= peritoneal dialysis; HD= hemodialysis; N/A= not applicable.

a. Access-related includes vascular access infection, fistula operation and PD catheter leakage/exchange/ removal.

b. Cardiac disease includes myocardial ischaemia/infarction, cardiac arrest/arrhythmia, cardiac failure, haemorrhagic pericarditis.

c. Vascular disease includes pulmonary embolus, stroke, cerebrovascular haemorrhage, ruptured vascular aneurysm, mesenteric infarction and peripheral arterial disease.

d. Non-dialysis related infections.

Discussion

In this retrospective cohort study among 695 dialysis patients, PD treatment was associated with a higher hospitalization rate, a higher risk for first hospitalization, a higher number of hospitalizations and a higher number of hospital days per patient-year compared to HD treatment, when hospitalizations were attributed to the dialysis modality the patient was receiving upon admission. In addition, PD hospitalizations were mainly caused by peritonitis, while vascular access-related reasons were the main causes for HD hospitalizations.

A higher PD hospitalization rate compared to HD is found in several other studies. Banshodani et al. retrospectively showed that emergency hospitalization rates for cardiovascular diseases and infectious diseases were significantly higher for 130 PD patients compared to 130 HD patients, with HRs of 2.70 (95% CI 1.53 – 4.77) and 4.16 (95% CI 2.59 – 6.68), respectively [3, 21]. Lafrance et al. also retrospectively showed that infection-related hospitalization rates were significantly higher for PD patients compared to HD patients (HR 1.52, 95% CI 1.38 – 1.68) [18]. Besides the fact that Banshodani et al. had a smaller study population than our study and Lafrance et al. investigated younger patients (HD 58.5 \pm 16.4 years and PD 58.8 \pm 14.5 years) during the period 2001 to 2007, both studies did not take transitions in dialysis modality into account. Banshodani et al. censored all patients who changed dialysis modality, and Lafrance et al. attributed all hospitalizations of patients according to their dialysis modality at 90 days [3, 18, 21]. These studies defined patients according to a single dialysis modality, which does not do justice to daily practice at all.

That it is important to take transitions from and to different dialysis modalities into account is also shown in a study by Murphy et al. [17]. In their prospective Canadian cohort, they showed that PD patients had a lower hospitalization rate (defined as the total number of hospitalization days relative to the survival of the patient) compared to HD patients (rate ratio 0.85, 95% CI 0.82 – 0.87) when hospitalizations were attributed to the dialysis modality at baseline, while they had a higher hospitalization rate (rate ratio 1.31, 95% CI 1.27 – 1.34) when hospitalizations were attributed to the dialysis modality at 3 months [17]. In addition, Murphy et al. performed an analysis in which hospitalizations were attributed to the dialysis modality the patient was receiving upon admission, which showed that PD treatment was associated with a higher hospitalization rate than HD treatment, with a rate ratio of 1.10 (95% CI 1.07 – 1.13) [17]. This study advocated the use of treatment-received analyses in comparing hospitalization rates, which we did, instead of intention-to-treat analyses. However, our study defined hospitalization rate as the number of hospitalizations per patient-year, which is much more commonly used in studies, also investigated the risk for first hospitalization and described a more recent study population.

In two Canadian cohorts, Quinn et al. and Oliver et al. used the number of hospitalization days per patient year for calculating their hospitalization rates. In their analyses with dialysis as time-

varying covariate, they showed equal hospitalization rates for PD compared with (in-center) HD (Quinn et al.: rate ratio 1.28, 95% CI 0.63 – 2.61. Oliver et al.: rate ratio 0.93, 95% CI 0.51 – 1.71) [8, 16]. However, besides the fact that they used a different measure for hospitalization rate, which makes comparison with our study difficult, they did not investigate the risk for first hospitalization, and Oliver et al. only investigated patients on assisted PD. Several other studies showed that hospitalization rates of PD and HD patients are equal [13-15, 19, 27]. However, these studies performed an intention-to-treat analysis by attributing hospitalizations of patients to their initial dialysis modality, which is not a valid analysis for the present research question, as argued above.

In our study, the main cause of PD hospitalizations was peritonitis, while HD hospitalizations were mainly vascular access-related. Also in a Japanese survey among 89,748 patients, these were most common causes for PD and in-center HD hospitalizations [20]. Several other studies have identified infections and specifically peritonitis as an important cause for PD hospitalizations [16, 18, 21, 28].

Apparently, PD patients have a higher risk for hospitalization than HD patients. This could be attributed to the dialysis modality per se, or could be the result of circumstantial factors. A possible explanation could be that the threshold for hospitalization is lower for PD than for HD patients. In-center HD patients frequently visit the hospital for dialysis, in most cases at least three times a week for four hours. If, for example, they develop an infection, assessment and (start of) antibiotic treatment can easily be performed during the dialysis session in hospital. Moreover, the effect of the antibiotic treatment can be evaluated during the next scheduled dialysis session and adapted based on culture results. On the contrary, PD patients are treated at home and visit the hospital much less frequently. If they develop an infection, they must visit the hospital for evaluation. In addition, they have to attend the hospital again for evaluation of the treatment effect. It is conceivable that this need for frequent hospital visits could lead to a lower threshold for hospitalization in PD patients. Finally, we cannot exclude residual confounding as possible or additional explanation for finding a higher hospitalization risk in PD compared with HD.

To our knowledge, this is the first European study to describe several important hospitalization outcomes of PD and HD, taking into account transitions between dialysis modalities and thus properly showing the risk for hospitalization of the different dialysis modalities. Almost one-fifth of our population changed dialysis modality, underscoring that a model allowing this is superior to models evaluating hospitalizations on an intention-to-treat basis. Besides the fact that we used a multi-state model in a relatively large cohort of patients, we also describe a recent dialysis population, which is relevant because the composition of the dialysis population has changed in previous years, for example with respect to age [29, 30]. However, our study has some limitations. First, all types of admissions with a minimum duration of 24 h were analysed, possibly including admissions for PD training and vascular access procedures. Consequently, both PD and HD

admissions might be overrated. Second, no center correction has been conducted, while the decision to admit a patient might differ between centers. Third, it should be noted that a very small number of HD patients were treated with home HD (n=45) and hospitalizations during this treatment (n=57) were counted among HD hospitalizations, which may have affected the results. Finally, the model we used, which allows transitions between dialysis modalities over time, was not compatible with competing risk regression models, whereas death should be considered a competing event. However, in our population, only 17 patients died without being hospitalised, while 140 patients died during or after at least one hospitalization. Thus, we do not think that accounting for competing risks would have altered our results.

In conclusion, our study shows that, when hospitalizations are attributed to the type of dialysis treatment upon admission, PD is associated with a higher hospitalization rate, a higher risk for first hospitalization, a higher number of hospitalizations and a higher number of hospital days per patient-year compared with HD. Since the PD hospitalizations were mainly caused by peritonitis, more attention to infection prevention is necessary for reducing the number of hospitalizations in the future.

References

- 1. Vanholder R and Van Biesen W, *Incidence of infectious morbidity and mortality in dialysis patients.* Blood Purif, 2002. 20(5): p. 477-80.
- 2. United States Renal Data System, *2018 USRDS Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States.* National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, Bethesda, MD, 2018.
- 3. Banshodani M, Kawanishi H, Moriishi M, et al., *Association between Dialysis Modality and Cardiovascular Diseases: A Comparison between Peritoneal Dialysis and Hemodialysis.* Blood Purif, 2020. 49(3): p. 302-309.
- 4. Himmelfarb J, Vanholder R, Mehrotra R, et al., *The current and future landscape of dialysis*. Nat Rev Nephrol, 2020. 16(10): p. 573-585.
- 5. Molnar AO, Moist L, Klarenbach S, et al., *Hospitalizations in Dialysis Patients in Canada: A National Cohort Study.* Can J Kidney Health Dis, 2018. 5: p. 2054358118780372.
- 6. Daratha KB, Short RA, Corbett CF, et al., *Risks of subsequent hospitalization and death in patients with kidney disease.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2012. 7(3): p. 409-416.
- 7. Zhang AH, Cheng LT, Zhu N, et al., *Comparison of quality of life and causes of hospitalization between hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients in China.* Health Qual Life Outcomes, 2007. 5: p. 49-54.
- 8. Quinn RR, Ravani P, Zhang X, et al., *Impact of modality choice on rates of hospitalization in patients eligible for both peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis.* Perit Dial Int, 2014. 34(1): p. 41-48.
- 9. Kim H, An JN, Kim DK, et al., *Elderly Peritoneal Dialysis Compared with Elderly Hemodialysis Patients and Younger Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: Competing Risk Analysis of a Korean Prospective Cohort Study.* PLoS One, 2015. 10(6): p. e0131393.
- Manns BJ, Mendelssohn DC, and Taub KJ, *The economics of end-stage renal disease care in Canada: incentives and impact on delivery of care.* Int J Health Care Finance Econ, 2007. 7(2-3): p. 149-169.
- Mohnen SM, van Oosten MJM, Los J, et al., *Healthcare costs of patients on different renal replacement modalities Analysis of Dutch health insurance claims data*. PLoS One, 2019. 14(8): p. e0220800.
- 12. Lee H, Manns B, Taub K, et al., *Cost analysis of ongoing care of patients with end-stage renal disease: the impact of dialysis modality and dialysis access.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2002. 40(3): p. 611-622.
- 13. Harris SA, Lamping DL, Brown EA, et al., North Thames Dialysis Study Group, *Clinical outcomes and quality of life in elderly patients on peritoneal dialysis versus hemodialysis.* Perit Dial Int, 2002. 22(4): p. 463-470.
- 14. Yang JY, Chen L, Chao CT, et al., *Comparative Study of Outcomes among Patients with Polycystic Kidney Disease on Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis*. Sci Rep, 2015. 5: p. 12816.
- 15. Laurin LP, Harrak H, Elftouh N, et al., *Outcomes of Infection-Related Hospitalization according to Dialysis Modality*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2015. 10(5): p. 817-824.
- 16. Oliver MJ, Al-Jaishi AA, Dixon SN, et al., *Hospitalization Rates for Patients on Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis Compared with In-Center Hemodialysis.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2016. 11(9): p. 1606-1614.
- 17. Murphy SW, Foley RN, Barrett BJ, et al., *Comparative hospitalization of hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients in Canada.* Kidney Int, 2000. 57(6): p. 2557-2563.
- Lafrance JP, Rahme E, Iqbal S, et al., Association of dialysis modality with risk for infectionrelated hospitalization: a propensity score-matched cohort analysis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2012. 7(10): p. 1598-1605.

- 19. Perl J, McArthur E, Bell C, et al., *Dialysis Modality and Readmission Following Hospital Discharge: A Population-Based Cohort Study.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2017. 70(1): p. 11-20.
- 20. Nitta K, Masakane I, Hanafusa N, et al., *Annual dialysis data report 2017, JSDT Renal Data Registry.* Renal Replacement Therapy, 2019. 5(1):53-96.
- 21. Banshodani M, Kawanishi H, Moriishi M, et al., *Association between Dialysis Modality and Infectious Diseases: Peritoneal Dialysis versus Hemodialysis*. Blood Purif, 2020: p. 1-10.
- 22. Simera I, Moher D, Hoey J, et al., *A catalogue of reporting guidelines for health research.* Eur J Clin Invest, 2010. 40(1): p. 35-53.
- 23. van Dijk PC, Jager KJ, de Charro F, et al., *Renal replacement therapy in Europe: the results of a collaborative effort by the ERA-EDTA registry and six national or regional registries.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2001. 16: p. 1120-1129.
- 24. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, et al., *A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation.* J Chronic Dis, 1987. 40(5): p. 373-83.
- 25. Davies SJ, Russell L, Bryan J, et al., *Comorbidity, Urea Kinetics, and Appetite in Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal-Dialysis Patients Their Interrelationship and Prediction of Survival.* American Journal of Kidney Diseases, 1995. 26(2): p. 353-361.
- 26. WHO, International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision. Available at https://class.whofic.nl/browser.aspx?scheme=ICD10-nl.cla.
- 27. Williams VR, Quinn R, Callery S, et al., *The impact of treatment modality on infection-related hospitalization rates in peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis patients*. Perit Dial Int, 2011. 31(4): p. 440-449.
- 28. Jeon Y, Kim HD, Hong YA, et al., *Clinical outcomes of infection-related hospitalization in incident peritoneal dialysis patients.* Kidney Res Clin Pract, 2020. 39(4): p. 460-468.
- 29. van de Luijtgaarden MWM, Jager KJ, Segelmark M, et al., *Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA Registry over a 20-year period.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2016. 31: p. 120-128.
- 30. Bonenkamp AA, Hoekstra T, Hemmelder MH, et al., *Trends in home dialysis use differ among age categories in past two decades: A Dutch registry study.* Eur J Clin Invest, 2021: p. e13656.

Hospitalization of dialysis patients



Chapter 7

Technique failure in peritoneal dialysis: Modifiable causes and patient-specific risk factors

Anna A. Bonenkamp, Anita van Eck van der Sluijs, Friedo W. Dekker, Dirk G. Struijk, Carola W.H. de Fijter, Yolande M. Vermeeren, Frans J. van Ittersum, Marianne C. Verhaar, Brigit C. van Jaarsveld and Alferso C. Abrahams on behalf of the DOMESTICO study group

Peritoneal Dialysis International. 2022 Feb 23;8968608221077461. Online ahead of print

Abstract

Background Technique survival is a core outcome for peritoneal dialysis (PD), according to SONG-PD. This study aimed to identify modifiable causes and risk factors of technique failure in a large Dutch cohort using standardized definitions.

Methods Patients who participated in the retrospective DOMESTICO cohort study and started PD between 2012 and 2016 were included, and followed until January 1st 2017. The primary outcome was technique failure, defined as transfer to in-center hemodialysis for \geq 30 days or death. Death-censored technique failure was analyzed as secondary outcome. Cox regression models and competing risk models were used to assess the association between potential risk factors and technique failure.

Results A total of 695 patients were included, of whom 318 experienced technique failure during follow-up. Technique failure rate in the first year was 29%, while the death-censored technique failure rate was 23%. Infections were the most common modifiable cause for technique failure, accounting for 20% of all causes during the entire follow-up. Leakage and catheter problems were important causes within the first six months of PD treatment (both accounting for 15%). APD use was associated with a lower risk of technique failure (HR 0.66, 95% CI 0.53 – 0.83).

Conclusion Infections, leakage, and catheter problems were important modifiable causes for technique failure. As the first-year death-censored technique failure rate remains high, future studies should focus on infection prevention and catheter access to improve technique survival.

Introduction

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is an established treatment for kidney failure, offering patients more flexibility and independence compared to in-center hemodialysis [1, 2]. Improving the technique survival of PD, i.e. preventing technique failure, remains a challenge despite advances in technique survival over the past decades [3-5]. In fact, technique survival was chosen as one of the five core outcomes for PD according to the Standardized Outcomes in Nephrology-Peritoneal Dialysis (SONG-PD) study [6].

Identifying modifiable causes and risk factors of technique failure could contribute to develop strategies to improve PD technique survival. Previous research has identified causes and risk factors of technique failure during the first months of PD treatment [7-9]. Although technique failure after the first months of PD treatment is also relevant for the loss of prevalent PD patients, few studies have explored the various causes over an extended period of PD treatment [10-12].

Moreover, comparing previous research on technique failure is hampered by the lack of standard definitions [8]. Technique failure is defined differently in almost every other study, especially in handling death as a cause of technique failure. Lan *et al.* therefore advocated the use of a standardized definition of technique failure, including both transfer to in-center hemodialysis (CHD) and death [13]. Few studies to date have used this standardized definition [3, 7].

In addition, the characteristics of PD patients have changed over time and studies on technique failure in the current PD population are scarce. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the causes, risk factors, and center variation of PD technique failure in a recent Dutch cohort, all according to the standardized definitions.

Methods

Study design and research population

Patients were enrolled from the retrospective Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO), a multi-center cohort study in the Netherlands. In this study, 33 centers included PD patients, representing nearly two thirds of all dialysis centers in the Netherlands. Eligible patients were adults who started PD between 1 January 2012 and 1 January 2017, and had a minimum PD treatment duration of 14 days. Patients who were previously treated with dialysis or kidney transplantation were also included. Patients who stopped dialysis or died within 30 days after dialysis initiation were excluded. Patients were followed until kidney transplantation, wish to stop dialysis, death or end of study period on 1 January 2017. Local medical ethics committees of all participating dialysis centers approved the study. Reporting of the study conforms to broad STROBE guidelines [14].

Definition of PD technique failure

The primary outcome of this study was PD technique failure, defined as a transfer to CHD for \geq 30 days, death on PD or death within 30 days after transfer to CHD, in accordance with the previously proposed standardized definition [13]. In patients with multiple episodes of technique failure, only the first episode of technique failure was analyzed. The following causes for technique failure were collected from the electronic patient charts: PD-related infections consisting of PD peritonitis and exit-site infections, catheter-related problems, clearance or ultrafiltration (UF) problems, peritoneal leakage, psychosocial problems, risk for or diagnosis of encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis (EPS), another reason, stop dialysis, and death [15].

In addition, patients were stratified into an early and a late technique failure group. Early technique failure was defined as technique failure during the first 6 months after start of PD, and late technique failure was defined as technique failure that occurred more than 6 months after start of PD [8, 9, 16].

Secondary outcomes were death-censored technique failure, death and permanent technique failure, the latter was defined as a transfer to CHD for ≥ 180 days, death on PD or death within 180 days after transfer to CHD [13].

Covariates

Demographic, clinical, and dialysis-related data at dialysis initiation were collected from electronic patient charts. These included age, sex, ethnic background, employment status, smoking, body mass index (BMI), primary kidney disease, comorbid conditions, dialysis vintage, and kidney transplant history. PD modality, i.e. continuous ambulatory PD (CAPD) or automated PD (APD), was defined as the modality the patient used most of the time during follow-up. BMI was divided into three groups according to the WHO classification: BMI <25 kg/m², BMI 25 - 30 kg/m² (overweight), and BMI \geq 30 (obese). Comorbid conditions were scored into three groups according to the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI): low (2 points, since patients with kidney failure by definition already have 2 points), intermediate (3-4 points), and severe comorbidity (\geq 5 points) [17]. Causes of death, coded according to the ERA-EDTA coding system, were retrieved from the Dutch renal registry (RENINE) [18]. For each participating center PD volume was calculated from data provided by RENINE, as mean annual number of prevalent patients, and divided into tertiles [19]. Variation in practice patterns were collected with an additional questionnaire that was send to the local investigators of the participating centers.

Statistical analysis

Baseline characteristics were expressed as number with percentages for categorical variables and as mean with standard deviation (SD) or median with interquartile range (IQR) for continuous variables. Incidence of all-cause technique failure was presented as a Kaplan Meier curve. Cumulative incidence curves of cause-specific technique failure were calculated using a competing risk model [20]. Causes of early and late technique failure were shown as percentages.

To investigate the association between possible risk factors and technique failure, a cox regression model was conducted. This model was censored for kidney transplantation. BMI and PD modality were selected as potentially modifiable patient-specific-risk factors according to literature [3, 7, 9, 12, 16]. Each potentially modifiable-risk factor was adjusted for plausible predetermined confounders (age, sex, employment status, BMI, CCI, and center PD volume). The proportional hazard assumption was verified in the unadjusted models on the basis of Schoenfeld residuals and Kaplan Meier graphs. Several sensitivity analyses were conducted. First, a competing risk model was used to investigate the association between possible risk factors and technique failure in the presence of a competing event [20]. In such a model, a participant with the competing event (i.e. kidney transplantation) remains in the analysis. This model was also used to investigate the association between possible risk factors and between the presence technique failure, in which both kidney transplantation and death were competing events. Second, hypothesizing that PD modality at PD cessation might be different from PD modality used most of the time and be related to technique failure, in patients with technique failure the PD modality at PD cessation was used.

Finally, a funnel plot was constructed to evaluate the early technique failure rate of the participating centers, adjusted for age and sex. This is a graphical method to evaluate center performance with a reference standard, i.e. the overall early technique failure rate, and an indication of precision through control limits based on sample sizes [21, 22]. The early technique failure rate was chosen, because especially early failure is associated with catheter-related problems and thus possible modifiable causes [8].

Missing confounders (maximum of 25% missing for BMI and CCI) were imputed using standard multiple imputation techniques in SPSS (10 repetitions and predictive mean matching). All analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics version 26 (IBM) or STATA 14 (StataCorp LP, College Station, TX). A p-value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

A total of 708 adult patients started PD treatment between 2012 and 2016 in the participating centers, of whom 13 patients were excluded since they had a total PD duration of less than 14 days. The study population thus consisted of 695 patients (See Flow diagram, Figure 1).





Baseline characteristics are presented in Table 1. Mean age at dialysis initiation was 62.9 ± 15.1 years and 27% of patients had a high CCI score indicating severe comorbidity. A history of previous dialysis was present in 15% of patients. APD was the predominantly used PD modality in 29% of patients with early technique failure and 53% of patients with late technique failure, reflecting common practice in the Netherlands to start PD therapy with CAPD. The median PD follow-up time for all patients was 13 months [IQR 6 – 22.2 months], with a minimum of 0 and a maximum of 59 months.
	All patients	Patients with technique failure	Patients without technique failure	p -value
	n=695	n=318	n=377	
Age (yr), mean ± SD	62.9±15.1	64.8±14.8	61.4±15.1	0.003
Sex (male), n (%)	447 (64)	210 (66)	237 (63)	NS
Ethnic background, n (%)				NS
Caucasian	422 (61)	191 (60)	231 (61)	
Moroccan/Turkish	22 (3)	11 (4)	11 (3)	
Asian	39 (6)	15 (5)	24 (6)	
Black	23 (3)	9 (3)	14 (4)	
Other/unknown	189 (27)	92 (29)	97 (26)	
Primary kidney disease, n (%)				NS
Glomerulonephritis	81 (12)	32 (10)	49 (13)	
Polycystic kidney disease	37 (5)	11 (4)	26 (7)	
Renovascular kidney disease	210 (30)	112 (35)	98 (26)	
Diabetes mellitus	123 (18)	58 (18)	65 (17)	
Other	183 (26)	84 (27)	99 (26)	
Unknown	61 (9)	21 (7)	40 (11)	
Employment status, n (%)	167 (28)	61 (22)	106 (32)	0.006
Current smoker, n (%)	111 (16)	52 (17)	59 (16)	NS
Charlson comorbidity index, n (%)				0.001
2 (low)*	168 (32)	58 (25)	110 (38)	
3-4 (intermediate)	212 (41)	95 (41)	117 (40)	
≥5 (severe)	139 (27)	77 (33)	62 (21)	
BMI (kg/m²), mean ± SD	26.4±5.0	26.9±5.1	26.1±4.9	0.05
BMI, n (%)				NS
< 25 kg/m ²	239 (46)	98 (42)	141 (49)	
25 – 30 kg/m ²	177 (34)	85 (36)	92 (32)	
≥ 30 kg/m ²	107 (20)	51 (22)	56 (19)	
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	164 (32)	81 (35)	83 (29)	NS
Ischemic heart disease, n (%)	146 (28)	80 (35)	66 (23)	0.002
Heart failure, n (%)	69 (13)	38 (17)	31 (11)	NS
Vascular disease, n (%)	130 (23)	65 (26)	65 (21)	NS
History of dialysis at	103 (15)	39 (12)	64 (17)	NS
dialysis initiation, n (%)				
Dialysis vintage (months),	12 [1-36]	12 [4-37]	11 [1-33]	NS
median [IQR]				
History of kidney transplant at	73 (11)	29 (9)	44 (12)	NS
dialysis initiation, n (%)				
Kidney transplant (months),	120 [64-171]	99 [64-171]	135 [63-173]	NS
median [IQR]				
APD, n (%)	350 (50)	146 (46)	204 (54)	0.03

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of 695 patients treated with peritoneal dialysis

BMI, body mass index; APD, automated peritoneal dialysis; SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range. Groups are defined according to the 30-day definition of technique failure.

* kidney failure alone represents a Charlson Comorbidity Index of 2 points.

Incidence of technique failure

A total of 318 patients developed technique failure during the study, of whom 22 patients experienced a recurrent episode of technique failure. The PD patients experienced a mean of 0.36 episodes of technique failure per person–year of follow-up. The 1- and 2-year technique failure rates were 29% and 52% respectively (Figure 2A). The median time to technique failure was 1.85 years. Patients with technique failure were older, had higher comorbidity scores, were more likely to have ischemic heart disease, and were more frequently treated with CAPD (Table 1). A total of 202 patients developed death-censored technique failure during the study (0.24 episodes of death-censored technique failure per person-year). The 1- and 2-year death-censored technique failure rates were 23% and 35% respectively (Figure 2B). The median time to death-censored technique failure was 3.58 years.

Figure 2. Technique failure, as a composite outcome (with transfer to CHD or death) (A) and as deathcensored technique failure (B)





Technique failure was defined as a transfer to CHD for ≥ 30 days, death on PD or death within 30 days after transfer to CHD. First day of receiving CHD was the date assigned as technique failure.

Causes of technique failure

Figure 3 shows that death was the most common cause of technique failure, followed by PDrelated infections (20%). The other causes of technique failure occurred in about 10% or less than 10% of the patients who experienced technique failure. The predominant causes for death were cardiovascular disease (28%), infections other than PD peritonitis (15%) and malignancies (13%). None of the deaths were attributable to a PD peritonitis.



Figure 3. Cumulative incidence of different causes for technique failure

Shows the occurrence of different causes for technique failure over time in a population of patients with technique failure (n=318, 100%). UF, ultrafiltration.

Figure 4 shows the different causes of early (i.e. during the first 6 months after start of PD) and late (i.e. more than 6 months after start of PD) technique failure. A total of 99 patients developed early technique failure, and 219 patients developed late technique failure. Catheter-related problems were the cause of early technique failure in 15% of patients, whereas this was the cause of late technique failure in only 5% of patients. Similarly, PD fluid leakage was the cause in 15% and 5% respectively. Infections and clearance problems were a major cause of both early and late technique failure; infections were in 20% of patients the cause of technique failure and clearance problems in 11-12% of patients. EPS was a cause of technique failure in less than 1% of patients. The group of 'other reasons' included (temporary) discontinuations of PD due to major (abdominal) surgery with hospitalization.



Figure 4. Comparison of causes of early and late technique failure

Early PD technique failure is defined as occurrence of technique failure in the first 6 months after start of PD (n=99). Late PD technique failure is defined as occurrence of technique failure more than 6 months after start of PD (n=219). EPS, encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis.

Risk factors

The patient-specific risk factors sex, age, employment status and BMI were not associated with technique failure (Table 2). APD compared to CAPD was associated with a reduced risk of technique failure (adjusted hazard ratio (HR) 0.66 (95% Confidence Interval (CI) 0.53 – 0.83). The patient-specific risk factors for death-censored technique failure were similar to those for technique failure including death in the definition (Supplemental Table S1); only APD was associated with a reduced risk of death-censored technique failure (adjusted HR 0.60, 95% CI 0.46 – 0.80). In addition, APD use was not associated with death as a separate outcome while age was associated with death (Supplemental Table S2).

Risk factors	Crude	<i>p</i> -value	Adjusted model 1	<i>p</i> -value	Adjusted model 2	<i>p</i> -value
	HR (95% CI)		HR (95% CI)	-	HR (95% CI)	-
Male sex	1.15 (0.91 - 1.45)	0.24				
Age (10-year)	1.05 (0.97 – 1.13)	0.25				
Employed	0.80 (0.60 - 1.07)	0.13				
CCI						
low	Reference					
intermediate	1.41 (1.02 - 1.96)	0.04				
severe	1.81 (1.29 – 2.55)	0.001				
PD volume						
< 15 patients	Reference					
15-25 patients	1.05 (0.68 - 1.63)	0.83				
> 25 patients	0.81 (0.53 - 1.24)	0.33				
BMI						
< 25 kg/m²	Reference		Reference			
25 – 30 kg/m²	1.21 (0.91 - 1.62)	0.20	1.17 (0.87 – 1.58)	0.31		
≥ 30 kg/m²	1.21 (0.86 - 1.69)	0.28	1.23 (0.88 - 1.71)	0.22		
APD (vs CAPD)	0.66 (0.53 – 0.83)	<0.001	0.67 (0.54 – 0.84)	<0.001	0.66 (0.53 – 0.83)	<0.001

Table 2. Risk factors associated with technique failure in a Cox regression model

Model 1 is adjusted for sex and age.

Model 2 is adjusted for sex, age, employment status, BMI, CCI, and center PD volume.

In this Cox regression model both pre-selected potentially modifiable risk factors, BMI and PD modality, and all determinants used for adjustments are shown. HR, hazard ratio; BMI, body mass index; APD, automated peritoneal dialysis; CAPD, continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; CCI, Charlson Comorbidity index.

The sensitivity analysis in which the association between patient-specific risk factors and technique failure was investigated with a competing risk model, showed similar results for these associations as the original analyses (Supplemental Table S3). In a sensitivity analysis using PD modality at PD cessation, similar results were found (for APD compared to CAPD, adjusted HR 0.60 (95% CI 0.47 – 0.75)).

Center variation in technique failure

All centers used icodextrin and antibiotic prophylaxis during PD catheter insertion (Supplemental Table S4). Most centers used neutral pH low glucose degradation products (GDP) solutions (91%) and exit site antibiotic prophylaxis (79%). The initial antibiotic regimen for peritonitis varied across centers and antifungal prophylaxis during antibiotic therapy was provided only in 6% of centers.

The center variation in technique failure rate is shown in Supplemental Figure S1. The overall early technique failure rate, shown as the reference standard, was 16%, which is the total number of patients with early technique failure divided by the total number of PD patients from all centers that were not lost to follow-up at 6 months (due to transplantation or study end, n = 73). Most centers had an early technique failure rate around the overall rate of 16%. Four centers had a higher rate, of which only one center was outside the 95% control limits of the reference standard.

Permanent technique failure

A total of 254 patients developed permanent technique failure during the study: i.e. at 180 days after transfer to CHD they had not returned to PD (0.26 episodes of permanent technique failure per person-year). The 1- and 2-year permanent technique failure rate was 22% and 43% respectively (Supplemental Figure S2). The median time to permanent technique failure was 2.7 years. The most common cause of permanent technique failure was death, followed by infections. A total of 72 patients developed early permanent technique failure and 182 patients developed late permanent technique failure. Again, early technique failure was associated with catheter-related problems and leakage, while infection and clearance problems were important causes for both early and late technique failure (Supplemental Figure S3 and Supplemental Table S5).

Discussion

In this cohort of 695 Dutch patients who were treated with PD between 2012 and 2017, the technique failure rate within the first year of PD treatment was 29%. Death was the most common cause of technique failure. Death-censored technique failure rate at 1 year was 23%. In 20% of patients with technique failure, infections were a possible modifiable cause. In addition, early technique failure was frequently caused by catheter-related problems and leakage (both accounting for 15%). We found that APD use had a protective effect on technique failure.

Only few studies to date have used the standardized technique failure definition as proposed by Lan et al. [3, 7, 13]. See et al.[7], reporting on Australian patients that started PD between 2000 and 2014, also used the standardized 30-day definition and found a first year technique failure rate of 26%. In an older study by Descoeudres et al.[23], not using the standard definition but a similar definition of technique failure including death by any cause, the technique failure rate at 1 year was 25%. The technique failure rate in our study is thus comparable to other studies that included death as a cause for technique failure. Death was the most common cause for technique failure during the entire follow-up, as would be expected in a study on dialysis patients since mortality rates of both PD and CHD patients are high [24]. Yet the death-censored technique failure rate was still high. This, in addition to the decline of the number of PD patients in the Netherlands, underscores the need to find modifiable causes for technique failure.

In recent decades, significant advances in PD treatment have declined the overall rate of technique failure [3-5]. Boyer *et al.* state that this is, in addition to improved patient survival, attributable to less infection-related technique failure [5]. Nevertheless, infections were still an important cause of technique failure - both in early and late technique failure - indicating that prevention of infections is pivotal in technique survival. Recommendations for the prevention of peritonitis from the ISPD, including exit-site prophylaxis and antibiotic prophylaxis during PD catheter insertion, were generally well followed by participating centers especially if compared to international data

from PDOPPS [25-27]. In a recent study by PDOPPS, antibiotic prophylaxis during PD catheter insertion was indeed associated with a lower peritonitis risk [28]. On the other hand, most centers in the Netherlands did not use antifungal prophylaxis during antibiotic therapy although prophylaxis was associated with a significant risk reduction of fungal peritonitis in a systematic review [29]. According to the results of PDOPPS antifungal prophylaxis was also variably used across countries, the lowest in Japan (8% of facilities) and the highest in Australia (89%) [27]. So a greater reduction in infections may be possible if all centers would adhere to current guidelines.

The ISPD guidelines refrain from recommending a specific antibiotic regimen for peritonitis based on a Cochrane systematic review due to lack of superiority [25, 30]. As a result, the initial antibiotic regimen varied across centers. Of note, one third of all centers used a combination with glycopeptides, possibly based on a systematic review in which glycopeptides were proven most effective in combination with ceftazidim [31]. Also in PDOPPS a variable use of vancomycin across countries has been reported [27]. However, because evidence for antibiotic regimens including glycopeptides remain weak [30], future clinical trials may evaluate good practices from single centers. Examples are temporary discontinuation of PD without removing the catheter (peritoneal rest) combined with intravenous meropenem and meropenem intracatheter as lock (Mero-PerRest protocol) in case of enteric peritonitis and the treatment with amphotericin B catheter lock for salvage of the PD catheter in case of *Candida* peritonitis [32, 33].

Catheter-related problems have been identified as an important cause of early technique failure in previous studies [10, 23]. In this study, we identified leakage as another important cause of early technique failure. This underscores the need for a multidisciplinary team with sufficient experience in catheter care and insertion [34]. In a study from Australia and New Zealand, small center volume - possibly indicative of low center experience - was associated with technique failure due to mechanical complications [3]. A striking variation in PD catheter survival among different centers in the UK suggests differences in access protocols [15]. Still, previous studies have not yielded results that could lead to recommendations for the preferred use of a catheter delivery technique or specific PD catheter type [34, 35]. The workgroup PD catheter access of PDOPPS hypothesize that standardized protocols for catheter insertion will be associated with a reduction of technique failure, the results of this working group are thus eagerly awaited [15].

A possible other reduction in technique failure might be the increased interest in assisted PD due to the ageing dialysis population [36]. Within this demographic shift, assistance during PD treatment is a mean to provide home dialysis to elderly patients that may be unable to perform PD themselves due to frailty or physical impairments. In a recent study, family-assisted PD was associated with lower risk on catheter-related technique failure [37]. The authors hypothesized that involving family members in dialysis treatment may lead to better adherence to diet restrictions resulting in less constipation. Of note, in this study also a lower risk on technique failure due

to clearance problems was found in both family assisted and nurse-assisted PD. The nurse or family member supervising the treatment likely ameliorates the patient's adherence to dialysis prescriptions [37]. Clearance problems, in our report the main cause of death-censored technique failure following infections, may thus also be perceived as a modifiable cause for technique failure. These aforementioned modifiable causes – infections, leakage, catheter-related problems and clearance problems - accounted for 48% of technique failure within our cohort, hence, quality improvements aimed at these causes can have a major impact on technique survival.

APD use had a protective effect on death-censored technique failure in our analysis, even after adjustments for age and comorbidity. In recent literature conflicting results have been presented: APD use was associated with an adjusted lower technique failure rate and higher patient survival in one study [38], while in other studies APD use was associated with a higher risk of technique failure [3, 7]. There may be a link with infections, since CAPD use was associated with a higher rate of peritonitis in recent studies [28, 39]. Also in the only two randomized controlled trials to date - although originating from <2000 - higher peritonitis rates with CAPD use were found [40, 41]. This association with peritonitis might be due to better adaptation of therapy to patient needs, as the authors of a recent study suggest [39], or to fewer connections between catheter and dialysis bags when using APD instead of CAPD and thus less risk of breaching hygiene measures. Although the suggestion of fewer connections resulting in less infections is disputed [25], new devices that assists the patient are hypothesized to reduce infection risk [42]. APD might also be used more often by patients themselves than for assisted PD [37], which could explain the protective effect since self-care may be associated with a lower peritonitis rate [43, 44]. However, the association between APD use and technique failure may also reflect long-term PD treatment, as patients with early technique failure may not be able to transfer to APD (in other words: confounding by indication). In the Netherlands, most patients start PD treatment with CAPD to familiarize themselves with performing exchanges by hand prior to a transfer to APD. The reason for the protective effect of APD is thus uncertain, therefore the choice for APD or CAPD should ideally be based on patient preference [25].

In a previous study from the Netherlands by Huisman *et al.*, smaller centers with on average less than 20 PD patients had a significantly higher risk of technique failure than larger centers [45]. The association between center volume and technique failure however likely reflects center experience [16]. Indeed, others confirmed that in larger centers technique failure due to modifiable causes, i.e. infections, catheter - and ultrafiltration problems, were less common [46]. Guillouët *et al.* found that center volume and patients characteristics alone could not fully explain the center effect on technique failure. They suggested that factors of center experience such as patient education and nephrologist's views on home dialysis play an important role in technique failure[16]. Contributing to this, we showed that the early technique failure rate – often caused by infections, leakage and catheter-related problems – was similar across all centers and was not

related to the number of incident study patients. This probably indicates that it is not the center volume itself that matters, but the experience within a center and having a dedicated team.

In this study, technique failure consisted of a composite outcome of death and transfer to CHD, in accordance with the standardized definition [13]. Death is an objective measure but transfer to CHD is subjective; often a choice is made by the nephrologist to discontinue treatment and this decision will be weighed differently by each nephrologist. A considerable proportion of the causes of technique failure may have been modifiable, i.e. infections, leakage and catheter problems, since practice variation exists in peritonitis rate and in the treatment of infections and access [27, 39]. Because the definition of technique failure partly consists of the decision to discontinue PD, studies on infection prevention and catheter access such as the PDOPPS will help to increase technique survival [15].

Strengths of this study include the use of the standardized definitions of technique failure, including the death-censored and permanent definition, the analysis of causes of both early and late technique failure, the use of a patient cohort reflecting current practice patterns and extensive adjustments for confounders. In addition, most studies were conducted on registry data whereas our cohort study enabled to identify the causes of technique failure in more detail. Yet, the study sample of this analysis was relatively small and the study was conducted in a single country. The study duration of this study was a respectable 5 years, yet the median follow-up duration was 13 months. As a result, the proportion of technique failure after 1 year should be interpreted with caution.

In conclusion, in this multi-center Dutch study of PD patients PD-related infections, leakage and catheter problems were important modifiable causes for technique failure. As almost a quarter of patients experience death-censored technique failure within the first year, future studies should emphasize on prevention of infections and PD catheter access problems to improve technique survival.

References

- 1. Francois K and Bargman JM, *Evaluating the benefits of home-based peritoneal dialysis*. Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis, 2014. 7: p. 447-55.
- 2. Dahlerus C, Quinn M, Messersmith E, et al., *Patient Perspectives on the Choice of Dialysis Modality: Results From the Empowering Patients on Choices for Renal Replacement Therapy (EPOCH-RRT) Study.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2016. 68(6): p. 901-10.
- 3. Htay H, Cho Y, Pascoe EM, et al., *Multicenter Registry Analysis of Center Characteristics Associated with Technique Failure in Patients on Incident Peritoneal Dialysis.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2017. 12(7): p. 1090-9.
- 4. Sukul N, Mukhopadhyay P, Schaubel DE, et al., *Peritoneal Dialysis and Mortality, Kidney Transplant, and Transition to Hemodialysis: Trends From 1996-2015 in the United States.* Kidney Medicine, 2020. 2(5): p. 610-9.e1.
- 5. Boyer A, Lanot A, Lambie M, et al., *Trends in Peritoneal Dialysis Technique Survival, Death, and Transfer to Hemodialysis: A Decade of Data from the RDPLF.* Am J Nephrol, 2021: p. 1-10.
- 6. Manera KE, Johnson DW, Craig JC, et al., *Establishing a Core Outcome Set for Peritoneal Dialysis: Report of the SONG-PD (Standardized Outcomes in Nephrology-Peritoneal Dialysis) Consensus Workshop.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2020. 75(3): p. 404-12.
- 7. See EJ, Johnson DW, Hawley CM, et al., *Risk Predictors and Causes of Technique Failure Within the First Year of Peritoneal Dialysis: An Australia and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry (ANZDATA) Study.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2018. 72(2): p. 188-97.
- 8. Cho Y, See EJ, Htay H, et al., *Early Peritoneal Dialysis Technique Failure: Review.* Perit Dial Int, 2018. 38(5): p. 319-27.
- 9. Béchade C, Guittet L, Evans D, et al., *Early failure in patients starting peritoneal dialysis: a competing risks approach.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2014. 29(11): p. 2127-35.
- 10. Kolesnyk I, Dekker FW, Boeschoten EW, et al., *Time-dependent reasons for peritoneal dialysis technique failure and mortality.* Perit Dial Int, 2010. 30(2): p. 170-7.
- 11. Guo A and Mujais S, *Patient and technique survival on peritoneal dialysis in the United States: evaluation in large incident cohorts.* Kidney Int Suppl, 2003(88): p. S3-12.
- Jaar BG, Plantinga LC, Crews DC, et al., *Timing, causes, predictors and prognosis of switching from peritoneal dialysis to hemodialysis: a prospective study.* BMC Nephrology, 2009. 10(1): p. 3.
- 13. Lan PG, Clayton PA, Johnson DW, et al., *Duration of Hemodialysis Following Peritoneal Dialysis Cessation in Australia and New Zealand: Proposal for a Standardized Definition of Technique Failure.* Perit Dial Int, 2016. 36(6): p. 623-30.
- 14. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, et al., *The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies*. J Clin Epidemiol, 2008. 61(4): p. 344-9.
- 15. Perl J, Davies SJ, Lambie M, et al., *The Peritoneal Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (PDOPPS): Unifying Efforts to Inform Practice and Improve Global Outcomes in Peritoneal Dialysis.* Perit Dial Int, 2016. 36(3): p. 297-307.
- Guillouët S, Veniez G, Verger C, et al., *Estimation of the Center Effect on Early Peritoneal Dialysis Failure: A Multilevel Modelling Approach*. Peritoneal dialysis international : journal of the International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis, 2016. 36(5): p. 519-25.
- 17. Charlson MEP, P; Ales, K.L.; MacKenzie, C.R., *A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitduinal studies: development and validation.* J Chron Dis, 1987. 40(5): p. 373-83.
- 18. Hoekstra T, Dekker FW, Cransberg K, et al., *RENINE annual report 2018. Available at: https://www.nefrovisie.nl/jaarrapportages/Accessed:* 04-01-2021. 2018.

- 19. Hoekstra T, van Ittersum FJ, Rabelink AJ, et al., *Analyse van kwaliteitsindicatoren Chronische Nierschade [internet]. [cited 2 november 2020] available from: https://www.nefrovisie.nl/richtlijnen-indicatoren/toelichting/* 2013-2016.
- 20. Fine JP and Gray RJ, *A Proportional Hazards Model for the Subdistribution of a Competing Risk.* Journal of the American Statistical Association, 1999. 94(446): p. 496-509.
- 21. van der Willik EM, van Zwet EW, Hoekstra T, et al., *Funnel plots of patient-reported outcomes* (*PROs*) to evaluate healthcare quality: basic principles, pitfalls and considerations. Nephrology (Carlton), 2020.
- 22. Spiegelhalter DJ, *Funnel plots for comparing institutional performance*. Stat Med, 2005. 24(8): p. 1185-202.
- 23. Descoeudres B, Koller MT, Garzoni D, et al., *Contribution of early failure to outcome on peritoneal dialysis.* Perit Dial Int, 2008. 28(3): p. 259-67.
- 24. van de Luijtgaarden MW, Jager KJ, Segelmark M, et al., *Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA Registry over a 20-year period.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2016. 31(1): p. 120-8.
- 25. Li PK, Szeto CC, Piraino B, et al., *ISPD Peritonitis Recommendations: 2016 Update on Prevention and Treatment.* Perit Dial Int, 2016. 36(5): p. 481-508.
- 26. Szeto CC, Li PK, Johnson DW, et al., *ISPD Catheter-Related Infection Recommendations: 2017 Update.* Perit Dial Int, 2017. 37(2): p. 141-54.
- 27. Boudville N, Johnson DW, Zhao J, et al., *Regional variation in the treatment and prevention of peritoneal dialysis-related infections in the Peritoneal Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2019. 34(12): p. 2118-26.
- 28. Perl J, Fuller DS, Bieber BA, et al., *Peritoneal Dialysis-Related Infection Rates and Outcomes: Results From the Peritoneal Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (PDOPPS).* Am J Kidney Dis, 2020. 76(1): p. 42-53.
- 29. Campbell D, Mudge DW, Craig JC, et al., *Antimicrobial agents for preventing peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis patients*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2017. 4(4): p. Cd004679.
- 30. Ballinger AE, Palmer SC, Wiggins KJ, et al., *Treatment for peritoneal dialysis-associated peritonitis*. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2014(4).
- Barretti P, Doles JVP, Pinotti DG, et al., Efficacy of antibiotic therapy for peritoneal dialysisassociated peritonitis: a proportional meta-analysis. BMC Infectious Diseases, 2014. 14(1): p. 445.
- 32. van Eck van der Sluijs A, Eekelschot KZ, Frakking FN, et al., *Salvage of the peritoneal dialysis catheter in Candida peritonitis using amphotericin B catheter lock.* Perit Dial Int, 2021. 41(1): p. 110-4.
- 33. Abrahams AC, Ruger W, Ter Wee PM, et al., *Improved Outcome of Enteric Peritonitis in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients Aged 50 Years and Older with Temporary Discontinuation of Peritoneal Dialysis and Intravenous Meropenem.* Perit Dial Int, 2017.
- 34. Crabtree JH, Shrestha BM, Chow KM, et al., *Creating and Maintaining Optimal Peritoneal Dialysis Access in the Adult Patient: 2019 Update.* Perit Dial Int, 2019. 39(5): p. 414-36.
- Sun ML, Zhang Y, Wang B, et al., Randomized controlled trials for comparison of laparoscopic versus conventional open catheter placement in peritoneal dialysis patients: a meta-analysis. BMC Nephrol, 2020. 21(1): p. 60.
- 36. Giuliani A, Karopadi AN, Prieto-Velasco M, et al., *Worldwide Experiences with Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis*. Perit Dial Int, 2017. 37(5): p. 503-8.
- 37. Lanot A, Bechade C, Boyer A, et al., *Assisted peritoneal dialysis and transfer to haemodialysis: a cause-specific analysis with data from the RDPLF.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2021. 36(2): p. 330-9.

- 38. Wang IK, Yu TM, Yen TH, et al., *Comparison of patient survival and technique survival between continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis and automated peritoneal dialysis.* Perit Dial Int, 2020. 40(6): p. 563-72.
- 39. Nadeau-Fredette AC, Johnson DW, Hawley CM, et al., *Center-Specific Factors Associated with Peritonitis Risk-A Multi-Center Registry Analysis.* Perit Dial Int, 2016. 36(5): p. 509-18.
- 40. de Fijter CW, Oe PL, Nauta JJ, et al., *A prospective, randomized study comparing the peritonitis incidence of CAPD and Y-connector (CAPD-Y) with continuous cyclic peritoneal dialysis (CCPD).* Adv Perit Dial, 1991. 7: p. 186-9.
- 41. Bro S, Bjorner JB, Tofte-Jensen P, et al., *A prospective, randomized multicenter study comparing APD and CAPD treatment.* Perit Dial Int, 1999. 19(6): p. 526-33.
- 42. Hess S, Dubach M, Meboldt M, et al., *Evaluating Patient Safety And Ease Of Use Of A Novel Connection-Assist Device For Peritoneal Dialysis.* Patient Prefer Adherence, 2019. 13: p. 1785-90.
- 43. Ng JK, Chan GC, Chow KM, et al., *Helper-assisted continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis: Does the choice of helper matter*? Perit Dial Int, 2020. 40(1): p. 34-40.
- 44. Bechade C, Lobbedez T, Ivarsen P, et al., *Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis for Older People with End-Stage Renal Disease: The French and Danish Experience.* Perit Dial Int, 2015. 35(6): p. 663-6.
- 45. Huisman RM, Nieuwenhuizen MG, and Th de Charro F, *Patient-related and centre-related factors influencing technique survival of peritoneal dialysis in The Netherlands*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2002. 17(9): p. 1655-60.
- 46. Mujais S and Story K, *Peritoneal dialysis in the US: Evaluation of outcomes in contemporary cohorts.* Kidney International, 2006. 70: p. S21-S6.

Supplemental material

Supplemental Table S1. Patient-specific risk factors associated with death-censored technique failure in a competing risk analysis

Risk factors	Crude	<i>p</i> -value	Adjusted model 1	<i>p</i> -value	Adjusted model 2	<i>p</i> -value
	SHR (95% CI)		SHR (95% CI)		SHR (95% CI)	
Male sex	1.14 (0.86 - 1.53)	0.36				
Age (10 year)	0.94 (0.86 - 1.03)	0.16				
Employed	1.07 (0.78 – 1.47)	0.69				
CCI						
low	Reference					
intermediate	1.15 (0.79 - 1.68)	0.47				
severe	1.13 (0.74 - 1.74)	0.57				
BMI						
< 25 kg/m²	Reference		Reference			
25 – 30 kg/m²	1.14 (0.80 - 1.62)	0.47	1.16 (0.82 - 1.63)	0.41		
\geq 30 kg/m ²	0.88 (0.57 – 1.37)	0.58	1.01 (0.67 – 1.52)	0.97		
APD (vs CAPD)	0.64 (0.49 - 0.84)	0.001	0.62 (0.47 – 0.81)	0.001	0.60 (0.46 - 0.80)	<0.001

Model 1 is adjusted for sex and age.

Model 2 is adjusted for sex, age, employment status, BMI, CCI, and center PD volume.

SHR, subdistribution hazard ratio; BMI, body mass index; APD, automated peritoneal dialysis; CAPD, continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; CCI, Charlson Comorbidity index. In this competing risk analysis both kidney transplantation and death were competing events.

Risk factors	Crude	<i>p</i> -value	e Adjusted model 1	p -valu	e Adjusted model 2	2 p -value
	HR (95% CI)		HR (95% CI)		HR (95% CI)	
Male sex	1.14 (0.78 - 1.67)	0.51				
Age (10 year)	1.40 (1.20 - 1.63)	< 0.001				
Employed	0.34 (0.18 - 0.66)	0.001				
CCI						
low	Reference					
intermediate	2.41 (1.24 - 4.67)	0.009				
severe	4.27 (2.22 - 8.19)	< 0.001				
BMI						
< 25 kg/m²	Reference		Reference			
25 – 30 kg/m²	1.33 (0.79 – 2.23)	0.28	1.16 (0.68 – 1.97)	0.59		
≥ 30 kg/m²	1.92 (1.12 – 3.30)	0.02	1.62 (0.97 – 2.71)	0.07		
APD (vs CAPD)	0.74 (0.52 - 1.07)	0.11	0.83 (0.57 - 1.20)	0.32	0.87 (0.59 - 1.27)	0.46

Supplemental Table S2. Patient-specific risk factors associated with death in a Cox regression model

Model 1 is adjusted for sex and age.

Model 2 is adjusted for sex, age, employment status, BMI, CCI, and center PD volume.

HR, hazard ratio; BMI, body mass index; APD, automated peritoneal dialysis; CAPD, continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; CCI, Charlson Comorbidity index.

Risk factors	Crude	p -value	Adjusted model 1	p -value	Adjusted model 2	p -value
	SHR (95% CI)		SHR (95% CI)		SHR (95% CI)	
Male sex	1.16 (0.93 - 1.46)	0.20				
Age (10 year)	1.11 (1.03 - 1.20)	0.009				
Employed	0.67 (0.51 – 0.89)	0.006				
CCI						
low	Reference					
intermediate	1.54 (1.11 – 2.15)	0.01				
severe	2.10 (1.49 - 2.95)	< 0.001				
BMI						
< 25 kg/m²	Reference		Reference			
25 – 30 kg/m²	1.20 (0.90 - 1.61)	0.21	1.14 (0.84 - 1.54)	0.40		
≥ 30 kg/m²	1.23 (0.89 - 1.71)	0.20	1.22 (0.89 - 1.68)	0.21		
APD (vs CAPD)	0.63 (0.51 – 0.79)	<0.001	0.65 (0.52 – 0.81)	<0.001	0.65 (0.52 – 0.81)	<0.001

Supplemental Table S3. Patient-specific risk factors associated with technique failure in a competing risk analysis

Model 1 is adjusted for sex and age.

Model 2 is adjusted for sex, age, employment status, BMI, CCI, and center PD volume.

SHR, subdistribution hazard ratio; BMI, body mass index; APD, automated peritoneal dialysis; CAPD, continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis; CCI, Charlson Comorbidity index. In this competing risk analysis kidney transplantation was a competing event.

Supplemental Table S4.	Center characteristics
------------------------	------------------------

	N (%)
Center type	
Academic	8 (24)
Non-academic	25 (76)
PD solution	
Conventional	3 (9)
Neutral pH low GDP	30 (91)
Icodextrin	33 (100)
Exit site antibiotic prophylaxis	26 (79)
Antibiotic prophylaxis during PD catheter insertion	33 (100)
Antifungal prophylaxis during antibiotic therapy	2 (6)
PD volume	
< 15 patients	6 (18)
15-25 patients	12 (36)
≥26 patients	15 (45)
HHD volume	
< 5 patients	12 (36)
5-10 patients	13 (39)
≥ 11 patients	8 (24)

PD, peritoneal dialysis; GDP, glucose degradation products; HHD, home hemodialysis.

	30 day definition =	180-day definition =
	technique failure	permanent technique failure
	n = 318	n = 254
Infections	64 (20%)	41 (16%)
Catheter problems	25 (8%)	13 (5%)
Clearance	37 (12%)	31 (12%)
Leakage	25 (8%)	17 (7%)
Psychosocial	21 (7%)	21 (8%)
EPS	2 (1%)	1 (0%)
Another reason	32 (10%)	14 (6%)
Stop dialysis	17 (5%)	17 (7%)
Death	92 (29%)	95 (37%)
Unknown	3 (1%)	4 (2%)

Supplemental Table S5. Causes of technique failure by definition

Technique failure according to the 30-day definition was defined as a transfer to CHD for ≥ 30 days, death on PD or death within 30 days after transfer to CHD.

Permanent technique failure according to the 180-day definition was defined as a transfer to CHD for≥180 days, death on PD or death within 180 days after transfer to CHD.

All were in accordance with the standardized definition as proposed by Lan *et al.* [*Perit Dial Int. 2016;36(6):623-30*].

Supplemental Figure S1. Funnel plot of early technique failure in incident study patients



Each circle represents the early technique failure rate for a participating center (n=31). Rates are adjusted for age and sex. The overall early technique failure rate is used as a reference (blue). The 90%, 95%, and 98% control limits are provided as dotted lines. Using the 95% control limit, one center with 29 incidents patients during the study period had a significantly higher early technique failure rate and performed worse than expected.



Supplemental Figure S2. Permanent technique failure

Permanent technique failure was defined as a transfer to CHD for ≥ 180 days, death on PD or death within 180 days after transfer to CHD.



Supplemental Figure S3. Comparison of causes of early and late permanent technique failure

Early PD technique failure is defined as occurrence of permanent technique failure in the first 6 months after start of PD (n=72). Late technique failure is defined as occurrence of permanent technique failure more than 6 months after start of PD (n=182).



Chapter 8

Salvage of the peritoneal dialysis catheter in *Candida* peritonitis using amphotericin B catheter lock

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs, Kamal Z.A.J. Eekelschot, Florine N.J. Frakking, Pieter-Jan A. Haas, Walther H. Boer, and Alferso C. Abrahams

Peritoneal Dialysis International. 2021 Jan;41(1):110-114

Abstract

Candida species form biofilms, that facilitates adherence to peritoneal dialysis (PD) catheters and making them less susceptible to antifungal therapy. Therefore, the International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis recommends immediate PD catheter removal in case of *Candida* peritonitis. However, in 2007, our institution showed that Candida peritonitis could be successfully treated without catheter removal with a treatment strategy including amphotericin B as catheter lock. To confirm the efficacy and safety of this lock-based protocol, we evaluated the outcome of Candida peritonitis episodes since then. A retrospective, single-center study was conducted in which we analysed all *Candida* peritonitis episodes in PD patients, treated with the lock-based protocol between July 2006 and March 2018. Eleven non-relapse Candida peritonitis episodes in 10 patients were treated with the lock-based protocol. Seven of the 11 episodes (64%) were cured without PD catheter removal (5 episodes cured immediately, 1 episode cured after an early relapse and 1 episode cured after a late relapse), in 2 episodes (18%) the catheter had to be removed, and 2 patients died (18%). This study confirms our previous findings that an amphotericin B lock-based protocol has potential to cure Candida peritonitis without PD catheter removal. However, further research is needed given the limitations of this study. Until that time, the lock-based Candida protocol could be used in patients who are not severely ill and in whom PD catheter removal is not desirable

Introduction

Candida species cause 3 – 16% of peritonitis episodes in peritoneal dialysis (PD) patients [1-4]. They form biofilms, facilitating adherence to foreign bodies such as PD catheters and making them less susceptible to antifungal therapy [5]. Because of this, the International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis recommends immediate removal of the catheter in case of *Candida* peritonitis [6]. Although catheter removal is largely performed, mortality rate varies (0 – 61%) and PD catheter replacement is often unsuccessful, resulting in high technique failure rates (30 – 100%) [1, 3, 7, 8].

In 2007, Boer et al. reported eight cases of *Candida* peritonitis that were treated successfully without catheter removal between 2000 and 2006 in the University Medical Center Utrecht by using an amphotericin B catheter lock combined with oral flucytosine and intraperitoneal (IP) fluconazole [9]. To confirm the efficacy and safety of the lock-based protocol, we evaluated the outcome of *Candida* peritonitis episodes treated with this protocol since then.

Methods

In a retrospective, single-center study, all *Candida* peritonitis episodes in PD patients, treated with the lock-based protocol between July 2006 and March 2018, were analysed. Patients who performed automated PD were switched to continuous ambulatory PD when effluent cultures revealed *Candida* species. *Candida* peritonitis was treated with oral flucytosine (500mg BID) and IP fluconazole (150mg every 48 hours in the night exchange). Additionally, after each instillation of PD fluid (usually four times daily), the PD catheter and connecting tube were filled with 5-10 mL of a solution containing 0.1 mg/mL amphotericin B. The catheter lock was removed when draining the dialysate between exchanges. Treatment duration was 4 weeks.

Possible outcomes were cure without PD catheter removal, early relapse, initial cure with late relapse, PD catheter removal or death. Early relapse was defined as *Candida* peritonitis occurring within 4 weeks after completion of antifungal treatment [6], while initial cure with late relapse was defined as a peritonitis with the same *Candida* species more than 4 weeks after completion of treatment. The outcome of both types of relapses was allocated to the initial peritonitis episode. Death was ascribed to peritonitis if it occurred within 30 days after presentation or was assigned directly to peritonitis.

Results

During the study period, 165 patients were treated with PD for 276 patient-years. The overall *Candida* peritonitis rate in these patients was 0.05 episodes per patient-year and they had no episodes with non-*Candida* fungi. Nineteen *Candida* peritonitis episodes occurred of which 11 episodes were analysed (Figure 1).





† In these episodes, *Candida* was cultured in the presence of abdominal sepsis due to a bowel perforation. In two of them, no antifungal therapy was initiated at all and treatment was stopped, while the third episode was treated with caspofungin. Eventually, all three patients died within a few days after presenting with peritonitis. * Two patients had one *Candida* peritonitis episode, while one patient had multiple *Candida* peritonitis episodes. Therefore the number of patients incorporated in the analysis decreased from 12 to 10.

** These patients had multiple *Candida* peritonitis episodes, therefore the number of patients incorporated in the analysis remained the same.

Three episodes were excluded since they were not treated according to the lock-based protocol (see Figure 1, for a detailed explanation), and five episodes were excluded because they were relapses.

Eleven non-relapse *Candida* peritonitis episodes that occurred in 10 patients are presented in Table 1. Overall peritonitis rate in these patients was 1.46 episodes per patient-year. The first *Candida* peritonitis occurred at 57.2 \pm 11.8 years with a median PD duration of 20.8 months (interquartile range (IQR) 11.2 – 29.8). *Candida albicans* and *Candida parapsilosis* were cultured in six and five episodes, respectively, and both strains were flucytosine, fluconazole, and amphotericin B susceptible. The lock-based protocol started a median of 2 days (IQR 1.5 – 3.0) after presentation with peritonitis.

Seven of the 11 *Candida* peritonitis episodes (64%) were cured without PD catheter removal (Table 1). Of those seven episodes, five episodes (46%) were immediately cured, one episode

(9%) was cured after an early relapse, and one episode (9%) was cured after a late relapse. In two episodes (18%), the catheter had to be removed; for the first patient (#4) due to refractory *Candida* peritonitis in combination with clinical detoriation and for the second patient (#7) due to refractory *Stenotrophomonas* peritonitis. In the second patient, both *Stenotrophomonas* and *Candida* were cultured at presentation with peritonitis. *Candida* was successfully eradicated with the lock-based protocol, while *Stenotrophomonas* persisted despite treatment. Eventually, a new catheter was inserted in this patient and PD was restarted.

Two patients (18%) died due to sepsis. The first patient (#5) developed three late relapses, 1, 4 and 6 months after initial presentation. In this patient, haemodialysis was not possible. She died 26 days after the last episode due to a sepsis for which she refused treatment, but notably with negative *Candida* cultures. The second patient (#8) died two days after developing a *Candida* peritonitis. The peritonitis occurred subsequent to a *Candida* bloodstream infection related to a central venous catheter (CVC) located in the femoral vein.

Patier	nt Sex	Kenal	Comorbidity ^a	Months	Episode	Antibiotics	Fungal	PD	Effluent culture	Outcome
		disease		on PD	date	<3 months	prophylaxis ^b	modality		
-	Σ	ADPKD	Hypertension	49	08-2006	+	Fluconazole	CAPD	C. parapsilosis	Cure
5	ш	Chronic	Hypertension	33	02-2008	+	Nystatin	APD	C. parapsilosis	Cure
		pyelonephritis								
m	ш.	TMA	Hypertension	14	05-2012	Unknown	Unknown	CAPD	C. parapsilosis	Initial cure, late relapse;
										eventually cure ^c
					03-2013	Unknown	Unknown	APD	C. albicans	Early relapse; eventually cure ^d
4	ш.	Nephro-	Hypertension, CVA,	72	09-2012	Unknown	Unknown	APD	C. albicans	Catheter removal ^e
		sclerosis	vascular dementia							
ß	ш.	Lithium	CVA, bipolar disorder	23	08-2013	+	Nystatin	CAPD	C. albicans	Initial cure, late relapses;
		nephropathy								eventually death ^f
9	Σ	Anti-GBM	PAF	92	09-2013	+	Unknown	APD	C. albicans	Cure
		nephritis								
2	Σ	Fanconi	Hypertension, DVT	54	07-2014	+	Unknown	CAPD	C. parapsilosis	Catheter removal ^g
		syndrome							S. maltophilia	
8	Σ	Primary FSGS	Hypertension, DM	7	07-2015	+	Nystatin	CAPD	C. albicans	Death ^h
6	ш	Lithium	Bipolar disorder	9	12-2015	+	Nystatin	CAPD	C. parapsilosis, CNS,	Cure
		nephropathy							Brevibacterium casei,	
									Roseomonas species	
10	Σ	TMA	Hypertension,	26	01-2018	+	None (allergy)	APD	C. albicans	Cure
			sarcoidosis, UCTD, NSIF	0						
M: mal	e; F: fe	emale; ADPKD: a	utosomal dominant poly	cystic kid	ney disea	se; TMA: thron	nbotic microangi	opathy; GBM:	glomerular basement n	nembrane; FSGS: focal segmental
glome	rulos	clerosis; CVA: c	erebrovascular acciden	t; PAF: pa	iroxysma	l atrial fibrilla	tion; DVT: deep	venous thro	mbosis; DM: diabetes r	nellitus; UCTD: undifferentiated
conne	ctive t	tissue disease; N	VSIP: nonspecific interstit	tial pneur	nonia; PD	: peritoneal di	alysis; CAPD: cor	itinuous amb	ulatory PD; APD: autom	ated PD; CNS: coagulase negative
staphy	/lococ	sci; CVC: central	l venous catheter.							
a. Onl	y the r	most relevant co	o-morbidities are display	yed.						
b. Fun	gal pr	rophylaxis that ι	was provided when antik	oiotics we	ere starte	d in the previo	us 3 months.			
c. This	s relap	ose occurred in ,	August 2012 and was cui	red.						
d. Thi	s relap	ose occurred 20	days after completion o	fantifung	gal therap	y and was cur	ed.			
e. The	• cath€	eter was remové	ed because of refractory	Candida	peritoniti	s and clinical	detoriation.			
f. The	relap	ses occurred 1,	4 and 6 months after the	firstepis	ode. The J	oatient was tre	eated with the lo	ck-based pro	tocol but subsequently	developed a sepsis for which she
refu	ised tr	reatment. She d	died 26 days after the last	t episode,	, but at th	at time the eff	luent cultures h	ad already be	come negative for Can	lida.

g. The catheter was removed because of refractory Stenotrophomonas peritonitis but with effluent cultures that had already become negative for Condida.
h. The patient died two days after developing a Condida peritonitis. The Candida peritonitis occurred subsequent to a Condida bloodstream infection related to a CVC located in the femoral vein.

Table 1. Characteristics of 10 patients with 11 Candida peritonitis episodes

Discussion

In this study, *Candida* peritonitis was cured without removing the PD catheter in 64% of the episodes by applying amphotericin B intra-catheter in addition to oral flucytosine and IP fluconazole. When these results are combined with our previous study [9], the cure rate was 79% (15 out of 19 episodes in 16 patients were cured), the patient survival rate was 88%, the catheter removal rate was 11% and the technique survival rate was 81%. These results are better than those reported in literature since 2007, with a cure rate of only 0 - 22% [3, 10] and mortality rates up to 61% [7], despite catheter removal rates of 58 – 100% [7].

The unique feature of our protocol is the intra-catheter instillation of amphotericin B aimed at eradicating the *Candida*-induced biofilm. With intra-catheter instillation, the lumen is exposed to a high concentration of amphotericin B, while direct toxicity to the peritoneum is prevented because the drug is flushed out of the catheter during drainage of the peritoneal cavity. Amphotericin B intra-catheter can suppress fungal metabolic activity, inhibit biofilm formation and sterilise foreign bodies such as CVCs [11]. A review of in vivo studies with amphotericin B intra-catheter concluded that it is useful as lock therapy in addition to systemic therapy in patients with CVC related infections [5]. Since CVCs are made of the same material as PD catheters, these findings support our results in PD patients.

Our study has some limitations. First, it is retrospective and conducted in a single center without a control group. Second, the amphotericin B catheter lock was added to oral flucytosine and IP fluconazole, but it is unknown whether the amphotericin B catheter lock is also effective when combined with other systemic or IP antifungal therapy. Third, several aspects of the protocol such as the concentration of amphotericin B, the frequency of application and the total duration of therapy are based on expert opinion. Fourth, we cannot exclude spill of the amphotericin B catheter lock into the peritoneal cavity [12]. IP amphotericin B is associated with persistent leucocytosis and abdominal pain due to local chemical irritation attributed to the sodium desoxycholate solvent [13, 14]. However, concentrations of IP amphotericin B used in previous studies are higher than the concentration in case of spill of amphotericin B using our protocol [14]. Moreover, our patients have not experienced the aforementioned side effects. Finally, three patients with abdominal sepsis due to a bowel perforation were not treated with the lock-based protocol, which influenced peritonitis outcomes.

In conclusion, an amphotericin B lock-based protocol has potential to cure *Candida* peritonitis without PD catheter removal. The protocol is simple to use, safe, and could prevent transfer to haemodialysis which often necessitates CVC insertion. However, given the limitations of this study, it is important to conduct further research in prospective, well-controlled, multicenter studies. Until that time, the lock-based *Candida* protocol could be used in patients who are not severely ill and in whom PD catheter removal is not desirable.

References

- 1. Indhumathi E, Chandrasekaran V, Jagadeswaran D, et al., *The risk factors and outcome of fungal peritonitis in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients*. Indian J Med Microbiol, 2009. 27(1): p. 59-61.
- 2. Chang TI, Kim HW, Park JT, et al., *Early catheter removal improves patient survival in peritoneal dialysis patients with fungal peritonitis: results of ninety-four episodes of fungal peritonitis at a single center.* Perit Dial Int, 2011. 31(1): p. 60-6.
- 3. Levallois J, Nadeau-Fredette A-C, Labbe A-C, et al., *Ten-year experience with fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis patients: antifungal susceptibility patterns in a North-American center.* Internation Journal of Infectious Diseases, 2012. 16: p. e41-e3.
- 4. Hu S, Tong R, Bo Y, et al., *Fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis: 5-year review from a North China center.* Infection, 2019. 47: p. 35-43.
- 5. Imbert C and Rammaert B, *What Could Be the Role of Antifungal Lock-Solutions? From Bench to Bedside*. Pathogens, 2018. 7(6): p. 1-15.
- 6. Li PK, Szeto CC, Piraino B, et al., *ISPD peritonitis recommendations: 2016 update on prevention and treatment.* Perit Dial Int, 2016. 36: p. 481-508.
- 7. Ram R, Swarnalatha G, Neela P, et al., *Fungal Peritonitis in Patients on Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis: A Single-Centre Experience in India.* Nephron Clin Pract, 2008. 110: p. c207c12.
- 8. Wong PN, Lo KY, Tong GM, et al., *Treatment of fungal peritonitis with a combination of intravenous amphotericin B and oral flucytosine, and delayed catheter replacement in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis.* Perit Dial Int, 2008. 28(2): p. 155-62.
- 9. Boer WH, van Ampting JMA, and Vos P, *Successful Treatment of Eight Episodes of Candida Peritonitis Without Catheter Removal Using Intracatheter Administration of Amphotericin B.* Perit Dial Int, 2007. 27(2): p. 208-10.
- 10. Oygar DD, Altiparmak MR, Murtezaoglu A, et al., *Fungal Peritonitis in Peritoneal Dialysis: Risk Factors and Prognosis.* Renal Failure, 2009. 31(1): p. 25-8.
- 11. Mukherjee PK, Long L, Kim HG, et al., *Amphotericin B lipid complex is efficacious in the treatment of Candida albicans biofilms using a model of catheter-associated Candida biofilms.* International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, 2009. 33: p. 149-53.
- 12. Wong SS, Lau WY, Chan PK, et al., *Extended Experience in the Use of Antibiotic Lock for Eradication of Biofilm Bacteria on Tenckhoff Catheter*. Perit Dial Int, 2019. 39(2): p. 187-90.
- 13. Bayer AS, Blumenkrantz MJ, Montgomerie JZ, et al., *Candida Peritonitis: Report of 22 cases and review of the English Literature.* The American Journal of Medicine, 1976. 61: p. 832-40.
- 14. Struijk DG, Krediet RT, Boeschoten EW, et al., *Antifungal Treatment of Candida Peritonitis in Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis Patients*. American Journal of Kidney Diseases, 1987. 9(1): p. 66-70.

Amphotericin B catheter lock for Candida peritonitis



Part III

Focus on Health-Related Quality of Life



Chapter 9

Health-Related Quality of Life in home dialysis patients compared to in-center hemodialysis patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Anna A. Bonenkamp^{*}, Anita van Eck van der Sluijs^{*}, Tiny Hoekstra, Marianne C. Verhaar, Frans J. van Ittersum, Alferso C. Abrahams and Brigit C. van Jaarsveld

Kidney Medicine. 2020 Feb 11;2(2):139-154

* These authors contributed equally to this article

Abstract

Rationale & Objective Dialysis patients judge health-related quality of life (HRQoL) as an essential outcome. Remarkably, little is known about HRQoL differences between home dialysis and incenter hemodialysis (HD) patients worldwide.

Study design Systematic review and meta-analysis.

Setting & Study populations Search strategies were performed on the Cochrane Library, Pubmed and EMBASE databases between 2007 and 2019. Home dialysis was defined as both peritoneal dialysis and home HD.

Selection criteria for studies Randomized controlled trials and observational studies that compared HRQoL in home dialysis patients versus in-center HD patients.

Data extraction The data extracted by two authors included HRQOL scores of different questionnaires, dialysis modality, and subcontinent.

Analytical approach Data were pooled using a random-effects model and results were expressed as standardized mean difference (SMD) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Heterogeneity was explored using subgroup analyses.

Results Forty-six articles reporting on 41 study populations were identified. Most studies were cross-sectional in design (90%), conducted on peritoneal dialysis patients (95%), and used the 12-item or 36-item Short-Form Health survey questionnaires (83%). More than half the studies showed moderate or high risk of bias. Pooled analysis of 4,158 home dialysis patients and 7,854 in-center HD patients showed marginally better physical HRQoL score in home dialysis patients compared to in-center HD patients (SMD 0.14, 95%CI 0.04 to 0.24), although heterogeneity was high (I²>80%). In a subgroup analysis, Western European home dialysis patients had higher physical HRQoL score (SMD 0.39, 95%CI 0.17 to 0.61), while home dialysis patients from Latin America had a lower physical score (SMD -0.20, 95%CI -0.28 to -0.12). Mental HRQoL showed no difference in all analyses.

Limitations No randomized controlled trials were found and high heterogeneity among studies existed.

Conclusions Although pooled data showed marginally better physical HRQoL for home dialysis patients, the quality of design of the included studies was poor. Large prospective studies with adequate adjustments for confounders are necessary to establish whether home dialysis results in better HRQoL.

Trial registration PROSPERO 95985.

Introduction

End-stage renal disease (ESRD) is associated with poor survival. Patients starting on dialysis therapy have a median five-year survival rate of only 45% [1]. Observational studies comparing patients performing home dialysis, mostly peritoneal dialysis (PD), with in-center hemodialysis (HD) show comparable survival between groups [2-4]. Therefore, these survival studies will not help patients in choosing a dialysis modality.

Counterintuitive to what some clinicians assume, patients with ESRD consider quality of life (QoL) far more important than survival [5-10]. Many patients experience dialysis as a heavy burden; they even have poorer health-related QoL (HRQoL) than patients with diabetes or malignancies [11, 12]. Patients also indicate HRQoL aspects as important research topics [13, 14]. This has affected the research performed in the medical field during the last decade, with focus shifting from clinical outcomes to patient-reported outcomes [15, 16]. Indeed, the number of articles reporting HRQoL in dialysis patients has multiplied during the last 10 years.

Reducing the impact of ESRD and its treatment on daily life could potentially improve HRQoL. Performing dialysis at home, instead of being treated with in-center HD, has the advantage of more independence and flexibility during the day [17-20]. Moreover, due to the possibility of self-care and fewer hospital visits with home based therapies, patients are able to return to work and engage in daily social activities [18, 21-23]. Home HD (HHD) enables an intensified dialysis regimen, allowing a reduction in medication burden [24]. All these factors could contribute to an improvement in HRQoL.

Many cross-sectional and some cohort studies from different regions across the world have reported on HRQoL of home dialysis patients in comparison to in-center HD patients. Interpretation of these studies is hampered by a large variety in type of questionnaire used and applied study design [25-27]. In addition, because these studies are conducted in different countries, disparity exists in study populations since the percentage of patients receiving home dialysis varies across the world. This difference in practice patterns, together with a difference in local cultures, is suggested to influence HRQoL [28]. Investigators of 'the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study' found different HRQoL scores between in-center HD patients across Japan, Europe, and the United States after adjustment for several confounders, including comorbid conditions [28]. Due to inequalities among studies, it is difficult to determine whether home dialysis patients have better HRQoL. Differences in HRQoL of home dialysis patients and in-center HD patients should be interpreted in relation to the country of residence.

Hence, a systematic review and meta-analysis was conducted to summarize and evaluate the available studies on HRQoL of home dialysis and in-center HD patients, with a special focus on differences across the world.

Methods

Search strategy and selection criteria

The Cochrane Library, Pubmed, and EMBASE databases were searched for relevant articles using all synonyms and abbreviations of the terms "dialysis" and "quality of life" (Table S1). The search was limited to publications during the last 10 years because the perception of QoL in patients treated with dialysis has changed over time, for example, by improved metabolic control over the years [29]. After removing the duplicates, two authors (AB and AE) independently performed screening of titles and abstracts according to predetermined inclusion and exclusion criteria. All articles comparing the HRQoL of adult (i.e. \geq 18 years) home dialysis patients with the HRQoL of in-center HD patients were included. Articles other than randomized controlled trials and observational studies were excluded, such as validation and reliability studies on QoL questionnaires. In addition, articles in a language other than English were excluded.

The remaining articles were read full text by two authors (AB and AE) and screened for additional references. All articles assessing HRQoL by applying worldwide most commonly used questionnaires [30] were included (Table S2). The full-text articles were also checked for outdated patient data (data collected before 2007), which was reason for exclusion, and missing HRQoL scores. When no quantitative scores were reported for home dialysis and in-center HD patients, the authors were e-mailed. If they provided the quantitative data, the article was subsequently included in the critical appraisal. Final inclusion was based on consensus between the two authors (AB and AE). In case they failed to reach consensus, a third author (TH) was asked for an opinion that was decisive. The selection process is summarized in Figure 1.

Data extraction

Data extraction was performed and checked by two authors (AB and AE). The included studies were structured according to dialysis modality, country and subcontinent of conductance, number of participants with characteristics (age, dialysis vintage, and sex), and type of HRQoL questionnaire used. From all studies, HRQoL scores were extracted and evaluated. If no standard deviation was reported, it was calculated (e.g. from interquartile range [IQR], confidence interval [CI], or standard error) or substituted from another study with similar characteristics [31]. Subcontinents were classified according to the regional boards of the International Society of Nephrology [32].

For the meta-analysis, the Physical Component Summary (PCS) was used as score for the physical domain, and the Mental Component Summary (MCS) for the mental domain. If summary scores of the 12-item or 36-item Short Form Health Survey (SF) were not available, the physical functioning score or the mental health score was used, respectively. If the abbreviated World Health Organization Quality of Life (WHOQOL-BREF) was assessed, the physical health score was

used for the physical domain, and the psychological health score for the mental domain. If the EuroQol-5D (EQ-5D) was reported, the visual analogue scale was used for the analysis.

Risk of Bias assessment

After full-text screening, articles eligible for critical appraisal were independently appraised by two authors (AB and AE) using criteria based on the Critical Appraisal Skills Programme Cohort Study checklist and the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale.[33, 34] The following criteria were assessed: study design, patient selection, comparability of patients between groups, accurate measurement of outcome, correction for confounding, duration of follow-up, selective reporting, and conflict of interest (details are provided in Table S3). They were scored as + (low risk of bias), - (high risk of bias) or ? (unclear) based on consensus between the two authors (AB and AE). In case of disagreement, a third opinion (BJ) was decisive. After completing the critical appraisal, the corresponding authors of the articles were contacted if any uncertainty remained (i.e. criteria scored as unclear). Any given comment was taken into account for the final critical appraisal.

Analytical approach

With the extracted HRQoL scores, a meta-analysis was performed. Heterogeneity, both in clinical characteristics (e.g. variability in patients) and methodological aspects (i.e. design and risk of bias), was explored by visual inspection and quantified by $l^2 > 75\%$ [35]. Significant heterogeneity was expected due to the use of different types of HRQoL questionnaires and differences between countries regarding practice patterns and accessibility for home dialysis leading to differences between patient populations [28]. Therefore, the standardized mean difference (SMD) of HRQoL scores and a random-effects model were used.

The following subgroup analyses were performed: different subcontinents and subgroups of studies according to overall risk of bias (as scored by authors: low, moderate, or high). When appropriate, type of home dialysis (PD or HHD) was compared with in-center HD. Additional analyses were conducted for the following subgroups: type of questionnaire used, different age categories (<45, 45 – 60 and >60 years), and dialysis vintage (<36 vs \geq 36 months). Finally, a sensitivity analysis was conducted that excluded articles for which the standard deviation was calculated or substituted. All analyses were performed with Stata/SE, version 14.1, for Windows (StataCorp LP).

Protocol and registration

This systematic review was registered in PROSPERO, the International prospective register of systematic reviews. The study protocol can be retrieved from the PROSPERO website (https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/) using registration number 95985.

Results

Study selection

The initial literature search was performed on November 21, 2017, and last updated in January 2019. The final search yielded 1,647 articles, after removal of duplicates. Subsequently, articles were excluded based on title and abstract, according to previously determined inclusion and exclusion criteria. Systematic reviews that were among these articles were checked for references before they were excluded [21, 25, 26, 30, 36-46]. This resulted in one article; however, its data collection was performed before 2007 and therefore it was excluded [47].

The full texts of the remaining 80 articles were retrieved and assessed for eligibility. A total of 35 articles were excluded for the following reasons: comparison group other than in-center HD [48-50], groups were not separately presented [51-55], unspecified HRQoL questionnaire [56-59], HRQoL data exclusively presented in graphs [60-62], unclear calculation of HRQoL scores [63, 64], and outdated population data (data collected before 2007) [65-80]. The studies of Garg *et al.* [17] (Frequent Hemodialysis Network trials) and Jardine *et al.* [81] (ACTIVE dialysis trial) were excluded because they focused on frequent HD which was not exclusively performed at home. The remaining 45 articles were screened for additional references, resulting in 1 article that was evaluated and included (Figure 1) [82].

A total of 46 articles was eligible for critical appraisal [82-127]. The following articles presented overlapping patient data and were appraised as one: Bujang *et al.* and Liu *et al.* [91, 92], Chkhotua *et al.* and Maglakelidze *et al.* [94, 95], Griva *et al.* and Yang *et al.* [103, 104], 2 articles by Kontodimopoulos [111, 112], and 2 articles by Theofilou [120, 121], leaving 41 studies for analysis.


Figure 1. Selection flow diagram

HRQoL, Health-Related Quality of Life.

*Exclusion criteria: Articles describing data older than 10 years, case-reports, congress abstracts, editorials, language other than English, letters, opinion papers, reviews, and validation and reliability studies on quality of life questionnaires.

Study characteristics

Characteristics of the included studies are described in Table 1. Most (32%) of the studies were conducted in Western Europe, followed by Asia (27%). From the 41 studies included, only 3 compared the HRQoL of HHD patients with in-center HD patients [82, 123, 124], while the rest focused on the comparison PD versus in-center HD. The predominantly used questionnaire was the SF, either as a separate questionnaire or part of the Kidney Disease Quality of Life (KDQOL) questionnaire (83%).

Table 1. Study characteri	stics of 41 sı	tudies							
Study	Home	Country,	No. of patients	Age, y (SD)	Dialysis vintage,	HRQoL	Physical score,	Mental score,	Study
	dialysis modality	Subcontinent*	(home/ICHD)	(home/ICHD)	mo (SD) (home/ICHD)	question- naire	mean (SD) (home/ICHD)	mean (SD) (home/ICHD)	conclusion
Al Wakeel, 2012	PD	Saudi Arabia,	100/100	51.0 (13.5) /	34.1 (26.9) /	KDQOL	47.7 (23.6) /	61.9 (13.5) /	Favors PD
		Middle East		47.5 (13.8)	77.2 (75.5)		53.1 (32.0)	50.5 (14.8)	
Alvares , 2012	PD	Brazil,	788/1,621	55.6 (15.3) /	39.7 (42.5) /	SF	41.0 (9.4) /	44.7 (8.0) /	Favors
		Latin America		48.9 (14.5)	53.9 (55.1)		43.0 (9.6)	44.6 (7.6)	ICHD
Atapour, 2016	PD	Iran,	46 / 46	51.0 (12.5) /	18.8 (13.7) /	SF	60.5 (10.4) /	55.7 (7.1) /	Favors PD
		Middle East		47.8 (10.6)	24.4 (14.8)		56.2 (10.3)	55.1 (6.2)	
Barata , 2015	PD	Portugal,	31/94	NA	NA	-UODOHW	61.7 (12.7) /	56.1 (11.4) /	Favors PD
		Western Europe				BREF	43.7 (13.9)	46.0 (12.2)	
Basok , 2009	PD	Turkey,	21/24	45.2 (8.9) /	NA	SF	43.2 (9.8) /	44.5 (10.9) /	NA
		Eastern Europe		43.1 (12.4)			47.4 (10.2)	50.2 (12.6)	
Baykan , 2012	PD	Turkey,	41/42	40.6 (11.9) /	NA	SF	53.2 (7.6) /	45.2 (6.7) /	NA
		Eastern Europe		49.1 (12.0)			47.0 (9.2)	42.2 (6.7)	
Borowiak, 2009	PD	Poland,	50 / 50	58.9 (13.2) /	NA	EQ-5D	55.3 (21.7)/	55.3 (21.7)/	Equal
		Eastern Europe		59.6 (13.4)		VAS**	53.2 (16.2)	53.2 (16.2)	
Brown ,2010	PD	UK,	70 / 70	73.1 (5.5) /	30.5 (28.3) /	SF	36.0 (12.1) /	55.0 (8.4) /	Favors PD
		Western Europe		73.4 (5.1)	31.4 (26.5)		34.3 (9.7)	51.3 (12.9)	
Bujang, 2015 and	PD	Malaysia,	539 / 793	52.8 (15.4) /	45.6 (37.2) /	-UODOHW	55.5 (15.5) /	60.2 (16.0) /	Favors PD
Liu , 2014		Asia		55.5(15.3)	91.2 (74.4)	BREF	56.6 (16.1)	59.6 (17.3)	
Chen ,2017	PD	China,	103 / 253	63.1 (12.7) /	NA	KDQOL	40.3 (12.0) /	50.3 (10.0) /	Favors PD
		Asia		56.6 (12.1)			37.4 (12.6)	51.0 (10.3)	
Chkhotua, 2011 and	PD	Georgia,	43 / 120	NA	NA	SF	55.7 (52.2) /	47.5 (47.9) /	Equal
Maglakelidze 2011		Eastern Europe					56.9 (53.4)	49.9 (51.4)	
Czyzewski, 2014	PD	Poland,	30 / 40	NA	39.6 / 78.0	KDQOL	37.5 (10.6) /	49.9 (7.0) /	Equal
		Eastern Europe					34.7 (7.4)	43.7 (11.1)	
Da Silva-Gane, 2012	PD	UK,	44/80	48.0 (15.6) /	NA	SF	30.1 (6.5) /	45.9 (10.6) /	Favors PD
		Western Europe		60.6 (14.9)			25.2 (8.8)	47.6 (10.7)	
De Fijter, 2018	PD	The Netherlands,	33 / 42	66.0 (14.0) /	16/27	KDQOL	43.0 (20.0) /	56.0 (24.0) /	Favors PD
		Western Europe		<u>66.0 (11.0)</u>			35.0 (21.0)	49.0 (20.0)	

Chapter 9

Study	Home	Country,	No. of patients	Age, y (SD)	Dialysis vintage,	HRQoL	Physical score,	Mental	Study
	dialysis	Subcontinent*	(home/ICHD)	(home/ICHD)	mo (SD)	question-	mean (SD)	score,	conclusion
	modality				(home/ICHD)	naire	(home/ICHD)	mean (SD)	
								(home/ICHD)	
Fructuoso, 2011	PD	Portugal,	14/37	38.9 (13.3) /	22.8 (15.6) /	KDQOL	44.9 (5.6) /	46.2 (10.2) /	Favors PD
		Western Europe		67.3 (14.9)	73.2 (78.0)		35.9 (9.0)	42.6 (12.6)	
Garcia-Llana, 2013	PD	Spain,	31/30	47.9 (15.9) /	31.4 (28.6) /	SF	39.4 (8.7) /	49.8 (11.5) /	Favors PD
		Western Europe		60.6 (16.7)	56.9 (81.7)		34.3 (8.7)	47.1 (10.7)	
Ginieri-Coccossis, 2008	PD	Greece,	48/41	64.1 (10.4) /	43.4 (24.0) /	-UODOHW	13.5 (2.8) /	13.2 (3.2) /	Favors PD
		Western Europe		65.3 (8.4)	49.8 (30.8)	BREF	12.4 (3.8)	12.9 (3.5)	
Goncalves, 2015	PD	Brazil,	116/222	58 (13.9) /	NA	KDQOL	45.8/52.8	44.3/56.6	Favors
		Latin America		54.4 (15.2)					ICHD
Griva , 2014 and	PD	Singapore,	266/236	59.3 (12.5) /	42.6 (39.4) /	KDQOL	37.1 (9.7) /	46.6 (11.2) /	Favors
Yang , 2015		Asia		54.4 (10.6)	76.4 (66.5)		38.9 (9.6)	46.3 (10.4)	ICHD
Günalay, 2018	PD	Turkey,	10/50	52.4 (15.1) /	38.5 (14.2) /	EQ-5D	58.1 (13.1) /	58.1 (13.1) /	Equal
		Eastern Europe		50.0 (18.9)	53.5 (48.3)	VAS**	66.7 (22.3)	66.7 (22.3)	
lbrahim , 2011	PD	Malaysia,	91 / 183	NA	NA	SF	74.6 / 68.4	77.1 / 70.9	Favors PD
		Asia							
lkonomou, 2015	PD	Greece,	39 / 90	58.0 (16.0) /	NA	SF	42.4 (10.0) /	52.3 (9.1) /	Equal
		Western Europe		57.9 (13.8)			40.7 (11.3)	49.3 (10.3)	
lyasere , 2016	PD	UK,	129/122	76.0/75.0	22.0/27.5	SF	33.0/31.7	49.3/50.8	Equal
		Western Europe							
Kang, 2017	PD	Korea,	366/1,250	54.1 (11.9) /	63.6 (46.8) /	KDQOL	58.5 (23.0) /	55.5 (24.9) /	Favors
		Asia		56.4 (13.2)	61.2 (55.2)		61.9 (21.2)	59.8 (21.2)	ICHD
Kim , 2013	PD	Korea,	65 / 172	NA	NA	KDQOL	38.7 (9.0) /	44.8 (6.4) /	Favors PD
		Asia					39.3 (9.7)	44.6 (7.0)	
Kontodimopoulos,	PD	Greece,	65 / 642	58.7 (12.9) /	63.6 (67.2) /	SF	49.2 (30.7) /	53.0 (26.1) /	Equal
2008 and 2009		Western Europe		58.1 (14.9)	74.4 (68.4)		49.2 (30.6)	55.1 (22.7)	
Nakayama, 2015	PD	Japan,	102 / 77	62.5 (12.0) /	NA	SF	25.4 (25.3) /	45.6 (12.1) /	NA
		Asia		63.5 (12.4)			32.1 (20.6)	46.1 (10.5)	

Table 1. Study characteristics of 41 studies (continued)

9

Health-Related Quality of Life in dialysis patients

Study	Home dialysis modality	Country, Subcontinent*	No. of patients (home/ICHD)	Age, y (SD) (home/ICHD)	Dialysis vintage, mo (SD) (home/ICHD)	HRQoL question- naire	Physical score, mean (SD) (home/ICHD)	Mental score, mean (SD)	Study conclusion
Neumann, 2018	Q	Germany, Western Europe	153/200	59.0 (15.4) / 59.8 (16.0)	Y N	S	Baseline 38.3 (9.8) / 39.9 (10.8) 12 months 35.4 (11.6) / 27 o (11.5)	Baseline 52.1 (9.4) / 52.1 (10.0) 12 months 45.8 (10.6) / 66.1 (11.6)	Equal
Okpechi , 2013	PD	South Africa, Africa	26/56	36.0 (6.1) / 38.6 (10.5)	14.5 (11.6) / 49.8 (71.5)	KDQOL	67.5 (27.5) / 67.5 (27.5) / 65.4 (53.1)	75.0 (23.5) / 74.6 (21.0)	Equal
Ören , 2013	PD	Turkey, Eastern Europe	125 / 175	46.4 (14.6) / 47.6 (15.3)	45.4 (34.8) / 94.4 (60.0)	SF		63.3 (18.9) / 57.0 (19.8)	Favors PD
Painter, 2012	ОНН	USA, North America	10/13	42.6 (12.4) / 45.5 (10.4)	33.8 (44.3) / 28.5 (21.2)	KDQOL	<u>Baseline</u> 45.3 (11.3) /	Baseline 48.1 (14.6) /	Favors HHD
							48.8 (10.0) <u>6 months</u> 49.6 (9.1) / 48.4 (7.4)	51.1 (9.1) <u>6 months</u> 48.9 (12.6) / 51.7 (9.6)	
Ramos, 2015 Ruiz de Aleøría -		Brazil, Latin America Snain	60 / 257 45 / 53	56.5 (15.3) / 57.9 (15.9) 50.8 (13.3) /	NA NA	L L	51.3 (27.8) / 53.5 (29.7) 3 months	71.7 (20.4) / 68.7 (22.6) 3 months	Equal NA
2013	1	Western Europe		52.3 (13.1)		5	42.6 (8.9) / 40.8 (8.9) 6 months 40.6 (9.8) / 42.2 (9.7)	50.5 (13.0) / 46.3 (13.4) <u>6 months</u> 50.3 (11.6) / 49.3 (11.6)	
							<u>12 months</u> 43.9 (9.8) / 39.9 (9.7)	<u>12 months</u> 50.5 (11.6) / 49.6 (11.6)	

Chapter 9

Table 1. Study characteristics of 41 studies (continued)

Study	Home	Country,	No. of patients	Age, y (SD)	Dialysis vintage,	HRQoL	Physical score,	Mental	Study
	dialysis	Subcontinent*	(home/ICHD)	(home/ICHD)	mo (SD)	question-	mean (SD)	score,	conclusion
	modality				(home/ICHD)	naire	(home/ICHD)	mean (SD)	
								(home/ICHD)	
Tannor , 2017	PD	South Africa,	48 / 58	36.1 (10.7) /	26.4 / 72.0	KDQOL	55.5 (21.7) /	62.7 (19.7) /	Equal
		Africa		42.8 (9.8)			54.7 (19.4)	68.6 (17.9)	
Theofilou, 2011 and 2013	PD	Greece,	60 / 84	64.3 (12.5) /	38.4 (24.0) /	WHOQOL-	13.7 (3.0) /	13.4 (3.1) /	Favors PD
		Western Europe		58.1 (16.1)	87.6 (85.2)	BREF	12.7 (3.7)	13.3 (3.7)	
Turkmen , 2012	PD	Turkey,	64/90	52.4 (15.3) /	19.8 (14.3) /	SF	47.6 (18.5) /	41.7 (17.2) /	Favors
		Eastern Europe		55.0 (15.7)	22.7 (13.1)		59.4 (20.7)	63.9 (20.6)	ICHD
Watanabe , 2014	DHH	Japan,	46/34	54.0 (8.3) /	76.8 (68.4) /	KDQOL	48.7 (9.2) /	51.2 (8.9) /	Favors
		Asia		57.1 (7.6)	88.8 (99.6)		37.1 (12.9)	49.6 (6.2)	DHH
Wright ^a , 2015	ДНН	USA,	22 / 29	NA	NA	KDQOL	40.4 (12.7) /	50.6 (9.4) /	Equal
		North America					42.8 (9.8)	50.4 (10.0)	
Wright ^{b,} 2015	PD	USA,	26/29	NA	NA	KDQOL	43.2 (8.8) /	51.1 (8.2) /	Equal
		North America					42.8 (9.8)	50.4 (10.0)	
Nu , 2013	PD	China,	93/97	54.5 (15.5) /	25.5/31.0	SF	34.0 (11.9) /	41.3 (10.0) /	Equal
		Asia		58.3 (17.5)			30.5 (14.5)	38.5 (12.0)	
Ying, 2014	PD	Malaysia,	73/147	NA	NA	SF	60.2 (21.9) /	67.1 (19.4) /	Favors PD
		Asia					49.6 (20.2)	58.0 (20.3)	
Yongsiri , 2014	PD	Thailand,	26/34	53.0 (14.4) /	NA	WHOQOL-	3.0 (0.9) /	3.7 (0.7) /	Equal
		Asia		61.1 (15.5)		BREF	2.9 (0.8)	3.7 (0.6)	
TOTAL	NA	NA	4,158	55.9 (13.8)	34.1# (22.8-43.4)	NA	NA	NA	NA
			7,854	54.8 (14.1)	56.9# (31.0-77.2)				
EQ-5D VAS, EuroQol-5D Vis	sual Analog	ue Scale; HHD, hom	ne hemodialysis;	HRQoL, Health	-Related Quality of	Life; ICHD, ir	n-center hemodia	ysis; KDQOL, Kid	dney Disease

Table 1. Study characteristics of 41 studies (continued)

Quality Of Life instrument; NA, not applicable or not available; PD, peritoneal dialysis; SD, standard deviation; SF, Short Form Health Survey (12-item or 36-item); UK, United Kingdom; USA, United States of America; WHOQOL-BREF, abbreviated World Health Organization Quality of Life questionnaire.

^{a,b} Wright *et al.* included 3 patient populations: HHD, PD, and ICHD.

* The regional boards of the International Society of Nephrology were used for the classification of countries into subcontinents. ** EQ-5D VAS score was used as a surrogate for both physical score and mental score.

9

Median with interquartile range.

Mean age of the home dialysis population was 55.9 ± 13.8 years, while in-center HD patients where slightly younger (mean age 54.8 ± 14.1 years). There was a difference in dialysis vintage between both groups, with a median of 34.1 months for home dialysis patients (IQR 22.8 - 43.4 months) and 56.9 months for in-center HD patients (IQR 31.0-77.2 months). Most (55%) of the total dialysis population was male. One study was conducted in females only [87]. Half of the home dialysis population was male (range 27%-90%) compared to 57% of the in-center HD population (range 44%-85%). In the included studies, there were no randomized controlled trials of in-center HD versus home dialysis. Furthermore, most studies had a cross-sectional design, comparing prevalent patients receiving in-center HD with prevalent home dialysis patients.

It should be noted that 4 studies were observational cohort studies with a longitudinal follow-up. Da Silva-Gane *et al.* assessed HRQoL of dialysis patients every 3 months until 12 months after dialysis initiation [97]. Baseline PCS scores were lower in in-center HD patients. However, after a median follow-up period of 14.7 months, HRQoL between dialysis modalities was equal. Because follow-up results of PD and in-center HD patients were not shown in the article, in the following meta-analysis, only baseline data of this study could be used.

The study by Neumann *et al.* investigated the change in social networks and social support, and their association with HRQoL, of dialysis patients over a 12 month period [114]. The PCS and MCS scores of PD and in-center HD patients decreased equally during follow-up. The follow-up HRQoL scores at 12 months were used in this meta-analysis. The study by Painter *et al.* examined exercise capacity after modality switch from in-center HD to HHD, yet also assessed HRQoL [82]. Modality switch was associated with a significant improvement in physical HRQoL scores after 6 months. The follow-up HRQoL scores at 6 months were used in this meta-analysis. The study by Ruiz de Alegría - Fernández de Retana *et al.* related coping mechanisms to HRQoL [118]. SF-36 questionnaires were collected at 3, 6, and 12 months after dialysis initiation. Separate HRQoL scores for PD and in-center HD were obtained from the author. These unpublished data showed improvement in MCS scores 12 months after initiation of dialysis treatment were used in this meta-analysis.

Risk of Bias assessment

Results of the critical appraisal are presented in Table S4. Seventeen of the 41 studies were assessed as having an overall low risk of bias. There was a general lack of adequate presentation of patient characteristics, with 6 studies presenting baseline data without separation by dialysis modality [86, 106, 110, 126] or no baseline data at all [95, 96]. Few studies adequately adjusted HRQoL scores for confounding between groups [84, 97, 98, 108, 109, 114]. Apart from adjustment for confounders, also a stratified analysis was considered as a low risk of bias. HRQoL, as a patient-reported outcome measure, should be self-reported or assessed by a trained research-assistant

[128]. For 8 studies, it was unknown whether the professional performing the interview was trained to assess HRQoL, leading to potential bias in outcome assessment [89, 99, 102, 106, 115, 116, 120, 126].

Meta-analysis

The included studies for the meta-analysis compared HRQoL for a total of 4,158 home dialysis patients with 7,854 in-center HD patients. The study by Wright *et al.* compared two home dialysis populations (HHD and PD) with in-center HD patients and is presented twice in the meta-analysis [124]. Although heterogeneity was high, HRQoL on the physical domain was marginally better in home dialysis patients compared with in-center HD patients, with an SMD of 0.14 (95% CI 0.04 to 0.24). HRQoL on the mental domain was equal between the two groups (SMD 0.06, 95% CI -0.03 to 0.15).

A comparison among subcontinents showed that patients receiving home dialysis in Western Europe had higher physical HRQoL scores compared with in-center HD patients (SMD 0.39, 95% CI 0.17 to 0.61), whereas patients receiving home dialysis from Latin America had lower physical HRQoL scores (SMD -0.20, 95% CI -0.28 to -0.12; Figure 2A). HRQoL on the mental domain showed no difference among the subcontinents (Figure 2B).

If studies were divided according to overall level of bias, increased risk of bias was associated with an increase in SMD in physical HRQoL (high risk of bias: SMD 0.26, 95% CI -0.01 to 0.52; Figure 3A). For the mental domain, there was no difference among the different levels of bias (Figure 3B). The subgroup analysis regarding type of home dialysis (PD or HHD) provided no additional insights, recognizing that only 3 studies focused on HHD (data not shown). Heterogeneity remained after all subgroup analyses. Additional analyses regarding type of questionnaire used, different age categories, and dialysis vintage did not alter results or influence heterogeneity (Figures S1A and B, and S2A and B).

The standard deviation for the HRQoL scores in 5 studies had to be calculated, if sufficient data were available [95, 98, 108], or substituted [102, 106]. Also, WHOQOL-BREF scores in two studies were transformed into a 100-scale [101, 121]. To further explore the robustness of data, sensitivity analysis was performed that did not change the mentioned results.

Figure 2. Meta-analysis of Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL) among subcontinents

Α.

D							SMD (95% CI)	Weight
North America				i.				
Painter						-	0.15 (-0.68, 0.97)	1.04
Wright a			-	<u> </u>			-0.22 (-0.77, 0.34)	1.69
Wright b							0.04 (-0.49, 0.57)	1.77
Subtotal (I–squared = 0.0%, p = 0.714)			\leq				-0.04 (-0.39, 0.31)	4.50
atin America								
Alvares				1.1			-0.20 (-0.29, -0.12)	3.37
Goncalves				리 나는 물건을 받았다.			-0.26 (-0.49, -0.04)	2.94
Ramos Subtotal (I–squared = 0.0%, p = 0.581)							-0.07 (-0.36, 0.21) -0.20 (-0.28, -0.12)	2.72 9.03
Nortorn Europa			-					
Barata					-		1.32 (0.88, 1.76)	2.09
Brown				100			0.16 (-0.18, 0.49)	2.51
Da Silva–Gane				- P		-	0.61 (0.23, 0.98)	2.33
Filter					1.0		0.39 (-0.07, 0.85)	2.01
Fructuoso				1			1.09(0.44, 1.74)	1.42
Sarcia-I Jana				1		_	0.59(0.08, 1.10)	1.82
Ginieri–Coccossis					-		0.48 (0.06, 0.90)	2.15
konomou			_	100			0.16 (-0.22, 0.53)	2.33
vasere							0.13 (-0.12, 0.38)	2.86
Kontodimopoulos							0.00 (-0.26, 0.26)	2.83
Neumann							-0.22 (-0.43, -0.01)	3.00
Ruiz de Alegria – Fernandez de Retana							0.41 (0.01, 0.82)	2.23
Theofilou					<u> </u>		0.46 (0.13, 0.80)	2.50
Subtotal (I-squared = 80.6%, p = 0.000)					× .		0.39 (0.17, 0.61)	30.08
Eastern Europe				1.1				
Basok			+	+			-0.42 (-1.01, 0.17)	1.58
Baykan					-		0.73 (0.29, 1.18)	2.07
Borowiak					-		0.11 (-0.28, 0.50)	2.27
Chkhotua and Maglakelidze				•			-0.02 (-0.37, 0.33)	2.45
Czyzewski			-				0.31 (-0.16, 0.79)	1.95
Günalay			-	++			-0.41 (-1.09, 0.28)	1.34
Turkmen		-	•	I I			-0.60 (-0.92, -0.27)	2.53
Ören					_		0.37 (0.14, 0.60)	2.92
5ubtotal (I–squared = 80.9%, p = 0.000)			<				0.03 (-0.29, 0.35)	17.10
Africa				Li				
Okpechi					-		0.05 (-0.42, 0.51)	1.99
Tannor							0.04 (-0.34, 0.42)	2.31
Subtotal (I–squared = 0.0%, p = 0.985)			<				0.04 (-0.25, 0.34)	4.30
Middle East				Li			0.10/ 0.47 0.00	3.74
Al wakeel				T !			-0.19 (-0.47, 0.09)	2./4
Subtotal (I–squared = 82.7%, p = 0.016)							0.09 (-0.50, 0.69)	4.92
Asia								
Buiang and Liu							-0.07 (-0.18, 0.04)	3.32
Chen							0.23 (0.00, 0.46)	2.93
Griva and Yang			-	-			-0.19 (-0.36, -0.01)	3.12
brahim					-		0.30 (0.04, 0.55)	2.84
Kang							-0.16 (-0.27, -0.04)	3.30
Kim			_				-0.06 (-0.35, 0.22)	2.70
Nakayama							-0.29 (-0.58, 0.01)	2.66
Watanabe			and a			•	1.06 (0.59, 1.54)	1.96
Wu					-		0.26 (-0.02, 0.55)	2.70
Ying					•		0.51 (0.23, 0.79)	2.71
Yongsiri			_		_		0.12 (-0.39, 0.63)	1.83
Subtotal (I–squared = 83.5%, p = 0.000)				\mathbf{P}			0.11 (-0.05, 0.28)	30.06
Overall (I–squared = 81.3%, p = 0.000)				\diamond			0.14 (0.04, 0.24)	100.00
NOTE: Weights are from random effects a	nalysis			<u> </u>				

в.

ID							SMD (95% CI)	Weig
North America				i				
Painter			+	1			-0.25 (-1.08, 0.57)	0.95
Wright a							0.02 (-0.53, 0.57)	1.61
Wright b							0.08 (-0.45, 0.61)	1.69
Subtotal (I-squared = 0.0%, p = 0.799)							-0.00 (-0.35, 0.34)	4.24
Latin America				12				
Alvares							0.01 (-0.08, 0.09)	3.54
Goncalves		_		1.0			-0.63 (-0.86, -0.40)	2.99
Namos Subtotal (I-squared = 92.9%, p = 0.000))				-		0.14 (-0.15, 0.42) -0.16 (-0.58, 0.26)	9.28
				i				
Western Europe				1			0.04 (0.42, 1.20)	2.11
Barata				1			0.84 (0.42, 1.26)	2.11
Da Silva, Cama				1			0.14 (0.01, 0.87)	2.50
Da Silva-Gane					100		-0.16 (-0.55, 0.21)	2.55
Fijter				1	- N		0.32 (-0.14, 0.78)	1.95
Caudio Llana				1	- C		0.30 (-0.32, 0.92)	1.41
Garcia-Liana Giniari, Conservia				1 au			0.24 (-0.26, 0.75)	1./8
Ginien-Coccossis					100		0.13 (-0.28, 0.55)	2.12
Ikonomou							0.50 (-0.08, 0.68)	2.29
Iyasere Kontodimonoulos				100			-0.12 (-0.36, 0.13)	2.91
Nontodimopoulos							-0.09 (-0.35, 0.16)	2.87
Ruiz de Alegrie - Fernendez de Detene			_	1.1			-0.03 (-0.24, 0.18)	3.08
Ruiz de Alegría – Fernandez de Retana				100			0.08 (-0.32, 0.48)	2.20
Subtotal (I-squared = 52.1%, p = 0.015))			ð	>		0.13 (-0.01, 0.27)	30.07
Fastern Furone				li li				
Rasok							-0.48 (-1.07, 0.12)	1.48
Baykan							0.45 (0.01 0.88)	2.04
Borowiak			-				0.11 (-0.28, 0.50)	2.23
Chkhotua and Maglakelidze				1.0			-0.05 (-0.40, 0.30)	2.43
Czuzewski				- Ti -			0.65 (0.16, 1.13)	1.85
Günələv					_		-0.41 (-1.09.0.28)	1 24
Turkmen	-			li li			-115(-150,-0.81)	2 44
Ören	•			i			0.32 (0.09, 0.55)	2.00
Subtotal (I-squared = 89.3%, p = 0.000))						-0.06 (-0.49, 0.37)	16.69
Africa				l.				
Okpechi							0.02 (-0.45, 0.48)	1.92
Tannor			-	- T			-0.31 (-0.70, 0.07)	2.26
Subtotal (I-squared = 14.6%, p = 0.279))						-0.17 (-0.50, 0.15)	4.18
Middle East				1				
Al Wakeel				Li.	_	+	0.80 (0.52, 1.09)	2.71
Atapour			_	-			0.09 (-0.32, 0.50)	2.16
Subtotal (I-squared = 87.3%, p = 0.005))			-			0.46 (-0.24, 1.16)	4.87
Asia				11				
Bujang and Liu				_			0.04 (-0.07, 0.15)	3.47
Chen			_				-0.07 (-0.30, 0.16)	3.00
Griva and Yang							0.02 (-0.15, 0.20)	3.23
Ibrahim				- IC-	.		0.31 (0.06, 0.57)	2.88
Kang				•+ 11			-0.19 (-0.31, -0.08)	3.45
Kim				-	_		0.03 (-0.26, 0.31)	2.73
Nakayama					-		-0.04 (-0.34, 0.25)	2.68
Watanabe					•		0.20 (-0.24, 0.65)	2.01
Wu				- 11 -	•		0.25 (-0.03, 0.54)	2.73
Ying							0.45 (0.17, 0.74)	2.73
Yongsiri				-			-0.08 (-0.59, 0.43)	1.75
Subtotal (I–squared = 68.0%, p = 0.001))						0.07 (-0.05, 0.19)	30.66
Overall (I-squared = 78.1%, p = 0.000)							0.06 (-0.03, 0.15)	100.0
NOTE: Weights are from random effects	analysis	<u> </u>					1	

CI, confidence interval; SMD, standardized mean difference.

(A) Physical and (B) mental HRQoL among subcontinents.

Figure 3. Meta-analysis of Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL) among level of bias

Α.

Study ID								SMD (95% CI)	% Weight
Low									
Al Wakeel								-0.19 (-0.47, 0.09)	2.74
Alvares				E 1.				-0.20 (-0.29, -0.12)	3.37
Atapour				+	•	-		0.42 (0.01, 0.83)	2.19
Brown								0.16 (-0.18, 0.49)	2.51
Bujang and Liu				* 1.				-0.07 (-0.18, 0.04)	3.32
Chen				_				0.23 (0.00, 0.46)	2.93
Da Silva–Gane					-	_		0.61 (0.23, 0.98)	2.33
Fijter						-		0.39 (-0.07, 0.85)	2.01
Griva and Yang				H (* 1				-0.19 (-0.36, -0.01)	3.12
lkonomou								0.16 (-0.22, 0.53)	2.33
vasere				-				0.13 (-0.12, 0.38)	2.86
Kontodimopoulos			_					0.00 (-0.26, 0.26)	2.83
Nakayama								-0.29 (-0.58, 0.01)	2.66
Neumann			_	нι:				-0.22 (-0.43, -0.01)	3.00
Painter								0 15 (-0.68, 0.97)	1.04
Ramos			_					-0.07 (-0.36, 0.21)	2 72
Ruiz de Alegria - Fernandez de Retana				- Contraction 1997				0.41 (0.01 0.82)	2.23
Subtotal (I-squared = 71.4%, p = 0.000)				•				0.03 (-0.08, 0.14)	44.18
Moderate									
Barata				- Li				1 22 (0 22 1 76)	2.09
Basek				i				-0.42(-1.01.0.17)	1.59
Basilian								-0.42 (-1.01, 0.17)	1.30
Bareudak				14				0.75 (0.29, 1.16)	2.07
Borowiak				10.11				0.11(-0.28, 0.50)	2.27
Chkhotua and Maglakelidze				10.1				-0.02 (-0.37, 0.33)	2.45
Czyżewski								0.31 (-0.16, 0.79)	1.95
Garcia–Llana				1				0.59 (0.08, 1.10)	1.82
Ginieri–Coccossis								0.48 (0.06, 0.90)	2.15
Kang			- 1					-0.16 (-0.27, -0.04)	3.30
Kim			_	100				-0.06 (-0.35, 0.22)	2.70
Tannor								0.04 (-0.34, 0.42)	2.31
Turkmen			•	1				-0.60 (-0.92, -0.27)	2.53
Watanabe				1	_			1.06 (0.59, 1.54)	1.96
Wright a		_	•	<u>++</u> +	_			-0.22 (-0.77, 0.34)	1.69
Wright b								0.04 (-0.49, 0.57)	1.77
Wu					<u> </u>			0.26 (-0.02, 0.55)	2.70
Yongsiri			_		_			0.12 (-0.39, 0.63)	1.83
Subtotal (I-squared = 84.3%, p = 0.000)				\sim				0.20 (-0.02, 0.42)	37.17
High				i.					
Fructuoso						-		1.09 (0.44, 1.74)	1.42
Goncalves				-1				-0.26 (-0.49, -0.04)	2.94
Günalav								-0.41 (-1.09, 0.28)	1.34
Ibrahim								0.30 (0.04, 0.55)	2.84
Oknechi			_	100				0.05 (-0.42, 0.51)	1 99
Theofilou								0.46 (0.13, 0.80)	2.50
Ving					1.1			0.51 (0.23 0.79)	2 71
Öran								0.27 (0.23, 0.75)	2.00
Subtotal (I-squared = 80.8%, p = 0.000)					>			0.26 (-0.01, 0.52)	18.65
Overall (I-squared = 81.3% n = 0.000)				-				0 14 (0 04 0 24)	100.00
NOTE: Weights are from random effects apply	rie -			Y				0.14 (0.04, 0.24)	100.00
None, regula are non random effects analy		1	1		1	1			
	-1.5	-1	5	0	.5	1	1.5		
1	Better HRQoL	in-center	hemodialys	is	Better HRQc	L home dialy	sis		



CI, confidence interval; SMD, standardized mean difference. (A) Physical and (B) mental HRQoL among level of bias.

в.

Discussion

This meta-analysis shows better physical HRQoL for patients treated with home dialysis compared with patients receiving in-center HD, while mental HRQoL is comparable between these two patient groups. However, higher physical HRQoL scores in home dialysis patients were found only in Western Europe. Home dialysis patients from Latin America were found to have poorer physical HRQoL compared with in-center HD patients. No studies were conducted in Oceania or Russia and only a few in Africa and the Middle East, hampering the comparison regarding HRQoL in the dialysis population worldwide. Furthermore, it should be noted that included studies were generally low in quality and showed high heterogeneity. Therefore, the conclusion regarding better HRQoL of home dialysis patients compared with in-center HD patients lacks the necessary robustness.

The finding that home dialysis patients from Western Europe had better physical HRQoL compared with in-center HD patients could be explained because PD patients from some of the Western European studies were younger due to practice patterns, suggestive for confounding by indication [97, 99, 100]. Although most studies performed statistical adjustments of their analyses, important residual confounding between these patient groups might still be present. In contrast to West-European home dialysis patients, those from Latin America were found to have poorer physical HRQoL. However, these results could also be subject to confounding by indication because in Brazil, the country in which these studies were conducted, it is common practice to perform PD only if patients are not eligible for in-center HD [84]. Brazilian in-center HD patients may be healthier and therefore physically in better condition than PD patients in general [84, 102]. This was emphasized by Ramos *et al.* because in this study, PD and in-center HD patients were more comparable and physical HRQoL scores were found to be equal [117].

The differences in HRQoL of dialysis patients across the world could also be explained by differences in access to dialysis. Liyanage *et al.* modelled inaccessibility among countries and estimated that at least 47% and at most 73% of the world population has no access to renal replacement therapy (RRT) [129]. In Latin America, up to 52% of patients with ESRD have no access to dialysis, while Africa and Asia have the highest inaccessibility rates, 83% and 91%, respectively [129]. In South-Africa, more than half the patients in need of RRT cannot be treated [130, 131]. Due to limited resources, prolonged maintenance dialysis is not applied and only patients suitable for transplantation are eligible for RRT. As a result, the elderly or unemployed and patients with diabetes or drug abuse are rarely accepted for dialysis treatment [130, 131]. In India, less than 10% of patients start RRT and yet more than two-thirds cease dialysis treatment due to financial problems, often within 3 months. Most dialysis facilities belong to private hospitals and although PD has gained popularity, due to financial restrictions both home dialysis and in-center HD are reserved for the rich minority [132]. In most countries of North and South Asia, dialysis care is

publicly funded, as is most common in the rest of the world, whereas only 31% of countries in Southeast Asia provide free publicly funded dialysis care [133]. Particularly patients from lowincome countries worldwide depend on private funding [133, 134]. In high-income countries, inaccessibility is very low, with a maximum of 30%, in comparison to 98% in low-income countries [129, 135]. Due to these accessibility issues, dialysis patients from high income countries (e.g. Western Europe) substantially differ from patients worldwide, which could influence HRQoL scores importantly.

This meta-analysis also underscores the effect of bias in HRQoL. A high risk of bias was associated with better HRQoL in favor of home dialysis if compared with studies with low risk of bias. Remarkably, in all studies with a high risk of bias, HRQoL questionnaires were not completed by patients themselves, yet were administered by researchers for whom it was unclear whether they had been trained. In the manual of the Short Form Health Survey, it is stated that the questionnaire should be completed by the patient alone before any contact with the clinician to avoid influencing the patient and reduce the risk of socially desirable answers [128]. Hood *et al.* has found that assessment by an interviewer is a potential risk of significant bias [136]. The aforementioned conclusion is confirmed by the results of this meta-analysis.

No randomized controlled trials with randomization between home and in-center dialysis were found in the literature search, presumably because previous experiences have shown that a patient's choice between home dialysis and in-center HD is too fundamental to let it be determined by fate [20, 137]. In this meta-analysis, most studies had a cross-sectional design and did not adjust for confounding, even though populations were not comparable at baseline. However, patients performing home dialysis are principally different from in-center HD patients. Therefore, in cross-sectional studies, the observed associations are less likely to be causative. Korevaar *et al.* showed that patients starting home dialysis had higher HRQoL scores than incenter HD patients even in adjusted analysis [138], while Manns *et al.* reported that *choosing* home dialysis improved HRQoL even before initiation of home dialysis [139]. The prospective studies in this meta-analysis had a follow-up period of 6 to 12 months. However, it might take longer for patients to return to social activities and work, two factors suggested to be of major influence on HRQoL [18, 21-23]. Therefore, prospective studies with at least one year of follow-up will be necessary to provide a valid assessment of HRQoL of home dialysis patients.

Unfortunately, few studies reported on disease-specific domains, whereas dialysis modality possibly has a greater impact on specific symptoms or domains than on generic physical and mental HRQoL scores [140, 141]. Future studies should also incorporate disease-specific domains as outcome measure.

The most important limitation of this meta-analysis is the high heterogeneity among studies. High heterogeneity remained despite several subgroup analyses, emphasizing the clinical and methodological diversity among studies. However, this systematic review and meta-analysis provides a detailed overview of current literature on HRQoL of home dialysis patients across the world, while previous reviews were unable to provide such a detailed insight [25-27]. Another limitation was that only three studies focused on HHD, illustrating the knowledge gap regarding this modality.

In conclusion, although pooled data in this meta-analysis show marginally better physical HRQoL for home dialysis patients; the quality of design of the included studies is poor and large heterogeneity among studies exist. Therefore, no definitive conclusions on HRQoL of patients treated with home dialysis can be drawn. Large prospective studies with adequate follow-up and adjustments for confounders are necessary to evaluate HRQoL of home dialysis patients.

References

- 1. Kramer A, Pippias M, Noordzij M, et al., *The European Renal Association European Dialysis and Transplant Association (ERA-EDTA) Registry Annual Report 2015: a summary.* Clin Kidney J, 2018. 11(1): p. 108-22.
- 2. van de Luijtgaarden MW, Jager KJ, Segelmark M, et al., *Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA Registry over a 20-year period.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2016. 31(1): p. 120-8.
- 3. Merchant AA, Quinn RR, and Perl J, *Dialysis modality and survival: does the controversy live on?* Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens, 2015. 24(3): p. 276-83.
- 4. Marshall MR, Walker RC, Polkinghorne KR, et al., *Survival on Home Dialysis in New Zealand*. Plos One, 2014. 9(5): p. 1-11.
- Verberne WR, Das-Gupta Z, Allegretti AS, et al., Development of an International Standard Set of Value-Based Outcome Measures for Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease: A Report of the International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (ICHOM) CKD Working Group. Am J Kidney Dis, 2019. 73(3): p. 372-84.
- 6. Lee MB and Bargman JM, *Survival by Dialysis Modality-Who Cares?* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2016. 11(6): p. 1083-7.
- 7. Finkelstein FO, *Performance measures in dialysis facilities: what is the goal?* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2015. 10(1): p. 156-8.
- 8. Nissenson AR, *Improving outcomes for ESRD patients: shifting the quality paradigm.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2014. 9(2): p. 430-4.
- 9. Morton RL, Snelling P, Webster AC, et al., *Factors influencing patient choice of dialysis versus conservative care to treat end-stage kidney disease*. CMAJ, 2012. 184(5): p. E277-83.
- 10. Manera KE, Tong A, Craig JC, et al., *An international Delphi survey helped develop consensusbased core outcome domains for trials in peritoneal dialysis.* Kidney Int, 2019. 96(3): p. 699-710.
- 11. Mittal SK, Ahern L, Flaster E, et al., *Self-assessed physical and mental function of haemodialysis patients*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2001. 16(7): p. 1387-94.
- 12. van Sandwijk MS, Al Arashi D, van de Hare FM, et al., *Fatigue, anxiety, depression and quality of life in kidney transplant recipients, haemodialysis patients, patients with a haematological malignancy and healthy controls.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2019. 34(5): p. 833-8.
- 13. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Carter SM, et al., *Patients' priorities for health research: focus group study of patients with chronic kidney disease*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2008. 23(10): p. 3206-14.
- 14. Manns B, Hemmelgarn B, Lillie E, et al., *Setting research priorities for patients on or nearing dialysis.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2014. 9(10): p. 1813-21.
- 15. Perl J, Dember LM, Bargman JM, et al., *The Use of a Multidimensional Measure of Dialysis Adequacy-Moving beyond Small Solute Kinetics*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2017. 12(5): p. 839-47.
- 16. Black N, Burke L, Forrest CB, et al., *Patient-reported outcomes: pathways to better health, better services, and better societies.* Qual Life Res, 2016. 25(5): p. 1103-12.
- 17. Garg AX, Suri RS, Eggers P, et al., *Patients receiving frequent hemodialysis have better healthrelated quality of life compared to patients receiving conventional hemodialysis.* Kidney Int, 2017. 91(3): p. 746-54.
- 18. Xi W, Singh PM, Harwood L, et al., *Patient experiences and preferences on short daily and nocturnal home hemodialysis*. Hemodial Int, 2013. 17(2): p. 201-7.
- 19. Cases A, Dempster M, Davies M, et al., *The experience of individuals with renal failure participating in home haemodialysis: an interpretative phenomenological analysis.* J Health Psychol, 2011. 16(6): p. 884-94.
- 20. Suri RS, Garg AX, Chertow GM, et al., *Frequent Hemodialysis Network (FHN) randomized trials: Study design.* Kidney International, 2007. 71(4): p. 349-59.

- 21. Miller BW, Himmele R, Sawin DA, et al., *Choosing Home Hemodialysis: A Critical Review of Patient Outcomes.* Blood Purif, 2018. 45(1-3): p. 224-9.
- 22. Ageborg M, Allenius BL, and Cederfjall C, *Quality of life, self-care ability, and sense of coherence in hemodialysis patients: a comparative study.* Hemodial Int, 2005. 9 Suppl 1: p. S8-14.
- 23. Piccoli GB, Bechis F, Iacuzzo C, et al., *Why Our Patients Like Daily Hemodialysis*. Hemodial Int, 2000. 4: p. 47-50.
- 24. Abdel-Kader K and Unruh ML, *Benefits of short daily home hemodialysis in the FREEDOM Study: is it about person, place, time, or treatment?* Kidney Int, 2012. 82(5): p. 511-3.
- 25. Zazzeroni L, Pasquinelli G, Nanni E, et al., *Comparison of Quality of Life in Patients Undergoing Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.* Kidney Blood Press Res, 2017. 42(4): p. 717-27.
- 26. Ho YF and Li IC, *The influence of different dialysis modalities on the quality of life of patients with end-stage renal disease: A systematic literature review.* Psychol. Health, 2016. 31(12): p. 1435-65.
- 27. Liem YS, Bosch JL, Arends LR, et al., *Quality of life assessed with the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form 36-Item Health Survey of patients on renal replacement therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Value Health, 2007. 10(5): p. 390-7.
- 28. Fukuhara S, Lopes AA, Bragg-Gresham JL, et al., *Health-related quality of life among dialysis patients on three continents: the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study.* Kidney Int, 2003. 64(5): p. 1903-10.
- 29. Mazairac AH, De Wit GA, Penne EL, et al., *Changes in quality of life over time—Dutch haemodialysis patients and general population compared*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2011. 26: p. 1984-9.
- 30. Wyld M, Morton RL, Hayen A, et al., *A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Utility-Based Quality of Life in Chronic Kidney Disease Treatments*. PLOS, 2012. 9(9): p. 1-10.
- 31. Furukawa TA, Barbui C, Cipriani A, et al., *Imputing missing standard deviations in metaanalyses can provide accurate results.* J Clin Epidemiol, 2006. 59(1): p. 7-10.
- 32. International Society of Nephrology, *https://www.theisn.org/about-isn/regions Last accessed May 27, 2021.*
- 33. Critical Appraisal Skills Programme, (2017). CASP (Cohort Study) Checklist. [online] Available at: https://casp-uk.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/CASP-Cohort-Study-Checklist_2018.pdf. Accessed: 14-2-2018.
- 34. Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, et al., *The Newcastle-Ottawa quality assessment scale (Cohort studies). Available at: http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/nosgen.pdf Accessed: 14-2-2018.*
- 35. Higgins JPT and Green S, *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011].* The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011.
- Walker RC, Howard K, and Morton RL, Home hemodialysis: A comprehensive review of patientcentered and economic considerations. ClinicoEconomics and Outcomes Research, 2017. 9: p. 149-61.
- Homaie RE, Mostafavi H, Delavari S, et al., *Health-related Quality of Life in Patients on Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis: a Meta-Analysis of Iranian Studies*. Iran J. Kidney Dis, 2015. 9(5): p. 386-93.
- 38. Ishani A, Slinin Y, Greer N, et al., *Comparative Effectiveness of Home-Based Kidney Dialysis Versus In-Center or Other Outpatient Kidney Dialysis Locations A Systematic Review.* 2015.
- 39. Palmer SC, Palmer AR, Craig JC, et al., *Home versus in-centre haemodialysis for end-stage kidney disease.* Cochrane. Database. Syst. Rev, 2014(11): p. CD009535.
- 40. Avramovic M and Stefanovic V, *Health-related quality of life in different stages of renal failure.* Artif. Organs, 2012. 36(7): p. 581-9.

- 41. Boateng EA and East L, *The impact of dialysis modality on quality of life: a systematic review.* J. Ren Care, 2011. 37(4): p. 190-200.
- 42. Liem YS, Bosch JL, and Hunink MG, *Preference-based quality of life of patients on renal replacement therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Value. Health, 2008. 11(4): p. 733-41.
- 43. Aguiar R, Pei M, Qureshi AR, et al., *Health-related quality of life in peritoneal dialysis patients: A narrative review.* Semin Dial, 2019. 32(5): p. 452-62.
- 44. Li H, Xie L, Yang J, et al., *Symptom burden amongst patients suffering from end-stage renal disease and receiving dialysis: A literature review.* Int J Nurs Sci, 2018. 5(4): p. 427-31.
- 45. Queeley GL and Campbell ES, *Comparing treatment modalities for end-stage renal disease: A meta-analysis.* Value in Health, 2014. 17(3): p. A290.
- 46. Valentijn PP, Pereira FA, Ruospo M, et al., *Person-Centered Integrated Care for Chronic Kidney Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2018. 13(3): p. 375-86.
- 47. Arenas VG, Barros LFNM, Lemos FB, et al., *Quality of Life: comparison between patients on automated peritoneal dialysis and patients on hemodialysis.* Acta Paul Enferm., 2009. 22: p. 535-9.
- 48. Zhang J, Huang C, Li Y, et al., *Health-related quality of life in dialysis patients with constipation: a cross-sectional study.* Patient. Prefer. Adherence, 2013. 7: p. 589-94.
- 49. Osthus TB, Preljevic V, Sandvik L, et al., *Renal transplant acceptance status, health-related quality of life and depression in dialysis patients.* J. Ren Care, 2012. 38(2): p. 98-106.
- 50. Fong E, Bargman JM, and Chan CT, *Cross-sectional comparison of quality of life and illness intrusiveness in patients who are treated with nocturnal home hemodialysis versus peritoneal dialysis.* Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2007. 2(6): p. 1195-200.
- 51. Dodson S, Osicka T, Huang L, et al., *Multifaceted Assessment of Health Literacy in People Receiving Dialysis: Associations With Psychological Stress and Quality of Life.* J. Health Commun, 2016. 21(sup2): p. 91-8.
- 52. Murali R, Sathyanarayana D, and Muthusethupathy M, *Assessment of quality of life in chronic kidney disease patients using the kidney disease quality of life-short formtm questionnaire in indian population: A community based study.* Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical and Clinical Research, 2015. 8(1): p. 271-4.
- 53. Davison SN and Jhangri GS, *Existential and religious dimensions of spirituality and their relationship with health-related quality of life in chronic kidney disease.* Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2010. 5(11): p. 1969-76.
- 54. Chiu Y-W, Teitelbaum I, Misra M, et al., *Pill burden, adherence, hyperphosphatemia, and quality of life in maintenance dialysis patients.* Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2009. 4(6): p. 1089-96.
- 55. Bohlke M, Nunes DL, Marini SS, et al., *Predictors of quality of life among patients on dialysis in southern Brazil.* Sao Paulo Med. J, 2008. 126(5): p. 252-6.
- 56. Laudanski K, Nowak Z, and Niemczyk S, *Age-related differences in the quality of life in endstage renal disease in patients enrolled in hemodialysis or continuous peritoneal dialysis.* Med. Sci. Monit, 2013. 19: p. 378-85.
- 57. Theofilou P, Quality of life and mental health in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients: the role of health beliefs. Int. Urol. Nephrol, 2012. 44(1): p. 245-53.
- 58. Panagopoulou A, Hardalias A, Berati S, et al., *Psychosocial issues and quality of life in patients on renal replacement therapy*. Saudi. J. Kidney Dis. Transpl, 2009. 20(2): p. 212-8.
- 59. Dąbrowska-Bender M, Dykowska G, Żuk W, et al., *The impact on quality of life of dialysis patients with renal insufficiency.* Patient Preference and Adherence, 2018. 12: p. 577-83.
- 60. Martinez-Sanchis S, Bernal MC, Montagud JV, et al., *Quality of life and stressors in patients with chronic kidney disease depending on treatment.* Span. J. Psychol, 2015. 18: p. E25.

9

- 61. Peng YS, Chiang CK, Hung KY, et al., *Comparison of self-reported health-related quality of life between Taiwan hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients: a multi-center collaborative study.* Qual. Life Res, 2011. 20(3): p. 399-405.
- 62. Conde SA, Fernandes N, Santos FR, et al., *Cognitive decline, depression and quality of life in patients at different stages of chronic kidney disease.* J. Bras. Nefrol, 2010. 32(3): p. 242-8.
- 63. Aghakhani N, Nia HS, Zadeh SS, et al., *Quality of life during hemodialysis and study dialysis treatment in patients referred to teaching hospitals in Urmia-Iran in 2007.* Caspian Journal of Internal Medicine, 2011. 2(1): p. 183-8.
- 64. de Abreu MM, Walker DR, Sesso RC, et al., *Health-related quality of life of patients recieving hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis in Sao Paulo, Brazil: a longitudinal study.* Value. Health, 2011. 14(5 Suppl 1): p. S119-S21.
- 65. Makkar V, Kumar M, Mahajan R, et al., *Comparison of Outcomes and Quality of Life between Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis Patients in Indian ESRD Population.* J. Clin. Diagn. Res, 2015. 9(3): p. OC28-OC31.
- 66. Osthus TB, Preljevic VT, Sandvik L, et al., *Mortality and health-related quality of life in prevalent dialysis patients: Comparison between 12-items and 36-items short-form health survey.* Health Qual. Life Outcomes, 2012. 10: p. 46.
- 67. Izbirak G, Akan H, Mistik S, et al., *Comparison of health-related quality of life of patients on hemodialysis and continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis*. Turkiye Klinikleri Journal of Medical Sciences, 2010. 30(5): p. 1595-602.
- 68. Thong MS, van Dijk S, Noordzij M, et al., *Symptom clusters in incident dialysis patients: associations with clinical variables and quality of life.* Nephrol. Dial. Transplant, 2009. 24(1): p. 225-30.
- 69. Noshad H, Sadreddini S, Nezami N, et al., *Comparison of outcome and quality of life: haemodialysis versus peritoneal dialysis patients.* Singapore Med. J, 2009. 50(2): p. 185-92.
- 70. Hallinen T, Soini EJ, Martikainen JA, et al., *Costs and quality of life effects of the first year of renal replacement therapy in one Finnish treatment centre.* J. Med. Econ, 2009. 12(2): p. 136-40.
- 71. Abdel-Kader K, Myaskovsky L, Karpov I, et al., *Individual quality of life in chronic kidney disease: influence of age and dialysis modality.* Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol, 2009. 4(4): p. 711-8.
- 72. Timmers L, Thong M, Dekker FW, et al., *Illness perceptions in dialysis patients and their association with quality of life*. Psychol. Health, 2008. 23(6): p. 679-90.
- 73. Shrestha S, Ghotekar LR, Sharma SK, et al., *Assessment of quality of life in patients of end stage renal disease on different modalities of treatment.* JNMA. J. Nepal. Med. Assoc, 2008. 47(169): p. 1-6.
- 74. Mau LW, Chiu HC, Chang PY, et al., *Health-related quality of life in Taiwanese dialysis patients: effects of dialysis modality.* Kaohsiung. J. Med. Sci, 2008. 24(9): p. 453-60.
- 75. Malmstrom RK, Roine RP, Heikkila A, et al., *Cost analysis and health-related quality of life of home and self-care satellite haemodialysis*. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant, 2008. 23(6): p. 1990-6.
- 76. Sayin A, Mutluay R, and Sindel S, *Quality of life in hemodialysis, peritoneal dialysis, and transplantation patients.* Transplant. Proc, 2007. 39(10): p. 3047-53.
- 77. Molsted S, Prescott L, Heaf J, et al., *Assessment and clinical aspects of health-related quality of life in dialysis patients and patients with chronic kidney disease.* Nephron Clinical Practice, 2007. 106(1): p. c24-c33.
- 78. Lausevic M, Nesic V, Stojanovic M, et al., *Health-related quality of life in patients on peritoneal dialysis in Serbia: comparison with hemodialysis.* Artif. Organs, 2007. 31(12): p. 901-10.
- 79. Kutner NG, Zhang R, Huang Y, et al., *Association of sleep difficulty with Kidney Disease Quality of Life cognitive function score reported by patients who recently started dialysis.* Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2007. 2(2): p. 284-9.

- 80. Kalender B, Ozdemir AC, Dervisoglu E, et al., *Quality of life in chronic kidney disease: Effects of treatment modality, depression, malnutrition and inflammation.* International Journal of Clinical Practice, 2007. 61(4): p. 569-76.
- 81. Jardine MJ, Gray NA, De Zoysa J, et al., *Design and participant baseline characteristics of 'A Clinical Trial of IntensiVE Dialysis': The ACTIVE Dialysis Study.* Nephrology, 2015. 20: p. 257-65.
- 82. Painter P, Krasnoff JB, Kuskowski M, et al., *Effects of modality change on health-related quality of life.* Hemodial Int, 2012. 16(3): p. 377-86.
- 83. Al Wakeel J, Al Harbi A, Bayoumi M, et al., *Quality of life in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients in Saudi Arabia*. Ann. Saudi. Med, 2012. 32(6): p. 570-4.
- 84. Alvares J, Cesar CC, Acurcio FA, et al., *Quality of life of patients in renal replacement therapy in Brazil: comparison of treatment modalities.* Qual. Life Res, 2012. 21(6): p. 983-91.
- 85. Atapour A, Nasr S, Boroujeni AM, et al., *A comparison of the quality of life of the patients undergoing hemodialysis versus peritoneal dialysis and its correlation to the quality of dialysis.* Saudi. J. Kidney Dis. Transpl, 2016. 27(2): p. 270-80.
- 86. Barata NE, Dyadic Relationship and Quality of Life Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. J. Bras. Nefrol, 2015. 37(3): p. 315-22.
- 87. Basok EK, Atsu N, Rifaioglu MM, et al., *Assessment of female sexual function and quality of life in predialysis, peritoneal dialysis, hemodialysis, and renal transplant patients.* Int. Urol. Nephrol, 2009. 41(3): p. 473-81.
- 88. Baykan H and Yargic I, *Depression, anxiety disorders, quality of life and stress coping strategies in hemodialysis and continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients.* Klinik Psikofarmakoloji Bulteni, 2012. 22(2): p. 167-76.
- 89. Borowiak E, Braksator E, Nowicki M, et al., *Quality of life of chronic hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients*. Clinical and Experimental Medical Letters, 2009. 50(1): p. 37-42.
- 90. Brown EA, Johansson L, Farrington K, et al., *Broadening Options for Long-term Dialysis in the Elderly (BOLDE): differences in quality of life on peritoneal dialysis compared to haemodialysis for older patients.* Nephrol. Dial. Transplant, 2010. 25(11): p. 3755-63.
- 91. Bujang MA, Musa R, Liu WJ, et al., *Depression, anxiety and stress among patients with dialysis and the association with quality of life.* Asian J. Psychiatr, 2015. 18: p. 49-52.
- 92. Liu WJ, Musa R, Chew TF, et al., *Quality of life in dialysis: A Malaysian perspective.* Hemodial. Int, 2014. 18(2): p. 495-506.
- 93. Chen JY, Wan EYF, Choi EPH, et al., *The Health-Related Quality of Life of Chinese Patients on Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis*. Patient, 2017: p. 1-10.
- 94. Chkhotua A, Pantsulaia T, and Managadze L, *The quality of life analysis in renal transplant recipients and dialysis patients*. Georgian. Med. News, 2011. 11(200): p. 10-7.
- 95. Maglakelidze N, Pantsulaia T, Tchokhonelidze I, et al., *Assessment of health-related quality of life in renal transplant recipients and dialysis patients*. Transplant. Proc, 2011. 43(1): p. 376-9.
- Czyzewski L, Sanko-Resmer J, Wyzgal J, et al., Assessment of health-related quality of life of patients after kidney transplantation in comparison with hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis. Ann. Transplant, 2014. 19: p. 576-85.
- 97. Da Silva-Gane M, Wellsted D, Greenshields H, et al., *Quality of life and survival in patients with advanced kidney failure managed conservatively or by dialysis.* Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol, 2012. 7(12): p. 2002-9.
- de Fijter CWH, Diepen AT, Amiri F, et al., Patient-reported outcomes (PROs) argue against the limited use of peritoneal dialysis in end-stage renal disease. Clinical Nephrology, 2018. 90(2): p. 94-101.
- 99. Fructuoso M, Castro R, Oliveira L, et al., *Quality of life in chronic kidney disease*. Nefrologia, 2011. 31(1): p. 91-6.

- 100. Garcia-Llana H, Remor E, and Selgas R, *Adherence to treatment, emotional state and quality of life in patients with end-stage renal disease undergoing dialysis.* Psicothema, 2013. 25(1): p. 79-86.
- 101. Ginieri-Coccossis M, Theofilou P, Synodinou C, et al., *Quality of life, mental health and health beliefs in haemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients: investigating differences in early and later years of current treatment.* BMC. Nephrol, 2008. 9: p. 14.
- 102. Goncalves FA, Dalosso IF, Borba JM, et al., *Quality of life in chronic renal patients on hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis: a comparative study in a referral service of Curitiba PR.* Jornal brasileiro de nefrologia, 2015. 37(4): p. 467-74.
- 103. Griva K, Kang AW, Yu ZL, et al., *Quality of life and emotional distress between patients on peritoneal dialysis versus community-based hemodialysis*. Qual. Life Res, 2014. 23(1): p. 57-66.
- 104. Yang F, Griva K, Lau T, et al., *Health-related quality of life of Asian patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) in Singapore.* Qual. Life Res, 2015. 24(9): p. 2163-71.
- 105. Günalay S, Oztürk YK, Akar H, et al., *The relationship between malnutrition and quality of life in haemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients*. Revista da Associacao Medica Brasileira, 2018. 64(9): p. 845-52.
- 106. Ibrahim N, Chiew-Tong NK, and Desa A, *Symptoms and health-related quality of life in patients with heamodialysis and continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis.* Research Journal of Medical Sciences, 2011. 5(5): p. 252-6.
- 107. Ikonomou M, Skapinakis P, Balafa O, et al., *The impact of socioeconomic factors on quality of life of patients with chronic kidney disease in Greece.* J. Ren Care, 2015. 41(4): p. 239-46.
- 108. Iyasere OU, Brown EA, Johansson L, et al., *Quality of Life and Physical Function in Older Patients on Dialysis: A Comparison of Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis with Hemodialysis.* Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol, 2016. 11(3): p. 423-30.
- 109. Kang SH, Do JY, Lee SY, et al., *Effect of dialysis modality on frailty phenotype, disability, and health-related quality of life in maintenance dialysis patients.* PLoS. One, 2017. 12(5): p. e0176814.
- 110. Kim JY, Kim B, Park KS, et al., *Health-related quality of life with KDQOL-36 and its association with self-efficacy and treatment satisfaction in Korean dialysis patients.* Qual. Life Res, 2013. 22(4): p. 753-8.
- 111. Kontodimopoulos N and Niakas D, *An estimate of lifelong costs and QALYs in renal replacement therapy based on patients' life expectancy.* Health Policy, 2008. 86(1): p. 85-96.
- 112. Kontodimopoulos N, Pappa E, and Niakas D, *Gender- and age-related benefit of renal replacement therapy on health-related quality of life*. Scand. J. Caring. Sci, 2009. 23(4): p. 721-9.
- 113. Nakayama M, Ishida M, Ogihara M, et al., *Social functioning and socioeconomic changes after introduction of regular dialysis treatment and impact of dialysis modality: a multi-centre survey of Japanese patients*. Nephrology. (Carlton.), 2015. 20(8): p. 523-30.
- 114. Neumann D, Lamprecht J, Robinski M, et al., *Social relationships and their impact on healthrelated outcomes in peritoneal versus haemodialysis patients: A prospective cohort study.* Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 2018. 33(7): p. 1235-44.
- 115. Okpechi IG, Nthite T, and Swanepoel CR, *Health-related quality of life in patients on hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis*. Saudi. J. Kidney Dis. Transpl, 2013. 24(3): p. 519-26.
- 116. Ören B and Enc N, *Quality of life in chronic haemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients in Turkey and related factors.* International journal of nursing practice, 2013. 19(6): p. 547-56.
- 117. Ramos EC, Santos I, Zanini R, et al., *Quality of life of chronic renal patients in peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis.* Jornal brasileiro de nefrologia, 2015. 37(3): p. 297-305.
- 118. Ruiz de Alegría-Fernández de Retana B, Basabe-Barañano N, and Saracho-Rotaeche R, *Coping mechanisms as a predictor for quality of life in patients on dialysis: a longitudinal and multi-centre study.* Nefrologia, 2013. 33(3): p. 342-54.

- 119. Tannor EK, Archer E, Kapembwa K, et al., *Quality of life in patients on chronic dialysis in South Africa: a comparative mixed methods study.* BMC. Nephrol, 2017. 18(1): p. 4.
- 120. Theofilou P, *Quality of life in patients undergoing hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis treatment.* J. Clin. Med. Res, 2011. 3(3): p. 132-8.
- 121. Theofilou P, Association of insomnia symptoms with kidney disease quality of life reported by patients on maintenance dialysis. Psychol. Health Med, 2013. 18(1): p. 70-8.
- 122. Turkmen K, Yazici R, Solak Y, et al., *Health-related quality of life, sleep quality, and depression in peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis patients.* Hemodial. Int, 2012. 16(2): p. 198-206.
- 123. Watanabe Y, Ohno Y, Inoue T, et al., *Home hemodialysis and conventional in-center hemodialysis in Japan: a comparison of health-related quality of life.* Hemodial. Int, 2014. 18 Suppl 1: p. S32-S8.
- 124. Wright LS and Wilson L, *Quality of Life and Self-Efficacy in Three Dialysis Modalities: Incenter Hemodialysis, Home Hemodialysis, and Home Peritoneal Dialysis.* Nephrol. Nurs. J, 2015. 42(5): p. 463-76.
- 125. Wu F, Cui L, Gao X, et al., *Quality of life in peritoneal and hemodialysis patients in China.* Ren Fail, 2013. 35(4): p. 456-9.
- 126. Ying SC and Krishnan M, *Interpretation of quality of life outcomes amongst end stage renal disease patients in selected hospitals of Malaysia.* International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research, 2014. 5(1): p. 60-9.
- 127. Yongsiri S, Thammakumpee J, Prongnamchai S, et al., *The association between bioimpedance analysis and quality of life in pre-dialysis stage 5 chronic kidney disease, hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients*. J. Med. Assoc. Thai, 2014. 97(3): p. 293-9.
- 128. Ware JE, SF-36 Health Survey. Manual and Interpretation Guide. 1997.
- 129. Liyanage T, Ninomiya T, Jha V, et al., *Worldwide access to treatment for end-stage kidney disease: a systematic review.* The Lancet, 2015. 385(9981): p. 1975-82.
- 130. Moosa MR, Maree JD, Chirehwa MT, et al., *Use of the 'Accountability for Reasonableness' Approach to Improve Fairness in Accessing Dialysis in a Middle-Income Country.* PLoS One, 2016. 11(10): p. e0164201.
- 131. Kilonzo KG, Jones ESW, Okpechi IG, et al., *Disparities in dialysis allocation: An audit from the new South Africa*. PLoS One, 2017. 12(4): p. e0176041.
- 132. Sakhuja V and Sud K, *End-stage renal disease in India and Pakistan: burden of disease and management issues.* Kidney Int Suppl, 2003(83): p. S115-8.
- 133. Bello AK, Alrukhaimi M, Ashuntantang GE, et al., *Global overview of health systems oversight and financing for kidney care.* Kidney Int Suppl (2011), 2018. 8(2): p. 41-51.
- 134. van der Tol A, Lameire N, Morton RL, et al., *An International Analysis of Dialysis Services Reimbursement.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2019. 14(1): p. 84-93.
- 135. Robinson BM, Akizawa T, Jager KJ, et al., *Factors affecting outcomes in patients reaching endstage kidney disease worldwide: differences in access to renal replacement therapy, modality use, and haemodialysis practices.* The Lancet, 2016. 388(10041): p. 294-306.
- 136. Hood K, Robling M, Ingledew D, et al., *Mode of data elicitation, acquisition and response to surveys: a systematic review.* Health Technology Assessment, 2012. 16(27).
- 137. Korevaar JC, Feith GW, Dekker FW, et al., *Effect of starting with hemodialysis compared with peritoneal dialysis in patients new on dialysis treatment: A randomized controlled trial.* Kidney Int, 2003. 64: p. 2222-8.
- 138. Korevaar JC, Jansen MAM, Merkus MP, et al., *Quality of life in predialysis end-stage renal disease patients at the initiation of dialysis therapy.* Peritoneal Dialysis International, 2000. 20: p. 69-75.
- 139. Manns BJ, Walsh MW, Culleton BF, et al., *Nocturnal hemodialysis does not improve overall measures of quality of life compared to conventional hemodialysis*. Kidney Int, 2009. 75(5): p. 542-9.

- 140. Black N, *Patient reported outcome measures could help transform healthcare*. BMJ, 2013. 346: p. f167.
- 141. van der Willik EM, Meuleman Y, Prantl K, et al., *Patient-reported outcome measures: selection of a valid questionnaire for routine symptom assessment in patients with advanced chronic kidney disease a four-phase mixed methods study.* BMC Nephrol, 2019. 20(1): p. 344.

Supplemental material

Supplemental table S1. Sea	rch strings for Cochrane,	, EMBASE, and Pubmed databases
----------------------------	---------------------------	--------------------------------

Database	Search
Cochrane	(((hemodialys*:ab,ti,kw OR haemodialys*:ab,ti,kw OR "hemo-dialys*":ab,ti,kw OR "haemo-dialys*":ab,ti,kw OR "renal dialys*":ab,ti,kw OR "dialysis modalit*":ab,ti,kw OR "artificial kidney*":ab,ti,kw) AND (home:ab,ti,kw OR homebased:ab,ti,kw)) OR "peritoneal dialys*":ab,ti,kw OR "peritoneum dialys*":ab,ti,kw) AND
	("patient reported outcome":ab,ti,kw or "life qualit*":ab,ti,kw or "quality of life":ab,ti,kw or qol:ab,ti,kw or hrql:ab,ti,kw or hrqol:ab,ti,kw or "SF 36":ab,ti,kw or SF36:ab,ti,kw or "SF 12":ab,ti,kw or SF12:ab,ti,kw or "short form 36":ab,ti,kw or "short form 12":ab,ti,kw or "EQ 5D*":ab,ti,kw or EQ5D*:ab,ti,kw or "Quality Adjusted Life":ab,ti,kw or QALY:ab,ti,kw or QALYs:ab,ti,kw or QALE:ab,ti,kw)
EMBASE	Search dates from 1 January 2007 until 1 January 2019 ('peritoneal dialysis'/exp OR 'home dialysis'/exp OR ('hemodialysis'/de OR 'artificial kidney'/ exp OR hemodialys*:ab,ti OR haemodialys*:ab,ti OR 'hemo-dialys*':ab,ti OR 'haemo- dialys*':ab,ti OR 'renal dialys*':ab,ti OR (dialysis NEAR/3 modalit*):ab,ti OR 'artificial kidney*':ab,ti AND (home:ab,ti OR homebased:ab,ti)) OR 'peritoneal dialys*':ab,ti OR (peritoneum NEAR/3 dialys*):ab,ti) AND
	('patient-reported outcome'/exp OR 'quality of life'/exp OR 'patient reported outcome':ab,ti OR life AND qualit*:ab,ti OR 'quality of life':ab,ti OR qol:ab,ti OR hrql:ab,ti OR hrql:ab,ti OR hrql:ab,ti OR 'sf 36':ab,ti OR sf36:ab,ti OR 'sf 12':ab,ti OR sf12:ab,ti OR 'short form 36':ab,ti OR 'short form 12':ab,ti OR 'eq 5d*':ab,ti OR eq5d*:ab,ti OR 'quality adjusted life':ab,ti OR qaly:ab,ti OR qaly:ab,ti OR qale:ab,ti)
Pubmed	("Peritoneal Dialysis" [Mesh] OR "Hemodialysis, Home" [Mesh] OR (("Renal Dialysis" [Mesh:noexp] OR "Kidneys, Artificial" [Mesh] OR hemodialys* [tiab] OR haemodialys* [tiab] OR hemo-dialys* [tiab] OR haemo-dialys* [tiab] OR dialysis modalit* [tiab] OR artificial kidney* [tiab]) AND (home [tiab] OR homebased [tiab])) OR peritoneal dialys* [tiab] OR peritoneum dialys* [tiab])
	("Patient Reported Outcome Measures" [Mesh] OR "Quality of Life" [Mesh] OR "Quality- Adjusted Life Years" [Mesh] OR "patient reported outcome" [tiab] OR life qualit* [tiab] OR "quality of life" [tiab] OR qol[tiab] OR hrql[tiab] OR hrqol[tiab] OR SF 36[tiab] OR SF36[tiab] OR SF 12[tiab] OR SF12[tiab] OR short form 36[tiab] OR short form 12[tiab] OR QALY [tiab] OR EQ5D* [tiab] OR Quality Adjusted Life[tiab] OR QALY [tiab] OR QALY [tiab] OR QALE [tiab]) Search dates from 21 November 2007 until 1 January 2019

Questionnaire	Content
Short Form Health Survey (SF)	The long version of the SF (SF-36) consists of eight domains: Physical functioning, Role-physical, Bodily pain, General health, Vitality, Social function, Role-emotional, and Mental health [1]. These domains are summarized in the Physical Component Summary (PCS) and Mental Component Summary (MCS). The shorter version of the SF (SF-12) only reports the PCS and MCS [2]. The SF questionnaires are the most widely used [3].
Kidney Disease Quality Of Life Instrument (KDQOL)	The long version of the KDQOL (KDQOL-SF) consist of the SF-36 questionnaire and the following kidney disease specific domains: Symptoms, Effects of kidney disease, Burden of kidney disease, Work status, Cognitive function, Quality of social interaction, Sexual function, Sleep, Social support, Dialysis staff encouragement, and Patient satisfaction [4]. The short version of the KDQOL (KDQOL-36) consists of the SF-12 and the first three kidney disease specific domains (Symptoms, Effects of kidney disease, and Burden of kidney disease).
EuroQol-5D (EQ-5D)	The EuroQol-5D (EQ-5D) is a short questionnaire that can be used to calculate quality adjusted life years (QALYs) and reports on the following domains: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression. The EQ-5D is widely used in cost-effectiveness research [5].
World Health Organization Quality of Life (WHOQOL-BREF)	The World Health Organization Quality of Life (WHOQOL) has developed the WHOQOL-BREF questionnaire which measures four domains (physical health, psychological, social relationships, and environment) and an overall assessment of quality of life and general health [6].

Supplemental table S2. HRQoL questionnaires

1. Ware JE, Snow KK, Kosinski M, Gandek B. SF-36 Health Survey: Manual and Interpretation Guide. Boston, MA: The Health Institute, New England Medical Center; 1993.

2. Ware JE, Kosinski MM, Keller SD. A 12-Item Short-Form Health Survey: Construction of Scales and Preliminary Tests of Reliability and Validity. Medical Care. 1996;34:220-233.

3. Wyld M, Morton RL, Hayen A, et al. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Utility-Based Quality of Life in Chronic Kidney Disease Treatments. PLOS. 2012;9(9):1-10.

4. Hays RD, Kallich JD, Mapes DL, Coons SJ, Carter WB. Development of the Kidney Disease Quality of Life (KDQOL) instrument. Qual Life Res. 1994; 3:329–338.

5. Versteegh MM, Vermeulen KM, Evers SMAA, et al. Dutch Tariff for the Five-Level Version of EQ-5D. Value in Health. 2016;19:343-352.

6. WHOQOL Group. Development of the World Health Organization WHOQOL-BREF Quality Of Life Assessment. Psychological Medicine. 1998;28:551-558.

Criteria	+	?	-
Design	+ RCT or cohort study		- cross-sectional study
Patient selection	+ clear description setting and selection process, selection criteria mentioned and response ≥70%	? insufficient data to estimate risk of bias	 no clear description setting and selection process, selection criteria not mentioned and response <70%
Comparability	+ matched controls or comparable baseline for age, comorbidities, dialysis vintage	? insufficient data to estimate risk of bias	- non-matched or non- comparable groups
Outcome	+ self-reported HRQoL or trained interviewer	? insufficient data to estimate risk of bias	- no clear protocol for interview or administering questionnaire
Confounding	+ Adjusted analyses or stratified presentation in results	? insufficient data to estimate risk of bias	- confounding factors not mentioned or only as part of discussion
Follow-up	+ follow-up >6 months and <30% loss in the first year, with non-selective reasons	NA not applicable	- follow-up <6 months and >30% loss in the first year
Selective reporting	+ all pre-defined HRQoL scores in protocol or methods section are reported	? insufficient data to estimate risk of bias	- not all pre-defined scores are reported
Overall (risk of bias)	low: ≥4 plus signs in above mentioned elements	moderate: 3 plus signs in above mentioned elements or 1-2 plus signs with ≥1 question mark	high: ≤2 plus signs in above mentioned elements
Conflict of interest	+ mentioned, non-conflicted	? not-mentioned	- mentioned and conflicted

Supplemental table S3. Criteria used in Risk of Bias assessment

selec para- tion come founding up bility report ting Risk of Bias interest Bias Alvares, 2012 - + ? + NA + Low ? Alvares, 2012 - + ? + NA + Low ? Atapour, 2015 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Bask, 2009 ? ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2015 - + + + NA + Low + Baykan, 2015 - + + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? NA + Low + De Jilez, 2015 2011	Study	Design	Patient	Com-	Out-	Con-	Follow-	Selective	Overall	Conflict of
tion billy ting Bias Al Wakeel, 2012 - + ? + NA + Low ? Altapour, 2016 - + ? + NA + Low ? Barata, 2015 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 - ? + + + NA + Low + Uiu, 2014 - ? + + NA + Low + Chenoua, 2011 and - ? ? + + NA + Low + Chystowa, 2013 and - ? ? + + NA + Low +	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Ŭ	selec-	para-	come	founding	an	repor-	Risk of	interest
Alwakeel, 2012 - + + + NA + Low ? Alvares, 2012 - + + + + NA + Low ? Alvares, 2012 - + + + + NA + Low ? Barsta, 2015 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Brown, 2010 - + + + NA + Low - Bujang, 2015 and - + + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + 7 + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - ? + - NA + Moderate ? Dasilva-Gane, 2012 + - ? + + NA + Low			tion	bility			1-	ting	Bias	
Alvares, 2012 + + + + + + + NA + Low + Atapour, 2015 - + + ? + NA + Low + Bartat, 2015 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Bujang, 2015 and - + + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? NA + Low + Chenka, 2011 and ? ? + + NA + Low + Crysewski, 2014 ? ? + + NA + High? ? Dailva-Gane, 2012 + - + + NA + <td>Al Wakeel 2012</td> <td>-</td> <td>+</td> <td>7</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>NA</td> <td>+</td> <td>Low</td> <td>2</td>	Al Wakeel 2012	-	+	7	+	+	NA	+	Low	2
Atapour, 2016 + + ? + NA + Low ? Barata, 2015 ? ? ? NA ? Moderate ? Barkot, 2009 ? ? ? NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 ? ? ? NA + Moderate ? Borwn, 2010 - + + + NA + Low - Bujang, 2015 and - + + + - NA + Low + Liu, 2014 - ? + + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - Paislya-Gane, 2012 + + + NA + Low + Chen, 2013 - - NA<	Alvares, 2012	-	+	-	+	+	NA	+	Low	+
Barata, 2015 - ? ? ? - NA ? Moderate ? Basok, 2009 - ? ? ? + NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 - ? ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Borowiak, 2009 - ? ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Borowiak, 2009 - ? ? ? - NA + Low + Liu, 2014 - + + + + NA + Low + Liu, 2014 - ? + + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? + + NA - Moderate ? Maglakelidze, 2011 Cryzewski, 2014 - ? ? + + + NA - Moderate ? DaSilva-Gane, 2012 + - ? + + + NA - Low + Frictuoso, 2011 - ? - + + + + NA + Low + Paifler, 2018 - + - + + NA - Moderate ? DaSilva-Gane, 2012 + - ? + + + NA + Low + Frictuoso, 2011 - ? - + NA + Moderate - Garcia-Liana, 2013 - + - + ? NA + Moderate - Garcia-Liana, 2013 - + - + ? NA + Moderate - Ginieri-Coccossis, - ? + + - NA + Moderate - Ginieri-Coccossis, - ? + + NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - ? ? - NA + High ? Griva, 2014 - + ? + NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - Griva, 2016 - + + + + NA + Low + Vang, 2015 - ? ? - NA + High ? Ibrahim, 2011 - + ? - NA + High ? Ibrahim, 2011 - + ? - NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - Kim, 2013 - + ? + NA + Low + Vagere, 2016 - + + + + NA + Low + Vagere, 2016 - + + + + NA + Low + Vasere, 2016 - + + + + NA + Low + Vasere, 2016 - + + + + NA + Low + Vasere, 2016 - + + + + NA + Low + Vasere, 2016 - + + + + + NA + Low - Kang, 2017 - ? + ? + NA + Moderate + Kang, 2013 NA + High ? Charlow + Vasere, 2016 - + + + + + NA + Low - Natayama, 2018 + ? + + + + NA + Low + Natayama, 2018 + ? + + + + NA + Low + Natayama, 2018 + ? + + + + + NA + Low + Natayama, 2018 + ? + + + + + + Low + Natayama, 2018 + ? + + + + + + Low + Natayama, 2015 - + + + + + + + Low + Retana, 2013 NA + High ? Dirahing, 2014 + - NA + Moderate + Wize Alegria + + + + + + + - NA + Low ? 2011 and 2013 - Turkmen, 2012 - + + + ? - NA + Moderate + Watanabe, 2014 - ? + + + ? - NA + Moderate + Wize Alegria + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	Atapour 2016	_	+	+	2	+	NA	+	Low	2
Basok, 2009 - ? ? + - NA + Moderate ? Baykan, 2012 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Borwaik, 2009 - ? ? - NA + Moderate ? Borwaik, 2009 - + + + + NA + Low - Bujang, 2015 and - + + + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? + + NA + Low + Adglakelidze, 2011 - ? ? + - NA + Low + Adglakelidze, 2011 - ? + + NA + Low + Garcia-Llana, 2013 + - + + NA + Moderate - Ginieri-Coccossis, - ? ? - NA + High ? Ginalay, 2018 - ? ? -	Barata 2015	_	2	2	7	_	NA	2	Moderate	?
Baykan, 2012 - ? ? - NA + Moderate + Borown, 2010 - + + + NA + Low Bujang, 2015 and - + + + NA + Low Bujang, 2015 and - + + + - NA + Low Chen, 2017 - + ? + + NA + Low + Chen, 2011 - ? + + NA + Low + Cargewski, 2014 - ? ? + + NA + Low + De Fijter, 2018 - + + + NA + Low + Garia-Liang, 2013 - ? - + NA + Moderate - Ginieri-Coccossis, - ? ? - NA + High ? Griva, 2014 and - + + + NA + Low	Basok. 2009	-	?	?	+	-	NA	+	Moderate	?
Browniak, 2009 - ? - ? NA + Moderate ? Brown, 2010 - + + + + NA + Low - Brown, 2015 - + + + + NA + Low + Bujang, 2015 and - + + + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? + + NA + Low + Chystopastic - ? ? + + NA + Low + Chystopastic - ? ? + + NA + Low + De filter, 2018 - - + ? NA + Moderate ? Garcia-Llana, 2013 - - + ? NA + Moderate ? Goncalves, 2015 - ? ? - NA + High ? ? Ginalay, 2018 ? ? ? </td <td>Bavkan 2012</td> <td>_</td> <td>2</td> <td>2</td> <td>7</td> <td>_</td> <td>NA</td> <td>+</td> <td>Moderate</td> <td>+</td>	Bavkan 2012	_	2	2	7	_	NA	+	Moderate	+
Brown, 2010 - + + + + NA + Low - Bujang, 2015 and - + + + + NA + Low + Liu, 2014 - + ? + + NA + Low + Chchotua, 2011 and ? ? + - NA - Moderate ? Maglakelidze, 2011 - ? ? + - NA - Moderate ? Da Silva-Gane, 2012 + + - + + + - Low + Pructuoso, 2011 ? ? + + NA + Hogerate - Ginier-Coccossis, ? ? + + NA + Moderate - Goncalves, 2015 ? ? ? - NA + High ? Griva, 2014 and - + + NA + Low + + Yang, 2015 - ? ? NA + Low +	Borowiak, 2009	-	?	?	-	?	NA	+	Moderate	?
Buijang, 2015 and + + + + NA + Low + Liu, 2014 - + ? + + NA + Low + Chen, 2017 - + ? + + NA + Moderate ? Maglakelidze, 2011 - ? ? + - NA - Moderate ? Dasilva-Gane, 2012 + - + + + + - Moderate ? Dasilva-Gane, 2012 + - + + + NA + Moderate ? Garcia-Llan, 2013 + - + ? NA + Moderate ? Goncalves, 2015 ? ? + + NA + Moderate ? Goncalves, 2015 ? ? ? + + NA + Low + Goncalves, 2015 ? ? ? NA + Moderate ? + Goncalves, 2015 . ? ? +	Brown 2010	_	+	+	+	+	NA	+	Low	-
Lin, 2014 Image: Constraint of the con	Buiang 2015 and	_	+	+	+	_	NA	+	Low	+
Chen, 2017 - + ? + + NA + Low + Chkhotua, 2011 and - ? ? + - NA - Moderate ? Maglakelidze, 2011 - ? ? + - NA - Moderate ? Da Silva-Gane, 2012 + + - + + + - Low + De Fijter, 2018 - + + + + NA + Low + Garcia-Llana, 2013 - + - + NA + Moderate ? 2008 - ? + + + NA + Moderate ? 2008 - ? ? - NA + High ? ? Ginalay, 2018 - ? ? - NA + Low + Yagsere, 2016 - + ? + NA + Low - Kang, 2017 ? + + +<	Liu, 2014								2011	
Chkhotua, 2011 and - ? ? + - NA - Moderate ? Maglakelidze, 2011 - ? ? + - NA - Moderate ? Da Silva-Gane, 2012 + - + + + - Low + De Fijter, 2018 - + - + NA + Low + Fructuoso, 2011 - ? - + NA + Low + Garcia-Llana, 2013 + - + + NA + Moderate + 2008 - ? + + NA + Moderate + 2008 - ? - - NA + High ? Griva, 2014 and - ? ? - NA + High ? Ginalay, 2018 - ? ? NA + High ? ? Kionomou, 2015 - + ? NA + Moderate ? Kontodimopoulos, +	Chen, 2017	-	+	?	+	+	NA	+	Low	+
Maglakelidze, 2011 - ? ? + - NA - Moderate ? Da Silva-Gane, 2012 + + + + + - Low + Da Silva-Gane, 2011 - ? - + + NA + Low + Fructuoso, 2011 - ? - + NA + High ? Garcia-Llana, 2013 - + - + ? NA + Moderate - 2008 - ? + - + NA + Moderate + 2008 - ? ? - NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - ? ? - NA + High ? Ginalay, 2018 - ? - ? NA + High ? Ikonomou, 2015 - + ? NA + Moderate + ? King, 2017 - ? + + NA <td< td=""><td>Chkhotua, 2011 and</td><td>-</td><td>?</td><td>?</td><td>+</td><td>-</td><td>NA</td><td>-</td><td>Moderate</td><td>?</td></td<>	Chkhotua, 2011 and	-	?	?	+	-	NA	-	Moderate	?
Czyzewski, 2014 - ? ? + - NA - Moderate ? Da Silva-Gane, 2012 + + - + + + - Low + De Fijter, 2018 - + - + + NA + Low + De Fijter, 2018 - + - + NA + High ? Garcia-Llana, 2013 - + - + ? NA + Moderate - Ginieri-Coccossis, - ? + + ? NA + Moderate + 2008 - ? - + + NA + Low + 40702015 - ? - NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - + + NA + Low + Yang, 2017 - Painter, 2014 + + + NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - + + + NA + Low<	Maglakelidze, 2011									
Da Silva-Gane, 2012 + + - +	Czvzewski. 2014	-	?	?	+	-	NA	-	Moderate	?
De Fijter, 2018 - + - + + NA + Low + Fructuoso, 2011 - ? - + NA + High ? Garcia-Llana, 2013 - + - + ? NA + Moderate - Goncalves, 2015 - ? + + - NA + Moderate + 2008 - ? ? - - NA + Moderate + 2008 - ? ? - - NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - ? ? - NA + High ? (binatin, 2011 - + ? - - NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - + ? + + NA + Low + Yang, 2017 ? + + + NA + Low + Yangae, 2017 ? + +	Da Silva-Gane 2012	+	+	-	+	+	+	_	low	+
Fructuoso, 2011 - ? - + + NA + High ? Garcia-Llana, 2013 - + + ? NA + Moderate - Ginieri-Coccossis, - ? + + ? NA + Moderate - 2008 - ? + + + NA + Moderate - 2008 - ? ? - - NA + Moderate - 2008 - ? ? + + NA + Low + Goncalves, 2015 - ? ? + + NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - ? ? - NA + High ? Ikonomou, 2015 - + ? + NA + Low + Yasser, 2016 - + ? NA + Low + Kondoimopoulos, - + ? + NA +	De Fiiter . 2018	-	+	-	+	+	NA	+	Low	+
Garcia-Llana, 2013 - + + + ? NA + Moderate - Ginieri-Coccossis, - ? + + - NA + Moderate - 2008 - ? ? - - NA + Moderate + 2008 - ? ? - - NA + Moderate + 2008 - ? ? - - NA + High ? Griva, 2014 and - + + + NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - - ? - NA + High ? Ibrahim, 2011 - + ? + + NA + Low - Kang, 2017 - + ? + + NA + Low - Yang, 2013 - + ? NA + Low - Nakayama, 2015 - + + + NA + Lo	Fructuoso 2011	-	?	_	-	+	NA	+	High	?
Ginieri-Coccossis, - ? + + - NA + Moderate + 2008 Goncalves, 2015 - ? ? - - NA - High ? Griva, 2014 and - + - + + NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - + + + NA + Low + Simalay, 2018 - ? - NA + High ? Ibrahim, 2011 - + ? - NA + Low + Ikonomou, 2015 - + ? + + NA + Low + Kang, 2017 - ? + + + NA + Low + Kang, 2013 - + + + + NA + Low + 2008 and 2009 - + + + + Low + + Neumann, 2018 - -	Garcia-Llana. 2013	-	+	-	+	?	NA	+	Moderate	-
2008 Gorcalves, 2015 - ? ? - - NA - High ? Griva, 2014 and - + - + + NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - - NA + High ? - - NA + High ? Bundardy, 2018 - ? - ? NA + High ? Ibrahim, 2011 + + ? - NA + High ? Ikonomou, 2015 + ? + + NA + Low + Iyasere, 2016 - + + + NA + Low + Kang, 2017 - ? + + + NA + Low + Kang, 2017 - ? + ? NA + Low + Kang, 2017 - ? + + + + Low + Nakayama, 2018 - + + <td< td=""><td>Ginieri-Coccossis</td><td>-</td><td>?</td><td>+</td><td>+</td><td>-</td><td>NA</td><td>+</td><td>Moderate</td><td>+</td></td<>	Ginieri-Coccossis	-	?	+	+	-	NA	+	Moderate	+
Goncalves, 2015 - ? ? - - NA - High ? Ginva, 2014 and - + - + + NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - - ? - NA + High ? Gunalay, 2018 - ? - NA + High ? Ibrahim, 2011 - + ? - NA + High ? Ikonomou, 2015 - + ? + + NA + Low + Iyasere, 2016 - + + + NA + Low - Kang, 2017 - ? + + + NA + Low - Kang, 2017 - ? + + + NA + Low - Nakyama, 2015 - + + + + Low + NA + Low + Nakyama, 2013	2008		-							
Griva, 2014 and - + + + NA + Low + Yang, 2015 - ? - ? NA + High ? Günalay, 2018 - ? - ? NA + High ? Ibrahim, 2011 - + ? + + NA + Low + Ikonomou, 2015 - + ? + + NA + Low + Iyasere, 2016 - + + + NA + Low - Kang, 2017 - ? + + + NA + Low - Kang, 2013 - + ? + + NA + Low ? 2008 and 2009 - + + + + Low + ? Netwann, 2018 - - + + NA + High ? Painter, 2012 + + + +	Goncalves 2015	_	2	2	_	_	NA	_	High	2
Yang, 2015 - ? - ? - NA + High ? Ibrahim, 2011 - + ? - - NA ? High ? Ikonomou, 2015 - + ? + + NA + Low + Iyasere, 2016 - + + + NA + Low - Kang, 2017 - ? + ? + NA + Moderate + Kim, 2013 - + ? + NA + Moderate ? Kontodimopoulos, - + + + NA + Low ? 2008 and 2009 Nakayama, 2015 - + + + NA + Low ? Nakayama, 2013 - - - NA + Low + Network ? Nakyama, 2015 - + + + + Low + ? ? ? ? ? ? ?	Griva 2014 and	_	+	-	+	+	NA	+	Low	+
Günalay, 2018-?-?-NA+High?Ibrahim, 2011-+?NA?High?Ikonomou, 2015-+?+NA+Low+Iyasere, 2016-+++NA+Low-Kang, 2017-?+?+NA+Moderate+Kim, 2013-+?+NA+Moderate?2008 and 2009-+++NA+Low-Nakayama, 2015-+++++Low-Neumann, 2018+?++++Low+Okpechi, 2013NA+High?Painter, 2012+++++Low+Ramos, 2015-++++Low?Ruiz de Alegria++++Low?Ruiz de Alegria++++Low?Ruiz de Alegria++++Low?Ruiz de Alegria++++Low?Ruiz de Alegria++++Low?Ruiz de Alegria++++Low?2011 and 2013-+?-NA+	Yang, 2015						1177		LOW	
Ibrahim, 2011 - + ? - - NA ? High ? Ikonomou, 2015 - + ? + + NA + Low + Iyasere, 2016 - + + + + NA + Low - Kang, 2017 - ? + ? + NA + Moderate + Kim, 2013 - + ? + ? NA - Moderate + Kim, 2013 - + + + + NA + Low ? 2008 and 2009 - + + + + Low + Neumann, 2018 - + + + + Low + Painter, 2012 + + + + + Low + Ramos, 2015 - + + + NA + Low + Retana, 2013 - + + +	Günalav. 2018	-	?	-	?	-	NA	+	High	?
Ikonomou, 2015 - + ? + + NA + Low + Iyasere, 2016 - + + + + NA + Low - Kang, 2017 - ? + ? + NA + Moderate + Kim, 2013 - + ? + ? NA - Moderate ? Kontodimopoulos, - + + + + NA + Low ? 2008 and 2009 - + + + + NA + Low ? Neumann, 2018 - + + + + + Low + Neumann, 2013 - - - NA + Low + Painter, 2012 + + + + + Low + Ramos, 2015 - + + + + Low + Retana, 2013 - + + + NA +	Ibrahim, 2011	-	+	?	-	-	NA	?	High	?
lyasere, 2016 - + + + + NA + Low - Kang, 2017 - ? + ? + NA + Moderate + Kim, 2013 - + ? + ? NA - Moderate ? Kontodimopoulos, - + + + + NA + Low ? 2008 and 2009 - + + + + NA + Low - Nakayama, 2015 - + + + + + Low + Neumann, 2018 + ? + + + + Low + Okpechi, 2013 - - - NA + High ? Painter, 2013 - + + + + Low + Ramos, 2015 - + + + NA + Low ? Retana, 2013 - + + + NA +<	Ikonomou, 2015	-	+	?	+	+	NA	+	Low	+
Kang, 2017 - ? + ? + NA + Moderate + Kim, 2013 - + ? + ? NA - Moderate ? Kontodimopoulos, - + + + + NA + Low ? 2008 and 2009 - + + + + NA + Low - Nakayama, 2015 - + + + + NA + Low - Nakayama, 2015 - + + + + + Low - Neumann, 2018 + ? + + + + + Low + Okpechi, 2013 - - - - NA + High ? Oren, 2013 - + + + + + Low + Ramos, 2015 - + + + + NA + Low + Retana, 2013 - +	lyasere, 2016	-	+	+	+	+	NA	+	Low	-
Kin, 2013-+?+?NA-Moderate ?Kontodimopoulos,-++++NA+Low?2008 and 2009Nakayama, 2015-++++Low-Neumann, 2018+?++++Low+Okpechi, 2013NA+High?Ören, 2013-+++NA-High?Painter, 2012+++++Low+Ramos, 2015-++++Low?Ruiz de Alegria+++++Low?Retana, 2013-+++++Low+Theofilou,-+?-NA?High?2011 and 2013-++-NA+Moderate +Watanabe, 2014-?++-NA+Moderate +Wight, 2015-+?-NA+Moderate +Wight, 2013-?++-NA+Moderate +Wight, 2014-?+-NA+Moderate +Ying, 2014-?+-NA+Moderate +	Kang, 2017	-	?	+	?	+	NA	+	Moderate	+
Kontodimopoulos, - + + + + + NA + Low ? 2008 and 2009 - + + + - NA + Low - Nakayama, 2015 - + + + + + Low - Neumann, 2018 + ? + + + + Low + Neumann, 2013 - - - - NA + Low + Okpechi, 2013 - - - + NA + High ? Painter, 2012 + + + + + Low + Ramos, 2015 - + + + + Low ? Ruiz de Alegria + + + + + Low ? Ruiz de Alegria + + + + NA + Low ? Tannor, 2017 - + + - NA ? Moderate +	Kim , 2013	-	+	?	+	?	NA	-	Moderate	?
2008 and 2009 Nakayama, 2015 - + + + - NA + Low - Neumann, 2018 + ? + + + + Low + Okpechi, 2013 - - - NA + High ? Ören, 2013 - + - + NA + High ? Painter, 2012 + + + + + Low + Ramos, 2015 - + + + + Low ? Ruiz de Alegria + + + + + Low ? Retana, 2013 - + + + + Low ? Tannor, 2017 - + ? - NA ? Moderate + Yeasabe, 2014 - + ? - NA ? Moderate + Wright, 2015 - + ? - NA + Moderate + Wright, 2013 <td>Kontodimopoulos,</td> <td>-</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>NA</td> <td>+</td> <td>Low</td> <td>?</td>	Kontodimopoulos,	-	+	+	+	+	NA	+	Low	?
Nakayama, 2015 - + + + - NA + Low - Neumann, 2018 + ? + + + + Low + Okpechi, 2013 - - - - NA + High ? Ören, 2013 - + - + NA - High ? Painter, 2012 + + + + - + High ? Painter, 2012 + + + + + Low + Ramos, 2015 - + + + + Low ? Ruiz de Alegria + + + + + Low ? Retana, 2013 - + + + + Low ? Tannor, 2017 - + ? - NA ? Moderate + Yeanabe, 2014 - + ? - NA + Moderate + Wright, 2015 -	2008 and 2009									
Neumann, 2018 + + + + + Low + Okpechi, 2013 - - - - NA + High ? Ören, 2013 - + - - + NA + High ? Painter, 2012 + + + + - + + High ? Painter, 2012 + + + + + + + + High ? Painter, 2012 - + + + + + + Low + Retana, 2013 - + + + + + - Low + Tannor, 2017 - + - NA + Moderate + Theofilou, - + ? - NA ? High ? 2011 and 2013 - + ? - NA + Moderate + Wright, 2015 - + ? - NA	Nakavama, 2015	-	+	+	+	-	NA	+	low	-
Okpechi, 2013 - - - NA + High ? Ören, 2013 - + - + NA - High ? Painter, 2012 + + + + NA - High ? Painter, 2012 + + + + + + Low + Ramos, 2015 - + + + + + Low + Ruiz de Alegria + + + + + Low + Retana, 2013 - + + + + Low + Tannor, 2017 - + - NA + Moderate + Theofilou, - + ? - NA ? High ? 2011 and 2013 - + + ? - NA + Moderate + Watanabe, 2014 - ? + + NA + Moderate + Wu, 2013 - ? <td>Neumann. 2018</td> <td>+</td> <td>?</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>+</td> <td>low</td> <td>+</td>	Neumann. 2018	+	?	+	+	+	+	+	low	+
Ören, 2013 - + - + NA - High ? Painter, 2012 + + + + + + Low + Ramos, 2015 - + + + + + Low ? Ruiz de Alegria + + + + + + Low ? Ruiz de Alegria + + + + + + Low ? Retana, 2013 - + + + + - Low + Tannor, 2017 - + - NA + Moderate + Theofilou, - + ? - NA ? High ? 2011 and 2013 - + ? - NA + Moderate + Watanabe, 2014 - ? + + NA + Moderate + Wright, 2015 - + ? - NA + Moderate + Wu, 2013	Okpechi , 2013	-	-	-	-	-	NA	+	High	?
Painter, 2012 + <	Ören. 2013	-	+	-	-	+	NA	-	High	?
Ramos, 2015 - + + + + NA + Low ? Ruiz de Alegria + + + + + + + Low ? Ruiz de Alegria + + + + + + + Low ? Retana, 2013 - - + + + + + + + - Low + Tannor, 2017 - + + + + + - NA + Moderate + Theofilou, - + ? - NA ? Migh ? 2011 and 2013 - + ? - NA ? Moderate + Watanabe, 2014 - ? + - NA + Moderate + Wright, 2015 - + ? - NA + Moderate + Wu, 2013 - ? + - NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 -	Painter, 2012	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	Low	+
Ruiz de Alegria +	Ramos. 2015	-	+	+	+	+	NA	+	Low	?
- Fernandez de Retana, 2013 Tannor, 2017 - + - + - NA + Moderate + Theofilou, - + ? - NA ? High ? 2011 and 2013 Turkmen, 2012 - + + ? - NA - Moderate + Watanabe, 2014 - ? + + - NA + Moderate + Wright, 2015 - + ? + - NA + Moderate + Wy, 2013 - ? + + - NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 - ? + ? - NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 - ? + ? - NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 - ? + ? - NA + Moderate +	Ruiz de Alegria	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	Low	+
Retana, 2013 Tannor, 2017 - + - NA + Moderate + Theofilou, - + ? - NA ? High ? 2011 and 2013 - + ? - NA ? High ? Turkmen, 2012 - + ? - NA + Moderate + Watanabe, 2014 - ? + - NA + Moderate + Wright, 2015 - + ? + NA + Moderate + Wu, 2013 - ? + - NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 - ? - NA + Moderate + Yongsiri, 2014 - ? - NA + Moderate +	- Fernandez de									
Tannor, 2017 - + - + - NA + Moderate + Theofilou, - + ? - NA ? High ? 2011 and 2013 - + + ? - NA ? High ? Zurkmen, 2012 - + + ? - NA + Moderate + Watanabe, 2014 - ? + - NA + Moderate + Wright, 2015 - + ? - NA + Moderate + Wu, 2013 - ? + - NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 - ? - NA + Moderate + Yongsiri, 2014 - ? - NA + Moderate +	Retana 2013									
Theofilou, - + ? - NA ? High ? 2011 and 2013 - + + ? - NA ? High ? Turkmen, 2012 - + + ? - NA + Moderate + Watanabe, 2014 - ? + + NA + Moderate + Wright, 2015 - + ? + NA + Moderate + Wu, 2013 - ? + + NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 - ? + - NA + Moderate + Yongsiri, 2014 - ? + ? - NA + Moderate +	Tannor 2017	_	+	-	+	_	NA	+	Moderate	+
2011 and 2013 - + + - NA - Moderate + Watanabe, 2014 - + + - NA + Moderate + Wright, 2015 - + ? + - NA + Moderate + Wright, 2013 - ? + + NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 - ? + - NA + Moderate + Yongsiri, 2014 - ? + ? NA + Moderate +	Theofilou	_	+	2	_	_	NA	2	High	2
Turkmen, 2013 - + + ? - NA - Moderate + Watanabe, 2014 - ? + + NA + Moderate + Wright, 2015 - + ? + - NA + Moderate + Wu, 2013 - ? + - NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 - ? - NA - High ? Yongsiri, 2014 - ? + ? NA + Moderate +	2011 and 2012			•			1 1 1	•	111611	
Watanabe, 2012 - - + + - NA - Modelate + Watanabe, 2014 - ? + + - NA + Modelate + Wright, 2015 - + ? + - NA + Modelate + Wu, 2013 - ? + + - NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 - ? + ? - NA - High ? Yongsiri, 2014 - ? + ? - NA + Moderate +	Turkmon 2013	_	+	+	2	_	ΝΔ	_	Modorato	+
Wright, 2017 - : <td:< td=""> : : <td::< td=""> <td< td=""><td>Watanahe 2014</td><td>2</td><td>2</td><td>+</td><td>: +</td><td>_</td><td>NΔ</td><td>+</td><td>Modorato</td><td>+</td></td<></td::<></td:<>	Watanahe 2014	2	2	+	: +	_	NΔ	+	Modorato	+
Wu, 2013 - + + - NA + Moderate + Wu, 2013 - ? + + NA + Moderate + Ying, 2014 - + ? - NA + Moderate + Yongsiri, 2014 - ? + ? NA + Moderate +	Wright 2015	-	: +	2	+	-	NA	+	Moderate	+
Ying, 2013 - : <th:< th=""> : : <th:< th=""> <</th:<></th:<>	Win 2013	_	2	: +	+	-	NΔ	+	Modorato	+
Yongsiri, 2014 - ? + ? - NA + Moderate +	Ving 2014	2	+	2	_	_	NΔ	-	High	2
	Yongsiri, 2014	-	?	+	?	-	NA	+	Moderate	+

Supplemental table S4. Critical appraisal of 41 studies

Study			%
IB	Panel A. Physical HRQoL measured with different questionnaires	SMD (95% CI)	Weigh
SF			
Al Wakeel		-0.19 (-0.47, 0.09)	2.74
Alvares	• i _	-0.20 (-0.29, -0.12)	3.37
Atapour		0.42 (0.01, 0.83)	2.19
Basok		-0.42 (-1.01, 0.17)	1.58
Baykan		0.73 (0.29, 1.18)	2.07
Brown		0.16 (-0.18, 0.49)	2.51
Chen		0.23 (0.00, 0.46)	2.93
Chkhotua and Maglakelidze		-0.02 (-0.37, 0.33)	2.45
Czyzewski		0.31 (-0.16, 0.79)	1.95
Da Silva–Gane		0.61 (0.23, 0.98)	2.33
Fiiter		0.39(-0.07.0.85)	2.01
Fructuoso		1.09 (0.44, 1.74)	1.47
Carda Hana		0.50 (0.08, 1.10)	1.00
Soncalver		-0.26 (-0.49 -0.04)	2.04
Goncaives		0.10(0.36 0.01)	2.34
anva and rang		-0.19 (-0.36, -0.01)	3.12
ibranim		0.30 (0.04, 0.55)	2.84
Ikonomou		0.16 (-0.22, 0.53)	2.33
lyasere		0.13 (-0.12, 0.38)	2.86
Kang		-0.16 (-0.27, -0.04)	3.30
Kim		-0.06 (-0.35, 0.22)	2.70
Kontodimopoulos		0.00 (-0.26, 0.26)	2.83
Nakayama		-0.29 (-0.58, 0.01)	2.66
Neumann	!	-0.22 (-0.43, -0.01)	3.00
Okpechi		0.05 (-0.42, 0.51)	1.99
Painter		0.15 (-0.68, 0.97)	1.04
Ramos		-0.07 (-0.36, 0.21)	2.72
Ruiz de Alegria – Fernandez de Retana		0.41 (0.01, 0.82)	2.23
Tannor		0.04 (-0.34, 0.42)	2.31
Turkmen	I	-0.60 (-0.92, -0.27)	2.53
Watanabe		1.06 (0.59, 1.54)	1.96
Wright a		-0.22 (-0.77, 0.34)	1.69
Wright b		0.04 (-0.49.0.57)	1.77
Winght D		0.04(-0.49, 0.57)	2.70
49		0.20 (-0.02, 0.33)	2.70
ning		0.51 (0.23, 0.79)	2./1
Oren		0.37 (0.14, 0.60)	2.92
Subtotal (I–squared = 79.8%, p = 0.000)	•	0.11 (0.01, 0.22)	84.51
WHOQOL-BREF			
sarata		 1.32 (0.88, 1.76) 	2.09
Bujang and Liu	11 L L	-0.07 (-0.18, 0.04)	3.32
Ginieri–Coccossis		0.48 (0.06, 0.90)	2.15
Theofilou		0.46 (0.13, 0.80)	2.50
Yongsiri		0.12 (-0.39, 0.63)	1.83
Subtotal (I–squared = 91.4%, p = 0.000)	\sim	0.45 (-0.04, 0.94)	11.88
EQ-5D			
Borowiak		0.11 (-0.28, 0.50)	2.27
Günalav		-0.41 (-1.09, 0.28)	1.34
Subtotal (I-squared = 39.5%, p = 0.199)		-0.07 (-0.55, 0.41)	3.61
Overall (I–squared = 81.3%, p = 0.000)	•	0.14 (0.04, 0.24)	100.00
NOTE: Weights are from random effects ar	nalysis		
	-1.5 -15 0 .5 1 1.5		

Supplemental figure S1. Meta-analysis of Health-Related Quality of Life in different questionnaires

Legend: SMD, standardized mean difference; 95% Cl, 95% confidence interval; SF, Short Form (including KDQOL); WHOQOL–BREF, World Health Organization Quality of Life–BREF; EQ–5D, EuroQol–5D; HRQoL, Health–Related Quality of Life.

study			70
D	Panel B. Mental HRQoL measured with different questionnaires	SMD (95% CI)	Weig
SF	!		
Al Wakeel		0.80 (0.52, 1.09)	2.71
Alvares	+	0.01 (-0.08, 0.09)	3.54
Atapour		0.09 (-0.32, 0.50)	2.16
Basok		-0.48 (-1.07, 0.12)	1.48
Baykan		0.45 (0.01, 0.88)	2.04
Brown		0.34 (0.01, 0.67)	2 50
Chen		-0.07 (-0.30, 0.16)	3.00
Children and Maglakolidzo		-0.05 (-0.40, 0.20)	2.42
Cristiotua anu wagiakeliuze		-0.03 (-0.40, 0.30)	2.45
Czyżewski D. Cilus Com		0.03 (0.10, 1.13)	1.05
Da Silva–Gane		-0.16 (-0.53, 0.21)	2.33
Fijter		0.32 (-0.14, 0.78)	1.95
Fructuoso		0.30 (-0.32, 0.92)	1.41
Garcia–Llana		0.24 (-0.26, 0.75)	1.78
Goncalves	<u> </u>	-0.63 (-0.86, -0.40)	2.99
Griva and Yang		0.02 (-0.15, 0.20)	3.23
Ibrahim		0.31 (0.06, 0.57)	2.88
Ikonomou		0.30 (-0.08, 0.68)	2.29
lvasere		-0.12 (-0.36, 0.13)	2 91
Kang	i	-0.19 (-0.31, -0.08)	3.45
Kim		0.03 (-0.26 0.21)	2.72
Kontodimonoulor		0.00 (0.25, 0.51)	2.73
Kontodimopoulos		-0.09 (-0.35, 0.16)	2.07
Nakayama		-0.04 (-0.34, 0.25)	2.68
Neumann		-0.03 (-0.24, 0.18)	3.08
Okpechi		0.02 (-0.45, 0.48)	1.92
Painter		-0.25 (-1.08, 0.57)	0.95
Ramos		0.14 (-0.15, 0.42)	2.75
Ruiz de Alegria – Fernandez de Retana		0.08 (-0.32, 0.48)	2.20
Tannor		-0.31 (-0.70, 0.07)	2.26
Turkmen –		-1.15 (-1.50, -0.81)	2.44
Watanabe		0.20 (-0.24, 0.65)	2.01
Wright a		0.02 (-0.53, 0.57)	1.61
Wright b		0.08 (-0.45, 0.61)	1.69
Wu		0.25 (-0.03, 0.54)	2.73
Ving		0.45 (0.17, 0.74)	2.73
Ören		0.33 (0.00, 0.55)	2.75
Subtetel /L. seument – 00.00/. m – 0.000)		0.52 (0.09, 0.55)	2.99
Subtotal (I-squared = 80.0%, p = 0.000)	¥	0.05 (-0.06, 0.16)	84.50
WHOQOL-BREF	i	0.04/0.40.4.000	
Barata		0.84 (0.42, 1.26)	2.11
Bujang and Liu		0.04 (-0.07, 0.15)	3.47
Ginieri–Coccossis		0.13 (-0.28, 0.55)	2.12
Theofilou		0.05 (-0.28, 0.38)	2.51
Yongsiri	+ I I	-0.08 (-0.59, 0.43)	1.75
Subtotal (I-squared = 70.9%, p = 0.008)	\sim	0.18 (-0.09, 0.45)	11.96
0-5D			
Borowiak		0.11 (-0.28, 0.50)	2.23
Günalav		-0.41 (-1.09.0.28)	1.24
Subtotal (I-squared = 39.5%, p = 0.199)		-0.07 (-0.55, 0.41)	3.47
Overall (I-squared = 78.1% p = 0.000)		0.06 (-0.03, 0.15)	100 (
NOTE: Weights are from random effects and	lucic T	5.00 (0.05, 0.15)	100.1
No re. Weights are nom random effects ana		1	

Legend: SMD, standardized mean difference; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; SF, Short Form (including KDQOL); WHOQOL–BREF, World Health Organization Quality of Life–BREF; EQ–SD, EuroQol–SD; HRQoL, Health–Related Quality of Life.

Study ID Panel A: Physical HRQoL measured in three	age categories (<45 years, 45–60 years, >60 years) SMD (95% CI)	% Weigh
<45 years	1	
Baykan	0.73 (0.29, 1.18)	2.45
Fructuoso	1.09 (0.44, 1.74)	1.61
Okpechi	0.05 (-0.42, 0.51)	2.35
Painter	0.15 (-0.68, 0.97)	1.16
Tannor	0.04 (-0.34, 0.42)	2.78
Subtotal (I–squared = 67.3%, p = 0.016)	0.39 (-0.01, 0.80)	10.35
45–60 years		
Al Wakeel	-0.19 (-0.47, 0.09)	3.38
Alvares	-0.20 (-0.29 -0.12)	434
Atapour	0.42 (0.01.0.83)	261
Basok	-0.42 (-1.01.0.17)	1.82
Borowiak	0.11(-0.28.0.50)	2.72
Buiang and Liu		4.76
Da Silva-Gane		2.81
Garria-Uana	0.59 (0.08 1 10)	2.01
Gancaluas	0.39 (0.00, 1.10)	2.13
Goncarves	-0.20 (-0.49, -0.04)	3.09
Ginalau Günalau	-0.19 (-0.30, -0.01)	1.50
Gunalay	-0.41 (-1.09, 0.28)	1.52
Konomou	0.18(-0.22, 0.53)	2.01
Kang	-0.16 (-0.27, -0.04)	4.23
Kontodimopoulos	0.00 (-0.26, 0.26)	3.52
Neumann	-0.22 (-0.43, -0.01)	3.//
Ramos	-0.07 (-0.36, 0.21)	3.36
Ruiz de Alegría – Fernandez de Retana	0.41 (0.01, 0.82)	2.67
lurkmen	-0.60 (-0.92, -0.27)	3.09
Watanabe	1.06 (0.59, 1.54)	2.31
Wu	0.26 (-0.02, 0.55)	3.33
Yongsiri	0.12 (-0.39, 0.63)	2.14
Oren	0.37 (0.14, 0.60)	3.65
Subtotal (I–squared = 79.9%, p = 0.000)	0.03 (-0.09, 0.15)	68.12
>60 years		
Brown	0.16 (-0.18, 0.49)	3.06
Chen	+	3.66
Fijter	0.39 (-0.07, 0.85)	2.37
Ginieri–Coccossis	0.48 (0.06, 0.90)	2.56
yasere	0.13 (-0.12, 0.38)	3.56
Nakayama	-0.29 (-0.58, 0.01)	3.27
Theofilou	0.46 (0.13, 0.80)	3.04
Subtotal (I-squared = 60.7%, p = 0.018)	0.20 (0.01, 0.39)	21.53
Overall (I–squared = 79.6%, p = 0.000)	0.11 (0.00, 0.21)	100.00
NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis		
15		
-1.5	-1 -2 0 .5 1 1.5	

Supplemental figure S2. Meta-analysis of Health-Related Quality of Life in different age categories

Legend: SMD, standardized mean difference; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; HRQoL, Health–Related Quality of Life.

Study		96
ID Panel B. Mental HRQoL measured in three age categories (<45 years, 45–60 years, >60 years)	SMD (95% CI)	Weig
<45 years		
Baykan 🔶 🔶	0.45 (0.01, 0.88)	2.45
Fructuoso	0.30 (-0.32, 0.92)	1.67
Okpechi	0.02 (-0.45, 0.48)	2.30
Painter	-0.25 (-1.08, 0.57)	1.11
Tannor	-0.31 (-0.70, 0.07)	2.73
Subtotal (I-squared = 48.7%, p = 0.100)	0.05 (-0.27, 0.37)	10.26
45_60 years		
a) Wolksal	0.80 (0.53, 1.00)	2 2 2
AI WARKEI	0.80 (0.52, 1.09)	3.32
Alvares	0.01 (-0.08, 0.09)	4.44
Atapour	0.09 (-0.32, 0.50)	2.60
Basok	-0.48 (-1.07, 0.12)	1.75
Borowiak	0.11 (-0.28, 0.50)	2.69
Bujang and Liu	0.04 (-0.07, 0.15)	4.35
Da Silva–Gane	-0.16 (-0.53, 0.21)	2.83
Garcia–Llana	0.24 (-0.26, 0.75)	2.12
Goncalves — — — —	-0.63 (-0.86, -0.40)	3.70
Griva and Yang	0.02 (-0.15, 0.20)	4.02
Günalay	-0.41 (-1.09, 0.28)	1.46
Ikonomou 🚽 🔶	0.30 (-0.08, 0.68)	2.77
Kang	-0.19 (-0.31, -0.08)	4.32
Kontodimopoulos	-0.09 (-0.35, 0.16)	3.53
Neumann	-0.03 (-0.24, 0.18)	3.81
Ramos	0.14 (-0.15, 0.42)	3.37
Ruiz de Alegria – Fernandez de Retana	0.08 (-0.32, 0.48)	2.66
Turkmen •	-1.15 (-1.50, -0.81)	2.96
Watanabe	0.20 (-0.24, 0.65)	2.41
Wu but the second	0.25 (-0.03, 0.54)	3.34
Yongsiri	-0.08 (-0.59, 0.43)	2.09
Ören	0.32 (0.09, 0.55)	3.69
Subtotal (I-squared = 84.3%, p = 0.000)	-0.02 (-0.15, 0.11)	68.22
>60 years		
Brown	0.34 (0.01, 0.67)	3.04
Chen	-0.07 (-0.30, 0.16)	3.70
Filter	0.32 (-0.14, 0.78)	2.33
Ginieri–Coccossis	0.13 (-0.28, 0.55)	2.55
	-0.12 (-0.36, 0.13)	3.58
Justice International Internat	-0.04 (-0.34, 0.25)	3.30
Theofilou	0.05 (=0.28, 0.29)	3.05
Subtotal (I–squared = 19.2%, p = 0.283)	0.04 (-0.09, 0.17)	21.52
Overall (I-squared = 77.9%, p = 0.000)	0.01 (-0.09. 0.11)	100.0
NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis		
	1	
-1.5 -15 0 .5 1	1.5	
Patter UPO-1 in another based shale. Datter UPO-1 have distuid		
better HhgoL III-center hemodialysis Better HkgoL home dialysis		

Legend: SMD, standardized mean difference; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; HRQoL, Health-Related Quality of Life.

Health-Related Quality of Life in dialysis patients



Chapter 10

Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO): Rationale and design

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs*, Anna A. Bonenkamp*, Friedo W. Dekker, Alferso C. Abrahams and Brigit C. van Jaarsveld on behalf of the DOMESTICO study group

BMC Nephrology. 2019 Sep 18;20(1):361

* These authors contributed equally to this article

Abstract

Background More than 6200 End-Stage Renal Disease patients in the Netherlands are dependent on dialysis, either performed at home or in a dialysis center. Visiting a dialysis center three times a week is considered a large burden by many patients. However, recent data regarding the effects of dialysis at home on quality of life, clinical outcomes, and costs compared with in-center hemodialysis are lacking.

Methods The Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO) is a nationwide, prospective, observational cohort study that will include adult patients starting with a form of dialysis. Health-related quality of life, as the primary outcome, clinical outcomes and costs, as secondary outcomes, will be measured every 3-6 months in patients on home dialysis, and compared with a control group consisting of in-center hemodialysis patients. During a 3-year period 800 home dialysis patients (600 peritoneal dialysis and 200 home hemodialysis patients) and a comparison group of 800 in-center hemodialysis patients will be included from 53 Dutch dialysis centers (covering 96% of Dutch centers) and 1 Belgian dialysis center (covering 4% of Flemish centers).

Discussion DOMESTICO will prospectively investigate the effect of home dialysis therapies on health-related quality of life, clinical outcomes and costs, in comparison with in-center hemodialysis. The findings of this study are expected to ameliorate the shared decision-making process and give more guidance to healthcare professionals, in particular to assess which type of patients may benefit most from home dialysis.

Trial registration The DOMESTICO study is registered with the National Trial Register on https:// www.trialregister.nl/trial/6519 (number: NL6519, date of registration: 22 August 2017) and the Central Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects (CCMO) (number: NL63277.029.17).

Introduction

In the Netherlands, over 6200 patients with End-Stage Renal Disease (ESRD) are dependent on dialysis, and over the past 15 years, the number of dialysis patients has increased by more than 20% [1-3]. The burden of dialysis is high and the health-related quality of life (HRQoL), which is presently considered to be the most important outcome parameter in dialysis patients, is much worse than that of healthy people [4]. As patient survival is poor, with a median five-year survival rate of only 45%, optimizing HRQoL is of great importance for this growing group of patients [5, 6].

Besides its impact on HRQoL, dialysis is also an expensive treatment. In the Netherlands, the estimated costs are approximately 570 million euro per year (639 million US dollars) and are still increasing [Personal communications, G.A. De Wit, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, 2019]. This makes dialysis by far the highest cost-consuming treatment in internal medicine, not only calculated per individual patient, but also if total treatment costs are taken into account [7].

Home dialysis has a potential positive effect on HRQoL because it offers flexibility to patients and greater freedom [8]. Moreover, home dialysis is possibly a more cost-effective therapy if less nursing staff is needed, when patients perform their treatment autonomously or with help of an informal caregiver. Despite these potential advantages, currently more than 80% of dialysis patients are treated with in-center hemodialysis (ICHD). Furthermore, the percentage of patients treated with home dialysis is steadily decreasing in the Netherlands, from 32% in 2002 to 18% in 2018. This decline is mainly attributable to a reduction in the number of patients performing peritoneal dialysis (PD), the main home based therapy, with 1519 PD patients (30% of total dialysis patients) in 2002 versus 894 PD patients (14% of total dialysis patients) in 2018 [1].

Available evidence regarding the effects of home dialysis compared with ICHD on HRQoL, a Patient Reported Outcome (PRO), is limited. Most studies have a cross-sectional design and lack adequate correction for confounding among dialysis groups [9-38]. Also, the characteristics of patients starting with some kind of home dialysis treatment have changed remarkably over the past years. Previously, those patients were typically young, working people with little comorbidities, whereas during the last years the general home dialysis population is older and often suffers from multiple comorbidities [2]. This could influence clinical outcomes such as mortality and hospitalization rate. Finally, there are limited data available regarding the cost-effectiveness of home dialysis.

To investigate the effect of home dialysis on HRQoL, clinical outcomes, and costs, the Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO) has been initiated. The aim of this study is to compare HRQoL, clinical outcomes, and cost-effectiveness of home dialysis with ICHD. The hypothesis is that home dialysis is associated with better HRQoL, at least comparable clinical outcomes and lower costs, compared to ICHD.

Methods

Study design

DOMESTICO is a nationwide, prospective, observational cohort study comparing home dialysis with ICHD. The maximum follow-up period of the study is 48 months. At present, 53 Dutch dialysis centers (covering 96% of Dutch centers) and 1 Belgian dialysis center have agreed to recruit patients (Figure 1). The study is conducted according to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and in accordance with the Medical Research Involving Human Subjects Act (WMO).

Figure 1. Participating centers



The red dots indicate the participating centers: 53 Dutch dialysis centers (covering 96% of Dutch centers) and 1 Belgian dialysis center.
Study population

All patients, aged 18 years and older, with ESRD that start with a form of dialysis in the participating centers, between December 2017 and December 2020, are eligible for this study. These patients are allowed to have a history of renal replacement therapy (RRT), however they have to (re)start dialysis during the study period for example due to kidney transplant failure (with or without previous dialysis). All these patients are defined as 'incident patients'. Prevalent dialysis patients, and patients with a life expectancy shorter than 3 months or an expected kidney transplantation within 3 months, are excluded. Patients have to provide written informed consent before participating in the study.

Inclusion

Patients are included in the period within four weeks before to four weeks after start of dialysis. If patients are missed for inclusion within this timeframe (for example, due to acute start of dialysis), they can be included at 3 months (± 2 weeks) after start of dialysis. Start of dialysis is defined as the first PD session performed at (a nursing) home (excluding PD-training) or, in case of ICHD, the first hemodialysis session performed in a center (excluding continuous RRT).

The first patient was included in December 2017 and the study has currently started in 45 centers with 338 participating patients (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Participating patients

10

(Early) termination

For each participating patient, the study ends on 20 December 2021. Early study termination occurs if the patient withdraws from the study or stops dialysis treatment. Reasons to stop dialysis include kidney transplantation, recovery of kidney function, the wish to stop dialysis, or death.

Outcomes

Primary outcome parameter

The primary outcome parameter is the patient's HRQoL, a PRO, determined with the 12-item Short Form (SF-12) health survey and the Dialysis Symptom Index (DSI) [39, 40]. These questionnaires were carefully selected as Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) in nephrological care by the Dutch Kidney Patients Association, the Dutch Federation for Nephrology, Nefrovisie (the Dutch Quality Institute for Nephrology), and Leiden University Medical Center [41, 42].

The SF-12 is the shorter version of the Short Form-36 (SF-36), one of the most widely used surveys to assess HRQoL [43, 44]. The SF-36 consists of eight domains: Physical functioning, Role-physical, Bodily pain, General health, Vitality, Social function, Role-emotional and Mental health. These domains are summarised in the Physical Component Summary (PCS) score and the Mental Component Summary (MCS) score. In the SF-12 these summary scores are calculated from the 12 most important questions (explaining ~90% variance) of the SF-36 questionnaire [39, 45]. As the average difference in summary scores between SF-36 and SF-12 is quite small, for time-efficiency reasons, the SF-12 can be used reliably in cohort studies [46].

The DSI consists of 30 questions evaluating the severity of symptoms relevant to dialysis and ESRD patients (Table 1). Patients report the level of burden of specific symptoms on a 5-point Likert scale, options range from 'not at all bothersome' to 'very bothersome' [40].

1. Constipation	16. Chest pain	
2. Nausea	17. Headache	
3. Vomiting	18. Muscle soreness	
4. Diarrhoea	19. Difficulty concentrating	
5. Decreased appetite	20. Dry skin	
6. Muscle cramps	21. Itching	
7. Swelling in legs	22. Worrying	
8. Shortness of breath	23. Feeling nervous	
9. Lightheadedness or dizziness	24. Trouble falling asleep	
10. Restless legs or difficulty keeping legs still	25. Trouble staying asleep	
11. Numbness or tingling in feet	26. Feeling irritable	
12. Feeling tired or lack of energy	27. Feeling sad	
13. Cough	28. Feeling anxious	
14. Dry mouth	29. Decreased interest in sex	
15. Bone or joint pain	30. Difficulty becoming sexually aroused	

Table 1. Items Dialysis Symptom Index

Secondary outcome parameters

Secondary outcome parameters are hospitalization, mortality, other clinical parameters, costs, and technique failure.

The cause of each hospitalization episode will be categorized into the following categories (using ICD-10 codes) [47]:

- Cardiac (including myocardial ischemia/infarction, cardiac arrest/arrhythmia, cardiac failure, fluid overload/pulmonary edema, hemorrhagic pericarditis);
- Vascular disease (including pulmonary embolus, stroke, cerebrovascular hemorrhage, ruptured vascular aneurysm, mesenteric infarction, peripheral arterial disease);
- Infection, non-dialysis related (including bacteremia/sepsis, cardiac infection, HIV, osteomyelitis, respiratory infection, urinary tract infection);
- Dialysis related (including dialysis access infection, peritonitis, PD catheter leakage/ exchange/removal, fistula operation, renal fluid overload, bleeding);
- Malignancy;
- Bleeding, non-dialysis related (including intracranial bleeding, gastro-intestinal bleeding, other causes of bleeding);
- Other causes.

Mortality will be categorized into the following categories (using ERA-EDTA codes) [48]:

- Sudden death 'with unknown cause';
- Cardiac (including myocardial ischemia/infarction, cardiac arrest/arrhythmia, cardiac failure, fluid overload/pulmonary edema, hemorrhagic pericarditis);
- Vascular (including pulmonary embolus, stroke, cerebrovascular hemorrhage, ruptured vascular aneurysm, mesenteric infarction, peripheral arterial disease);
- Infectious, dialysis related (including dialysis access infection, peritonitis);
- Infectious, non-dialysis related (including bacteremia/sepsis, cardiac infection, HIV, osteomyelitis, respiratory infection, urinary tract infection);
- Malignancy;
- Bleeding (including dialysis related bleeding, intracranial bleeding, gastro-intestinal bleeding, other causes of bleeding);
- Overall deterioration in clinical condition/stopping dialysis;
- Other causes.

Besides hospitalization and mortality, several clinical parameters will be recorded including blood pressure and use of antihypertensive drugs, hemoglobin and use of erythropoiesis-stimulating agents, phosphate levels and use of phosphate binders, vascular access parameters, and nutritional status.

Direct healthcare costs, patient costs, and costs with regard to productivity losses will be assessed with a subset of questions from the Institute for Medical Technology Assessment (iMTA) Productivity Cost Questionnaire (iPCQ) and the iMTA Medical Cost Questionnaire (iMCQ) [49, 50]. To capture all healthcare costs for the population under research a small number of disease specific services are added to the standard iMCQ, e.g. home dialysis. Given the fact that many patients need substantial help from close relatives, also use of informal care by patients will be assessed. The costs related to the healthcare consumption, the dialysis procedures, the diagnostic tests and (over-the-counter) medication will be derived from the patient's medical chart during the study. Unit costs will be derived from the Dutch manual for costing studies [51].

To further examine cost-effectiveness, the EuroQoI-5D-5L (EQ-5D-5L) questionnaire will be used. The EQ-5D-5L measures HRQoL on the following 5 domains: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression. Each domain has 5 levels of functioning, ranging from 'no problems' to 'extreme problems'. The EQ-5D-5L also contains a visual analogue scale on which the current health state can be indicated. The EQ-5D scores can be used to calculate utilities, which describe HRQoL on a scale from 0 (dead) to 1 (perfect health). Utilities can be combined with survival to calculate quality adjusted life years (QALYs). As outcome measure for cost-effectiveness, the costs per additional QALY will be analysed [52, 53].

All participating patients will also receive a self-management screening questionnaire (SeMaS) at baseline, in order to investigate whether self-management can predict a successful home dialysis treatment. This questionnaire shows the abilities and possible barriers for self-management by asking questions about the burden of disease, locus of control, self-efficacy, social support, coping style, anxiety, depression, and skills [54, 55]. Table 2 provides an overview of the moments when participating patients will fill in the aforementioned questionnaires.

Visit	SF-12	iPCQ	EQ-5D-5L	SeMaS	
	and DSI	and iMCQ			
Baseline	Х	Х	Х	Х	
At 3 and 6 months	Х	Х	Х		
At 9 months and		Х			
every 6 months thereafter					
At 12 months and every 6 months thereafter	Х	Х	Х		

Table 2. Overview questionnaires

SF-12: Short Form-12; DSI: Dialysis Symptom Index; iPCQ: Institute for Medical Technology Assessment (iMTA) Productivity Cost Questionnaire; iMCQ: iMTA Medical Cost Questionnaire; SeMaS: self-management screening questionnaire

Finally, technique failure rate of home dialysis, defined by a composite outcome of death or transfer to ICHD, will be assessed. Both a 30-days and a 180-days definition of technique failure will be used according to the minimum number of days the patient received ICHD after cessation of home dialysis [56]. Permanent technique failure is defined by death or transfer to ICHD (using the 180-days definition), or cessation of dialysis. Death-censored technique failure will be reported separately. Transfer to kidney transplantation is not considered to be technique failure and will also be reported separately [56].

Data collection

All study outcomes, except the SeMaS, will be assessed at baseline, after 3 months, 6 months, and thereafter every 6 months until end of follow-up or end of the study (Table 2). Data will be registered in case report forms (CRF). IBM Data Collection will be used as CRF. The database is developed by Nefrovisie and follows the principles of Good Clinical Practice (i.e. it has an audit trail, possibility for electronic signing, direct validation of inserted data, authorisation per form and user). Nefrovisie will also host the database for the duration of the study. The database will be archived for future research during 15 years after termination of the study.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses will be performed using statistical software such as SPSS and Stata. Univariable and multivariable regression analysis will be conducted. In case of repeated measures, multilevel analysis or generalized estimating equations will be applied. Possible confounders determined a priori are age, gender, marital status, level of education, work status, cause of renal failure, prior RRT with dialysis vintage, comorbidities, albumin, body mass index, and protein energy wasting. Cumulative incidence of hospitalization, mortality, and technique failure will be reported in Kaplan Meier curves. In case of missing data, multiple imputation techniques will be used to impute the missing values where appropriate.

Overall costs will be compared across the treatment groups and 95% confidence intervals will be estimated using bootstrapping techniques. The cost-effectiveness of different dialysis modalities will be determined using a state transition model. This model captures the changes in treatment modality, including transplantation, over time. The results of the DOMESTICO study will be used as input parameters for this model.

Sample size calculation

For the primary outcome HRQoL, obtained with the SF-12, a sample size of 350 patients is required. To obtain a clinically relevant difference between groups of 3 points in the SF-12 summary scores, after a median of 12 months follow-up, 175 patients per group are needed (assumed standard deviation = 10 points, α = 0.05, β = 0.20) [46, 57-59].

However, for the EQ-5D-5L, an important component for the secondary outcome costeffectiveness, a sample size of 1400 patients (700 patients per group) is needed. A difference of 0.03 - 0.07 points between groups after a mean follow-up of 12 months is considered clinically relevant [44, 60, 61]. The standard deviation in dialysis groups ranges from 0.1 to 0.22 [62, 63]. Assuming a common standard deviation of 0.20 and the lowest, still clinically relevant score, a total of 1400 patients (700 patients per group) will be sufficient to detect a difference of 0.03 points in the EQ-5D-5L score between groups ($\alpha = 0.05$, $\beta = 0.20$).

When approximately 10% loss to follow up is taken into account, a group of 800 home dialysis patients and a comparison group of 800 ICHD patients has to be included in order to have sufficient power to analyze both outcomes. Since the ratio between PD patients and home hemodialysis (HHD) patients in the Netherlands is expected to be 3:1 in future years, the home dialysis group will consist of 600 PD and 200 HHD patients.

Discussion

Dialysis has a great impact on the HRQoL of ESRD patients and dialysis is a very expensive treatment. More than 80% of Dutch dialysis patients are treated with ICHD although home dialysis could result in a better HRQoL and could be more cost effective. Therefore, we initiated the DOMESTICO study, which will investigate the effects of home dialysis on HRQoL in relation to clinical outcomes and costs, in comparison with ICHD. This nationwide cohort study will include 1600 incident dialysis patients over a period of 3 years. At time of submission of this manuscript, 338 patients have been included.

Although a randomized controlled trial (RCT) would yield the ultimate answer to our research question, this is not in accordance with the concept of shared decision-making. A patient's choice between home dialysis and ICHD is considered too fundamental, to let it be determined by chance. Indeed, an RCT in the Netherlands comparing PD with ICHD conducted in the past, stopped early due to poor patient recruitment; only 38 patients consented to be randomly assigned to either PD or ICHD [64]. Hence, DOMESTICO is designed as a prospective, observational cohort study collecting extensive parameters to correct for confounding by indication.

The results of this study will be of great importance for future ESRD patients when choosing a treatment, as HRQoL is increasingly acknowledged by clinicians and patients as an important aspect in the decision-making process. In addition, the results with respect to clinical outcomes will ameliorate the shared decision-making process. Finally, the data could give more guidance to healthcare professionals, in particular to assess which type of patients may benefit most from home dialysis.

References

- 1. Nefrovisie, Nefrodata, Renine 31-12-2021. https://ivisualz.nl/ivisualz/chartFlash/charts (last accessed August 28, 2022).
- 2. Hemke AC, Dekker FW, Bos WJW, et al., *Oorzaken voor verminderd aandeel peritoneale dialyse als nierfunctievervangende behandeling in Nederland*. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd, 2012. 156: p. 1-8.
- 3. Volksgezondheidenzorg.info, https://www.volksgezondheidenzorg.info/. Accessed 2 May 2019.
- 4. Gorodetskaya I, Zenios S, McCulloch CE, et al., *Health-related quality of life and estimates of utility in chronic kidney disease*. Kidney Int, 2005. 68: p. 2801-8.
- 5. van de Luijtgaarden MW, Jager KJ, Segelmark M, et al., *Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA Registry over a 20-year period*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2016. 31(1): p. 120-8.
- 6. Kramer A, Pippias M, Noordzij M, et al., *The European Renal Association European Dialysis and Transplant Association (ERA-EDTA) Registry Annual Report 2015: a summary.* Clin Kidney J, 2018. 11(1): p. 108-22.
- 7. Nederlandse Zorgautoriteit, http://opendisdata.nl/. Accessed 2 May 2019.
- 8. Ageborg M, Allenius BL, and Cederfjall C, *Quality of life, self-care ability, and sense of coherence in hemodialysis patients: a comparative study.* Hemodial Int, 2005. 9 Suppl 1: p. S8-14.
- 9. Al Wakeel J, Al Harbi A, Bayoumi M, et al., *Quality of life in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients in Saudi Arabia*. Ann. Saudi. Med, 2012. 32(6): p. 570-4.
- 10. Atapour A, Nasr S, Boroujeni AM, et al., *A comparison of the quality of life of the patients undergoing hemodialysis versus peritoneal dialysis and its correlation to the quality of dialysis.* Saudi. J. Kidney Dis. Transpl, 2016. 27(2): p. 270-80.
- 11. Barata NE, Dyadic Relationship and Quality of Life Patients with Chronic Kidney Disease. J. Bras. Nefrol, 2015. 37(3): p. 315-22.
- 12. Basok EK, Atsu N, Rifaioglu MM, et al., *Assessment of female sexual function and quality of life in predialysis, peritoneal dialysis, hemodialysis, and renal transplant patients.* Int. Urol. Nephrol, 2009. 41(3): p. 473-81.
- 13. Baykan H and Yargic I, *Depression, anxiety disorders, quality of life and stress coping strategies in hemodialysis and continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients.* Klinik Psikofarmakoloji Bulteni, 2012. 22(2): p. 167-76.
- 14. Borowiak E, Braksator E, Nowicki M, et al., *Quality of life of chronic hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients*. Clinical and Experimental Medical Letters, 2009. 50(1): p. 37-42.
- 15. Brown EA, Johansson L, Farrington K, et al., *Broadening Options for Long-term Dialysis in the Elderly (BOLDE): differences in quality of life on peritoneal dialysis compared to haemodialysis for older patients.* Nephrol. Dial. Transplant, 2010. 25(11): p. 3755-63.
- 16. Chen JY, Wan EYF, Choi EPH, et al., *The Health-Related Quality of Life of Chinese Patients on Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis*. Patient, 2017: p. 1-10.
- 17. Czyzewski L, Sanko-Resmer J, Wyzgal J, et al., *Assessment of health-related quality of life of patients after kidney transplantation in comparison with hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis.* Ann. Transplant, 2014. 19: p. 576-85.
- Fructuoso M, Castro R, Oliveira L, et al., *Quality of life in chronic kidney disease*. Nefrologia, 2011. 31(1): p. 91-6.
- 19. Goncalves FA, Dalosso IF, Borba JM, et al., *Quality of life in chronic renal patients on hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis: a comparative study in a referral service of Curitiba PR.* Jornal brasileiro de nefrologia, 2015. 37(4): p. 467-74.

- 20. Ibrahim N, Chiew-Tong NK, and Desa A, *Symptoms and health-related quality of life in patients with heamodialysis and continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis.* Research Journal of Medical Sciences, 2011. 5(5): p. 252-6.
- 21. Ikonomou M, Skapinakis P, Balafa O, et al., *The impact of socioeconomic factors on quality of life of patients with chronic kidney disease in Greece.* J. Ren Care, 2015. 41(4): p. 239-46.
- 22. Kim JY, Kim B, Park KS, et al., *Health-related quality of life with KDQOL-36 and its association with self-efficacy and treatment satisfaction in Korean dialysis patients.* Qual. Life Res, 2013. 22(4): p. 753-8.
- 23. Kontodimopoulos N, Pappa E, and Niakas D, *Gender- and age-related benefit of renal replacement therapy on health-related quality of life.* Scand. J. Caring. Sci, 2009. 23(4): p. 721-9.
- 24. Liu WJ, Musa R, Chew TF, et al., *Quality of life in dialysis: A Malaysian perspective.* Hemodial. Int, 2014. 18(2): p. 495-506.
- 25. Maglakelidze N, Pantsulaia T, Tchokhonelidze I, et al., *Assessment of health-related quality of life in renal transplant recipients and dialysis patients*. Transplant. Proc, 2011. 43(1): p. 376-9.
- 26. Nakayama M, Ishida M, Ogihara M, et al., *Social functioning and socioeconomic changes after introduction of regular dialysis treatment and impact of dialysis modality: a multi-centre survey of Japanese patients*. Nephrology. (Carlton.), 2015. 20(8): p. 523-30.
- 27. Okpechi IG, Nthite T, and Swanepoel CR, *Health-related quality of life in patients on hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis.* Saudi. J. Kidney Dis. Transpl, 2013. 24(3): p. 519-26.
- 28. Ören B and Enc N, *Quality of life in chronic haemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients in Turkey and related factors.* International journal of nursing practice, 2013. 19(6): p. 547-56.
- 29. Ramos EC, Santos I, Zanini R, et al., *Quality of life of chronic renal patients in peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis*. Jornal brasileiro de nefrologia, 2015. 37(3): p. 297-305.
- 30. Tannor EK, Archer E, Kapembwa K, et al., *Quality of life in patients on chronic dialysis in South Africa: a comparative mixed methods study.* BMC. Nephrol, 2017. 18(1): p. 4.
- 31. Theofilou P, *Quality of life in patients undergoing hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis treatment.* J. Clin. Med. Res, 2011. 3(3): p. 132-8.
- 32. Turkmen K, Yazici R, Solak Y, et al., *Health-related quality of life, sleep quality, and depression in peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis patients.* Hemodial. Int, 2012. 16(2): p. 198-206.
- Watanabe Y, Ohno Y, Inoue T, et al., *Home hemodialysis and conventional in-center hemodialysis in Japan: a comparison of health-related quality of life.* Hemodial. Int, 2014. 18 Suppl 1: p. S32-S8.
- 34. Wright LS and Wilson L, *Quality of Life and Self-Efficacy in Three Dialysis Modalities: Incenter Hemodialysis, Home Hemodialysis, and Home Peritoneal Dialysis.* Nephrol. Nurs. J, 2015. 42(5): p. 463-76.
- 35. Wu F, Cui L, Gao X, et al., *Quality of life in peritoneal and hemodialysis patients in China*. Ren Fail, 2013. 35(4): p. 456-9.
- 36. Yang F, Griva K, Lau T, et al., *Health-related quality of life of Asian patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD) in Singapore*. Qual. Life Res, 2015. 24(9): p. 2163-71.
- 37. Ying SC and Krishnan M, *Interpretation of quality of life outcomes amongst end stage renal disease patients in selected hospitals of Malaysia.* International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research, 2014. 5(1): p. 60-9.
- 38. Yongsiri S, Thammakumpee J, Prongnamchai S, et al., *The association between bioimpedance analysis and quality of life in pre-dialysis stage 5 chronic kidney disease, hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients*. J. Med. Assoc. Thai, 2014. 97(3): p. 293-9.
- 39. Ware JE, Kosinski MM, and Keller SD, A 12-Item Short-Form Health Survey: Construction of Scales and Preliminary Tests of Reliability and Validity. Medical Care, 1996. 34: p. 220-33.
- 40. Weisbord SD, Fried LF, Arnold RM, et al., *Development of a Symptom Assessment Instrument for Chronic Hemodialysis Patients: The Dialysis Symptom Index*. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management, 2004. 27(3): p. 226-40.

- 41. Van der Willik EM, Leegte M, van Ittersum F, et al., *First Dutch registry of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMS) has a low response in dialysis patients [abstract].* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2018. 33 Suppl 1:i262.
- 42. van der Willik EM, Meuleman Y, Prantl K, et al., *Patient-reported outcome measures: selection of a valid questionnaire for routine symptom assessment in patients with advanced chronic kidney disease a four-phase mixed methods study.* BMC Nephrol, 2019. 20(1): p. 344.
- 43. Ware JE, SF-36 Health Survey. Manual and Interpretation Guide. 1997.
- 44. Wyld M, Morton RL, Hayen A, et al., *A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Utility-Based Quality of Life in Chronic Kidney Disease Treatments*. PLOS, 2012. 9(9): p. 1-10.
- 45. Gandek B, Ware JE, Aaronson NK, et al., *Cross-validation of item selection and scoring for the SF-12 Health Survey in nine countries: Results from the IQOLA Project.* J Clin Epidemiol, 1998. 51: p. 1171-8.
- 46. Loosman WL, Hoekstra T, van Dijk S, et al., *Short-Form 12 or Short-Form 36 to measure quality-of-life changes in dialysis patients?* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2015. 30: p. 1170-6.
- 47. World Health Organization, *ICD-10. Internationale statistische classificatie van ziekten en met gezondheid verband houdende problemen, tiende revisie.* 2014.
- 48. ERA-EDTA codes mortality, https://www.nefrovisie.nl/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/renine_ codes_doodsoorzaak.pdf. Accessed 2 May 2019.
- 49. Bouwmans C, Krol M, Severens H, et al., *The iMTA Productivity Cost Questionnaire A Standardized Instrument for Measuring and Valuing Health-Related Productivity Losses.* Value in Health, 2015: p. 753-8.
- 50. Institute for Medical Technology Assessment and Productivity and Health Research Group, *Handleiding iMTA Medical Cost Questionnaire (iMCQ)*. 2018. Questonnaire can be retrieved from: https://www.imta.nl/questionnaires/. Accessed 7 June 2016.
- 51. Hakkaart-van Roijen L, Van der Linden N, Bouwmans CAM, et al., *Kostenhandleiding: Methodologie van kostenonderzoek en referentieprijzen voor economische evaluaties in de gezondheidszorg.* 2015.
- 52. Versteegh MM, Vermeulen KM, Evers SMAA, et al., *Dutch Tariff for the Five-Level Version of EQ-5D*. Value in Health, 2016. 19: p. 343-52.
- 53. Brooks R and Group E, *EuroQol: the current state of play.* Health Policy, 1996. 37: p. 53-72.
- 54. Eikelenboom N, van Lieshout J, Wensing M, et al., *Implementation of personalized self-management support using the self-management screening questionnaire SeMaS; a study protocol for a cluster randomized trial.* Trials, 2013. 14(336): p. 1-9.
- 55. Eikelenboom N, Smeele I, Faber M, et al., *Validation of Self-Management Screening (SeMaS), a tool to facilitate personalised counselling and support of patients with chronic diseases.* BMC Family Practice, 2015. 16(165): p. 1-12.
- 56. Lan PG, Clayton PA, Johnson DW, et al., *Duration of hemodialysis following peritoneal dialysis cessation in Australia and New Zealand: proposal for a standardized definition of technique failure*. Peritoneal Dialysis International, 2016. 36: p. 623-30.
- 57. Hall YN, Larive B, Painter P, et al., *Effects of Six versus Three Times per Week Hemodialysis on Physical Performance, Health, and Functioning: Frequent Hemodialysis Network (FHN) Randomized Trials.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2012. 7: p. 782-94.
- Lowrie EG, Curtin RB, LePain N, et al., *Medical outcomes study short form-36: a consistent and powerful predictor of morbidity and mortality in dialysis patients.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2003. 41(6): p. 1286-92.
- 59. Korevaar JC, Jansen MAM, Merkus MP, et al., *Quality of life in predialysis end-stage renal disease patients at the initiation of dialysis therapy*. Peritoneal Dialysis International, 2000. 20: p. 69-75.
- 60. Dolan P, Modeling valuations for EuroQol health states. Medical Care, 1997. 35(11): p. 1095-108.
- 61. Walters SJ and Brazier JE, *Comparison of the minimally important difference for two health state utility measures: EQ-5D and SF-6D.* Quality of Life Research, 2005. 14: p. 1523-32.

- 62. Culleton BF, Walsh M, Klarenbach SW, et al., *Effect of Frequent Nocturnal Hemodialysis vs Conventional Hemodialysis on Left Ventricular Mass and Quality of Life.* JAMA, 2007. 297(11): p. 1291-9.
- 63. Jardine MJ, Gray NA, De Zoysa J, et al., *Design and participant baseline characteristics of 'A Clinical Trial of IntensiVE Dialysis': The ACTIVE Dialysis Study.* Nephrology, 2015. 20: p. 257-65.
- 64. Korevaar JC, Feith GW, Dekker FW, et al., *Effect of starting with hemodialysis compared with peritoneal dialysis in patients new on dialysis treatment: A randomized controlled trial.* Kidney Int, 2003. 64: p. 2222-8.

Chapter 10

Additional file 1. Local ethics committees/IRBs DOMESTICO

Admiraal de Ruyter Hospital (ADRZ2018-016 DOMESTICOpro) Alrijne Hospital (19.172yw.tk) Amphia Hospital (1620) Bernhoven (T2018-03-02) Bravis Hospital (PAC-2018-25-DOMESTICO studie) Canisius-Wilhelmina Hospital (113-2018) Catharina Hospital (CZE-2018.25) Clinical Trial Center Maastricht (Maastricht UMC+) (181041) Deventer Hospital (ME 18-30) Dianet (Amsterdam and Utrecht) Diapriva Dialysis Center Elisabeth-TweeSteden Hospital **Elyse Clinics** Erasmus Medical Center (MEC-2018-1419) Flevohospital (F18/24) Franciscus Gasthuis & Vlietland (2018-073/T110) Gelre Hospitals (18.22) Haaglanden Medical Center (2018-023) HagaHospital (T18-114) Hospital Gelderse Vallei (1901-002) Isala (190101) Jeroen Bosch Hospital (2018.17.01) Laurentius Hospital (C09064-MW/LH) Maasstad Academie (L2018072) Martini Hospital (2018-020) Máxima Medical Center (L18.140) Meander Medical Center (Niercentrum Midden Nederland) (TWO 18-63) Medical Center Leeuwarden (COV 305) Northwest Clinics (L018-034) OLVG Amsterdam (WO 18.041) Radboudumc Technology Center Clinical studies Reinier de Graaf Gasthuis (18-418) Rode Kruis Hospital (Dialysiscenter Beverwijk) (18.006/dw) Slingeland Hospital (OND.2018.019 DOMESTICO) Spaarne Gasthuis (2018.97) St. Antonius Hospital (L18.035) Treant Zorggroep (19119)

University Medical Center Groningen (local approval for University Medical Center Groningen and Dialysis Center Groningen) (2018/693) University Medical Center Utrecht (18-096/R) Viecuri Medical Center (394) VU University Medical Center (2017.491) Zaans Medical Center Zuyderland (Z2018097)

This list contains the 44 (out of 53) local ethics committees from which approval for DOMESTICO is obtained. For any future centers which will be included in our study, additional ethical approval will be sought.



Part IV

Summary and discussion



Chapter 11

Summary and General discussion

Globally, 1 in 10 people have chronic kidney disease (CKD), which is currently the 10th leading cause of death with 1.3 million deaths in 2019 [1, 2]. In the Netherlands, 2 million patients have CKD of which more than 18,000 are end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) patients treated with kidney replacement therapy [3, 4]. CKD patients face an intensive education process before choosing an ESKD treatment option (i.e. kidney transplantation, dialysis, conservative care), with the final choice ideally being a shared decision with their healthcare professional [5, 6]. When ESKD patients start with a form of dialysis (i.e. hemodialysis (HD) or peritoneal dialysis (PD)), their morbidity and mortality is high [7-14]. However, in both research and clinical practice, the focus is increasingly shifting from traditional clinical outcomes (e.g. mortality) to patient reported outcomes (PROs), such as health-related quality of life (HRQoL) [14-16]. These topics were addressed in this thesis.

In **part I** of this thesis, we focused on patient education and shared decision-making (SDM). **Part II** looked at traditional clinical outcomes of dialysis, namely bleeding, hospitalization, PD technique failure and peritonitis. Finally, in **part III**, we looked at an important PRO, namely HRQoL. The next chapter will place the results from the chapters in this thesis in a broader perspective and make recommendations for future research.

Part I: Patient education and shared decision-making

Ideally, SDM, which combines the medical knowledge of a healthcare professional with the values and preferences of an individual patient, forms the basis of the education process about ESKD treatment options [5, 17-19]. Although SDM is recommended in many nephrology guidelines, a large proportion of ESKD patients do not experience their decision as a shared one [20-23]. For example, the use of implicit persuasion, which according to a recent study was often used during the decision talk when the patient and healthcare professional choose the ESKD treatment option, may affect SDM [24].

Patient decision aids (PDAs) have been developed to support the SDM process during ESKD education. In the Netherlands, three PDAs are available, namely the 3 Good Questions, Option Grids, and Dutch Kidney Guide [25-28]. However, it is unknown whether the Dutch PDAs have been implemented to a sufficient extent in daily practice, since research on other PDAs has shown that there are barriers to the implementation in daily practice [29].

In **chapter 2**, we conducted a survey on the use of the Dutch PDAs among 117 healthcare professionals involved in ESKD education in 12 Dutch hospitals participating in the 'Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes' (DOMESTICO), a multi-center cohort study among incident dialysis patients in the Netherlands [30]. SDM was applied according to 56% of professionals, but only 28% reported using the 3 Good Questions, 32% the Option Grids, and 51% the Kidney Guide. In addition, 182 CKD patients with an eGFR < 30 ml/min/1.73m²

completed an SDM-Q-9 and collaboRATE questionnaire to assess the perceived degree of SDM in their hospital [31-33]. On a scale of 0 – 100, the mean SDM-Q-9 score was 75±22 and the mean collaboRATE score 86±14. A workshop, held at participating hospitals to provide healthcare professionals with information regarding SDM and the 3 Dutch PDAs, did not change the SDM scores of CKD patients. Hospitals with a high SDM score used the Option Grids and Kidney Guide twice as often as hospitals with a low SDM score. In addition, hospitals with a high SDM score also required fewer conversations during ESKD education, while they focused on all treatment options and conducted home visits more often.

This survey showed that Dutch CKD patients and healthcare professionals are reasonably satisfied with the extent of SDM during the education process regarding ESKD treatment options. However, the use of specifically developed PDAs is limited. Future research should identify barriers to the use of the 3 Dutch PDAs in order to implement them in daily practice to achieve an optimal *shared decision*.

Stacey *et al.* argued that the implementation of PDAs depends on aspects such as the notion of healthcare professionals that PDAs can improve their SDM skills, the willingness to use the PDAs, and effective systems in which they are used [34]. Often, the implementation of a so-called 'good practice', '... a practice that has been proven to work well and produce good results, and is therefore recommended as a model.', poses no problem [35, 36]. Good practices have the advantage that healthcare professionals are often eager to use them because these good practices are already integrated in daily clinical care with positive experience. **Chapter 3** presented the results of a scoping review that identified and summarized 19 articles describing good practices for dialysis education, treatment, and electronic health (eHealth).

The 12 articles with good practices for education endorsed the importance of providing complete and objective predialysis education, assisting PD patients in adequately performing PD, educating HD patients on self-management, and talking with dialysis patients about their prognosis. The three articles with good practices for dialysis treatment focused mainly on dialysis access devices and general quality improvement of dialysis care. Finally, four articles described good practices regarding eHealth, which was useful for both HD and PD and affected quality of care and HRQoL.

As described in chapter 3, assisting patients with adequately performing PD is considered to be a good practice. As the number of, particularly elderly, end-stage kidney disease patients increases, this good practice appears to be becoming increasingly important since elderly often cannot perform PD autonomously [37-40]. Studies indicate that up to 80% of elderly patients need some degree of assistance while performing PD [41-44]. Assisted PD programs are available in many European countries, but the percentage of patients actually receiving assisted PD varies considerably [45-48]. Our survey among 288 healthcare professionals of European nephrology

units, presented in **chapter 4**, showed that Western European and Scandinavian countries (OR 5.73; 95% confidence interval (CI) 3.07 - 10.68), non-academic centers (OR 2.01; 95% CI 1.09 - 3.72) and centers with a dedicated team for education (OR 2.87; 95% CI 1.35 - 6.11) were associated with the availability of an assisted PD program at a center level. In addition, availability of an assisted PD program was associated with a higher incidence (cumulative OR 1.91; 95% CI 1.21 - 3.01) and prevalence (cumulative OR 2.81; 95% CI 1.76 - 4.47) of patients receiving dialysis at home (i.e. PD and home HD). Especially among Western European and Scandinavian countries a higher incidence and prevalence of home dialysis patients was reported.

Recently, a survey among nephrologists from 13 European countries also showed that education is the most important factor in improving the availability of assisted PD, not only patient education, but also education of healthcare professionals regarding the advantages of PD [49].

In conclusion, **part I** of this thesis has shown that the commitment of healthcare professionals and availability of effective systems that incorporate good practices, such as an assisted PD program, are vital for optimal patient education and shared decision-making.

Part II: Traditional clinical outcomes of dialysis

When patients start dialysis, they often face the 'traditional' clinical outcomes, such as bleeding and hospitalization, sometime during their treatment. Since HD and PD are completely different treatments (see **chapter 1** for an explanation of both treatments), it is important to investigate the differences in these traditional clinical outcomes between the two dialysis treatments.

Our prospective study in **chapter 5** showed that, in a group of 1,211 HD and 534 PD patients from the 'Netherlands Cooperative Study on the Adequacy of Dialysis' (NECOSAD), bleeding risk for HD patients compared with PD patients was 1.5-fold (95% CI 1.0 - 2.2) increased. In addition, a history of bleeding or the use of antiplatelet drugs or vitamin K antagonists led to highly increased bleeding risks for hemodialysis patients with hazard ratios (HR) ranging from 1.7 - 3.0. From a clinical perspective, these bleeding risks could be incorporated in the patient education and may influence the choice for a specific dialysis modality.

Another traditional clinical outcome that could be incorporated in patient education and play a role in choosing a particular dialysis modality is hospitalization. In addition to being an indirect measure of morbidity and a risk factor for mortality, hospitalization also negatively affects HRQoL [50-52]. Previous research on hospitalization of HD and PD patients was hampered by the fact that most studies only analyzed data from patients who remained on their initial dialysis modality or did not account for transitions between dialysis modalities [13, 53-58]. However, a transition from one dialysis modality to another, for example from PD to HD, occurs frequently in daily practice.

Our retrospective study in **chapter 6**, among 695 patients (252 PD, 443 HD) from the previously mentioned DOMESTICO, accounted for changes in dialysis modality by examining hospitalization rate with a multi-state model that attributed each hospitalization to the current dialysis modality. Out of a total of 1.480 hospitalizations, the adjusted HR for hospitalization rate was 1.1 (95% CI 1.02 - 1.3) for PD compared with HD. The risk for first hospitalization was 1.3 times (95% CI 1.1 - 1.6) higher for PD compared with HD during the first year after dialysis initiation, and 1.9 times (95% CI 1.4 - 2.5) higher for the period thereafter. The number of hospitalizations and number of hospitalizations was peritonitis (23%). Beside the fact that, from a clinical perspective, the hospitalization risks could be included in patient education and influence the choice of a specific dialysis modality, this study underscores the importance of adequate infection prevention to reduce the number of hospitalizations for PD patients.

As shown by our study in **chapter 7**, infections are also an important cause of PD technique failure, which is defined as a transfer to HD for ≥ 30 days, death on PD or death within 30 days after transfer to HD [59]. In the retrospective DOMESTICO cohort, the 1- and 2-year technique failure rates among 695 PD patients were 29% and 52%, respectively. The median time to technique failure was 1.85 years. The 1- and 2-year death-censored technique failure rates were 23% and 35%, respectively. In addition to death, PD-related infections were the most common cause of technique failure (20%). Thus, infection prevention is of utmost importance to reduce the rate of technique failure.

Candida peritonitis is an example of a PD-related infection that results in a high technique failure rate, as the International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis recommends immediate removal of the PD catheter in case of *Candida* peritonitis and PD catheter replacement is often unsuccessful [60-64]. In **chapter 8**, we described the results of a retrospective, single-center study in which a treatment protocol consisting of an amphotericin B catheter lock combined with oral flucytosine and intraperitoneal fluconazole was used. With the lock-based protocol, 7 of 11 non-relapse *Candida* peritonitis episodes (64%) in 10 patients were cured without PD catheter removal, two episodes (18%) required catheter removal, and two patients died (18%). This study demonstrated that an amphotericin B lock-based protocol has the potential to cure *Candida* peritonitis without PD catheter removal and thus prevent technique failure. However, this needs to be confirmed by new studies with a control group, since previous studies have only investigated the use of amphotericin B as a lock therapy in central venous catheters rather than PD catheters, and our study has several limitations, such as being a retrospective study without control group in a single center [65]. Until then, the lock-based *Candida* protocol could be used in patients who are not severely ill and in whom removal of the PD catheter is not desirable.

In conclusion, **part II** of this thesis has shown that the occurrence of certain 'traditional' clinical outcomes differs between HD and PD, with a higher bleeding risk for HD patients but a higher

hospitalization risk for PD patients, mainly related to infections. Moreover, PD-related infections lead to a high PD technique failure rate, which calls for more attention to infection prevention or a different approach to the treatment of specific PD-related infections, such as for *Candida* peritonitis.

Part III: Focus on Health-Related Quality of Life

During the last decade, both research and clinical practice have increasingly focused on PROs, such as HRQoL [14-16, 66]. Since dialysis is a burdensome treatment, it seems highly relevant to include the impact of a specific dialysis modality on HRQoL when choosing a particular dialysis treatment. Many studies have examined the HRQoL of home dialysis (i.e. PD and home HD) patients compared to in-center HD patients [67-69]. However, it was suggested that differences in the countries where the studies were conducted and differences in practice patterns and local cultures would influence HRQoL [70]. In **chapter 9**, we conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of the difference in HRQoL between home dialysis and in-center HD patients, with a special focus on differences across the world.

Our meta-analysis of 4,158 home dialysis patients and 7,854 in-center HD patients showed a marginally better physical HRQoL score in home dialysis patients compared to in-center HD patients (standardized mean difference (SMD) 0.14; 95% CI 0.04 – 0.24), although heterogeneity between studies was high (I^2 >80%). The HRQoL on the mental domain was not significantly different between the two groups (SMD 0.06; 95% CI -0.03 – 0.15). A comparison among subcontinents showed that patients on home dialysis in Western Europe had higher physical HRQoL scores compared to in-center HD patients (SMD 0.39; 95% CI 0.17 – 0.61), whereas patients on home dialysis from Latin America had lower physical HRQoL scores (SMD -0.20; 95% CI -0.28 – -0.12). This could be explained by differences in patient populations, as home dialysis patients from Western Europe were younger [71-73], while home dialysis patients from Latin America were unhealthier and in poorer condition than in-center HD patients [74, 75]. The HRQoL on the mental domain showed no difference between subcontinents.

The high heterogeneity among studies was the most important limitation of our meta-analysis, despite several subgroup analyzes. Therefore, large prospective studies with adequate adjustments for confounders are necessary to establish whether home dialysis results in better HRQoL. Such a study is the prospective part of DOMESTICO.

Chapter 10 described the rationale and design of this nationwide, prospective, observational cohort study that will compare the HRQoL of adult patients on home dialysis with a control group consisting of in-center HD patients. Secondary outcomes are clinical outcomes and costs. During a 3-year period 800 home dialysis patients (600 PD and 200 home HD patients) and a comparison

group of 800 in-center HD patients will be included from 56 Dutch dialysis centers (covering 96% of Dutch centers) and 3 Belgian dialysis center (covering 4% of Flemish centers). The findings of this study are expected to give more guidance to healthcare professionals, in particular to assess which type of patients may benefit most from home dialysis. This will ameliorate the shared decision-making process.

In conclusion, **part III** of this thesis has shown that HRQoL is a relevant PRO. However, the effect of different dialysis modalities on HRQoL is not yet clear, despite previous studies. The ongoing DOMESTICO study will provide information on the effect of home dialysis therapies on HRQoL, clinical outcomes and costs, compared to in-center HD.

Future research

Recently, results on HRQoL from the 'Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study' (DOPPS) and the 'Peritoneal Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study' (PDOPPS) were published [76]. The HRQoL scores of 1,626 HD patients and 909 PD patients from 6 countries, namely Australia, New Zealand, Canada, Japan, the United Kingdom, and the United States of America, were compared. What was remarkable was that significant intercountry differences were observed in the HRQoL scores, making generalizability of the results beyond the studied countries impossible. Therefore, the expected results of the prospective part of the DOMESTICO study will certainly be of interest to the Dutch CKD population [30].

Since the initiation of DOMESTICO, two articles have already been published with some of the results of the prospective study. Colombijn *et al.* showed in a cross-sectional analysis among a subset of 162 patients participating in DOMESTICO that, three months after dialysis initiation, the mean number of simultaneously prescribed types of medication was 12 [77]. After adjusting for possible confounders, both physical and mental HRQoL scores were lower when patients had a higher number of medications. Upon completion, DOMESTICO will provide longitudinal data to assess whether these results can be confirmed, so that potential interventions aimed at reducing the medication burden can be developed, taking into account the long-term outcomes of dialysis patients.

The DOMESTICO study started in 2017 and is currently ongoing, so part of it ran during the peak of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. To investigate what the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic was on the mental HRQoL of dialysis patients Bonenkamp *et al.* analyzed it among 177 patients [78]. Compared to 3-6 months before the start of the COVID-19 pandemic, mental HRQoL scores remained the same during the first wave of the pandemic (February – July 2020). This could indicate better coping of dialysis patients with the COVID-19 pandemic due to things like higher resilience or the fact that the majority of the patients performed in-center HD (75%) so they were

less socially isolated and could get more support from healthcare professionals. However, since the first wave, the COVID-19 pandemic is still present. The prospective DOMESTICO study will provide further insight into the long term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental HRQoL.

The results of the prospective part of the DOMESTICO study are expected to affect the Dutch CKD population, but attention should also be paid to informal caregivers of these patients. Dialysis initiation more often leads to the occurrence of informal caregiver burden and informal caregivers of dialysis patients experience a poorer quality of life than the general population [79, 80]. However, in the effort to provide patients with a form of home dialysis, informal caregivers are very important in this regard [81, 82]. The DOMESTICO 'Informal caregivers' project will investigate the effect of starting (home) dialysis on informal caregivers of dialysis patients [83]. The project will look at both positive and negative experiences and quality of life, in particular focusing on possible differences between informal caregivers of home dialysis patients and those of in-center HD patients. With this information, informal caregivers of dialysis patients can be better supported.

As the age of dialysis patients in the Netherlands increases, it becomes more relevant to pay attention to the special needs of elderly CKD and dialysis patients [84]. In recent years, the 'Geriatric assessment in OLder patients starting Dialysis' (GOLD) study showed that geriatric impairments, such as impaired functional performance, immobility and frailty, were common in a Dutch group of 196 dialysis and 89 conservative care patients aged 65 years and older [85]. Moreover, dialysis patients were hospitalized more frequently, while survival in dialysis patients above 80 years was similar compared to conservative care patients [86]. For dialysis patients, HRQoL did not seem to change during the first 6 months after dialysis initiation. De Rooij *et al.* confirmed this result with data from the 'European Quality' (EQUAL) study [87]. These results could play a role in the education process regarding ESKD treatment options for elderly, however current evidence is limited.

Therefore, the 'DIALysis or not: Outcomes in older kidney patients with GerlatriC Assessment' (DIALOGICA) study was initiated in February 2020 [88]. This prospective, observational cohort started will include patients aged \geq 65 years with an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) of 15–20 mL/min/1.73m² in the first stage of the study. Patients enter the second stage of the study when dialysis is initiated or eGFR declines \leq 10 mL/min/1.73m². In both stages nephrogeriatric assessments will be performed annually. The study aims to compare HRQoL, clinical outcomes, and costs between dialysis and conservative care patients.

Another study that will provide relevant information for the elderly patient is the 'Optimising Access Surgery in Senior Haemodialysis Patients' (OASIS) study [89]. This multicenter randomized controlled trial aims to determine the best vascular access for HD patients aged \geq 70 years, as current data on vascular access is based only on observational studies. Patients will be

randomized between receiving an autologous arteriovenous fistula, an arteriovenous graft, or a central venous catheter. The number of access-related interventions per patient year between the three treatment arms will be compared.

When ESKD patients in the Netherlands start dialysis, they are asked for permission to participate in RENINE, a nationwide registry of patients receiving kidney replacement therapy [90]. In 2016, RENINE incorporated a registry of patient reported outcome measures (PROMs), which are questionnaires that investigate patients' symptoms, functional status, and HRQoL [91]. Recently, van der Willik *et al.* published an article containing data of 2978 dialysis patients from the RENINE/ PROMs registry. They showed that 50% of the patients suffer from pruritus and pruritus was associated with worse HRQoL [92].

This thesis and all the ongoing studies show a shift towards PROs, which are incredibly important outcomes. Therefore, more research with PROMs is needed in the future.

References

- 1. World Kidney Day, Chronic Kidney Disease. Available at: https://www.worldkidneyday.org/facts/ chronic-kidney-disease/ (last accessed June 26, 2022).
- 2. World Health Organization, Factsheet 'The top 10 causes of death', 9 December 2022. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10-causes-of-death (last accessed June 26, 2022).
- 3. Nierstichting, Over nieren, Feiten en cijfers. https://nierstichting.nl/over-nieren/hoe-werken-jenieren/feiten-en-cijfers (last accessed March 4, 2022).
- 4. Nefrovisie, Nefrodata, Renine 31-12-2021. https://ivisualz.nl/ivisualz/chartFlash/charts (last accessed August 28, 2022).
- 5. Renal Physicians Association, Shared Decision-Making in the Appropriate Initiation of and Withdrawal from Dialysis (Clinical Practice Guideline). 2010.
- 6. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group, *KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease.* Kidney Int Suppl, 2013. 3: p. 1-150.
- 7. Naylor KL, Kim SJ, McArthur E, et al., *Mortality in Incident Maintenance Dialysis Patients Versus Incident Solid Organ Cancer Patients: A Population-Based Cohort.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2019. 73(6): p. 765-76.
- 8. van de Luijtgaarden MW, Jager KJ, Segelmark M, et al., *Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA Registry over a 20-year period.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2016. 31(1): p. 120-8.
- 9. Ng CH, Ong ZH, Sran HK, et al., *Comparison of cardiovascular mortality in hemodialysis versus peritoneal dialysis.* Int Urol Nephrol, 2021. 53(7): p. 1363-71.
- 10. Zhan X, Yang M, Chen Y, et al., *Comparison of risk of stroke in patients treated with peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Ren Fail, 2019. 41(1): p. 650-6.
- 11. Vanholder R and Van Biesen W, *Incidence of infectious morbidity and mortality in dialysis patients.* Blood Purif, 2002. 20(5): p. 477-80.
- 12. United States Renal Data System, 2018 USRDS Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, Bethesda, MD, 2018.
- 13. Banshodani M, Kawanishi H, Moriishi M, et al., *Association between Dialysis Modality and Cardiovascular Diseases: A Comparison between Peritoneal Dialysis and Hemodialysis.* Blood Purif, 2020. 49(3): p. 302-9.
- 14. Himmelfarb J, Vanholder R, Mehrotra R, et al., *The current and future landscape of dialysis.* Nat Rev Nephrol, 2020. 16(10): p. 573-85.
- 15. Lee MB and Bargman JM, *Survival by Dialysis Modality-Who Cares?* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2016. 11(6): p. 1083-7.
- 16. Black N, Patient reported outcome measures could help transform healthcare. BMJ, 2013. 346: p. f167.
- 17. Inker LA, Astor BC, Fox CH, et al., *KDOQI US commentary on the 2012 KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of CKD.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2014. 63(5): p. 713-35.
- Farrington K, Covic A, Aucella F, et al., Clinical Practice Guideline on management of older patients with chronic kidney disease stage 3b or higher (eGFR <45 mL/min/1.73 m2). Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2016. 31(suppl 2): p. ii1-ii66.
- 19. Federatie Medische Specialisten, Nierfunctievervangende behandeling, 2016. Available at https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/nierfunctievervangende_behandeling/ nierfunctievervangende_behandeling_-_startpagina.html (last accessed October 24, 2021).

- 20. Dahlerus C, Quinn M, Messersmith E, et al., *Patient Perspectives on the Choice of Dialysis Modality: Results From the Empowering Patients on Choices for Renal Replacement Therapy (EPOCH-RRT) Study.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2016. 68(6): p. 901-10.
- 21. Berkhout-Byrne N, Gaasbeek A, Mallat MJK, et al., *Regret about the decision to start dialysis: a cross-sectional Dutch national survey.* Netherlands Journal of Medicine, 2017. 75(6): p. 225-34.
- 22. Song MK, Lin FC, Gilet CA, et al., *Patient perspectives on informed decision-making surrounding dialysis initiation*. Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2013. 28(11): p. 2815-23.
- 23. Verberne WR, Konijn WS, Prantl K, et al., *Older patients' experiences with a shared decisionmaking process on choosing dialysis or conservative care for advanced chronic kidney disease: a survey study.* BMC Nephrol, 2019. 20(1): p. 264.
- 24. van Dulmen S, Peereboom E, Schulze L, et al., *The use of implicit persuasion in decision-making about treatment for end-stage kidney disease.* Perit Dial Int, 2022. 42(4): p. 377-86.
- 25. Option Grids, Available at: https://consultkaart.nl/ (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- 26. Dutch Kidney Guide, Available at: https://nierwijzer.nl/. (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- 27. Shepherd HL, Barratt A, Trevena LJ, et al., *Three questions that patients can ask to improve the quality of information physicians give about treatment options: a cross-over trial.* Patient Educ Couns, 2011. 84(3): p. 379-85.
- 28. Patiëntenfederatie Nederland and Federatie Medisch Specialisten, 3 Goede Vragen. Available at: https://3goedevragen.nl/ (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- 29. Scalia P, Durand MA, Berkowitz JL, et al., *The impact and utility of encounter patient decision aids: Systematic review, meta-analysis and narrative synthesis.* Patient Educ Couns, 2019. 102(5): p. 817-41.
- 30. van Eck van der Sluijs A, Bonenkamp AA, Dekker FW, et al., *Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO): rationale and design.* BMC Nephrol, 2019. 20(1): p. 361.
- 31. Kriston L, Scholl I, Holzel L, et al., *The 9-item Shared Decision Making Questionnaire (SDM-Q-9). Development and psychometric properties in a primary care sample.* Patient Educ Couns, 2010. 80(1): p. 94-9.
- 32. Rodenburg-Vandenbussche S, Pieterse AH, Kroonenberg PM, et al., Dutch Translation and Psychometric Testing of the 9-Item Shared Decision Making Questionnaire (SDM-Q-9) and Shared Decision Making Questionnaire-Physician Version (SDM-Q-Doc) in Primary and Secondary Care. PLoS One, 2015. 10(7): p. e0132158.
- 33. Elwyn G, Barr PJ, Grande SW, et al., *Developing CollaboRATE: a fast and frugal patient-reported measure of shared decision making in clinical encounters*. Patient Educ Couns, 2013. 93(1): p. 102-7.
- 34. Stacey D, Legare F, Lewis K, et al., *Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2017. 4: p. CD001431.
- 35. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, *Available at: https://www.fao.org/ in-action/kore/good-practices/en/ (last accessed April 3, 2020).*
- 36. Perleth M, Jakubowski E, and Busse R, *What is 'best practice' in health care? State of the art and perspectives in improving the effectiveness and efficiency of the European health care systems.* Health Policy, 2001. 56: p. 235-50.
- Blake PG, Peritoneal dialysis a "kinder, gentler" treatment for the elderly? Perit Dial Int, 2008.
 28: p. 435-6.
- 38. Brown EA and Johansson L, *Dialysis options for end-stage renal disease in older people*. Nephron Clin Pract, 2011. 119 Suppl 1: p. c10-3.
- 39. Oliver MJ, Quinn RR, Richardson EP, et al., *Home care assistance and the utilization of peritoneal dialysis.* Kidney Int, 2007. 71(7): p. 673-8.
- 40. Johansen KL, Chertow GM, Jin C, et al., *Significance of frailty among dialysis patients*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2007. 18(11): p. 2960-7.

- 41. Lobbedez T, Verger C, Ryckelynck JP, et al., *Is assisted peritoneal dialysis associated with technique survival when competing events are considered?* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2012. 7(4): p. 612-8.
- 42. Povlsen JV, Sorensen AB, and Ivarsen P, *Unplanned Start on Peritoneal Dialysis Right after PD Catheter Implantation for Older People with End-Stage Renal Disease.* Perit Dial Int, 2015. 35(6): p. 622-4.
- 43. Guilloteau S, Lobbedez T, Guillouet S, et al., *Impact of Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis Modality on Outcomes: A Cohort Study of the French Language Peritoneal Dialysis Registry.* Am J Nephrol, 2018. 48(6): p. 425-33.
- 44. Wu H, Ye H, Huang R, et al., *Incidence and risk factors of peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis in elderly patients: A retrospective clinical study.* Perit Dial Int, 2020. 40(1): p. 26-33.
- 45. Laplante S, Krepel H, Simons B, et al., *Offering assisted peritoneal dialysis is a cost-effective alternative to the current care pathway in frail elderly Dutch patients.* Int J Healthc Manag, 2013. 6(1): p. 27-36.
- 46. Brown EA, Finkelstein FO, Iyasere OU, et al., *Peritoneal or hemodialysis for the frail elderly patient, the choice of 2 evils?* Kidney Int, 2017. 91(2): p. 294-303.
- 47. Guillouet S, Boyer A, Lanot A, et al., *Assessment for Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis by Peritoneal Dialysis Nurses: Results of a Cohort Study.* Am J Nephrol, 2019. 50(6): p. 489-98.
- 48. Hofmeister M, Klarenbach S, Soril L, et al., *A Systematic Review and Jurisdictional Scan of the Evidence Characterizing and Evaluating Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis Models*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2020. 15(4): p. 511-20.
- 49. Brown EA, Ekstrand A, Gallieni M, et al., *Availability of assisted peritoneal dialysis in Europe: call for increased and equal access.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2022. 0: p. 1-10.
- 50. Daratha KB, Short RA, Corbett CF, et al., *Risks of subsequent hospitalization and death in patients with kidney disease*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2012. 7(3): p. 409-16.
- 51. Kim H, An JN, Kim DK, et al., *Elderly Peritoneal Dialysis Compared with Elderly Hemodialysis Patients and Younger Peritoneal Dialysis Patients: Competing Risk Analysis of a Korean Prospective Cohort Study.* PLoS One, 2015. 10(6): p. e0131393.
- 52. Zhang AH, Cheng LT, Zhu N, et al., *Comparison of quality of life and causes of hospitalization between hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients in China.* Health Qual Life Outcomes, 2007. 5: p. 49.
- 53. Harris SA, Lamping DL, Brown EA, et al., for North Thames Dialysis Study Group, *Clinical outcomes and quality of life in elderly patients on peritoneal dialysis versus hemodialysis*. Perit Dial Int, 2002. 22(4): p. 463-70.
- 54. Yang JY, Chen L, Chao CT, et al., *Comparative Study of Outcomes among Patients with Polycystic Kidney Disease on Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis.* Sci Rep, 2015. 5: p. 12816.
- 55. Laurin LP, Harrak H, Elftouh N, et al., *Outcomes of Infection-Related Hospitalization according to Dialysis Modality*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2015. 10(5): p. 817-24.
- 56. Lafrance JP, Rahme E, Iqbal S, et al., *Association of dialysis modality with risk for infectionrelated hospitalization: a propensity score-matched cohort analysis.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2012. 7(10): p. 1598-605.
- 57. Perl J, McArthur E, Bell C, et al., *Dialysis Modality and Readmission Following Hospital Discharge: A Population-Based Cohort Study.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2017. 70(1): p. 11-20.
- 58. Banshodani M, Kawanishi H, Moriishi M, et al., *Association between Dialysis Modality and Infectious Diseases: Peritoneal Dialysis versus Hemodialysis.* Blood Purif, 2020: p. 1-10.
- 59. Lan PG, Clayton PA, Johnson DW, et al., *Duration of Hemodialysis Following Peritoneal Dialysis Cessation in Australia and New Zealand: Proposal for a Standardized Definition of Technique Failure.* Perit Dial Int, 2016. 36(6): p. 623-30.
- 60. Li PK, Szeto CC, Piraino B, et al., *ISPD peritonitis recommendations: 2016 update on prevention and treatment.* Perit Dial Int, 2016. 36: p. 481-508.

- 61. Levallois J, Nadeau-Fredette A-C, Labbe A-C, et al., *Ten-year experience with fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis patients: antifungal susceptibility patterns in a North-American center.* Internation Journal of Infectious Diseases, 2012. 16: p. e41-e3.
- 62. Ram R, Swarnalatha G, Neela P, et al., *Fungal Peritonitis in Patients on Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis: A Single-Centre Experience in India.* Nephron Clin Pract, 2008. 110: p. c207c12.
- 63. Wong PN, Lo KY, Tong GM, et al., *Treatment of fungal peritonitis with a combination of intravenous amphotericin B and oral flucytosine, and delayed catheter replacement in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis.* Perit Dial Int, 2008. 28(2): p. 155-62.
- 64. Indhumathi E, Chandrasekaran V, Jagadeswaran D, et al., *The risk factors and outcome of fungal peritonitis in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients*. Indian J Med Microbiol, 2009. 27(1): p. 59-61.
- 65. Imbert C and Rammaert B, *What Could Be the Role of Antifungal Lock-Solutions? From Bench to Bedside*. Pathogens, 2018. 7(6): p. 1-15.
- 66. Nissenson AR, *Improving outcomes for ESRD patients: shifting the quality paradigm.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2014. 9(2): p. 430-4.
- 67. Zazzeroni L, Pasquinelli G, Nanni E, et al., *Comparison of Quality of Life in Patients Undergoing Hemodialysis and Peritoneal Dialysis: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.* Kidney Blood Press Res, 2017. 42(4): p. 717-27.
- 68. Ho YF and Li IC, *The influence of different dialysis modalities on the quality of life of patients with end-stage renal disease: A systematic literature review.* Psychol. Health, 2016. 31(12): p. 1435-65.
- 69. Liem YS, Bosch JL, Arends LR, et al., *Quality of life assessed with the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form 36-Item Health Survey of patients on renal replacement therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Value Health, 2007. 10(5): p. 390-7.
- 70. Fukuhara S, Lopes AA, Bragg-Gresham JL, et al., *Health-related quality of life among dialysis patients on three continents: the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study.* Kidney Int, 2003. 64(5): p. 1903-10.
- Da Silva-Gane M, Wellsted D, Greenshields H, et al., Quality of life and survival in patients with advanced kidney failure managed conservatively or by dialysis. Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol, 2012. 7(12): p. 2002-9.
- 72. Fructuoso M, Castro R, Oliveira L, et al., *Quality of life in chronic kidney disease*. Nefrologia, 2011. 31(1): p. 91-6.
- 73. Garcia-Llana H, Remor E, and Selgas R, *Adherence to treatment, emotional state and quality of life in patients with end-stage renal disease undergoing dialysis.* Psicothema, 2013. 25(1): p. 79-86.
- 74. Alvares J, Cesar CC, Acurcio FA, et al., *Quality of life of patients in renal replacement therapy in Brazil: comparison of treatment modalities.* Qual. Life Res, 2012. 21(6): p. 983-91.
- 75. Goncalves FA, Dalosso IF, Borba JM, et al., *Quality of life in chronic renal patients on hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis: a comparative study in a referral service of Curitiba PR.* Jornal brasileiro de nefrologia, 2015. 37(4): p. 467-74.
- 76. Brown EA, Zhao J, McCullough K, et al., Burden of Kidney Disease, Health-Related Quality of Life, and Employment Among Patients Receiving Peritoneal Dialysis and In-Center Hemodialysis: Findings From the DOPPS Program. Am J Kidney Dis, 2021. 78(4): p. 489-500 e1.
- 77. Colombijn JMT, Bonenkamp AA, van Eck van der Sluijs A, et al., *Impact of Polypharmacy on Health-Related Quality of Life in Dialysis Patients*. Am J Nephrol, 2021. 52(9): p. 735-44.
- 78. Bonenkamp AA, Druiventak TA, van Eck van der Sluijs A, et al., *The Impact of COVID-19 on the mental health of dialysis patients*. J Nephrol, 2021. 34(2): p. 337-44.
- 79. Goto NA, van Loon IN, Boereboom FTJ, et al., *Association of Initiation of Maintenance Dialysis with Functional Status and Caregiver Burden*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2019. 14(7): p. 1039-47.

- 80. Gilbertson EL, Krishnasamy R, Foote C, et al., *Burden of Care and Quality of Life Among Caregivers for Adults Receiving Maintenance Dialysis: A Systematic Review.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2019. 73(3): p. 332-43.
- 81. Bonenkamp AA, Reijnders TDY, van Eck van der Sluijs A, et al., *Key elements in selection of pre-dialysis patients for home dialysis*. Perit Dial Int, 2021. 41(5): p. 494-501.
- 82. Fox DE, King-Shier KM, James MT, et al., *The availability of support and peritoneal dialysis survival: A cohort study.* Perit Dial Int, 2022. 42(4): p. 353-60.
- 83. van Lieshout TS, Vonk S, Driehuis E, et al., *Exploring experiences and health-related quality of life of caregivers of patients who start home dialysis: rationale and design of a prospective, multicentre cohort study.* BMJ Open (accepted), 2022.
- 84. Bonenkamp AA, Hoekstra T, Hemmelder MH, et al., *Trends in home dialysis use differ among age categories in past two decades: A Dutch registry study.* Eur J Clin Invest, 2022. 52(1): p. e13656.
- 85. Goto NA, van Loon IN, Morpey MI, et al., *Geriatric Assessment in Elderly Patients with End-Stage Kidney Disease*. Nephron, 2019. 141(1): p. 41-8.
- 86. van Loon IN, Goto NA, Boereboom FTJ, et al., *Quality of life after the initiation of dialysis or maximal conservative management in elderly patients: a longitudinal analysis of the Geriatric assessment in OLder patients starting Dialysis (GOLD) study.* BMC Nephrol, 2019. 20(1): p. 108.
- 87. de Rooij ENM, Meuleman Y, de Fijter JW, et al., *Quality of Life before and after the Start of Dialysis in Older Patients*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2022. 17: p. 1159-67.
- 88. van Oevelen M, Abrahams AC, Bos WJW, et al., *DIALysis or not: Outcomes in older kidney patients with GerlatriC Assessment (DIALOGICA): rationale and design.* BMC Nephrol, 2021. 22(1): p. 39.
- Heggen BD, Ramspek CL, van der Bogt KEA, et al., Optimising Access Surgery in Senior Haemodialysis Patients (OASIS): study protocol for a multicentre randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open, 2022. 12(2): p. e053108.
- 90. Registratie Nierfunctievervanging Nederland, www.nefrovisie.nl/renine.
- 91. van der Willik EM, Hemmelder MH, Bart HAJ, et al., *Routinely measuring symptom burden and health-related quality of life in dialysis patients: first results from the Dutch registry of patient-reported outcome measures.* Clin Kidney J, 2021. 14(6): p. 1535-44.
- 92. van der Willik EM, Lengton R, Hemmelder MH, et al., *Itching in dialysis patients: impact on health-related quality of life and interactions with sleep problems and psychological symptoms-results from the RENINE/PROMs registry.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2022. 37(9): p. 1731-41.

Summary and General discussion



Appendices

Summary in Dutch (Nederlandse samenvatting) Questionnaires DOMESTICO Study Group members Acknowledgements (Dankwoord) List of publications Curriculum Vitae

Nederlandse samenvatting

De nieren, twee boonvormige organen die zich achter de onderste ribben aan de rugzijde bevinden, spelen een cruciale rol bij de regulatie van de hoeveelheid lichaamswater en de afvoer van afvalstoffen uit het lichaam. Wanneer de nierfunctie gedurende meer dan drie maanden verstoord is én dit gevolgen heeft voor de gezondheid, spreekt men van chronische nierschade (CNS) [1, 2]. In Nederland heeft meer dan 12% van de bevolking CNS (2 miljoen mensen) [3].

Als CNS verergert richting eindstadium nierfalen, krijgen patiënten voorlichting over de verschillende behandelopties, namelijk niertransplantatie, dialyse en conservatieve behandeling [1, 4]. De laatste jaren is er tijdens de voorlichting meer aandacht voor gedeelde besluitvorming, oftewel Samen beslissen, zodat patiënten alle voor- en nadelen van de behandelingen kunnen afwegen, maar dat ook hun voorkeur en waarden en normen worden meegenomen in de uiteindelijke beslissing. Het model voor Samen beslissen is in 1972 voor het eerst beschreven en sindsdien verder ontwikkeld waarbij het de volgende gesprekken omvat: keuzegesprek, optiegesprek en besluitvormingsgesprek (**Figuur 1**) [5].

Zoals weergegeven in **figuur 1** zijn er ook 3 keuzehulpen om het Samen beslissen-proces te ondersteunen: de 3 Goede Vragen, de consultkaarten en de Nierwijzer.

De 3 Goede Vragen zijn: (1) 'Wat zijn mijn mogelijkheden?', (2) 'Wat zijn de voordelen en nadelen van die mogelijkheden?' en (3) 'Wat betekent dat in mijn situatie?' [6].

De consultkaarten bevatten antwoorden op veel gestelde vragen van patiënten over bepaalde behandelopties. Er zijn twee consultkaarten beschikbaar: (1) 'Blijvende schade aan uw nieren: nierfunctievervangende behandeling of conservatieve behandeling' en (2) 'Blijvende schade aan uw nieren: mogelijkheden voor een nierfunctievervangende behandeling' [7].

De Nierwijzer is een website met filmpjes van ruim 40 patiënten die behandeld worden met niertransplantatie, dialyse of conservatieve behandeling. In deze filmpjes vertellen patiënten over de impact van de behandelingen op hun dagelijks leven (bijv. werk, vakantie) [8].



Figuur 1. Gesprekken tijdens proces van Samen beslissen (bron: Nierpatiënten Vereniging Nederland).

Appendices

Sinds september 2021 is er een Nederlandse campagne over Samen beslissen, waarbij het doel is om Samen beslissen te stimuleren door patiënten en verzorgers gesprekken te laten voorbereiden, vragen te laten stellen en beter te laten luisteren.

Elk jaar ontwikkelen in Nederland ongeveer 2.000 patiënten eindstadium nierfalen [9]. In 2021 werden 6.248 Nederlanders behandeld met een vorm van dialyse, namelijk hemodialyse (dialyse via de bloedbaan) of peritoneale dialyse (buikdialyse) [10].

Bij hemodialyse (afgekort tot HD) wordt een verbinding gemaakt tussen de bloedvaten van de patiënt en een dialysemachine. Het bloed van de patiënt stroomt door de kunstnier en daar worden de afvalstoffen en overtollig lichaamswater uit het bloed verwijderd. HD kan worden uitgevoerd in een ziekenhuis of dialysecentrum (centrumdialyse), maar kan ook thuis worden gedaan. Centrumdialyse wordt door een verpleegkundige gedaan, terwijl thuisHD wordt gedaan door de patiënt zelf, een mantelzorger of een verpleegkundige. HD vindt meestal 3x per week gedurende 4 uur plaats, maar kan ook 's nachts worden uitgevoerd (nachtdialyse). CentrumHD heeft voordelen, zoals professionele zorg en sociaal contact met andere patiënten tijdens de dialyse. CentrumHD heeft echter ook nadelen, omdat patiënten hun vochtinname moeten beperken, ze een 'dialyse kater' kunnen krijgen en ze reistijd hebben van én naar het ziekenhuis.

Bij peritoneale dialyse (afgekort tot PD) worden afvalstoffen en overtollig lichaamswater uit het bloed verwijderd via het buikvlies van de patiënt. Hiervoor laat men dialysevloeistof in de buikholte lopen via een buikkatheter, de PD-katheter. PD wordt meestal thuis uitgevoerd door de patiënt zelf, en soms door een partner, mantelzorger of verpleegkundige van de thuiszorg. Wanneer een patiënt hulp krijgt bij het uitvoeren van PD, wordt dit 'geassisteerde PD' genoemd. PD heeft voordelen, zoals zelfstandigheid van de patiënt en minder ziekenhuisbezoeken. PD kent echter ook complicaties, zoals kans op een buikvliesontsteking (PD peritonitis) of de mogelijkheid dat het buikvlies niet goed meer werkt waardoor PD gestaakt moet worden (PD membraanfalen).

Tijdens de laatste decennia zijn er veel studies gedaan naar het risico op ziekte of overlijden van dialysepatiënten. Dialysepatiënten hebben een hoog risico op ziekte zoals hart- en vaatziekten, tevens overlijdt meer dan 50% van de patiënten binnen 5 jaar na start van dialyse [11-14]. De laatste jaren is er echter een toenemende vraag naar studies die patiëntgerapporteerde uitkomsten onderzoeken, zoals gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven [15, 16]. Dialysepatiënten hebben namelijk een slechte kwaliteit van leven. Het uitvoeren van thuisdialyse, d.w.z. PD of thuis HD, heeft potentiële voordelen zoals behoud van autonomie en flexibiliteit, minder ziekenhuisbezoeken en de mogelijkheid om professionele of sociale activiteiten uit te voeren, wat zou kunnen bijdragen aan een betere kwaliteit van leven. Recente gegevens over de effecten van thuisdialyse op gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven, klinische uitkomsten en kosten in vergelijking met
centrumdialyse ontbreken echter. Daarom startten wij in 2017 met de 'Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO)' (**Figuur 2**).

Figuur 2. Overzicht van de 'Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO)'.



PROMs: patient reported outcome measures; vragenlijsten betreffende kwaliteit van leven.

DOMESTICO bestaat uit 3 deelprojecten. Ten eerste, DOMESTICO retrospectief waarbij gegevens worden verzameld van volwassen patiënten (≥ 18 jaar) die tussen 1 januari 2012 en 1 januari 2017 zijn gestart met een dialysebehandeling (d.w.z. PD of HD) in 41 Nederlandse ziekenhuizen. In deze deelstudie worden de oorzaken en beïnvloedbare factoren van techniek falen van thuis- en nachtdialyse onderzocht. Daarnaast worden de klinische uitkomsten (waaronder ziekenhuisopname en overlijden) van thuis- en nacht-dialysepatiënten vergeleken met die van centrumdialyse-patiënten.

Ten tweede, DOMESTICO prospectief, dat op 22 december 2017 van start is gegaan, waarbij patiënten worden geïncludeerd die starten met dialyse in 59 centra verspreid over Nederland en België. Het belangrijkste doel is om het effect van thuisdialyse op de gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven te bepalen in vergelijking met centrumdialyse. Andere doelen zijn; 1) het uitvoeren van een kosten-effectiviteitsanalyse van thuisdialyse in vergelijking met centrumdialyse; 2) het bepalen van de klinische uitkomsten van thuisdialyse, met name ziekenhuisopname en overlijden, in vergelijking met centrumdialyse en het identificeren van beïnvloedbare factoren.

Ten derde, het implementatieproject 'Goede praktijkvoorbeelden en Samen beslissen' dat heeft plaatsgevonden tussen januari 2018 en mei 2019. Dit project had als doel om het

voorlichtingstraject over de behandelopties bij eindstadium nierfalen te verbeteren door het toepassen van goede praktijkvoorbeelden en Samen beslissen. Het project werd uitgevoerd in 12 Nederlandse ziekenhuizen. Er werden verschillende producten ontwikkeld, zoals een workshop "Samen beslissen: van voorlichting naar dialoog" waarin Samen beslissen en de 3 eerder beschreven keuzehulpen werden besproken, een nierfalen-zorgpad en verschillende protocollen met goede praktijkvoorbeelden.

Het doel van dit proefschrift is om verder inzicht te verschaffen in (1) patiëntenvoorlichting en Samen beslissen, (2) traditionele klinische uitkomsten van dialyse zoals bloedingen, ziekenhuisopnames, techniek falen en PD peritonitis, en (3) een belangrijke patiëntgerelateerde uitkomst; gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven. Dit proefschrift bevat artikelen met de eerste resultaten van DOMESTICO retrospectief en het implementatieproject.

Deel I: Patiëntenvoorlichting en Samen beslissen

Idealiter vormt Samen beslissen, waarbij de medische kennis van de zorgverlener wordt gecombineerd met de waarden en voorkeuren van de individuele patiënt, de basis van het voorlichtingsproces over de behandelopties bij eindstadium nierfalen [4, 17, 18]. Hoewel Samen beslissen in veel Nefrologische richtlijnen wordt aanbevolen, heeft een groot deel van de patiënten niet het idee dat dit daadwerkelijk wordt toegepast [19, 20]. Zoals reeds eerder beschreven, zijn er in Nederland 3 keuzehulpen om het Samen beslissen-proces te ondersteunen: de 3 Goede Vragen, de consultkaarten en de Nierwijzer [6-8]. Het is echter onbekend of deze keuzehulpen daadwerkelijk wordt toegepast naar andere keuzehulpen is gebleken dat er barrières zijn voor toepassing van keuzehulpen in de dagelijkse praktijk [21].

In **hoofdstuk 2** beschreven we een enquête over het gebruik van de Nederlandse keuzehulpen onder 117 zorgverleners uit 12 Nederlandse ziekenhuizen. Samen beslissen werd volgens 56% van de zorgverleners toegepast, maar slechts 28% gaf aan de 3 Goede Vragen te gebruiken, 32% de consultkaarten en 51% de Nierwijzer. Daarnaast vulden 182 CNS-patiënten vragenlijsten in over de mate waarin zij Samen beslissen hadden ervaren. Op een schaal van 0 – 100 (hoe hoger de score hoe beter het Samen beslissen wordt ervaren) was de ene gemiddelde Samen beslissen-score 75 en de andere score 86. Een workshop over Samen beslissen en de 3 Nederlandse keuzehulpen, gegeven aan zorgverleners in de deelnemende ziekenhuizen, gaf geen verandering van de Samen beslissen-scores van de CNS-patiënten. Ziekenhuizen met een hoge Samen beslissenscore gebruikten de consultkaarten en de Nierwijzer twee keer zo vaak als ziekenhuizen met een lage Samen beslissen-score. Daarnaast hadden ziekenhuizen met een hoge Samen beslissenscore ook minder gesprekken tijdens de nierfalen voorlichting, terwijl zij zich wel richtten op alle behandelopties en er vaker een huisbezoek werd gedaan. Deze enquête toonde dat Nederlandse CNS-patiënten en zorgverleners redelijk tevreden zijn over de mate van Samen beslissen tijdens de nierfalen voorlichting, maar dat het gebruik van speciaal ontwikkelde keuzehulpen beperkt is. Toekomstig onderzoek moet zich richten op de barrières voor het gebruik van de Nederlandse keuzehulpen.

Eerder onderzoek naar andere keuzehulpen toonde dat het belangrijk is dat zorgverleners bereid zijn óm ze te gebruiken én dat er effectieve zorgsystemen zijn waarin ze worden gebruikt [22]. In tegenstelling tot keuzehulpen, hebben 'goede praktijkvoorbeelden' ('...*a practice that has been proven to work well and produce good results, and is therefore recommended as a model.*') het voordeel dat zorgverleners ze graag gebruiken omdat ze al met positieve ervaringen in de dagelijkse praktijk zijn ingevoerd [23, 24]. **Hoofdstuk 3** presenteerde de resultaten van een literatuuronderzoek waarin 19 artikelen werden gevonden die goede praktijkvoorbeelden beschrijven voor dialyse voorlichting (b.v. PD-patiënten helpen bij het adequaat uitvoeren van PD, HD-patiënten informeren over zelfmanagement), dialyse behandeling (artikelen over algemene kwaliteitsverbetering van de dialysezorg) en eHealth (artikelen over nut van eHealth en invloed op gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven/zorg).

In hoofdstuk 3 werd 'het assisteren van patiënten bij het adequaat uitvoeren van PD' beschreven als een goed praktijkvoorbeeld. Naarmate het aantal, vooral oudere patiënten met eindstadium nierfalen toeneemt, lijkt dit goede praktijkvoorbeeld steeds belangrijker te worden, aangezien tot 80% van de oudere patiënten hulp nodig heeft bij het uitvoeren van PD [25]. In veel Europese landen zijn programma's voor geassisteerde PD beschikbaar, maar het percentage patiënten dat dit daadwerkelijk krijgt varieert behoorlijk. In **hoofdstuk 4** werden de resultaten gepresenteerd van een enquête onder 288 nefrologische zorgverleners in Europa. Uit de enquête bleek dat een programma voor geassisteerde PD bijna 6 keer vaker aanwezig was in West-Europese en Scandinavische landen ten opzichte van andere Europese landen, ruim 2 keer vaker aanwezig was in niet-academische ziekenhuizen en bijna 3 keer vaker aanwezig was in ziekenhuizen met een speciaal team voor de nierfalen voorlichting. Ook was de aanwezigheid van een programma voor geassisteerde PD geassocieerd met meer thuisdialyse.

Concluderend laat **deel I** van dit proefschrift zien dat betrokkenheid van zorgverleners en beschikbaarheid van effectieve zorgsystemen waarin goede praktijkvoorbeelden zijn opgenomen, zoals een geassisteerd PD-programma, van groot belang zijn voor optimale patiëntenvoorlichting en Samen beslissen.

Deel II: Traditionele klinische uitkomsten van dialyse

Wanneer patiënten met dialyse starten, kunnen zij geconfronteerd worden met complicaties. Dit worden ook wel 'traditionele' klinische uitkomsten genoemd en deze kunnen verschillend zijn voor HD en PD patiënten. In dit proefschrift hebben we 2 traditionele klinische uitkomsten onderzocht, namelijk bloedingen en ziekenhuisopnames.

Hoofdstuk 5 toonde dat het bloedingsrisico voor HD patiënten 1.5 keer hoger is dan voor PD patiënten. Bovendien zorgde een voorgeschiedenis van bloedingen of het gebruik van bloedverdunnende medicatie voor een sterk verhoogd bloedingsrisico bij HD patiënten. Dit bloedingsrisico zou meegenomen moeten worden in de patiëntenvoorlichting en de keuze voor een specifieke dialysemodaliteit kunnen beïnvloeden.

Een andere 'traditionele' klinische uitkomst is ziekenhuisopname. Een ziekenhuisopname is niet alleen een risicofactor voor overlijden, maar het heeft ook een negatieve invloed op gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven. In **hoofdstuk 6** beschreven we de ziekenhuisopnames bij 252 PD patiënten en 443 HD patiënten die behandeld werden in 31 Nederlandse ziekenhuizen uit DOMESTICO retrospectief. Na correctie voor beïnvloedende factoren, bleek het aantal ziekenhuisopnames van PD patiënten 1,1 keer hoger dan voor HD patiënten. Gedurende het eerste jaar na start van dialyse, was het risico op een eerste ziekenhuisopname 1,3 keer hoger voor PD patiënten in vergelijking met HD patiënten, en in de jaren daarna 1,9 keer hoger. De belangrijkste oorzaak van ziekenhuisopname bij PD patiënten was een PD peritonitis. Deze studie geeft het belang weer van preventie van infecties om het aantal ziekenhuisopnames voor PD patiënten.

Uit onze studie in **hoofdstuk 7** bleek ook dat infecties een belangrijke oorzaak zijn van PD techniek falen, waarbij een PD patiënt noodgedwongen over moet naar HD óf overlijdt. In DOMESTICO retrospectief, was de kans op PD techniek falen het eerste jaar 29% en het tweede jaar 52%. PD gerelateerde infecties en overlijden waren de belangrijkste oorzaken voor techniek falen. Een PD gerelateerde infectie met *Candida*, een schimmel, is ook geassocieerd met een grote kans op techniek falen, omdat de richtlijn aangeeft dat in zo'n geval de PD-katheter direct verwijderd moet worden [26]. In **hoofdstuk 8** werd een behandelprotocol beschreven waarmee een *Candida* peritonitis potentieel kan worden genezen zonder dat de PD-katheter verwijderd hoeft te worden. Het is echter een kleine studie bij 10 patiënten, dus het behandelprotocol moet worden onderzocht in nieuwe studies en tot die tijd is het toepassen van het behandelprotocol alleen geadviseerd voor patiënten met een *Candida* peritonitis die niet erg ziek zijn en waarbij verwijderen van de PD-katheter niet wenselijk is. Concluderend laat **deel II** van dit proefschrift zien dat 'traditionele' klinische uitkomsten verschillen tussen HD en PD patiënten, met een hoger risico op bloedingen bij HD patiënten, maar een hoger risico op ziekenhuisopname voor PD patiënten, vooral door infecties. Bovendien leiden infecties tot een hoger risico op PD techniek falen. Dus meer aandacht voor het voorkomen van infecties of een andere aanpak van specifieke PD-gerelateerde infecties, zoals *Candida* peritonitis, is belangrijk.

Deel III: Gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven

De afgelopen 10 jaar is er zowel in de wetenschap als de dagelijkse klinische praktijk steeds meer aandacht gekomen voor gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven. Aangezien dialyse een belastende behandeling is, is het belangrijk om de invloed van een specifieke dialysevorm op de gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven mee te nemen in de behandelkeuze. Veel studies hebben gekeken naar het verschil in gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven tussen thuisdialyse en centrumdialyse patiënten en mogelijke verschillen tussen landen. Daarom voerden wij een literatuuronderzoek uit dat beschreven staat in hoofdstuk 9. Onze analyse van 4158 thuisdialyse patiënten en 7854 centrumdialyse patiënten toonde een betere fysieke gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven, maar een gelijke mentale gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven bij thuisdialyse patiënten in vergelijking met centrumdialyse patiënten. Dit was vooral het geval bij patiënten uit West-Europa, terwijl thuisdialyse patiënten uit Latijns-Amerika juist een lagere fysieke gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven hadden. Dit kon verklaard worden door het feit dat thuisdialyse patiënten in Latijns-Amerika ongezonder waren en een slechtere conditie hadden dan centrumdialyse patiënten. Een beperking van ons literatuuronderzoek was echter dat de studies onderling zeer verschillend waren. Daarom zijn grote studies met aandacht voor beïnvloedbare factoren belangrijk om vast te stellen of thuisdialyse leidt tot betere gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven. Zo'n studie is DOMESTICOprospectief. In **hoofdstuk 10** beschreven we de achtergrond en opzet van deze studie waarin de gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven van thuisdialyse patiënten vergeleken zal worden met die van centrumdialyse patiënten. Daarnaast zal ook gekeken worden naar 'traditionele' klinische uitkomsten en kosten.

Concluderend laat **deel III** van dit proefschrift zien dat gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven een belangrijke patiëntgerapporteerde uitkomst is, maar dat het effect van de verschillende dialysevormen op gezondheidsgerelateerde kwaliteit van leven nog onbekend is. Hier zal DOMESTICO-prospectief hopelijk verandering in brengen.

Samenvattend, laat dit proefschrift, samen met andere in Nederland lopende studies, een duidelijke verschuiving zien richting Samen beslissen en het belang van patiëntgerapporteerde uitkomsten voor patiënten met eindstadium nierfalen.

Referenties

- 1. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) CKD Work Group, *KDIGO 2012 Clinical Practice Guideline for the Evaluation and Management of Chronic Kidney Disease.* Kidney Int Suppl, 2013. 3: p. 1-150.
- 2. Inker LA, Astor BC, Fox CH, et al., *KDOQI US commentary on the 2012 KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of CKD.* Am J Kidney Dis, 2014. 63(5): p. 713-35.
- 3. Nierstichting, Over nieren, Feiten en cijfers. https://nierstichting.nl/over-nieren/hoe-werken-jenieren/feiten-en-cijfers (last accessed March 4, 2022).
- 4. Renal Physicians Association, Shared Decision-Making in the Appropriate Initiation of and Withdrawal from Dialysis (Clinical Practice Guideline). 2010.
- 5. Elwyn G, Frosch D, Thomson R, et al., *Shared decision making: a model for clinical practice.* J Gen Intern Med, 2012. 27(10): p. 1361-7.
- 6. Patiëntenfederatie Nederland and Federatie Medisch Specialisten, *3 Goede Vragen. Available at: https://3goedevragen.nl/ (last accessed November 18, 2021).*
- 7. Option Grids, Available at: https://consultkaart.nl/ (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- 8. Dutch Kidney Guide, Available at: https://nierwijzer.nl/. (last accessed November 18, 2021).
- 9. Nierstichting, Leven met een nierziekte, Feiten en cijfers. https://nierstichting.nl/leven-meteen-nierziekte/feiten-en-cijfers/ (last accessed March 4, 2022).
- 10. Nefrovisie, Nefrodata, Renine 31-12-2021. https://ivisualz.nl/ivisualz/chartFlash/charts (last accessed August 28, 2022).
- Naylor KL, Kim SJ, McArthur E, et al., Mortality in Incident Maintenance Dialysis Patients Versus Incident Solid Organ Cancer Patients: A Population-Based Cohort. Am J Kidney Dis, 2019. 73(6): p. 765-76.
- 12. van de Luijtgaarden MW, Jager KJ, Segelmark M, et al., *Trends in dialysis modality choice and related patient survival in the ERA-EDTA Registry over a 20-year period.* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2016. 31(1): p. 120-8.
- 13. Ng CH, Ong ZH, Sran HK, et al., *Comparison of cardiovascular mortality in hemodialysis versus peritoneal dialysis*. Int Urol Nephrol, 2021. 53(7): p. 1363-71.
- 14. Zhan X, Yang M, Chen Y, et al., *Comparison of risk of stroke in patients treated with peritoneal dialysis and hemodialysis: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* Ren Fail, 2019. 41(1): p. 650-6.
- 15. Lee MB and Bargman JM, *Survival by Dialysis Modality-Who Cares?* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2016. 11(6): p. 1083-7.
- 16. Himmelfarb J, Vanholder R, Mehrotra R, et al., *The current and future landscape of dialysis.* Nat Rev Nephrol, 2020. 16(10): p. 573-85.
- 17. Farrington K, Covic A, Aucella F, et al., *Clinical Practice Guideline on management of older patients with chronic kidney disease stage 3b or higher (eGFR <45 mL/min/1.73 m2).* Nephrol Dial Transplant, 2016. 31(suppl 2): p. ii1-ii66.
- 18. Federatie Medische Specialisten, Nierfunctievervangende behandeling, 2016. Available at https://richtlijnendatabase.nl/richtlijn/nierfunctievervangende_behandeling/ nierfunctievervangende_behandeling_-_startpagina.html (last accessed October 24, 2021).
- 19. Berkhout-Byrne N, Gaasbeek A, Mallat MJK, et al., *Regret about the decision to start dialysis: a cross-sectional Dutch national survey.* Netherlands Journal of Medicine, 2017. 75(6): p. 225-34.
- 20. Verberne WR, Konijn WS, Prantl K, et al., *Older patients' experiences with a shared decisionmaking process on choosing dialysis or conservative care for advanced chronic kidney disease: a survey study.* BMC Nephrol, 2019. 20(1): p. 264.
- Scalia P, Durand MA, Berkowitz JL, et al., The impact and utility of encounter patient decision aids: Systematic review, meta-analysis and narrative synthesis. Patient Educ Couns, 2019. 102(5): p. 817-41.

- 22. Stacey D, Legare F, Lewis K, et al., *Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2017. 4: p. CD001431.
- 23. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, *Available at: https://www.fao.org/in-action/kore/good-practices/en/ (last accessed April 3, 2020).*
- 24. Perleth M, Jakubowski E, and Busse R, *What is 'best practice' in health care? State of the art and perspectives in improving the effectiveness and efficiency of the European health care systems.* Health Policy, 2001. 56: p. 235-50.
- 25. Guilloteau S, Lobbedez T, Guillouet S, et al., *Impact of Assisted Peritoneal Dialysis Modality on Outcomes: A Cohort Study of the French Language Peritoneal Dialysis Registry.* Am J Nephrol, 2018. 48(6): p. 425-33.
- 26. Li PK, Szeto CC, Piraino B, et al., *ISPD peritonitis recommendations: 2016 update on prevention and treatment.* Perit Dial Int, 2016. 36: p. 481-508.

Questionnaires

Short-Form 12 (generic)

This survey asks for your views about your health. This information will help keep track of how you feel and how well you are able to do your usual activities.

Answer each question by choosing just one answer. If you are unsure how to answer a question, please give the best answer you can.

1. In general, would you say your health is

O Excellent O Very good O Good O Fair O Poor

The following questions are about activities you might do during a typical day. Does <u>your</u> <u>health now limit</u> you in these activities? If so, how much?

	Yes, limited a lot	Yes, limited a little	No, not limited at all
2. Moderate activities such as moving a table, pushing a vacuum cleaner, bowling, or playing golf.	0	0	0
3. Climbing several flights of stairs.	0	0	0

During the <u>past 4 weeks</u>, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities <u>as a result of your physical health</u>?

		Yes	No
4.	Accomplished less than you would like.	0	0
5.	Were limited in the kind of work or other activities.	0	0

During the **past 4 weeks**, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities <u>as a result of any emotional problems</u> (such as feeling depressed or anxious)?

		Yes	No
6.	Accomplished less than you would like.	0	0
7.	Did work or activities less carefully than usual.	0	0

8. During the **past 4 weeks**, how much **<u>did pain interfere</u>** with your normal work (including work outside the home and housework)?

O Not at all

O A little bit

O Moderately

- O Quite a bit
- O Extremely

These questions are about how you have been feeling during the **past 4 weeks**. For each question, please give the one answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling. How much of the time during the **past 4 weeks**...

	All of the time	Most of the time	A good bite of the time	Some of the time	A little of the time	None of the time
9. Have you felt calm & peaceful?	0	0	0	0	0	0
10. Did you have a lot of energy?	0	0	0	0	0	0
11. Have you felt down-hearted and blue?	0	0	0	0	0	0

12. During the **past 4 weeks**, how much of the time has your **physical health or emotional problems** interfered with your social activities (like visiting friends, relatives, etc.)?

O All of the time

- O Most of the time
- O Some of the time
- O A little of the time

O None of the time

Dialysis Symptom Index (Kidney disease specific HRQoL questionnaire)

Below is a list of physical and emotional symptoms that people on dialysis may have. For each symptom, please indicate if you had the symptom <u>during the past week</u> by circling 'yes' or 'no'. If 'yes', please indicate how much that symptom bothered you.

During the past week: Did you experience this symptom?		If yes, how much did it bother you?				
		Not at all	A little bit	Some- what	Quite a bit	Very much
Constipation	No/Yes					
Nausea	No/Yes					
Vomiting	No/Yes					
Diarrhea	No/Yes					
Decreased appetite	No/Yes					
Muscle cramps	No/Yes					
Swelling in legs	No/Yes					
Shortness of breath	No/Yes					
Lightheadedness or dizziness	No/Yes					
Restless legs or difficulty keeping legs still	No/Yes					
Numbness or tingling in feet	No/Yes					
Feeling tired or lack of energy	No/Yes					
Cough	No/Yes					
Dry mouth	No/Yes					
Bone or joint pain	No/Yes					
Chest pain	No/Yes					
Headache	No/Yes					
Muscle soreness	No/Yes					
Difficulty concentrating	No/Yes					
Dry skin	No/Yes					
Itching	No/Yes					
Worrying	No/Yes					
Feeling nervous	No/Yes					
Trouble falling asleep	No/Yes					
Trouble staying asleep	No/Yes					
Feeling irritable	No/Yes					
Feeling sad	No/Yes					
Feeling anxious	No/Yes					
Decreased interest in sex	No/Yes					
Decreased becoming sexually aroused	No/Yes					

EQ-5D-5L (Generic HRQoL questionnaire for economic evaluation)

Under each heading, please tick the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY. MOBILITY

I have no problems in walking about	
I have slight problems in walking about	
I have moderate problems in walking about	
I have severe problems in walking about	
I am unable to walk about	
SELF-CARE	
I have no problems washing or dressing myself	
I have slight problems washing or dressing myself	
I have moderate problems washing or dressing myself	
I have severe problems washing or dressing myself	
I am unable to wash or dress myself	
USUAL ACTIVITIES (e.g. work, study, housework, family or leisure activities)	
I have no problems doing my usual activities	
I have slight problems doing my usual activities	
I have moderate problems doing my usual activities	
I have severe problems doing my usual activities	
I am unable to do my usual activities	
PAIN / DISCOMFORT	
I have no pain or discomfort	
I have slight pain or discomfort	
I have moderate pain or discomfort	
I have severe pain or discomfort	
I have extreme pain or discomfort	
ANXIETY / DEPRESSION	
I am not anxious or depressed	
I am slightly anxious or depressed	
I am moderately anxious or depressed	
I am severely anxious or depressed	
I am extremely anxious or depressed	

UK (English) © 2009 EuroQol Group EQ-5D™ is a trade mark of the EuroQol Group

Appendices

We would like to know how good or bad your health is TODAY.

This scale is numbered from 0 to 100.

100 means the <u>best</u> health you can imagine.

0 means the \underline{worst} health you can imagine.

Please mark an X on the scale to indicate how your health is TODAY. Now, write the number you marked on the scale in the box below.

YOUR HEALTH TODAY =





UK (English) © 2009 EuroQol Group EQ-5D™ is a trade mark of the EuroQol Group

DOMESTICO Study Group members

Steering committee: AC Abrahams and MC Verhaar, *University Medical Center Utrecht*; BC van Jaarsveld, *Amsterdam University Medical Centers and Diapriva Dialysis Center Amsterdam*; FW Dekker, *Leiden University Medical Center*; FJ van Ittersum, *Amsterdam University Medical Centers*; H Bart/W Konijn, *Dutch Kidney Patients Association (NVN)*; MH Hemmelder, *Maastricht UMC*+; MAGJ ten Dam, *Nefrovisie and Canisius-Wilhelmina Hospital Nijmegen*.

Junior investigators: A van Eck van der Sluijs and E Driehuis and S Vonk, *University Medical Center Utrecht*; AA Bonenkamp and B van Lieshout, *Amsterdam University Medical Centers*.

DOMESTICO retrospective: AC Abrahams, *University Medical Center Utrecht*; BC van Jaarsveld, Amsterdam University Medical Centers and Diapriva Dialysis Center Amsterdam; FW Dekker, *Leiden* University Medical Center; FTJ Boereboom, Dianet Utrecht and Diakonessenhuis; CWH de Fijter, OLVG Amsterdam; DG Struijk, Dianet Amsterdam; YM Vermeeren, Gelre Hospitals Apeldoorn.

DOMESTICO prospective 'Quality of life and clinical outcomes': AC Abrahams, University Medical Center Utrecht; BC van Jaarsveld, Amsterdam University Medical Centers and Diapriva Dialysis Center Amsterdam; FW Dekker, Leiden University Medical Center; FJ van Ittersum, Amsterdam University Medical Centers; EL Penne, Northwest Clinics Alkmaar; DG Struijk and A Neradova, Amsterdam University Medical Centers and Dianet Amsterdam; A Özyilmaz, University Medical Center Groningen and Dialysis Center Groningen.

DOMESTICO prospective 'Costs': AC Abrahams, University Medical Center Utrecht; BC van Jaarsveld, Amsterdam University Medical Centers and Diapriva Dialysis Center Amsterdam; MM Versteegh and TA Kanters and G de Graaf, Institute for Medical Technology Assessment; L Hakkaartvan Roijen, Institute of Health Policy & Management and Institute for Medical Technology Assessment; GA de Wit, Julius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care; FT Boereboom, Dianet Utrecht and Diakonessenhuis; MH Hemmelder, Nefrovisie and Maastricht UMC+.

DOMESTICO 'Good Practices and Shared Decision-Making': AC Abrahams, University Medical Center Utrecht; BC van Jaarsveld, Amsterdam University Medical Centers and Diapriva Dialysis Center Amsterdam; PWG du Buf-Vereijken, Amphia Hospital Breda; R van Rooijen, Dianet Utrecht; K Prantl, Dutch Kidney Patients Association (NVN); NC Berkhout-Byrne; Leiden University Medical Center; MH Hemmelder, Nefrovisie and Maastricht UMC+; JA Bijlsma, Amsterdam University Medical Centers and Dianet Amsterdam; EC Hagen, Niercentrum Midden Nederland Amersfoort; AB Hoogsteen, Medical Center Leeuwarden; AJ Luik, VieCuri Medical Center Venlo. Investigators of DOMESTICO retrospective: MR Korte, Albert Schweitzer Hospital Dordrecht; TT Cnossen, Amphia Hospital Breda; BC van Jaarsveld, Amsterdam University Medical Centers and Diapriva Dialysis Center Amsterdam; J Lips, Bernhoven Uden; HP Krepel, Bravis Hospital Roosendaal; MAGJ ten Dam, Canisius-Wilhelmina Hospital Nijmegen; CJAM Konings, Catharina Hospital Eindhoven; CJ Doorenbos, Deventer Hospital; A Lips, Dialysis Center Beverwijk; A Özyilmaz, Dialysis Center Groningen; DG Struijk, Dianet Amsterdam; FTJ Boereboom, Dianet Utrecht; S van Esch, Elisabeth-TweeSteden Hospital Tilburg; GF van Breda, Elyse Clinics; EJ Hoorn and D Severs, Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam; AH Boonstra, Flevohospital Almere; RW Nette, Franciscus Gasthuis & Vlietland Rotterdam; YM Vermeeren, Gelre Hospitals Apeldoorn; HD Thang and NH Hommes, Hagalanden Medical Center The Hague: M van Buren, HagaHospital The Hague: JM Hofstra, Hospital Gelderse Vallei Ede; SHA Diepeveen, Isala Zwolle; S Boorsma, Laurentius Hospital Roermond; JI Rotmans, Leiden University Medical Center; AM van Alphen, Maasstad Hospital Rotterdam; F van der Sande and EJR Litiens, Maastricht UMC+; WMT Janssen, Martini Hospital Groningen; A Kuijper and CH Beerenhout, Máxima Medical Center Veldhoven; MH Hemmelder, Medical Center Leeuwarden; HS Brink and R Wijering, Medical Spectrum Twente Enschede; EC Hagen, Niercentrum Midden Nederland Amersfoort: EL Penne, Northwest Clinics Alkmaar: CWH de Fiiter and HFH Brulez, OLVG Amsterdam; HW van Hamersvelt, Radboudumc Nijmegen; SJ Huisman, Reinier de Graaf Gasthuis Delft; MP Kooistra and JC Verhave, Riinstate Arnhem; HHTI Klein, Slingeland Hospital Doetinchem; CE Douma, Spaarne Gasthuis Hoofddorp; WJW Bos, St. Antonius Hospital Nieuwegein; JD Snoep, Tergooi Hilversum; AC Abrahams, University Medical Center Utrecht; AJ Luik, VieCuri Medical Center Venlo; RJL Klaassen, Zaans Medical Center Zaandam; AG Weenink, ZorgSaam Hospital Terneuzen; MME Krekels, Zuvderland Sittard.

Investigators of DOMESTICO prospective: PB Leurs, Admiraal de Ruyter Hospital Goes; MR Korte, Albert Schweitzer Hospital Dordrecht; AM Schrander, Alrijne Hospital; TT Cnossen, Amphia Hospital Breda; BC van Jaarsveld, Amsterdam University Medical Centers and Diapriva Dialysis Center Amsterdam: A de Vriese, AZ St-Jan Brugge (Belaium); J Lips, Bernhoven Uden; HP Krepel, Bravis Hospital Roosendaal; MAGJ ten Dam, Canisius-Wilhelming Hospital Niimegen; CJAM Konings, Catharina Hospital Eindhoven; A van Eck van der Sluijs, Deventer Hospital; A Lips, Dialysis Center Beverwijk; A Özyilmaz, Dialysis Center Groningen; A Neradova, Dianet Amsterdam; FTJ Boereboom, Dianet Utrecht; S van Esch, Elisabeth-TweeSteden Hospital Tilburg; CR Susanto, Elkerliek Hospital; EJ Hoorn and D Severs, Erasmus Medical Center Rotterdam; AH Boonstra, Flevohospital Almere; RW Nette and MAM Verhoeven, Franciscus Gasthuis & Vlietland Rotterdam; YM Vermeeren, Gelre Hospitals Apeldoorn; DHT lipelaar, Groene Hart Hospital Gouda; NH Hommes, Haaglanden Medical Center The Haque; M van Buren, HagaHospital The Haque; JM Hofstra, Hospital Gelderse Vallei Ede; KW Mui, Hospital St Jansdal; SHA Diepeveen, Isala Zwolle; EK Hoogeveen, Jeroen Bosch Hospital 's-Hertogenbosch; T Cornelis, Jessa Hospital Hasselt (Belgium); S Boorsma, Laurentius Hospital Roermond; JI Rotmans, Leiden University Medical Center; AM van Alphen, Maasstad Hospital Rotterdam; EJR Litjens and B Zomer, Maastricht UMC+; WMT Janssen, Martini Hospital Groningen;

A Kuijper and CH Beerenhout, *Máxima Medical Center Veldhoven*; J Broekroelofs and L Bierma, *Medical Center Leeuwarden*; HS Brink and RMJ Wijering, *Medical Spectrum Twente Enschede*; W Rüger, *Niercentrum aan de Amstel*; RJ Bosma, *Niercentrum Midden Nederland Amersfoort*; EL Penne, *Northwest Clinics Alkmaar*; CWH de Fijter and HFH Brulez, *OLVG Amsterdam*; HW van Hamersvelt, *Radboudumc Nijmegen*; SJ Huisman, *Reinier de Graaf Gasthuis Delft*; JC Verhave, *Rijnstate Arnhem*; G van Kempen, *Saxenburgh Group*; HHTI Klein, *Slingeland Hospital Doetinchem*; CE Douma, *Spaarne Gasthuis Hoofddorp*; WJW Bos, *St. Antonius Hospital Nieuwegein*; JD Snoep, *Tergooi Hilversum*; J Mulder, *Treant Zorggroep Emmen*; CFM Franssen, *University Medical Center Groningen*; AC Abrahams, *University Medical Center Utrecht*; K Francois, *UZ Brussel (Belgium)*; AJ Luik, *VieCuri Medical Center Venlo*; RJL Klaassen and A van Tellingen, *Zaans Medical Center Zaandam*; MMG Dekker, *Ziekenhuisgroep Twente*; AG Weenink, *ZorgSaam Hospital Terneuzen*; MME Krekels, *Zuyderland Sittard*.

Dankwoord

Na bijna 6 jaar is het dan zover; mijn proefschrift is af! Wel echt iets voor mijn perfectionistisch persoontje om na 6 jaar Gymnasium, 6 jaar Geneeskunde, 6 jaar Interne Geneeskunde nu dus ook 6 jaar over mijn proefschrift te hebben gedaan. De cirkel is rond! Ik had mijn promotietraject niet zo succesvol kunnen uitvoeren zonder de steun van een heleboel mensen, die ik hierbij graag wil bedanken.

Geachte dr. Abrahams, beste **Alferso**, wat ben ik ontzettend dankbaar dat jij mij in 2017 de kans bood om te gaan promoveren bij DOMESTICO! Met toendertijd nog maar 3 maanden opleiding tot internist-nefroloog voor de boeg dacht ik dat mijn kans om ooit te promoveren verkeken was. Ik raakte direct enthousiast toen je over DOMESTICO vertelde en was heel blij dat je mij erbij wilde betrekken, juist vanwege mijn nefrologische kennis. Voor mij gingen er wat slapeloze nachten én het afslaan van een baan aan vooraf, maar in juni 2017 kon ik aan de slag. Ik heb genoten van de vele centrumbezoeken waarbij het iedere keer weer de vraag was of we met jouw oude auto de eindbestemming wel zouden halen én de vergaderingen waarbij jij steevast 'fashionably late' was. Ik ben blij dat je mij de mogelijkheid hebt gegeven om mijn promotietraject zelf in te richten en heb grote bewondering gekregen voor de onvermoeibaarheid waarmee je iedere keer weer subsidies wist binnen te halen. Ik ben blij dat we in hetzelfde vakgebied werken en elkaar derhalve nog frequent zullen tegenkomen!

Geachte dr. van Jaarsveld, beste **Brigit**, wat heb ik een geluk gehad met jou als 2^e co-promotor! Je bent een geweldig persoon die altijd in anderen geïnteresseerd en behulpzaam is. We hebben hele fijne gesprekken gehad onderweg in de auto naar ziekenhuizen in het land. Vooral de rit naar Terneuzen, waarbij we door de betaalde tunnel moesten, voelde bijna als op vakantie gaan. Je bescheidenheid en eerlijkheid sieren je. Bedankt voor de deuren die je hebt geopend door mij te betrekken in de sectie Communicatie van de Nederlandse Federatie voor Nefrologie, waarbij ik nu jouw voorzitterschap heb mogen overnemen en zelfs secretaris van de NFN ben geworden. Ik hoop je nog vaak tegen te komen op nascholingen en wellicht dan nog eens wat 'moederlijk'-advies te kunnen krijgen.

Geachte prof. dr. Verhaar, beste **Marianne**, door de overstap te maken van nefroloog-in-opleiding (NIO) naar promovenda heb ik je beter leren kennen. Ik heb bewondering gekregen voor jouw geweldige onderzoeks-mind. Bedankt voor jouw begeleiding gedurende mijn promotietraject en het feit dat je er altijd voor zorgde dat Alferso en ik de afronding als doel in zicht hielden en dus niet teveel zijsporen bewandelden.

De beoordelingscommissie, bestaande uit **prof. dr. M.L. Bots**, **prof. dr. C.A.J.M. Gaillard**, **prof. dr. J.J.M. van Delden**, **prof. dr. W.J.W. Bos** en **prof. dr. K. François**, wil ik bedanken voor het lezen en beoordelen van mijn manuscript. **Prof. dr. J.J.M. van Delden** jammer dat u niet aanwezig kunt zijn bij de verdediging, bedankt voor uw gelukwens. **Prof. dr. M.H. Emmelot-Vonk** en **dr. C.W.H. de Fijter**, bedankt dat jullie plaats nemen in de promotiecommissie.

Lieve **Anna**, mijn DOMESTICO zusje, wat hebben we een geweldige hoeveelheid aan lief en leed gedeeld in de ruim 3 jaar waarin we samen arts-onderzoeker waren! Een bruiloft, het krijgen van kinderen, ziekte, een heel leven leek wel in die periode te zijn gepropt. Ik heb bewondering voor je vastberadenheid, enthousiasme en geweldige epidemiologische kennis. Onze artikelen werden echt naar een hoger niveau getild als je weer eens, een voor mij onbegrijpelijke, extra analyse deed. Gelukkig kon ik dan ook altijd input leveren om de leesbaarheid voor de gemiddelde internist goed te houden. Ik ben heel blij dat jij nu in opleiding bent tot internist en hoop je in de toekomst nog vaak te zien. Bedankt dat je mijn paranimf wilt zijn, zoals ik dat vorig jaar bij jou mocht zijn.

Geachte prof. dr. F.J. van Ittersum en prof. dr. F.W. Dekker, beste **Frans** en **Friedo**, hartelijk dank voor jullie inbreng tijdens gesprekken met Anna en mij én tijdens DOMESTICO vergaderingen. Ik heb ontzettend veel van jullie geleerd op onderzoeks- en epidemiologisch- gebied. Jullie kritische en inspirerende inbreng hebben de DOMESTICO studie en diens artikelen echt beter gemaakt!

Beste **Anneke Roeterdink**, wat waren we blij toen jij ons team kwam versterken en een heleboel administratieve taken overnam, zodat wij ons meer konden richten op het daadwerkelijk schrijven van artikelen. Ik heb recent nog weer mogen genieten van een heerlijke DOMESTICO taart die je had laten bezorgen! Beste **Sanne Vonk**, het enthousiasme waarmee je dingen aanpakt werkt aanstekelijk. Bedankt voor de samenwerking ten behoeve van de artikelen in hoofdstuk 2 en 3. De nieuwe arts-onderzoekers, **Bas van Lieshout** en **Esmee Driehuis**, wil ik heel veel geluk en plezier wensen binnen de DOMESTICO familie. Ik zie de resultaten van DOMESTICO prospectief met spanning tegemoet.

Een flink aantal nefrologen en verpleegkundigen hebben meegedacht over de opzet en uitvoer van DOMESTICO en de te schrijven artikelen. Voor deelname aan de stuurgroep wil ik **Marianne**, **Frans, Friedo, Marc Hemmelder** en tenslotte **Hans Bart** en zijn opvolgster **Wanda Konijn** bedanken. Voor deelname aan de projectgroep DOMESTICO retrospectief wil ik **Friedo, Frans Boereboom, Carola de Fijter, Dick Struijk** en **Yolande Vermeeren** bedanken. Voor deelname aan de projectgroep DOMESTICO prospectief 'Kwaliteit van leven en klinische uitkomsten' wil ik **Friedo, Frans, Lars Penne, Dick, Aegida Neradova** en **Akin Özyilmaz** bedanken. Beste leden van de projectgroep DOMESTICO prospectief 'Kosten', beste **Matthijs Versteegh, Tim Kanters, Gimon de Graaf, Leona Hakkaart-van Roijen, Ardine de Wit, Frans Boereboom** en **Marc**, ik heb maar enkele van jullie vergaderingen meegemaakt. Het voordeel hiervan was eerlijk gezegd wel dat Anna en ik minder notulen hoefden uit te werken, maar gelukkig hebben we ook genoeg meegekregen om erachter te komen dat jullie in de toekomst met de kostendata uit DOMESTICO zeer mooie artikelen zullen gaan schrijven. Het uiteindelijke succes van DOMESTICO is mede mogelijk gemaakt door alle nefrologen en (research)verpleegkundigen uit de deelnemende centra, zowel in Nederland als in België. Hartelijk dank voor de fijne ontvangst tijdens centrumbezoeken en de inkijk die jullie wilden geven in de dagelijkse praktijk (met goede praktijkvoorbeelden) in jullie centrum. Speciale dank gaat uit naar de deelnemers van het deelproject 'Good Practices and Shared Decision-Making', dank aan Peggy du Buf, Marian Bastiaens en Gerda Verbraak uit het Amphia ziekenhuis; Joy Lips en Jeannet van Lankveld uit ziekenhuis Bernhoven; Harmen Krepel, Bregje Simons en Esther de Vos uit het Bravis ziekenhuis; Robert Nette, Kamilia Bouachmir, Daisy Adelmund en Amel Taalat uit het Franciscus Gasthuis; Martine Verhoeven, Annemiek Vergeer, Jeanette van der Wolf en Mieke den Dulk uit het Franciscus Gasthuis locatie Vlietland: Yolande Vermeeren. Cobi Nieuwenhuis en Marianne Gijsendorffer uit Gelre Ziekenhuizen; Arjan van Alphen, Bettie Hoekstra, Pieta Achterberg-Holleman en Dianne van Dongen uit het Maasstad ziekenhuis; Marc Hemmelder en Anneke Hoogsteen uit het Medisch Centrum Leeuwarden: Judith Wierdsma en Sanne Bosman uit het UMC Utrecht; Ton Luik, Petra Geeraets en Marjo van den Essen uit het VieCuri; Elisabeth Schols en Lidwien Westerbos uit het AmsterdamUMC locatie VUmc; Rob Klaassen, Léonie Kreike, Esther den Hartog en Anne-marie Ooms uit het Zaans Medisch Centrum, Door gesprekken in jullie centra heb ik veel kennis opgedaan over de verscheidene inrichtingen van het nierfalen voorlichtingstraject.

Voor het deelproject 'Good Practices and Shared Decision-Making' heb ik intensief mogen samenwerken met **Aase Riemann**, **Hans Bart** en **Karen Prantl**. Beste **Aase**, bedankt voor het overnemen van de workshops 'Van voorlichting naar dialoog' tijdens mijn zwangerschapsverlof. Ik heb genoten van je verhalen over vakanties in Denemarken en als Nederlandse EDTNA/ERCA ambassadeur gaat het je in de toekomst vast lukken om mij te verleiden tot het geven van een presentatie of schrijven van een artikel. Beste **Hans** en **Karen**, als (oud)medewerkers van de Nierpatiënten Vereniging Nederland zorgden jullie ervoor dat altijd voldoende aandacht werd besteedt aan het patiëntenperspectief. Zodoende nam er ook vaak een ervaringsdeskundige deel aan de eerder genoemde workshops, wat van zeer grote waarde was. Tevens bedankt dat ik op mijn beurt de mogelijkheid heb gekregen om bij enkele van jullie projecten mijn kennis en (beperkte) ervaring als internist-nefroloog in te brengen.

Graag wil ik alle **patiënten** bedanken die vragenlijsten hebben ingevuld over hun ervaringen met de aan hen verstrekte nierfalenvoorlichting. Deze data was onontbeerlijk voor het schrijven van hoofdstuk 2. Tevens dank aan alle **patiënten** die deelnemen danwel hebben deelgenomen aan DOMESTICO prospectief, met de data uit uw vragenlijsten hopen we in de toekomst antwoord te krijgen op de vraag of thuisdialyse leidt tot een betere kwaliteit van leven, gelijke klinische uitkomsten en lagere kosten in vergelijking tot centrumdialyse. Beste co-auteurs van alle artikelen, hartelijk dank voor jullie waardevolle bijdrage! In het bijzonder **Gurbey Ocak** voor het artikel in hoofdstuk 5, **Vera van Wallene** voor het artikel in hoofdstuk 6 en **Kamal Eekelschot** voor het artikel in hoofdstuk 8. Beste **Gurbey**, als mede NIO bood jij mij de kans om een mooi artikel te schrijven met data uit NECOSAD, bedankt voor je uitleg over de toepassing van een imputatiemodel. Beste **Vera** en **Kamal**, als studenten hebben jullie data verzameld en hebben we samen mooie artikelen geschreven. Inmiddels zijn jullie geen student meer en wil ik jullie dus veel succes wensen met jullie verdere carrières.

Tevens wil ik alle **studenten** bedanken die hebben geholpen met het invoeren van héél véél data alleen al voor DOMESTICO retrospectief! Wat een klus!

Beste Martijn Leegte en Lara Heuveling, met jullie hulp en tomeloze inzet is het na vele uren overleg in de vergaderkamer van Nefrovisie gelukt om een gigantische DOMESTICO database te bouwen waar alle data voor zowel het retrospectieve als het prospectieve deel van de studie in komt te staan. Ik heb bewondering voor jullie ICT kunsten en was blij dat ook **Boudewijn de Jong** acute problemen voor ons kon oplossen. Beste Tiny Hoekstra, bedankt voor al jouw epidemiologische inbreng en het feit dat jij zeer moeilijke analyses altijd heel helder weet uit te leggen. Jij pendelt elke week met de trein van de stad bij mij om de hoek (Wageningen) naar Nefrovisie danwel naar het AmsterdamUMC en zelden kruisten onze wegen. Daarom was ik blij dat we in ieder geval gezellig met de auto in juni 2018 naar de bruiloft van Anna konden!

Ik was heel blij dat ik gedurende mijn promotietraject op mijn vertrouwde stekkie op de stafgang Nefrologie in het UMC Utrecht kon blijven. Beste stafleden, beste **Sabine Meijvis**, **Femke Molenaar**, **Karin Gerritsen**, **Franka van Reekum**, **Arjan van Zuilen**, **Maarten Rookmaaker** en **Peter Blankestijn**, bedankt voor de gezellige sfeer op de stafgang en de fijne tijd tijdens mijn opleiding tot nefroloog.

Tevens dank aan mijn (oud) collega NIO's **Hilde Remmelts, Maarten Wester** en **Gijs van Kempen** voor een super leuke opleidingstijd en fijne samenwerking. Ontzettend leuk dat we elkaar tijdens nascholingen in de toekomst weer zullen zien en fijn dat iedereen een vaste baan heeft gevonden als internist-nefroloog. **Gurbey** en **Ismay van Loon**, bedankt dat jullie voor mij initieel 'de brug' vormden tussen de NIO-kamer en de arts-onderzoekskamer zodat ik nog wel lekkere koffie kon blijven halen in de NIO-kamer. Beste **Ismay**, geniet van je prachtige gezin met 2 kindjes en heel veel plezier tijdens jullie Amerika avontuur!

Alle collega's van de dialyse afdeling van het UMC Utrecht, bedankt voor de samenwerking en de door jullie getoonde interesse in mijn promotietraject.

Appendices

Beste **Helma Dolmans**, bedankt voor al je adviezen op onderzoeksgebied en het feit dat ik bij tijd en wijlen je witte jas even mocht lenen als ik een patiënt wilde benaderen. Beste **Maaike van Wijk**, bedankt voor de ondersteuning bij het verzamelen van data voor DOMESTICO retrospectief en de gezellige gesprekken over familie.

Beste **Arda ten Rouwelaar-Laban** en **Ellen Kok-Rombout**, wat hebben jullie een geweldig positieve invloed gehad op de secretariële ondersteuning van de stafafdeling Nefrologie UMC Utrecht! Wat was ik blij met de aanpassingen van de ruimtes op de stafgang, vooral met de geweldige aanpassing van de arts-onderzoekerskamer zodat deze van een 'deprimerend donker hok dat volgestouwd stond met boeken' overging naar een 'lichte ruimte waarbij de muren beplakt waren met afbeeldingen van een berglandschap'. Hierdoor heb ik het werken in deze kamer echt beter vol kunnen houden.

Het werk in de arts-onderzoekerskamer werd ook leuker gemaakt door mijn mede-onderzoekers: Laura Michielsen, Thijs Jansz, Maaike van Gelder en Joost de Vries. Beste Laura, wat was ik blij dat jij cappuccino ook lekker vindt en dat we die gezellig konden halen als we onze computer weer eens zat waren. Ik vond het erg leuk om jouw stokje als PLAN bestuurslid over te kunnen nemen. Succes met je opleiding tot internist. Beste Thijs, wat een interessante discussies hebben we gevoerd en wat heb ik genoten van jouw muzikaliteit. Het was heel grappig om te horen dat je de liefde van je leven bij de eerste date al had ondergekotst. Geweldig dat de sprong hebt gewaagd door naar Engeland te emigreren. Heel veel succes daar met je verdere carrière. Beste Maaike, bedankt voor het samen sparren over zaken en de gezelligheid in ons hok. Het is jammer dat je gekoesterde wens om de draagbare kunstnier daadwerkelijk te testen bij patiënten niet in vervulling kon gaan, maar je hebt het stokje gelukkig goed kunnen overdragen aan Joost. Beste Joost, ja het is eindelijk zover, ik mag mijn proefschrift af gaan geven bij de Pedel en zal dan op de terugweg zeker langskomen voor koffie!

Beste PLAN collega's, beste **Kioa**, **Dominique**, **Maarten**, **Niki**, **Koen**, **Eliane**, **Sjoerd**, **Joop**, **Anne**, **Rosa L**, **Rosa W**, **Emma** en **Frank**, bedankt voor de samenwerking en gezellige etentjes gedurende mijn tijd bij PLAN. We hebben met elkaar enkele mooie PLAN dagen georganiseerd en bijdragen geleverd aan de Nederlandse Nefrologiedagen. PLAN is een geweldig initiatief dat promovendi binnen de nefrologie in het hele land met elkaar verbindt.

Beste bestuursleden van de Special Interest Group peritoneale dialyse (SIG PD), beste **Bettie**, **Anneke**, **Bieneke**, **Fariba**, **Mieke**, **Suzanne** en **Lilianne**, bedankt voor het feit dat ik al op vele netwerkdagen en ook op de Nederlandse Nefrologiedagen in opdracht van jullie presentaties heb mogen geven. Ik doe het iedere keer weer met veel plezier en ben blij dat dit door jullie zo gewaardeerd wordt! Beste nefrologen van het Rijnstate in Arnhem, beste **Louis Reichert**, **Jacobien Verhave**, **Eugenie Schipper – Reintjes** en **Anneke Bech**, hartelijk dank voor de prettige samenwerking gedurende 2,5 maand in 2020 waarin ik mijn opleiding tot internist-nefroloog bij jullie afrondde.

Beste collega's uit de vakgroep Interne Geneeskunde van het Deventer Ziekenhuis, beste Ad, Kees, Karin, Daan, Dennis, Gideon, Claire, Anouk, Martin, Theo, Lonneke, Walter en Alex, hartelijk dank dat ik sinds januari 2021 deel mag uitmaken van de vakgroep. Initieel als chef de clinique, maar gelukkig sinds augustus 2022 als maat. Ik kijk uit naar vele jaren werkplezier!

Lieve schoonfamilie, lieve **oude oma van Norden**, **Jaap**, **Marja**, **Mirjam**, **Patrick**, **Viggo** en **Joris**, ik hoop dat de Nederlandse samenvatting een beetje duidelijk kan maken wat ik de afgelopen jaren allemaal heb gedaan. Het is nu eindelijk tijd om de mooie kleding uit de kast te halen voor een geweldig feest!

Lieve **mama** en **papa**, dank voor jullie onvoorwaardelijke steun, wijze woorden en terechte kritische noot af en toe. Jullie hebben mij en Marlon alle handvatten gegeven om verantwoordelijke, succesvolle en gelukkige volwassenen te worden. Jullie staan altijd voor ons en onze gezinnen klaar en daarvoor ben ik jullie heel dankbaar! Ik hou ontzettend veel van jullie.

Lieve **Marlon**, wat ben ik blij dat je mijn zus bent. Ik ben ontzettend trots dat jij met gigantisch doorzettingsvermogen de Universitaire master Geriatriefysiotherapie hebt afgerond. Ik ben blij dat ik hierbij een steentje mocht bijdragen. Nu kun jij mij bijstaan op een belangrijk moment, door mijn paranimf te zijn. Ik ben ook heel blij dat je geluk hebt gevonden met **Henri**, mijn lieve petekind **Luuk** en **Miguela**.

Lieve **Bram** en **Koen**, jullie zijn onze wondertjes. Elke avond als ik jullie slapend in jullie bedjes zie liggen is er toch nog een klein beetje ongeloof dat we jullie in ons leven hebben. Lieve **Bram**, jij hebt het hele promotietraject 'meegemaakt' waarbij het vooral heel fijn was dat ik tijdens de Corona lockdown vanuit huis werkte en we gedurende een paar uur overdag 'schooltje konden spelen'. Lieve **Koen**, ons lachebekje, voor jou was mijn promotietraject wat minder goed te begrijpen, maar ik beloof je dat ik voor dit project nu toch echt klaar bent met de 'pjoeter' (..zijn aanduiding van de computer). Ik hou ontzettend veel van jullie beiden!

Lieve **Steven**, je bent mijn steun en toeverlaat. Je houdt me met beide benen op de grond en weet precies te vertellen wanneer ik echt even op de rem moet trappen. Jouw geweldige zorg voor mij en ons gezin maakt het (werkende) leven een stuk makkelijker. In december 2023 zijn we alweer 12.5 jaar getrouwd, maar soms voelt onze bruiloft nog als de dag van gisteren. Ik kan niet wachten om héél erg oud met je te worden. Ik hou van je!

List of publications

Bonenkamp AA, Vonk S, Abrahams AC, Vermeeren YM, **van Eck van der Sluijs A**, Hoekstra T, van Ittersum FJ, van Jaarsveld BC, DOMESTICO study group. *Comorbidity is not associated with dialysis modality choice in patients with end-stage kidney disease*. Nephrology (Carlton). 2022 Jun;27(6):510-518.

van Eck van der Sluijs A, Bonenkamp AA, van Wallene VA, Hoekstra T, Lissenberg-Witte BI, Dekker FW, van Ittersum FJ, Verhaar MC, van Jaarsveld BC, Abrahams AC; DOMESTICO study group. *Differences in hospitalisation between peritoneal dialysis and haemodialysis patients*. Eur J Clin Invest. 2022 Feb 7:e13758.

Bonenkamp AA, **van Eck van der Sluijs A**, Dekker FW, Struijk DG, de Fijter CWH, Vermeeren YM, van Ittersum FJ, Verhaar MC, van Jaarsveld BC, Abrahams AC, DOMESTICO study group. *Technique failure in peritoneal dialysis: Modifiable causes and patient-specific risk factors*. Perit Dial Int. 2022 Febr 23; 8968608221077461.

van Eck van der Sluijs A, van Jaarsveld BC, Allen J, Altabas K, Béchade C, Bonenkamp AA, Burkhalter F, Clause AL, Corbett RW, Dekker FW, Eden G, François K, Gudmundsdottir H, Lundström UH, de Laforcade L, Lambie M, Martin H, Pajek J, Panuccio V, Ros-Ruiz S, Steubl D, Vega A, Wojtaszek E, Davies SJ, Van Biesen W, Abrahams AC. *Assisted peritoneal dialysis across Europe: Practice variation and factors associated with availability.* Perit Dial Int. 2021 Nov;41(6):533-541.

Colombijn JMT, Bonenkamp AA, **van Eck van der Sluijs A**, Bijlsma JA, Boonstra AH, Özyilmaz A, Abrahams AC, van Jaarsveld BC; DOMESTICO study group. *Impact of Polypharmacy on Health-Related Quality of Life in Dialysis Patients*. Am J Nephrol. 2021;52(9):735-744.

van Eck van der Sluijs A, Vonk S, van Jaarsveld BC, Bonenkamp AA, Abrahams AC. *Good practices for dialysis education, treatment, and eHealth: A scoping review.* PLoS One. 2021 Aug 11;16(8):e0255734.

Bonenkamp AA, Hoekstra T, Hemmelder MH, **van Eck van der Sluijs A**, Abrahams AC, van Ittersum FJ, van Jaarsveld BC. *Trends in home dialysis use differ among age categories in past two decades: A Dutch registry study.* Eur J Clin Invest. 2022 Jan;52(1):e13656.

Bonenkamp AA, Reijnders TDY, **van Eck van der Sluijs A**, Hagen EC, Abrahams AC, van Ittersum FJ, van Jaarsveld BC. *Key elements in selection of pre-dialysis patients for home dialysis*. Perit Dial Int. 2021 Sep;41(5):494-501.

van Oevelen M, Abrahams AC, Bos WJW, Emmelot-Vonk MH, Mooijaart SP, van Diepen M, van Jaarsveld BC, **van Eck van der Sluijs A**, Voorend CGN, van Buren M; DIALOGICA study group.

Correction to: DIALysis or not: Outcomes in older kidney patients with GerlatriC Assessment (DIALOGICA): rationale and design. BMC Nephrol. 2021 Mar 29;22(1):113.

Bonenkamp AA, Druiventak TA, **van Eck van der Sluijs A**, van Ittersum FJ, van Jaarsveld BC, Abrahams AC; DOMESTICO study group. *The Impact of COVID-19 on the mental health of dialysis patients*. J Nephrol. 2021 Apr;34(2):337-344.

Van Eck van der Sluijs A, Abrahams AC, Rookmaaker MB, Verhaar MC, Bos WJW, Blankestijn PJ, Dekker FW, van Diepen M, Ocak G. *Bleeding risk of haemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients*. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2021 Jan 1;36(1):170-175.

Van Eck van der Sluijs A, Eekelschot KZ, Frakking FN, Haas PA, Boer WH, Abrahams AC. *Salvage of the peritoneal dialysis catheter in Candida peritonitis using amphotericin B catheter lock.* Perit Dial Int. 2021 Jan;41(1):110-114.

Bonenkamp AA, **Van Eck van der Sluijs A**, Hoekstra T, Verhaar MC, van Ittersum FJ, Abrahams AC, van Jaarsveld BC. *Health-Related Quality of Life in Home Dialysis Patients Compared to In-Center Hemodialysis Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis.* Kidney Med 2020 Feb 11;2(2):139-154.

Van Eck van der Sluijs A, Bonenkamp AA, Dekker FW, Abrahams AC, van Jaarsveld BC, DOMESTICO study group. *Dutch nOcturnal and hoME dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO): rationale and design*. BMC Nephrol. 2019 Sep 18;20(1):361.

Bonenkamp AA, van Gelder MK, Abrahams AC, Boereboom FTJ, Cornelis T, Luik AJ, Özyilmaz A, van der Sande FM, **Van Eck van der Sluijs A**, Gerritsen KGF, van Jaarsveld BC. *Home haemodialysis in the Netherlands: State of the art*. Neth J Med. 2018 May;76(4):144-157.

Van Eck van der Sluijs A, van Grinsven J, Abrahams AC, Brem C, Bakker OJ, Bos WJW, van Santvoort HC, Bruno MJ, van Goor H, van Brunschot S, Besselink MG, Rookmaaker MB for the Dutch Pancreatitis Study Group. *Impact of Intravenous Fluid Therapy in Predicted Severe Acute Pancreatitis: Post-Hoc Analysis in a Prospective Multicenter Cohort.* J Pancreas (Online) 2018 May 31; 19(3):126-133.

van Gelder MK, **Van Eck van der Sluijs A**, van Maarseveen EM, Klouwenberg PMCK, Abrahams AC. *Response Letter to the "ISPD Peritonitis Recommendations: 2016 Update on Prevention and Treatment"*. Perit Dial Int. 2017 Sep-Oct;37(5):584-585.

Van Eck van der Sluijs A, Oosterheert JJ, Ekkelenkamp MB, Hoepelman IM, Peters EJ. *Bacteremic complications of intravascular catheter tip colonization with Gram-negative micro-organisms in patients without preceding bacteremia*. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2012 Jun;31(6):1027-33.

Curriculum vitae

Anita van Eck van der Sluijs was born on September 18, 1985 in Utrecht and raised in Ede. In 2003, she graduated from secondary school at the Marnix College in Ede and started her study Medicine at Utrecht University.

During her study, Anita did two internships abroad where she got to know Suriname and Australia better.



In 2009, she obtained her medical degree and started working at the department of Internal Medicine at Ziekenhuis Gelderse Vallei in Ede. In January 2011, she was able to continue her residency in Internal Medicine there (under the supervision of dr. R. Heijligenberg). In September 2013, her residency continued at the University Medical Center Utrecht (under supervision of prof. dr. M.M.E. Schneider and prof. dr. H.A.H. Kaasjager), where she started her Nephrology specialization in February 2015 (under supervision of dr. P.J. Blankestijn and dr. M.B. Rookmaaker).

In June 2017, Anita interrupted her residency for a PhD research project at the department of Nephrology and Hypertension of the University Medical Center Utrecht. She conducted research for the Dutch nOcturnal and home dialysis Study To Improve Clinical Outcomes (DOMESTICO) which formed the basis for this thesis (under supervision of dr. A.C. Abrahams, dr. B.C. van Jaarsveld and prof. dr. M.C. Verhaar). In October 2020, Anita resumed her residency partly at the University Medical Center Utrecht and partly at Rijnstate in Arnhem (under supervision of dr. L.J.M. Reichert).

Since January 2021, Anita is working as an internist-nephrologist at Deventer Ziekenhuis, where she became a member of the Vrijgevestigde Specialisten Deventer in August 2022.

Curriculum Vitae

